
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device 
or Blackberry Playbook.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a 

copy in another format or language please contact: 
Lisa Antrobus, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 
 

Friday, 13 November 2020 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Audit Committee will be held on 
 

Monday, 23 November 2020 
 

commencing at 2.00 pm 
 

The meeting will be held remotely via Zoom (the links to the meeting are set out below)  
 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86455165067?pwd=Vm1iWHlkSHpYcVFyYjZwV0Zya1lNQT09 

 
Meeting ID: 864 5516 5067  Passcode: 800558 
 
One tap mobile 
+442034815240, 86455165067#, 0#, 800558# United Kingdom 
+442039017895, 86455165067#, 0#, 800558# United Kingdom 

 
Dial by your location 
+44 203 481 5240 United Kingdom 
+44 203 901 7895 United Kingdom 

 
Meeting ID: 864 5516 5067  Passcode: 800558 

 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Loxton (Chairman) 

Councillor Brooks 

Councillor Dart 

Councillor Hill 

 

Councillor Howgate 

Councillor Kennedy 

Councillor O'Dwyer 

 

 

 

Together Torbay will thrive 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86455165067?pwd=Vm1iWHlkSHpYcVFyYjZwV0Zya1lNQT09


(2) 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive any apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Declarations of interests 
 

 

(a)   To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form should 
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 

(b)   To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect 
of items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance 
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 
 

3.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
4.   Grant Thornton - The Audit Findings for Torbay Council (Pages 4 - 39) 
 To consider a report on the above. 

 
5.   Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 

2019/20 
(Pages 40 - 210) 

 To consider a report that seeks approval of the Statement of 
Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 2019/20. 
 

6.   Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2020/21 (To Follow) 
 To consider a report on the above. 

 
7.   Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 (To Follow) 
 To consider a report on the above. 

 
8.   Management Letter of Representation (To Follow) 
 To consider a report on the above. 

 



(3) 

9.   Performance and Risk Strategy and Framework (Pages 211 - 243) 
 To consider a report that proposes a new performance and risk 

strategy and framework. 
 

10.   Corporate Performance and Corporate Risk Report (Pages 244 - 287) 
 To consider a report that provides a high level view of the council’s 

progress and success in meeting the priorities of the Community 
and Corporate Plan as well as the council’s overall performance on 
key internal indicators. 
 

 Instructions for the Press and Public for joining the meeting  
 If you are using an iPad you will need to install Zoom which can be 

found in the App Store.  You do not need to register for an account 
just install the software.  You only need to install the software once.  
For other devices you should just be taken direct to the meeting. 
 

 

 Joining a meeting  
 Click on the link provided on the agenda above and follow the 

instructions on screen.  If you are using a telephone, dial the Zoom 
number provided above and follow the instructions.  (Note: if you 
are using a landline the call will cost up to 13p per minute and from 
a mobile between 3p and 55p if the number is not covered by your 
inclusive minutes.) 
 
You will be placed in a waiting room, when the meeting starts the 
meeting Host will admit you.  Please note if there are technical 
issues this might not be at the start time given on the agenda. 
 
Upon entry you will be muted and your video switched off so that 
only the meeting participants can been seen. When you join the 
meeting the Host will unmute your microphone, ask you to confirm 
your name and update your name as either public or press.  Select 
gallery view if you want see all the participants. 
 
If you have joined the meeting via telephone, your telephone 
number will appear on screen and will be displayed for all to see 
until the Host has confirmed your name and then they will rename 
your telephone number to either public or press. 
 

 

 Meeting Etiquette - things to consider when attending a virtual 
meeting 

 

  Background – the meeting is public and people will be able to 
see what is behind you therefore consider what you will have 
on display behind you. 

 Camera angle – sit front on, upright with the device in front of 
you. 

 Who else is in the room – make sure you are in a position 
where nobody will enter the camera shot who doesn’t want to 
appear in the public meeting.  

 Background noise – try where possible to minimise 
background noise. 

 Aim to join the meeting 15 minutes before it is due to start. 
 

 



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

The Audit Findings
for Torbay Council
Year ended 31 March 2020

23 November 2020

P
age 4

A
genda Item

 4



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

2

Contents

Section Page

1. Headlines 3

2. Financial statements 7

3. Value for money 22

4. Independence and ethics 29

Appendices

A. Action plan                                                                                                                  30

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations                                                                                      32

C. Audit adjustments                                                                                                            33

D. Fees 35

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 
control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible 
improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in 
part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this 
report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is 
available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Sarah L Ironmonger

Key Audit Partner

T:  +44 20 7865 2997

E: Sarah.L.Ironmonger@uk.gt.com

Liulu Chen 

Audit Manager 

T: +44 20 7865 2561

E: Liulu.Chen@uk.gt.com

P
age 5



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

3

This table summarises the key findings and other matters arising from the statutory audit of Torbay Council (‘the Council’) and the preparation of the group and Council's financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 for those charged with governance.

Covid-19 The outbreak of the Covid-19 coronavirus pandemic has had a 
significant impact on the normal operations of the Council . 

The Council have been significantly impacted by Covid-19, with 
front-line challenges, administration of significant volumes of 
grants to businesses, closure of schools and car parks, and the 
additional challenges of reopening services under new 
government guidelines.

Authorities are still required to prepare financial statements in 
accordance with the relevant accounting standards and the Code 
of Audit Practice, albeit to an extended deadline for the 
preparation of the financial statements up to 31 August 2020 and 
the date for audited financials statements to 30 November 2020.

Management were able to provide us with the draft financial 
statements for audit on 11 August 2020 in advance of the 
deadline. 

We communicated our audit risk assessment to consider the impact of the pandemic on our audit 
and issued an audit plan in June 2020. In the audit plan we reported a financial statement risk in 
respect of Covid -19 and highlighted the impact on our VfM approach. Further detail is set out on 
page 8.

We held meetings with your key finance staff to discuss the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s 
financial statements. We also discussed the financial implications in terms of Investment valuations 
and going concern. This assisted you in preparing accounts in compliance with the required 
accounting standards and ensuring your disclosures complied with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting 2019-20.

The finance team were well set up for remote working and there were no changes in key financial 
processes that impacted on our approach to the audit. Restrictions for non-essential travel has meant 
both Council and audit staff have had to work remotely throughout the audit visit, utilising screen-
sharing software in order to gain sufficient assurance over the data being provided to the audit team. 
In addition, alternative procedures (such as the use of photographic evidence for physical verification 
of assets) have been used where necessary. Inevitably in these circumstances resolving audit 
queries takes longer than a face to face discussion. Both teams utilised a query log to track and 
resolve outstanding items. Regular meetings were held with senior finance staff to highlight key 
outstanding issues and findings to date ensuring that the audit process was as smooth as possible.

Headlines

Headlines

P
age 6



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

4

This table summarises the key findings and other matters arising from the statutory audit of Torbay Council (‘the Council’) and the preparation of the group and Council's financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 for those charged with governance.

Financial
Statements

Under International Standards of Audit (UK) (ISAs) and the
National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'),
we are required to report whether, in our opinion, the group and
Council's financial statements:

• give  a true and fair view of the financial position of the group 
and Council and the group and Council’s income and 
expenditure for the year; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting 
and prepared in accordance with the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

We are also required to report whether other information 
published together with the audited financial statements 
(including the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and 
Narrative Report),  is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

Our audit work will be completed remotely during October to November. Our findings are 
summarised on pages 6 to 21. As at the date of writing (early November), we have not identified any 
adjusted error to the financial statements at this stage. 

We have a number of areas where our work remains in progress (see page 6). Should any further 
misstatements be identified, either as a result of this review or any other aspect of our work, we will 
report these to you before issuing our opinion. 

We have also raised recommendations for management as a result of our audit work in Appendix A. 

Our work is nearing completion and, as at the date of writing, there are no matters of which we are 
aware that would require modification of our audit opinion (provided separately) or material changes 
to the financial statements, subject to the outstanding matters outlined on page 6 of this report.

We have concluded that the other information to be published with the financial statements is 
consistent with our knowledge of your organisation. Our anticipated audit report opinion, subject to 
resolving outstanding matters, will be unqualified. It will include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph, 
highlighting material uncertainties around the valuation of land and buildings, investment properties 
and pension fund property investments as at 31 March 2020, which you have reflected in your 
accounts. An emphasis of matter paragraph is not a qualification.

Headlines (continued)

Headlines

P
age 7



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

5

This table summarises the key findings and other matters arising from the statutory audit of Torbay Council (‘the Council’) and the preparation of the group and Council's financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 for those charged with governance.

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance and timely collaboration provided by the finance team and other staff during these unprecedented 
times.

Value for Money 
arrangements

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the
Code'), we are required to report if, in our opinion, the Council has
made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources ('the value for money (VFM)
conclusion’).

We have completed our risk based review of the Council’s value for money arrangements. We 
have concluded that Torbay Council has proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources.

We have updated our VfM risk assessment to document our understanding of your 
arrangements to ensure critical business continuity in the current environment. We have not 
identified any new VfM risks in relation to Covid-19. 

We therefore anticipate issuing an except for qualification of the Value for Money Conclusion. 
As in the previous year the except for qualification relates to evidence of weakness in 
arrangements from the OFSTED inspection of children’s services. 

Our findings are summarised on pages 22 to 29.

Statutory duties The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Act’) also
requires us to:

• report to you if we have applied any of the additional powers
and duties ascribed to us under the Act; and

• To certify the closure of the audit.

We have not exercised any of our additional statutory powers or duties.

We have not received any questions or objections in relation to the Council’s financial 
statements.

We have completed the majority of our work under the Code and expect to be able to certify 
the completion of the audit when we give our audit opinion, although this is dependent on the 
completion of the procedures required on the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts 
submission.

Headlines (continued)

Headlines

P
age 8



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

6

Headlines (continued)

Financial 
statements 
continued

Subject to the satisfactory resolution and completion of outstanding matters, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion. The outstanding matters 
include the following items where we are awaiting information from you as at the date of this report:

• Information awaited

• TDA pension pass through (legal advice)

• supporting documents relating to operating expenditure

• IAS19 controls assurance letter from the auditor of Devon Pension Fund 

• Information received recently and in progress:

• Completion of work relating to Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties 

• Completion of work relating to Pension liabilities Completion of testing in respect of debtors, the bad debt provision, creditors and grant 
income

• Payroll testing (evidence to support payroll substantive analytical review and support for starter and leaver testing)

• transaction level breakdown of long term creditor listing for sample testing 

• queries to the Council’s valuer relating to property valuation samples and lease disclosure samples 

• Closing procedures once all audit work is completed

• Manager and engagement lead quality review of audit files and resolution of any arising queries 

• Undertaking specified procedures for group significant component and review of consolidation

• Finalisation of work in respect of subsequent events 

• Agreement of your management representation letter

• Receipt and review of the final set of approved financial statements

• Receipt and review of the final approved annual governance statements

Should any further matters arise during the completion of our work that we need to report to you, we will do so before we issue our opinion.

P
age 9



Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20 7

Overview of the scope of our audit

This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from the audit that are 
significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial 
reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 and the Code 
of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). Its contents have been discussed with management and the 
Audit Committee. 

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) and the Code, which is directed towards forming and expressing 
an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the 
oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial statements does not 
relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the 
preparation of the financial statements.

Audit approach

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's business and is 
risk based, and in particular included:

• An evaluation of the Council's internal controls environment, including its IT systems and 
controls; 

• An evaluation of the components of the group based on a measure of materiality 
considering each as a percentage of the group’s gross revenue expenditure to assess 
the significance of the component and to determine the planned audit response;

• Substantive testing on significant transactions and material account balances, including 
the procedures outlined in this report in relation to the key audit risks

Conclusion

Our work is nearing completion and, subject to outstanding queries being resolved as set 
out on page 6, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion following the Audit 
Committee meeting on 23 November 2020, as detailed in Appendix D. 

Our approach to materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements 
and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to 
disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable 
law. 

Materiality levels  remain the same as reported in our audit plan.

Financial statements 

Group Amount (£) Council Amount (£) Qualitative factors considered 

Materiality for the financial statements 5,720,000 5,634,000 Based on 2% of your gross expenditure for the year

Performance materiality 4,290,000 4,225,500 Using 75% of materiality to reflect our assessment of risk

Trivial matters 286,000 281,700 5% of materiality

Materiality for Senior Officer Remuneration 100,000 100,000 Particular public interest

Audit approach

P
age 10



Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20 8

Risks identified in our Audit Plan Auditor commentary

Covid– 19

The global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus pandemic has led to 
unprecedented uncertainty for all organisations, requiring urgent 
business continuity arrangements to be implemented. We 
expected current circumstances would have an impact on the 
production and audit of the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2020, including and not limited to:

• Remote working arrangements and redeployment of staff to 
critical front line duties may impact on the quality and timing 
of the production of the financial statements, and the 
evidence we can obtain through physical observation;

• Volatility of financial and property markets will increase the 
uncertainty of assumptions applied by management to asset 
valuation and receivable recovery estimates, and the 
reliability of evidence we can obtain to corroborate 
management estimates;

• Financial uncertainty will require management to reconsider 
financial forecasts supporting their going concern assessment 
and whether material uncertainties for a period of at least 12 
months from the anticipated date of approval of the audited 
financial statements have arisen; and 

• Disclosures within the financial statements will require 
significant revision to reflect the unprecedented situation and 
its impact on the preparation of the financial statements as at 
31 March 2020 in accordance with IAS1, particularly in 
relation to material uncertainties.

We therefore identified the global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus 
as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement

We have:

• worked with management to understand the implications the response to the Covid-19 pandemic has had on the 
organisation’s ability to prepare the financial statements and update financial forecasts, and assessed the 
implications for our materiality calculations;

• liaised with other audit suppliers, regulators and government departments to co-ordinate practical cross sector 
responses to issues as and when they arose;

• evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements that arose in light of the Covid-19 pandemic;

• evaluated whether sufficient audit evidence could be obtained in the absence of physical verification of assets 
through remote technology;

• evaluated whether sufficient audit evidence could be obtained to corroborate significant management estimates 
such as asset valuations, pension fund liability valuations and recovery of receivable balances; and

• evaluated management’s assumptions that underpin the revised financial forecasts and the impact on 
management’s going concern assessment.

The Council’s valuer has prepared their valuations as at 31 March 2020. In their reports, they have confirmed that as 
a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the subsequent lockdown and impact on market activity, less certainty and a 
higher degree of caution should be attached to their valuations than would normally be the case. Their valuations are 
reported on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’. The Council have reflected this uncertainty in Note 4 to the 
financial statements.

The Council has also included a Covid 19 disclosure in its Subsequent Events (Note 5) in relation to the ongoing 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Council acknowledged the impact of the pandemic on both the community 
and the Council will continue in the longer term and that longer term impact is currently unknown. Where the 
Council has a market price such as in its property assets and its share of pension fund property, assets values as at 
31 March 2020 have been used. However for property valuations there was “material valuation uncertainty” as at 31 
March 2020.

The Council participate in Devon County Pension Fund. We anticipate that there will be a disclosure relating to the 
‘material valuation uncertainty’ in Pension Fund final account at the completion of pension fund audit. We are 
awaiting for the pension fund auditor letter and we will communicate with the Council to ensure the wording in the 
accounts is in line with Pension Fund final account. 

Our anticipated audit report opinion will be unqualified including an Emphasis of Matter paragraph, highlighting  
material uncertainties in property valuation and pension liabilities.

To date, no further material issues have been identified which are required to be reported to those charged with 
governance, subject to the satisfactory resolution of matters set out on page 6. Should any residual issues arise that 
require reporting, we will do so before issuing our auditor’s report.

Financial statements 

Significant audit risks

P
age 11



Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20 9

Risks identified in our Audit Plan Auditor commentary

Fraudulent revenue and expenditure recognition 

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue 
may be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is 
no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 
recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams, we have determined 
that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• There is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition.

• Opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited.

• The culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including the Council and Fund, mean that all forms 
of fraud are seen as unacceptable.

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for Torbay Council.

We have however:

• evaluated the Council's accounting policy for recognition of revenues for appropriateness;

• performed substantive testing on material revenue streams; and

• reviewed unusual significant transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of improper revenue recognition.

Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the 
risk of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities.

We therefore identified management override of control, in particular 
journals, management estimates and transactions outside the course 
of business as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement.

The main mechanism through which this could occur is through the 
posting of manual journals amending the reported financial 
performance. We therefore review the controls established relating to 
manual journals, including those for authorisation of manual journals. 

In response to this risk we have:

• evaluated the design effectiveness of management controls over journals;

• analysed the journals listing and determined the criteria for selecting high risk unusual journals;

• tested unusual journals recorded during the year and after the draft accounts stage for appropriateness and 
corroboration;

• tested ‘top-side’ journals between the general ledger and the financial statements for appropriateness and 
corroboration;

• gained an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical judgements applied and made by 
management and considered their reasonableness with regard to corroborative evidence; and

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, estimates or significant unusual transactions.

We have noted in during our testing that the s151 Officer has posted various journals around the year end. We 
tested all journals posted by s151 officer to ensure no management override of control issue. The s151 officer 
did not authorise any journals and posted a small number of journals in April. However this is not good practice 
and should not happen. We have made a recommendation on this in Appendix A.

To date, no other material issues have been identified which are required to be reported to those charged with 
governance, subject to the satisfactory resolution of matters set out on page 6. 

Should any residual issues arise that require reporting, we will do so before issuing our auditor’s report.

Financial statements 

Significant audit risks

P
age 12



Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20 10

Risks identified in our Audit Plan Auditor commentary

Valuation of land and buildings

The valuation of land and building is a key accounting 
estimate which is sensitive to changes in assumptions 
and market conditions. 

Your revalue your land and buildings on a quinquennial 
basis to ensure that carrying value is not materially 
different from fair value. This represents a significant 
estimate by management in the financial statements. 

We therefore identified valuation of land and buildings, 
particularly revaluations and impairments, as a 
significant risk.

We have:

• evaluated management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate, the instructions issued to the 
valuation experts and the scope of their work;

• evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation expert;

• written to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuations were carried out; 

• challenged the information and assumptions used by the valuer to assess completeness and consistency with our 
understanding;

• tested, on a sample basis, revaluations of the Council’s operational properties and investment properties during the year to 
ensure they have been input correctly into the Council’s asset register and financial statements;

• evaluated the assumptions made by management for any assets not revalued at 31 March 2020, and how management 
has satisfied themselves that the carrying value of these assets in the balance sheet is not materially different to their 
current value.

At the time of writing our audit procedures in this area remain underway.

The Council’s valuer has prepared their valuations as at 31 March 2020. In their reports, the valuer confirmed that as a result 
of the Covid-19 pandemic and the subsequent restrictions and impact on market activity, less certainty – and a higher degree 
of caution – should be attached to their valuations than would normally be the case. The valuations are reported on the basis 
of ‘material valuation uncertainty’. The Council has reflected this uncertainty in the financial statements, and updated the 
wording in relation to investment properties as a result of audit challenge. We will refer to these material valuation 
uncertainties in our audit report as an emphasis of matter. This does not constitute a qualification of the opinion.

During the year, the Council purchased Fleet Walk Shopping Centre in Torquay for £15 million as part of plans to regenerate 
Torbay’s town centres and help boost the local economy. The asset was purchased in November 2019 and was not revalued 
at 31 March 2020. We challenged management and the valuer on whether the revaluation need to be performed for this asset 
due to the retail sector being extremely volatile as a result of Covid 19. The valuer responded that market valuation 
uncertainty has been adopted throughout their valuations this year to reflect the uncertainty in the market place brought about 
by the extreme world events.  By adopting this term, they are effectively highlighting to the Council that there may be a 
decrease in values in the future, but as it stands there is no certainty.  

As this asset is categorised as other land and buildings it will form part of the 5 year rolling programme. Given the 
complexities associated with the valuation method for this asset including the volatility in the retail sector, we recommend 
management consider re-valuing this asset annually. 

This asset is held as operational as part of the regeneration scheme. As the scheme develops there is potential for changes 
to be made that will impact on the accounting treatment of the asset. We recommend management obtains formal legal and 
financial reporting advice before taking on any new financial arrangement for developing this asset as part of regeneration 
scheme. 

Subject to the satisfactory of outstanding matters set out on page 6, no other material issues have been identified from our 
work to date. Should any further issues arise that require reporting, we will do so before issuing our auditor’s opinion

Financial statements

Significant audit risks

P
age 13



Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20 11

Risks identified in our Audit Plan Auditor commentary

Valuation of pension fund net liability

The Council’s pension fund net liability, as reflected in its 
balance sheet as the net defined benefit liability, 
represents a significant estimates in the financial 
statements.

The pension fund net liability is considered a significant 
estimate due to the size of the numbers involved and the 
sensitivity of the estimate to changes in key 
assumptions.

We therefore identified valuations of the Authority’s 
pension fund net liability as a significant risk, which was 
one of the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement. 

We have:

• updated our understanding of the processes and controls put in place by management to ensure that the Council’s 
pension fund net liability is not materially misstated and evaluated the design of the associated controls;

• evaluated the instructions issued by management to their management expert (an actuary) for this estimate and the scope 
of the actuary’s work;

• assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary who carried out the Council’s pension fund valuation;

• assessed the accuracy and completeness of the information provided to the actuary to estimate the liability;

• tested the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in the notes to the core financial statements 
with the actuarial report from the actuary; and

• completed procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made by reviewing the report of the 
consulting actuary (as auditor’s expert) and performing any additional procedures suggested within that report.

As discussed under ‘Covid-19’ above, the fund managers for the Pension Fund’s property investments reported that 
valuations of these investments were subject to ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as at 31 March 2020, as a result of the 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on market activity in the real estate sector, meaning that less certainty, and a higher 
degree of caution, should be placed on the recorded valuation of these assets than would otherwise be the case.

This material uncertainty impacts in turn upon the valuation of the net defined benefit liability in the Council’s balance sheet.

The Council has included disclosures in Note 4 in relation to the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, which has 
created uncertainty surrounding valuation of pension funds. The wording may have to be updated to reflect the auditor 
report issued by Devon County Pension Fund auditor. This disclosure will be referred to in our auditor’s report in an 
emphasis of matter paragraph. This does not constitute a qualification of the audit opinion.

To date, no further material issues have been identified which are required to be reported to those charged with governance, 
subject to the satisfactory resolution of matters set out on page 6. Should any residual issues arise that require reporting, we 
will do so before issuing our auditor’s report.

Financial statements

Significant audit risks

P
age 14



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

12

Financial statements

This section provides commentary on new issues and risks which were identified during the course of the audit that were not previously communicated in the Audit Plan and a 
summary of any significant control deficiencies identified during the year. 

Issue Commentary Management 
response

TDA Pension pass through 

Torbay Economic Development Company Ltd (Trading 
name “TDA”) is a Shared Service, company owned by 
the Council (100% voting, 100% control and 
distribution). When the former Torbay Council 
employees transferred to TDA at various stages in 
2011, 2014 and 2015, the existing deficits on the 
Pension scheme in relation to those employees 
transferred to TDA with them. Although this transfer 
was agreed by all parties (Devon County Pension 
Fund, Torbay Council and TDA) at the time through 
tripartite Admission Agreement, this liability is 
significant and is impacting upon the operations of 
TDA. 

In order to address the operational deficiency, the 
Council entered into a Pass-through agreement with 
TDA. In 2019/20 the Council recognised, under the 
pass through arrangement, a financial guarantee for 
the pension liability for the TDA that would require the 
Council to pay the TDA employer pension payments to 
the Devon County Pension Fund if the TDA defaulted 
on the payments. The TDA will continue to recognise a 
pension liability under IAS19 and also recognises an 
asset to the value of that IAS19 Liability. The Council’s 
liability is therefore the value of the TDA IAS19 
pension liability £4.9 million. Torbay Council will apply 
the statutory reversal as within the Commissioning 
Agreement, the Council has the obligation to pay the 
annual employer contributions in the event that the 
TDA do not. 

In some TUPE arrangements, a tripartite arrangement has been set up between the local authority, 
new employer and the local government pension scheme, attempting to limit the new employer's 
obligations to the scheme to defined contributions. This Pass-through agreement is intended to be 
read alongside the tripartite Admission Agreement. For the further avoidance of doubt, where the 
clauses of the two contracts are contradictory, this Pass-through Agreement shall take precedence.
In such situations it is critical that the Council first satisfy itself that such an arrangement is 
permissible under the terms of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. This is a 
matter of legal interpretation and is not an accounting matter. At the time of writing the report, we 
have not received the Council’s response on the legal advice that be taken to support the 
arrangement is permissible.  

The proposal for the TDA pass through arrangement was approved by Members on 20 September 
2018 with the s151 Officer given delegated authority for notifying the Devon LGPS Pension Fund 
Administrators of the changes. The communication to the Pension Fund administrators was made  
on 30 October 2020 and the Pension Administrator’s have acknowledged the communication.

Having entered into this agreement the Council has in effect made a guarantee which needs to be 
reflected on the balance sheet. The value of a guarantee of the pension obligation of another party 
will depend on the credit risk of the other party and the size of the pension deficit or surplus. The 
factors within the assessment of the value of the guarantee includes financial and non-financial 
risks. Management has provided a note of their judgement that the value of the guarantee is the 
IAS19 liability provided by the actuaries for TDA.

TBC 

Significant findings - other issues

P
age 15



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

13

Financial statements

This section provides commentary on new issues and risks which were identified during the course of the audit that were not previously communicated in the Audit Plan and a 
summary of any significant control deficiencies identified during the year. 

Issue Commentary Auditor’s view

IFRS 16 implementation has been delayed by one 
year

Although the implementation of IFRS 16 has been 
delayed to 1 April 2021, audited bodies still need to 
include disclosure in their 2019/2020 statements to 
comply with the requirement of IAS 8 para 31. As a 
minimum, we would expect audited bodies to disclose 
the title of the standard, the date of initial application 
and the nature of the changes in accounting policy for 
leases

In our review of the Council’s accounting policies we identified that the 
disclosure in relation to IFRS 16 is appropriated.

In finalising assessment of the impact of IFRS 16, 
in preparation for its implementation, the Council 
must ensure completeness of the assessment of 
leases so that all relevant leases are included in the 
assessment.  

Dedicated Schools Grant

The Council The Council had a cumulative overspend of 
£3.8m as 31 March 2020 due to insufficient government 
funding. We have reviewed the statement from CIPFA 
which confirms the guidance in LAAP bulletin 99 Local 
Authority Reserves and Balances remains extant i.e.. it 
“neither anticipates nor allows for a voluntary earmarked 
balance to be presented in a deficit position.”

In October 2019 the DfE launched a consultation on changing the 
conditions of grant and regulations applying to the DSG. In summary, 
the consultation proposed changes with the intention of requiring DSG 
deficits to be carried forward to future years schools’ budgets, with no 
requirement for deficits to be covered by general reserves.

In our response to the consultation we disagreed that changing the 
conditions of the grant would be sufficient in isolation to achieve the 
Government’s intention to require overspends to be carried forward 
and not charged against general reserves, as this would be at odds 
with the requirements of proper accounting practice and the Code.

The DfE published its consultation response on 30 January 2020, 
indicating that changes to the conditions of DSG will be made, 
together with provisions being made in the Schools and Early Years 
Finance (England) Regulations 2020 SI 2020 No 83. The Regulations, 
effective for the financial year beginning on 1 April 2020, provide LAs 
with flexibility in dealing with deficits from prior funding periods when 
determining the individual schools budget. Regulation 8(7) enables 
local authorities to deduct all (8(7)(a)), some (8(7)(b)) or none (8(7)(c)) 
of the historic deficit in determining its schools’ budget.

DfE’s consultation response indicates that CIPFA, MHCLG and DfE 
are working on issuing guidance about the changes.

Where overspends arise against Dedicated Schools 
Grant and are to be carried forward as a call 
against the schools budget in future years, these 
should form part of the un-earmarked general fund 
as: 

• The expenditure is required to be recognised in 
the year in which it is incurred and forms part of 
the ‘Surplus / Deficit on Provision of Services’ 
within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and is therefore 
accounted for as a charge to General Fund.

• The Schools & Early Years Finance Regulations 
2020 regulations do not allow for expenditure to 
be reversed out of the General Fund (i.e. they 
do not provide for a ‘statutory override’ creating 
an unusable reserve) in 2019/20.

The Council has provided additional disclosure to 
explain the DSG funding position and the impact of 
any deficit balance 'carried forward' within the 
general fund balance.

Other issues

P
age 16



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

14

Financial statements

Accounting area Summary of management’s policy Auditor commentary Assessment

Land and Buildings –
Other - £199.9m

Other land and buildings comprises specialised assets such as 
schools and leisure centres, which are required to be valued at 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) at year end, reflecting the cost 
of a modern equivalent asset necessary to deliver the same service 
provision. The remainder of other land and buildings are not 
specialised in nature and are required to be valued at existing use 
in value (EUV) at year end. The Council has engaged the valuers 
employed by its subsidiary TEDC limited to complete the valuation 
of properties as at 01 April 2020 on a five yearly cyclical basis. 
30.4% of total assets (including shared PFI asset) were revalued 
during 2019/20. 

In line with RICS guidance, the Group’s valuer disclosed a material 
uncertainty in the valuation of the Council’s land and buildings at 31 
March 2020 as a result of Covid-19. The Council has included 
disclosures on this issue in Note 4.

The valuation of properties valued by the valuer has resulted in a 
net decrease of £7.2m. Management have considered the year end 
value of non-valued properties, and the potential valuation change 
in the assets revalued at 1 April 2019, based on the market review 
provided by the valuer as at 31 March 2020, to determine whether 
there has been a material change in the total value of these 
properties.

• We have no concerns over the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the valuation expert used by the Council.

• There have been no changes to the valuation method this 
year.

• We have considered the movements in the valuations of 
individual assets and their consistency with indices provided 
by Gerald Eve as our auditor’s expert. 

• Disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements is 
considered adequate. We will refer to the uncertainties 
disclosed in Note 4 in our audit report.

• We have considered the completeness and accuracy of the 
underlying information used to determine the estimate, and 
have not noted any non-trivial issues.

• Our work in this area remains in progress


Green 

(subject to 
completion)

Assessment

 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  

 We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

Significant findings – key estimates and judgements

P
age 17



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

15

Financial statements

Accounting area Summary of management’s policy Auditor commentary Assessment

Investment property -
£208.7m

The Council has a number of assets that it has determined to be 
investment properties. Investment properties must be included in 
the balance sheet at fair value (the price that would be received in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date) so these assets are valued every year at 31 
March.

The Council has engaged the valuers employed by its subsidiary 
TEDC limited. The year end valuation of the Council’s investment 
property was £208.7m, a net increase of £60m from 2018/19 
(£148.7m), which consists of £66.8m purchase in year and £6.8m 
downward movement in value.

Management and their valuer have taken into account available 
market data at 31 March 2020. In line with RICS guidance, the 
Council’s valuer disclosed a material uncertainty in the valuation of 
the Council’s investment properties as at 31 March 2020 as a result 
of Covid-19. The Council has included disclosures on this issue in 
Note 4 following audit challenge.

• We have no concerns over the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the valuation expert used by the Council.

• There have been no changes to the valuation method this 
year.

• We have considered the movements in the valuations of 
individual assets and their consistency with indices provided 
by Gerald Eve as our auditor’s expert. 

• Disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements is 
considered adequate. We will refer to the uncertainties 
disclosed in Note 4 in our audit report.

• We have considered the completeness and accuracy of the 
underlying information used to determine the estimate, and 
have not noted any non-trivial issues.

• Our work in this area remains in progress.


Green 

(subject to 
completion)

Assessment

 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  

 We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

Significant findings – key estimates and judgements

P
age 18



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

16

Financial statements

Accounting area Summary of management’s policy Auditor commentary Assessment

Net pension 
liability – £168.1m

The Council’s net pension liability at 31 
March 2020 is £168.1m (PY £178.6m) . 
The Council uses Barnett Waddingham 
to provide actuarial valuations of the 
Council’s assets and liabilities derived 
from these schemes. 

A full actuarial valuation is required every 
three years. The latest full actuarial 
valuation was completed in 2019. A roll 
forward approach is used in intervening 
periods, which utilises key assumptions 
such as life expectancy, discount rates, 
salary growth and investment returns. 
Given the significant value of the net 
pension fund liability, small changes in 
assumptions can result in significant 
valuation movements. There has been a 
£1.3m net actuarial gain during 2019/20.

The Council’s actuary disclosed a 
material uncertainty in the valuation of 
the Council’s pension fund at 31 March 
2020 as a result of Covid-19. The 
actuarial report the Council has received 
indicates that asset fund performance 
has been volatile over the period to 31 
March. This is particularly in the later 
months of 2019/20 as a result of the 
COVID-19 crisis, and thus market 
valuations may be subject to change, 
affecting in turn, the net pension liability. 
The Council has included disclosures on 
this issue in Note 4..

• We have no concerns over the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary used 
by the Council.

• We have used the work of PwC, as auditors expert, to assess the actuary and 
assumptions made by the actuary. See below for consideration of key assumptions in the 
Torbay Council Pension Fund valuation

• No issues were noted with the completeness and accuracy of the underlying information 
used to determine the estimate.

• There have been no changes to the valuation method since the previous year, other than 
the updating of key assumptions above.

• We have confirmed that the Council’s share of the pension scheme assets is in line with 
expectations.

• Disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements is considered adequate. We will refer 
to the uncertainties disclosed in Note 4 in our audit report.


Green

(subject to 
completion)

Assessment

 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  

 We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

Assumption Actuary 
Value

PwC range Assessme
nt

Discount rate 2.35% 2.35% 

Pension increase 
rate

1.90% 1.85% - 1.95% 

Salary growth 2.90% Long term 
assumption of 
1% above CPI 



Life expectancy –
Males currently 
aged 45 / 65

24.3/22.9 22.8 – 24.7
21.4 – 23.3



Life expectancy –
Females currently 
aged 45 / 65

25.5/24.1 25.2 – 26.2
23.7 – 24.7



Significant findings – key estimates and judgements

P
age 19



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

17

Financial statements

Accounting area Summary of management’s policy Auditor commentary Assessment

Provisions for
NNDR appeals -
£4.6m

The Council actions successful appeals on 
rateable value assessments. The calculation is 
based upon the latest information about 
outstanding rates appeals provided by the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA) and previous 
success rates. The Council is liable for 49% of 
the cost of any revaluation appeals. The value 
of this liability for back dated appeals will be 
the result of any appeals awarded by the 
Valuation Office.

• We have not noted any issues with the completeness and accuracy of the underlying 
information used to determine the estimate.

• We have considered the approach taken by the Council’s experts to determine the 
provision, and it is in line with that used by other bodies in the sector.

• Disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements is considered adequate.

• There has been a change in the calculation method this year, due to the introduction of 
the use of an expert. We have considered the new approach, and the calculation 
performed by the expert, and have not identified any issues.


Green

Other accruals 
and estimates

The Council continues to apply estimates and 
judgements in a number of areas, such as:

• accruals of income and expenditure;

• recognition of school assets; and

• the preparation of group accounts.

• The policies for these items are in line with accounting standards and the requirements 
of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

• Disclosure of the estimates in the financial statements is considered adequate.

• As part of our testing, we have reviewed the judgements applied by the Council 
relating to these items, and significant balances within these have been discussed with 
management in detail.

• We have found no material misstatements in the financial statements relating to these 
balances.


Green

Assessment

 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  

 We consider management’s process and key assumptions to be reasonable

Significant findings – key estimates and judgements

P
age 20



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

18

Financial statements

Accounting area Summary of management’s response Auditor commentary Assessment

Restitution for McCloud                          
In 2018 the Court of Appeal ruled 
that there was age discrimination in 
the judges and firefighters pension 
schemes where there was 
transitional protection given to 
scheme members. The legal ruling 
around age discrimination (McCloud 
- Court of Appeal) also has 
implications for other pension 
schemes where they have 
implemented transitional 
arrangements on changing benefits.

Torbay Council participate in the Devon County 
Council Pension Fund. The Pension fund had an 
initial discussion with Barnett Waddingham, Fund 
actuary, on the potential impact and their advice is 
that they expect the impact to be on administration 
rather than a material impact on liabilities at whole 
fund level. 

In addition, in production of the IAS19 statement 
Barnett Waddingham made an allowance for 
McCloud as a past service cost (as well as the 2019 
valuation). 

• The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
published its consultation on reforms to public sector pension 
schemes on 16 July2020. Initial feedback from GAD indicates 
that this is likely to lead to a reduction in the IAS 19 liability 
previously calculated.

• For 2019/20 accounts we expect the pension liability to be 
remeasured, as normal, via an actuarial report, and to take 
account of best estimates in relation to the impact of McCloud 
judgements. 

• The Pension fund actuary’s estimate was a possible increase in 
pension liabilities of £2,859k.so any further revision is unlikely to 
be material.

• Our work on this is currently ongoing.


Green 

(subject to 
completion)

Other experience item                            
On the Pension Notes and in the 
IAS 19 report, there’s a £2.258m 
increase described as ‘Other 
experience’. This has increased 
significantly compared to prior year. 

Torbay Council participate in the Devon County 
Council Pension Fund. The Pension fund advised 
that the “other membership experience” would 
normally be expected to be small between valuations. 
The actuary Barnett Waddingham performed an 
analysis of experience since the last triennial 
valuation as part of the triennial funding valuation 
process. The actuary tolerance for the impact of the 
roll forward approach is generally 5% of the total 
liabilities or assets. For Torbay Council, it equates to 
1.4% of the total liabilities, which is largely a result of 
the difference in the roll forward versus the full 
valuation

• Experience items can arise in any financial year but are 
expected to be greatest in the first set of financial statements 
produced following a triennial review. This is because the 
underlying source data is updated during the triennial review 
and the process will pick up three years of actual vs expected 
member movements. For English and Welsh LGPS schemes, 
experience items are likely to be greater in value in 2019/20 
than in 2018/19 because it is the first financial year since the 
latest triennial review was performed. 

• We have asked the actuary for a breakdown of the experience 
item into the key factors and had a 3-way phone call discussion 
with the Devon County Council Pension Fund management and 
the actuary, challenging whether the factors identified by the 
actuary are appropriate to be classed as experience items.

• Our auditor actuarial expert is also in the process of reviewing 
the assumptions. Our work on this is currently ongoing.


Green 

(subject to 
completion)

Assessment

 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic

 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  

 We consider management’s process and key assumptions to be reasonable

Significant findings – key estimates and judgements

P
age 21



Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20 19

Going concern commentary Auditor commentary

Management's assessment process

Management does not carry out a formal written going 
concern assessment but rely on the Medium Term 
Resource Plan (MTRP) that runs to 20223/24.

The CIPFA Code confirms that entities should prepare 
their financial statements on a Going Concern basis 
unless the services provided are to cease. There is no 
indication from Government that the services provided 
by the Council will cease.

Management has determined that there is no evidence of an intention to cease the provision of services, and have therefore 
adopted the going concern assumption, taking into account Paragraph 2.1.2.9 of the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting which states that “An authority’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis; that is, the 
accounts should be prepared on the assumption that the functions of the authority will continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future”.

The situation beyond 2020/21 is more uncertain as the longer-term impact of the pandemic on individuals and businesses in 
the borough, and by consequence demand for services, remains unclear. However, management are confident that the 
Council retains sufficient levels of useable reserves which as a last resort can be used to withstand the pressures faced 
during the period of their assessment.

Work performed We have reviewed the Council’s financial assessment of the impact of Covid-19, future financial plans and the Council’s level 
of reserves. We reviewed management’s disclosures, going concern assessment, and Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
corroborating key inputs and assumptions to our wider knowledge gained through the audit process, and where applicable to 
supporting documentation. We considered, based on our understanding of the entity and the wider political and economic 
climate, whether material uncertainties may exist which were not explicitly covered by management’s assessment.

Concluding comments We are satisfied from the work performed that:

• the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate for the Council’s financial statements

• no events or conditions exist which may give rise to material uncertainties casting significant doubt on the Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern

• the disclosures in the Council’s financial statements relating to going concern are adequate.

Our audit opinion in respect of going concern will be unmodified.

Financial statements

Our responsibility

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK) 570). 

Going concern material uncertainty disclosures

It has been a challenging year due to the Covid-19 pandemic and the impact of this has been administration of grants to businesses and the closure of car parks, with additional 
challenges of reopening services under new government  guidelines, staff absences due to illness, and the need to free up capacity of teams in addition to normal responsibilities. The 
Council is facing significant challenges but has reported a surplus position for 2019/20. Management has undertaken an analysis of the potential financial implications of Covid-19 
together with additional funding being provided. The estimated financial impact in 2021/22 of £7.950m is based on the current COVID 19 position in Torbay. In July 2020 MHCLG 
announced their intention to allow any Collection Fund deficit in 2020/21 to be spread over three financial years from 2021/22. The impact on 2021/22 and the following two years is 
therefore £1.7m each year. However, the Council has £4.6m general fund balance plus £34.3m earmarked general fund reserves, so is in a relatively strong financial position to absorb 
the immediate costs and loss of income caused by the pandemic. As at July 2020/21 the Council wasn’t forecasting that it would need to use any of its general fund reserve or use an 
earmarked reserve for an alternative purpose.

Significant findings – going concern

P
age 22



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

20

Financial statements

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue Auditor commentary

Matters in relation to fraud We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit Committee. We have not been made aware of any incidents in the period and no 
issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures.

Matters in relation to related 
parties

We are not aware of any related parties or related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

Matters in relation to laws and 
regulations

You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not identified any 
incidences from our audit work.

Written representations A letter of representation will be requested from the Council, the wording of which is provided separately.

Confirmation requests from third 
parties 

We requested from management permission to send a confirmation requests to the Council’s counterparties. This permission was granted and 
the requests were sent. Most of these requests were returned with positive confirmation. At the time of writing this report, we are still process 
the information received. 

Disclosures Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements at the time of writing this report.

Audit evidence and 
explanations/significant 
difficulties

All information and explanations requested from management was provided. The finance team were very cooperative and we would like to 
thank the whole team for their approach to the 2019/20 audit.

As noted in the TDA pension pass through consideration, where unusual transactions are being undertaken we would expect formal legal and 
accounting considerations to be undertaken. There is scope for improvement in documenting the formal consideration undertaken by
management.  

Other matters for communication

P
age 23



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

21

Financial statements

Issue Commentary

Other information We are required to give an opinion on whether the other information published together with the audited financial statements (including the 
Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report), is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

No inconsistencies have been identified. We plan to issue an unmodified opinion in this respect.

Matters on which we report by 
exception

We are required to report on a number of matters by exception in a numbers of areas:

• If the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is misleading 
or inconsistent with the other information of which we are aware from our audit

• If we have applied any of our statutory powers or duties

We have nothing to report on these matters.

Specified procedures for Whole 
of Government Accounts 

We are required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation pack 
under WGA group audit instructions. 

At the time of writing, the group instructions have yet to be issued by the NAO, with these due to be communicated to group. Note that work 
may not be required as the Council did not exceed the threshold in prior years.

Certification of the closure of the 
audit

Subject to the completion of the procedures in relation to the Council’s WGA consolidation pack, we intend to certify the closure of the 2019/20 
audit of Torbay Council in the audit report.

Other responsibilities under the Code

P
age 24



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

22

Value for Money

Risk assessment 

We carried out an initial risk assessment in July 2020 and identified a number of 
significant risks in respect of specific areas of proper arrangements using the guidance 
contained in AGN03. We communicated these risks to you in our Audit Plan dated July 
2020.

We have continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of giving our report, 
and have not identified any further significant risks where we need to perform further 
work.

We carried out further work only in respect of the significant risks we identified from our 
initial and ongoing risk assessment. Where our consideration of the significant risks 
determined that arrangements were not operating effectively, we have used the 
examples of proper arrangements from AGN 03 to explain the gaps in proper 
arrangements that we have reported in our VFM conclusion.

Background to our VFM approach

We are required to satisfy ourselves that the Council has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as 
the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion. 

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves that proper arrangements 
are in place at the Council. In carrying out this work, we are required to follow the NAO's 
Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) issued in April 2020. AGN 03 identifies one single 
criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Informed 
decision 
making

Value for 
Money 

arrangements 
criteria

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Working 
with partners 
& other third 

parties

Value for Money

P
age 25



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

23

Our work

AGN 03 requires us to disclose our views on significant qualitative aspects of the Council's 
arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

We have focused our work on the significant risks that we identified in the Council's 
arrangements. In arriving at our conclusion, our main considerations were:

• Revenue and capital outturn for 2019/20

• Approved revenue and capital budget for 2020/21

• Officer assessment of the impact of Covid-19 on forecasted costs and income for 
2020/21 and future years, as reported to members

• Medium term financial plan for 2020/21-2022/24

• Analysis of reserves position

• OFSTED reports since 2018 inadequate rating

• Legal advice relating to the investment fund obtained from Council’s advisors

• Council Redesign Programme - Transformation Plan

• Discussions with key officers and internal audit

We have set out more detail on the risks we identified, the results of the work we 
performed, and the conclusions we drew from this work on pages 24 to 28.

Overall conclusion

Based on the work we performed to address the significant risks, we concluded that:

• except for the matter we identified in respect of the Ofsted report on Children’s 
Services, the Council had proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. We therefore propose to give a qualified 'except 
for' conclusion. The text of our proposed report can be found at Appendix E.

Recommendations for improvement

We discussed findings arising from our work with management and have agreed 
recommendations for improvement.

Significant difficulties in undertaking our work

We did not identify any significant difficulties in undertaking our work on your 
arrangements which we wish to draw to your attention.

Significant matters discussed with management

There were no matters where no other evidence was available or matters of such 
significance to our conclusion or that we required written representation from 
management or those charged with governance. 

Value for Money

Value for Money

P
age 26



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

24

Key findings

We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of documents

Significant risk (as per audit plan) Findings and conclusion

Budget delivery and savings

The Council forecast an overspend of £2.87m in 
2019/20, due to budget pressures in Children’s 
Services. While the budget for 2020/21 was 
based on a balanced budget, the Council needed 
to identify savings in the region of £11m for 
2020/21 and 2021/22 in order to achieve a 
balanced budget.

We reviewed the Council's latest MTRP and the 
2019/20 budget, considering the assumptions 
that underpin the figures within them. We will also 
review the 2019/20 savings achieved against 
those originally planned.

2019/20 outturn

In February 2019, the Council set a budget for 2019/20 without the use of reserves of £111 million (2018/19: £112 million). 
This included £8 million of net reductions to allow the Council to set a balance budget for 2019/20. The Council overspent by
£3.1 million and despite delivering savings across a range of services and departments were unable to offset the significant 
overspend of £7 million relating to children’s services (an increase on the 2018/19 overspend of £5 million). The Council 
therefore needed to fund the £3.1 million from earmarked reserves to enable a break even position. 

From our review of Council papers there is evidence the Council has a robust and well developed budget setting process. 
This process incorporates an appropriate level of challenge and scrutiny from member committees to ensure budgets are 
achievable operationally, input from a range of stakeholders to ensure the budget remains relevant and a good level of 
support from finance to ensure budgets are achievable from a resourcing perspective. Committee papers also demonstrate 
the Council has been suitably proactive and challenging in how it has monitored ongoing budgets and updated assumptions 
as new information becomes available to ensure budgets remain appropriate. However the use of earmarked reserves to 
address in-year service overspends is not sustainable in the long term. However it remains critical to your financial health 
that you continue to take action to control costs and deliver identified savings.

2020/21 and medium term resource plans

The Council holds general fund reserves of £4.4 million (4.1% of net budget) and other earmarked reserves of £8 million. 
This is relatively low and the funding gap identified pre COVID-19 over the next three years until March 2024 is £16.1 million. 
We also note the intention that release £3 million of the earmarked reserve going forward.

The impact of Covid-19 on the revenue outturn for 2019/20 was minimal, due to the pandemic only arising within the final few 
weeks of the financial year. However, the impact on the 2020/21 budget is significant both in respect of increased 
expenditure and loss of income and may also have a significant impact on the Council’s ability to realise planned savings 
and transformation programmes. The government is providing grants to offset COVID-19 costs and income losses and to 
date the Council has received £10.4 million however as other local authorities s are finding, there is a gap between central 
government funding and actual budget shortfalls that cannot be necessarily claimed. 

As at quarter 2 in 2020/21 the Council was not forecasting that it would need to use any of its general fund reserve or use an 
earmarked reserve for an alternative purpose due to COVID. Should this change, the Council has a real risk that reserves 
are insufficient to offset any other additional gaps especially given the significance of the funding gap already identified.

Value for Money

Value for Money

P
age 27



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

25

Significant risk (as per audit plan) Findings and conclusion

Government will likely continue to provide support but the Council is vulnerable should there be a continued rise in demand 
for children and adult services which are the two areas where it has experienced the greatest difficulty in managing –
although we note the children services is currently forecasting an underspend against the rebased 2020/21 budgeted 
amount).

Linked to VFM risk 3 overleaf, the Council embarked on an investment strategy which to date has seen £235 million invested 
with the aim of  generating income to reinvest in services. These plans have taken place alongside the proposed 
transformation programme (VFM risk 4 overleaf). The Council may well need to identify new income streams but it should 
also be wary of the financial risks relating these types of  projects as many other Council’s have implemented similar 
strategies resulting in them losing money due to a lack of expertise and capacity.

The pandemic and associated restrictions caused a significant financial pressure and whilst the Council is projecting that it
does not need to utilise reserves in 2020/21 it does highlight how vulnerable the Council’s financial sustainability is due to its 
low level of reserves. The Council already has a timetable for revising its MTRP including the actions it will take to close the
£16.1 million funding gap. The Council needs to actively monitor these actions and if it becomes apparent that the Council 
will not close the gap the Council may need to asses the level of services its is providing and whether alternative strategies 
are required. 

Conclusion

On that basis, we have concluded that the level of savings needed represents a significant challenge for you combined with a 
low level of reserves.

The Council has plans in place to manage cost pressures and to identify and deliver savings however the Council has very 
little headroom to cope with any further cost pressures or income reduction and should it need to utilise reserves in 2020/21.

Whilst many other councils are in a similar position, action needs to be taken now to address the identified budget gaps in a
planned and managed way. Without taking early action the Council will need to rely on further depleting reserve levels to 
balance its budget. Repeated reliance on reserves without taking action to address the underlying budget gaps will lead to 
the risk that either reserves levels become unsustainable or rapid service cuts are required to maintain a sustainable 
position.

Recommendation: 

• The Council needs to ensure it continues to take action to address any in-year overspends or slippage in delivery of 
savings.

• The Council must urgently develop realistic savings plans to meet the identified budget gap going forward together with 
clear monitoring of delivery of savings to avoid further depletion of reserves.

Value for Money

Value for Money

P
age 28



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

26

Significant risk Findings and conclusion

In year the Director of Children's Services was 
appointed. This appointment follows her interim 
role as Director of Children’s Services. 
Previously the post was shared with Plymouth 
City Council.

We will review the progress being made by the 
Council under its new leaders, considering the 
actions being taken to address the continuing 
pressures on this service.

We have reviewed the progress being made by in addressing the recommendations raised by OFSTED in relation to 
Children’s Services.

Your Children’s Services were rated as inadequate in January 2016 and you then entered  a contractual arrangement with 
Plymouth City Council, with a Joint Director for Children's Services (DCS) for Torbay Council and Plymouth City Council. 

Ofsted subsequently completed an inspection visit in July 2018, in which the inadequate rating remained in place. The report 
concluded that overall, the pace of change has been too slow and some recommendations from the previous inspection are 
not met. It stated fundamental weaknesses remain in management oversight and supervision and in identification of and 
response to risk, as well as workforce development and capacity. 

Subsequently there were monitoring visits in January 2019, April 2019, October 2019 and January 2020

The January 2019 report concluded that ‘senior leaders have failed to address the significant concerns identified during the re-
inspection of Torbay children’s services in June 2018’ although the April 2019 reported that ‘the local authority is starting to
make some progress, from an extremely low base, in improving services for its children and young people, but these 
improvements remain exceedingly fragile’. The October 2019 report concluded that ‘the local authority is taking too long to 
address critical weaknesses. As reported in previous monitoring visits, the quality of help and protection for vulnerable children 
continues to be very concerning. The local authority has made some progress to implement the necessary improvements, but 
the pace of change for children in need of help and protection is too slow’.

The most recent report and the fourth since the Council was rated inadequate in July 2018 again noted there were positives 
stating ‘the newly appointed interim deputy director has a realistic understanding of the challenges and scale of poor practice 
and outcomes for vulnerable children in Torbay. Together with managers and social workers, she is taking urgent action to 
begin to address the long-standing concerns’. However the report concluded that ‘it is too soon to evaluate the impact of these 
changes, but inspectors are encouraged about the scale of the work that has been achieved since their monitoring visit in 
October 2019’.

Conclusion

The last two visits from Ofsted have indicated a positive direction of travel and we note you have ended the joint arrangement 
with Plymouth City Council brining the DCS back fully ‘in house’. However the most recent conclusions are clear that whilst 
changes are being made that these are not embedded yet and consequently our conclusion is that as in the prior year there is 
evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for understanding and using appropriate and reliable financial and 
performance information to support informed decision making and performance management, and for planning, organising 
and developing the workforce effectively to deliver strategic priorities. 

Value for Money

Value for Money

P
age 29



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

27

Significant risk Findings and conclusion

Investment arrangements / 
commercialisation

The Investment Strategy has been approved by 
Full Council and enables the Council to invest 
£300 million in opportunities and assets, to 
generate income to reinvest in its services. The 
Investment Fund has been financed by PWLB 
borrowing and large commercial property 
portfolio may expose the Council’s
investments to volatility, especially in light of 
Covid-19.

We will review the due diligence and scenario 
planning undertaken by the Council when 
considering its commercial property 
investments. We will also review the legal 
advice obtained by the Council, and the 
appropriateness of
using PWLB borrowing to fund investment 
activity, considering the Prudential Code and 
the Council's statutory powers.

We have followed up on the progress in implementing new investment arrangements having identified this as a significant 
VFM risk in 2018/19. The Council originally set up an investment fund of £200m and approval was obtained in July 2019 to 
increase the fund to £300 million. To date, the Council has spent £235 million with an estimated surplus (through growth in 
value), after borrowing costs and contingency for future years, on these properties of £4.6 million in 2021/22. 

As part of our work in 2018/19, we suggested the Council should seek legal advice to confirm it was appropriate to purchase 
properties outside of its geographical area and whether this could be done directly or whether it must be done so via a 
subsidiary company. The Council proceeded with the purchases and its legal advice suggested this action was lawful as long 
as the Council’s Investment and Regeneration Fund Strategy (the Strategy) was updated with specific wording relating to 
diversification. The Council updated the Strategy in October 2020 but we are of the view it does not sufficiently cover both of 
the substantive points raised in the legal advice and thus needs further refinement. 

Following the conclusion of the March 2020 HM Treasury consultation of the use of PWLB borrowing to fund ‘debt for yield’ the
Council has not invested any further funds. 

Our review of arrangements in 2018/19 considered the governance regarding the monitoring and management of the 
investments and we note these remain unchanged in substance apart from the change in reporting lines during the year 
following the commencement of the Leader and collective Cabinet decision making model of governance. We note from 
reviews of minutes there is scrutiny of decision making in relation to the investment portfolio which has become increasingly
important due to the increased risks arising from the impact of COVID-19 on property investments. The Council has also 
included a contingency of £0.5 million in the 2021/22 budget for the impact of the economic uncertainty on all Council rental
income although at present only one asset has been impacted as a result of COVID-19. 

Conclusion

Whilst no issues have been identified that impact on our VFM conclusion we recommend the Council revisits its legal advice to
confirm its Strategy has been updated appropriately to comply with relevant legislation. We have not identified any 
weaknesses in the monitoring or scrutiny of the management of the investment portfolio but the Council should continue to 
monitor performance against investment parameters set out in the Strategy to ensure the portfolio is delivering the income 
levels intended and whether there are any changes to circumstances relating to specific assets which might change their risk 
profile from the assessment made during the original due diligence process.

Recommendation: 

• The Council should refine further the wording in the Investment and Regeneration Fund Strategy to ensure it meets the 
legal advice obtained by the auditor

• The Council should continue to monitor performance of investments and consider whether there any changes in 
circumstances which might change the risk profile and respond appropriately.

Value for Money

Value for Money

P
age 30



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

28

Significant risk (as per audit plan) Findings and conclusion

Transformation

The Council is progressing a number of projects 
including redesign and commission some of 
existing services through its Transformation 
Programme as it seeks alternative methods of 
service delivery. The need for the Council to 
consider if it has adequate capacity to support 
and deliver its transformation
programme was raised in our Audit Findings 
Report for the past 2 years.

We will review the arrangements being put in 
place by the Council for these projects, including 
whether appropriate advice has been taken. This

We have followed up on the delivery of the transformation programme that commenced in 2018/19 and is now known as the 
‘Redesign Programme’ (the Programme). The Programme focuses on a number of work streams within three core areas:

• 'Our Communities' – We will reconnect with and enable and empower our communities 

• Our Organisation' – We will put our customers at the centre of our organisation

• ‘Our People' – We will be an organisation that our people are proud of

The governance arrangements supporting the Programme have been refined but largely remains unchanged from the 
previous year. The Council’s Transformation Board (Senior Leadership Team) is ultimately accountable for overseeing the 
Programme and will act as the escalation route for strategic risks and issues. A Programme Board is in place to provide 
advice and direction to projects and managing stakeholder engagement. As per the plan approved by Council ‘the Redesign 
Programme Board will provide assurance of quality and objectives, track overall investment and realisation of benefits and 
make strategic decisions in relation to scope, investment and risk management. There are three Project Delivery Boards to  
govern the detailed progress of each project and to manage the resources and monitor risks and issues. Our review of 
Committee papers indicate these committees are operating as per the their terms of reference with appropriate monitoring 
and scrutiny. 

As part of our work we have considered some of the changes in corporate structure the Council has made during the year: 

• The Council established SWISCO (South West Integrated Services Company),  a 100% owned company to provide 
services provided by TOR2 following the expiry of 10 year contract in July 2020. 

• The Council’s Torbay Economic Development Company Ltd (TDA) created two wholly owned subsidiaries to contract and 
rent affordable housing, called Torvista Homes and TEDC Developments. 

As the Council is in the initial stages or developing it affordable housing plans the subsidiaries operations are relatively low
risk and we can see there are procedures in place for ensuring the Council’s has ultimate approval for decision making. 
However as other local authorities have found, the establishment of these types of arrangements can be risky from both a 
finance and governance perspective especially if there is poor or insufficient monitoring and scrutiny. The Council therefore
needs to ensure it does not lose sight of the importance of ensuring these subsidiaries are operating in line with the objectives 
of the Council.

Conclusion

The Council’s approach to transformation has continued into 2019/20 albeit with a re-set and publication of a revised 
‘Redesign Programme’. We have concluded there remain adequate arrangements in place for managing and monitoring your 
transformation programme but we recommend there is a particular focus on the changes made in relation to the affordable 
housing project. 

Recommendation: 

• As their affordable housing plans develop, the Council should ensure that the finance and governance is robust and that 
the subsidiary operates in line with the Council’s objectives.

Value for Money

Value for Money

P
age 31



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

29

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 
person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in May 2020 which sets out supplementary guidance on ethical 
requirements for auditors of local public bodies.

Details of fees charged are detailed in Appendix D

Independence and ethics

Independence and ethics

Audit and Non-audit services

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. The following non-audit services were identified, as well 
as the threats to our independence and safeguards that have been applied to mitigate these threats.

These services are consistent with the Council’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. All services have been approved by the Audit Committee None of the 
services provided are subject to contingent fees. 

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related:

Certification of Housing 
Benefit Grant

13,250* Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

Self review (because GT 
provides audit services)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  
for this work is £13,250* in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £103,081 and in particular relative to Grant 
Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These 
factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level. 

*This fee is the 2019/20 core price, which should only be used indicatively for the upcoming 19/20 fees. It does 
not include the cost of any additional ‘40+’ work.

Certification of Teachers 
Pension Return 

5,000 Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

Self review (because GT 
provides audit services)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  
for this work is £5,000 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £103,081and in particular relative to Grant 
Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These 
factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Non-audit related

Harbour authority audit 1,500 Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  
for this work is £1,500 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £103,081 and in particular relative to Grant 
Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These 
factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

P
age 32



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

30

We have identified 3 of recommendations for the Council as a result of issues identified during the course of our audit. We have agreed our recommendations with management and we 
will report on progress on these recommendations during the course of the 2020/21 audit. The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the 
course of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

Controls

 High – Significant effect on control system

 Medium – Effect on control system

 Low – Best practice

Appendix A

Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations


Medium

s151 Officer has the access to post journals 

During our journal testing we identified that the s151 Officer has 
posted various journals around the year end. We have tested all 
journals posted by s151 officer and have not identified any issues 
with the specific journals posted by the s151 officer. The s151 officer 
did not authorise any journals and posted the journals due to staffing 
pressures in April however this is not good practice and should not 
happen. 

Senior financial reporting personnel should not have the ability to post journal entries, due 
to increased risk of management override of control

Management response

Accepted - This was a short term arrangement linked to staffing issues around the impact 
of Covid-19


Medium

In-year budget delivery and savings

The Council has experienced in year service overspends in recent 
years which have been met from reserves. Total general fund and 
earmarked reserves is relatively low. The current in year forecast 
does not plan to use reserves however with pressures relating to the 
pandemic there is risk that service overspends will continue and 
reserves will be further depleted.

The Council must ensure it continues to take action to address any in-year overspends or 
slippage in delivery of savings.

Management response

Accepted – the Council will continue to monitor and report on the current year position


High

Savings identification

The Council's MTRP has a gap of £16.2 million over the 2021/22 -
2023/24 period. This represents a considerable challenge for the 
Council and with relatively low levels of reserves there is a risk that 
slippage in delivery of savings will reduce the reserves to an 
unsustainable level.

The Council must urgently develop realistic savings plans to meet the identified budget gap 
going forward together with clear monitoring of delivery of savings and income.

Management response

Accepted – the Council has, and will continue to, forecast its future year financial position 
and will work on options to mitigate that position to enable a balanced budget to be set.

Action plan

P
age 33



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

31

We have identified 3 of recommendations for the Council as a result of issues identified during the course of our audit. We have agreed our recommendations with management and we 
will report on progress on these recommendations during the course of the 2020/21 audit. The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the 
course of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

Controls

 High – Significant effect on control system

 Medium – Effect on control system

 Low – Best practice

Appendix A

Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations


Medium

Investment and Regeneration Fund Strategy

The Council took external legal advice on how the Council is 
applying the statutory guidance in relation to borrowing to purchase 
investment properties. As auditors we took our own legal advice and 
identified wording changes needed to fully comply with the 
guidance. Whilst some wording changes have been made, we 
consider further refinement is needed to meet the specific points.

The Council  should refine further the wording in the Investment and Regeneration Fund 
Strategy to ensure it meets the legal advice obtained by the auditor

Management response

Accepted – the Council will review the wording in the Investment Fund Strategy


Medium

Investment monitoring

The Council has a number of investment properties and the volatility 
in the economic environment has the potential to impact on the 
returns expected from the investment properties. The Council has 
put arrangements in place to monitor performance of its 
investments. With £235 million invested it is vital that the Council’s 
risk assessment remains dynamic.

The Council should continue to monitor performance of investments and consider whether 
there any changes in circumstances which might change the risk profile and respond 
appropriately.

Management response

Accepted – the Council has an officer group that monitors the investment property 
performance but will request a review to ensure its effectiveness.


Medium

Housing development company

As part of the transformation programme the Council is in the early 
stages of developing its affordable housing plans through 
subsidiaries. Other local authorities have found that these type of 
arrangements can be risky from a finance and governance 
perspective. 

The Council should ensure that the finance and governance of its affordable housing plans 
are robust and that the subsidiary operates in line with the Council’s objectives.

Management response

Accepted – the Council will review its subsidiaries undertaking housing activity to ensure 
appropriate governance and financial oversight

Action plan

P
age 34



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

32

We identified the following issues in the audit of Torbay Council’s 2018/19 financial statements, which resulted in 2 recommendations being reported in our 2018/19 Audit Findings 
report. We are pleased to report that management have implemented all of our recommendations.

Appendix B

Assessment Issue and risk previously communicated Update on actions taken to address the issue

 The Council's MTRP has a gap of £18.3 million over the 2020/21

- 2022/23 period. This represents a considerable challenge for

the Council given the savings it has already had to make in 
recent

years.

A balanced budget was set for 2020/21. The Medium Term Resource Plan identifies

budget gaps in 2021/22 to 2023/24, which have been considered as part of our VFM

work.

 The LGA Financial Peer Challenge has identified some key

recommendations for the Council coming out of its review in

November 2018.

The progress with the LGA Financial Peer Challenge action plan must be regularly 
monitored and reported to ensure that momentum on these critical recommendations is

maintained. Where relevant proposals from the LGA review are included in both 
budget proposals and the council’s transformation programme

Assessment

 Action completed

X Not yet addressed

Follow up of prior year recommendations

P
age 35



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

33

We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. 

Impact of adjusted misstatements

At the time of writing the report, we have not identified any adjusted misstatements.

Misclassification and disclosure changes

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. 

Detail Auditor recommendations Adjusted?

The Council included its deficit against the Dedicated School Grant as 
a negative £3.8 million within earmarked reserve. The CIPFA LAAP 
bulletin 19 does not allow for a voluntary earmarked balance to be 
presented in a deficit position. We remain of the view that where 
overspends arise against DSG these should be carried forward as a 
call against the schools’ budgets in future years as part of the un-
earmarked general fund.

Management has agreed to update the financial statements in respect of this disclosure.



We proposed a number of minor changes and narrative amendments 
to improve the presentation in the accounts 

Management has agreed the disclosure notes will be amended on the final version of the 
financial statements .



Appendix C

Audit adjustments

P
age 36



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

34

Impact of unadjusted misstatements

At the time of writing the report, we have not identified any unadjusted misstatements.

Impact of prior year unadjusted misstatements

The table below provides details of adjustments identified during the prior year audit which had not been made within the final set of 2018/19 financial statements. 

Appendix C

Audit adjustments

P
age 37



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

35

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

The fees agrees to the financial statements.

*This fee is the 2019/20 core price, which should only be used indicatively for the upcoming 19/20 fees. It does not include the cost of any additional ‘40+’ work.

Audit fees Proposed fee Final fee

Council Audit 103,081 TBC 

Appendix D

Non-audit fees for other services Proposed fee Final fee

Certification of 2019/20 Housing benefits grant 13,250* TBC  

Certification of 2019/20 Teacher’s Pension 5,000 5,000

Harbour authority audit 1,500 1,500

Total non- audit fees (excluding VAT) £19,750 TBC

Fees

P
age 38



Commercial in confidence

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Torbay Council  |  2019/20

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 39



  

 
 
 
 
 
Meeting:  Audit Committee Date:   23 November 2020 
 
Wards Affected:  All Wards 
 
Report Title:  Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 
 
Executive Lead Contact Details:  Darren Cowell, Cabinet Lead for Finance, 

darren.cowell@torbay.gov.uk 
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Martin Phillips – Chief Finance Officer, (01803) 

207285, Martin.phillips@torbay.gov.uk  
 

 
1. Purpose and Introduction 
 

1.1. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the audited Council’s 
Statement of Accounts for a year ended 31 March to be published before 31 
July of that year. However linked to the disruption caused by COVID-19 this date 
was extended to 31 August for 2019/20 only. 
 

1.2. The external audit started on the 5th October and is substantially complete with 
the approval by Audit Committee now the 23rd November 2020. 
 

1.3. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require approval of the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March by a committee of the 
Council before 31st July of that year. For Torbay Council approval is given by the 
Council’s Audit Committee. However linked to the disruption caused by COVID-
19 this date was extended to 30 November for 2019/20 only. 

 
1.3     The same regulations, require approval of an Annual Governance Statement to 

inform Members of the Council’s Governance and Internal Control framework 
and any significant control issues. 

 
2. Proposed Decision 

  
2.1 That Audit Committee having reviewed the accounts including the 

significant accounting policies and considered the External Auditor’s 
report and opinion on the Accounts, approve the Statement of Accounts 
and Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 (attached at Appendix 3). 

 
2.2 That Audit Committee delegate to the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation 

with the Chair of Audit Committee, the authorisation to make any changes 
to the 2019/20 Accounts arising between the date of this report and the 
finalisation of the external audit. 

 
2.2 The Letter of Representation (attached at appendix 1) is approved. 
 
 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



  

3. Reasons for the Decision 
 
3.1 The Account and Audit Regulations 2015 require approval of the audited 

Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March by a committee of the 
Council before 31 July, (30 November for 2019/20). For Torbay the Audit 
Committee can “on behalf of the Council approve the annual statement of 
accounts”. In addition the Regulations require that the person presiding at the 
meeting shall sign and date the accounts. As a key part of this process the Audit 
Committee will consider these Accounts prior to approval, and will also receive 
and consider the External Auditor’s report and opinion on the accounts. 

 
3.2 As required by the Account and Audit Regulations 2015 the Accounts were 

“authorised for issue” by the Council’s Chief Finance Officer on 11 August 2020 
and have been available on the Council’s website since then. The accounts, as 
required by the Regulations, were available for public scrutiny during August and 
early September 2020.  

 
3.3 The annual external audit of the accounts by the Council’s appointed auditor, 

Grant Thornton, started on 5th October and is expected to be completed before 
the statutory deadline of the 30th November.  

 
3.4 At this meeting Grant Thornton will report on the Accounts to Audit Committee 

which will enable members to consider the External Auditor’s report prior to the 
Committee’s approval of the Accounts.  

 
3.5 The Accounts presented to the Audit Committee are the Accounts as authorised 

for issue in August 2020. They will be updated for any adjustments agreed with 
the External Auditor, prior to final publication shortly after approval by Audit 
Committee in November and receipt of the external auditors “signed opinion”.  

 
3.6 Cabinet, in June 2020, received reports on both revenue and capital spending 

during the last financial year and those reports are consistent with the financial 
information in the Statement of Accounts.  

 

Supporting information 
  

A1 Introduction and history 
 
A1.1 The principal legislation relating to the keeping of local authority accounts is 

contained in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015. Local authority accounts are required to present a “true 
and fair view” of the financial position of the authority. The audit requirements of 
accounts are contained in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

 
A1.2 The Account and Audit Regulations 2015 regulations require that the responsible 

financial officer of the Council shall sign the Statement of Accounts and certify 
that it presents a “true and fair” view of both the financial position of the Council 
at the end of the year to which it relates and its income and expenditure. The 
Council’s responsible financial officer, Martin Phillips, has certified the Accounts. 

 
A1.3 The Regulations also require the audited Statement of Accounts to be published 

each year with approval by a committee.  For Torbay Council this is the Audit 
Committee. In addition the Regulations require that the person presiding at this 

Page 41



  

meeting shall sign and date the accounts. This year as the audit was delayed the 
approval has been delayed until September. 

 
A1.4 For 2019/20, the Council’s external audit did not start until 5th October, much 

later than in recent years which was in part linked to the impact of COVID19 on 
audit resources and the revised dates for 2019/20. 

 
A1.4 The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts to be signed by 

the person presiding at this meeting is within the Statement of Accounts. The 
intention behind this requirement is that the signature of the person presiding at 
the meeting shall formally represent the completion of the Council’s approval 
process of the accounts.  

 
A1.5 The Council as part of the process of the external auditor’s opinion on the 

Accounts is also required to complete a Letter of Representation (attached at 
Appendix 1) to confirm that all relevant information has been disclosed and 
made available to the auditor.  

 
A3.2 The requirements to produce statutory accounts in line with statutory timetables 

place pressures on finance and service staff to produce the information required 
in a short time period and in particular the pressure tends to fall on a few key 
individuals in May to produce the statutory accounts. It should be noted that 
although the Statement of Accounts is produced by Financial Services the 
support of service staff, who order, authorise and control income and 
expenditure is vital in this process. The Head of Finance and his staff, again, 
recognise the support given by service staff and without their support this 
timetable would not have been met. 

 
A4. Group Accounts and Partnership Working 
 
A4.1 A key issue that affects the closure of the Council’s accounts is the requirement 

to include the accounts of other bodies where the Council has control or 
significant control.  

 
A4.2 In 2019/20 the Council owns, or has influence on, a number of companies 

including TOR2, Careers South West, and its subsidiaries, TDA and its 
subsidiaries including Complete Cleaning Solutions Limited and Torvista. These 
are accounted for, if material, as subsidiary, associate companies or joint 
ventures depending on the level of Council’s control/ownership. Group accounts 
were included for 2019/20 but the level of balances were close to materiality so 
were a “light touch”. If as expected the Council’s subsidiary operations expand 
the group accounts will require a higher number of notes, reporting and audit. 

 
A4.3 This places additional work on finance staff, both within the Council and within 

the companies to produce information on an International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) basis in a short period to meet the deadline of 31 May (31 
August 2020). This is a particular pressure for the companies as the timetable for 
Councils to issue accounts is (usually) seven months earlier than the timetable 
for Companies to issue accounts. The Head of Finance and his staff, again, 
recognise the support given by staff within these companies and without their 
support this timetable would not have been met.  

 

Page 42



  

A4.5 In addition the Council has to disclose details of all arrangements with other 
bodies that could be classified as a related party or pooled budget arrangement 
such as the Devon Audit Partnership Joint Committee. It is important that the 
Council has an understanding of all the “partnerships” and joint working 
arrangements it has entered into, particularly in terms of legal issues, financial 
control and any risks and/or rewards the Council has from the arrangement.  

 
 
A5 2019/20 Statement of Accounts 
 
A5.1 The Accounts are included within the “Financial Reports and Accounts for the 

Year 2019/20” as shown in appendix 3. The Accounts are produced in line with 
IFRS and “proper practice” issued by CIPFA. As a result it is a technical 
document with its content and format largely prescribed by guidance and 
legislation.  

 
A5.2 The other information included in the Financial Report, i.e the Narrative 

Statement and Annual Governance Statement are published with the Accounts.  
 
A5.3 The Council’s accounting policies, which underpin the information within the 

Statement of Accounts, are reviewed on an annual basis by the Chief Finance 
Officer to ensure that the selection of the accounting policies is consistent with 
the latest guidance and standards (IAS8). The Council’s Accounting Policies that 
are significant are shown within the Statement of Accounts and are part of the 
approval of the Accounts. 

 
A6 Future year Statement of Accounts 
 
A6.1 There are a number of accounting changes and other issues that will impact on 

future year Council Accounts: 
  

1) For 2021/22, a new accounting standard in relation to Leasing will have more 
of an impact. The definition of a finance lease and operating lease will 
disappear with the majority of leases to be recognised as a lease asset and 
liability on the lessee’s balance sheet. 
 

2) Any impact from the Redmond Review such as the publication of an 
additional “simplified financial statement. (see section 9 below). 

 
A7 Annual Governance Statement 
 
A7.1 As required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations as part of its annual review 

of its internal control system, the Council will prepare an Annual Governance 
Statement which is then approved by a committee of the Council. The Annual 
Governance Statement was circulated to Audit Committee members in May of 
this year for comment which resulted in a number of updates. A record of 
decision was issued on 28 May 2020. 

 
A7.2 The 2019/20 Annual Governance Statement is included and is required to be 

published as part of the Statement of Accounts. 
 
 
 

Page 43



  

 
A8. Other Final Accounts Requirements 
 
A8.1 The Approval of the Council’s statutory Statement of Accounts is an important 

part of the final accounts process; however there are other requirements that 
relate to 2019/20 year end. These include: 

 
- WGA Return, subject to a limited external audit 
- Revenue and Capital Central Government returns on 2019/20  
- Children’s Services related “section 252” return 
- Any grant claims which will be subject to external audit  

 -    The publication of the Statement of Accounts 
 -    Publishing (and advertising) the Accounts and completion of the audit 
 
A9 Redmond Review 
 
A9.1 There has been a national issue over the quality and scope of external audit over 

the past few years with a number of reports and press comment on the issues. 
 
A9.2 As a result Sir Tony Redmond was asked to undertake an independent review of 

the effectiveness of local audit and the transparency of local authority financial 
reporting which was published in September 2020. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-
and-external-audit-independent-review 

 
A9.3 The recommendations in the report are a mixed picture. It will have an impact on 

councils and their auditors (internal and external). The recommendations will 
give a higher profile for audit and audit reporting which should be welcomed.  
However the report fails to address the issue that local authority accounts are 
“impenetrable” to the majority of readers and, rather than enforce a simplification 
of these accounts, the recommendation is to produce an additional “simplified 
financial statement” and to extend the period that councils have to publish their 
accounts.  

 
A9.4 The Devon Audit Partnership have produced a checklist of recommendations 

from the Redmond Review and these are included in Appendix two for 
information.  

 
A9.5 Once the recommendations have been consolidated into the relevant Codes of 

Practice and legislation a full report and recommendations will be presented to 
Audit Committee and Council. However the Audit Committee or Council could 
choose to implement some of these recommendations earlier.  

 
 
A10 Possibilities and Options 
 
A10.1 Approval of the Accounts is a statutory requirement.  
 
A.11 Preferred Solution /Option 
 
A11.1 As set out in the recommendation. 

 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review


  

A.12 Risks  
 
A12.1 Impact on Council’s reputation and negative external auditor comments if 

Accounts are not approved by end May. 
 
A13 Consultation 
 
A13.1 The unaudited Accounts have been on the Council website since early August 

2020, together with a public notice advertising the public inspection period. The 
public notice has also been displayed on the public notice board outside of the 
Town Hall. 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Letter of Representation 2019/20 – to follow 
Appendix 2 - Redmond Review Checklist 
Appendix 3 - Financial Reports and Accounts for the year 2019/20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



  

Appendix Two 

 

Redmond Review. 

 

Review of External Audit Arrangements – Summary of Recommendations 

 

Actions required by XX Council 

 

 

Redmond Recommendation Action to 

be taken 

By Who By When 

External Audit Regulation    

• A new Office of Local Audit and Regulation (to be 

known more commonly as “Not the Audit Commission”), 

which will: 

   

o regulate the local audit sector    

o draft the code of audit practice    

o take over the responsibilities of PSAA for procuring 

and managing audit contracts 

   

o monitor and review audit performance    

o produce an annual report on the state of local audit    

(A key role that OLAR will not have is to actually carry out 

audits – the Review does not appear to have addressed the 

question whether there is a role for public audit and assumes 

work will be contracted out in its entirety to private firms.) 

   

• The involvement of PSAA, ICAEW, FRC and the 

NAO in the framework will end. 

   

• Local authority governance arrangements to be 

reviewed with the purpose of: 

   

o full council receiving an annual report from the 

external auditor – to the first meeting after 30 September, 

even if the audit is not certified closed 

   

o appointment of a suitably qualified independent 

member to the Audit Committee 

   

o formalising meetings of the Chief Exec, Monitoring 

Officer and the CFO with the audit partner at least annually. 

   

• All auditors to be provided with the requisite skills 

and training to audit a local authority. 

   

• Audit quality to be consistent with the highest 

standards of audit within the revised fee structure – OLAR 

to have scope to apply proportionate sanctions in the event 

of serious or persistent breaches. 

   

• No firm with the requisite capacity, skills and 

experience to be excluded from bidding for contracts (by 

ensuring that qualifying criteria are not overly exclusive). 

   

• External Audit should recognise that Internal Audit 

work can be a key support in appropriate circumstances 

where consistent with the Code of Audit Practice. 

   

• Consideration to be given to moving the date for 

publication of audited accounts back to 30 September. 

   

• Changes to the arrangements for VFM auditing 

made in the 2020 Code of Audit Practice to be endorsed 

   

Page 46

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



  

(reporting on and making recommendations in relation to 

financial sustainability, governance and improving 

economy/efficiency/effectiveness). 

Financial Resilience    

• MHCLG to review its framework for seeking 

assurance about the sustainability of individual authorities. 

   

• Auditors to share key concerns with Ofsted, Care 

Quality Commission, etc, before completing their annual 

report. 

   

Transparency of Financial Reporting    

• An audited statement of service information and 

costs (with budget comparisons) to be presented alongside 

the statement of accounts (illustrations included in 

supporting documents). 

   

• CIPFA/LASAAC to be required to review the 

requirements for the statutory accounts in the light of the 

information to be covered in the statement of service 

information. 

   

 

 

Page 47



 

2019/20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2019/20  

Narrative Statement 

Statement of Accounts  

Annual Governance Statement 

UNAUDITED – 11 August 2020 

Page 48

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020  

 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents 

 

 
Page 

  
Introduction 
 
Head of Finance’s Narrative Statement  

1 
 
3 

  
Statement of Accounts 2019/20  
  
  

           - Index 
 

26 

- Financial Certificates 27 
- Independent Auditor’s Report  (to follow) 

 
29 

           - Core Financial Statements  33 
           - Notes to the Core Financial Statements           40 
           - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 103 
           - Collection Fund Summary Account 
 

117 
 

           - Group Accounts  
 

120 
 

  
 

Annual Governance Statement 2019/20  129 
  

 
Glossary 152 
  

Page 49



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative Statement 

1 
 

Torbay Council  

Statement of Accounts  •  2019/2020 

Introduction 

The purpose of the Statement of Accounts is to present a detailed overview of the Council’s financial 
position as at the end of March 2020.  It gives information as to the Council’s assets and liabilities at a point 
in time (31st March 2020) and detail on the Council’s financial performance during 2019/20.  This 
information is, where material, supported by notes to the accounts. 

The Statement includes the: 

 Chief Financial Officer’s Narrative Statement 

 Statement of Accounts including: 

o The Core Financial Statements for 2019/20 including balance sheet, income and expenditure 
Account, cash flow and movement in reserves. 

o Notes to the Core Financial Statements, that provide further detail to the core statements 

o Accounting Policies. The ‘framework’ adopted in preparing the accounts. 

o The Collection Fund Summary Account (for the accounting for the collection of National 
Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) and Council Tax) 

o Group Accounts 

 Annual Governance Statement 

The form and content of the Statement of Accounts is highly prescribed, by the CIPFA Code of Practice, and 
is produced on an International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) basis. The classification of costs, income 
and services under IFRS and the “Code of Practice” is different to the Council’s internal financial reporting to 
management. 

The Accounts are presented on a “going concern” basis as Councils cannot be created or dissolved without 
statutory prescription, it would not therefore be appropriate for local authority financial statements to be 
prepared on anything other than a going concern basis.  
 
The Accounts are a technical document and due to statutory requirements are a lengthy and complicated 
document.  The figures in these accounts are presented to the nearest £100,000. The Code states that 
“information is material if omitting it or misstating it could influence decisions that users make on the basis 
of financial information about a specific reporting authority. In other words, materiality is an authority-
specific aspect of relevance based on the nature or magnitude, or both, of the items to which the 
information relates in the context of an individual authority’s financial statements”.  

 “Group” accounts have been produced to consolidate the Council’s financial postion with the companies 
that it owns or has an ownership in with notes if material. The financial position of its subsidiary and related 
companies are fully disclosed in both the Narrative Statement and the related parties note.  

Page 50



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020  

 2 

The Accounts are subject to a detailed audit by the Council’s external auditor (Grant Thornton UK LLP). 
Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations, the Accounts, with its supporting documents, are available for 
public inspection. Full details are available from Financial Services at Torquay Town Hall or on the Council’s 
website at: http://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/finance/statement-of-accounts/ 

The Narrative Statement aims to offer interested parties a concise and easily understandable effective guide 
to the most significant matters reported in the accounts.   

The Council, under the Accounts and Audit Regulations must approve an Annual Governance Statement 
which provides an explanation of the Council’s governance framework, provides a summary of how the 
effectiveness of the framework has been reviewed over the course of the year and actions which will be 
taken over the coming year to improve the Council’s governance.  The 2019/20 Statement has been included 
within this document, but is not part of the Accounts and is outside the external auditor’s opinion on the 
Accounts.   

The Statement of Accounts is a key financial document published by the Council. The Council’s website 
contains the Statement of Accounts for previous years and a range of additional financial information:   

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/finance/statement-of-accounts/ 

All financial reports such as monitoring reports and outturn reports are reported on a regular basis to 
Council Committees and are available at  

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/  

There is a glossary at the back of these documents to help explain the meaning of some of the local 
government finance and accounting terms. 

The Council is required under statute to publish its unaudited accounts by the 31st May of the following 
financial year, however for 2019/20 this has been extended to 31 August. The Council’s external auditors will 
audit the accounts to enable Council (via Audit Committee) to approve its accounts. 

Page 51

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/finance/statement-of-accounts/
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/finance/statement-of-accounts/
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

3 
 

Head of Finance’s Narrative Statement 

Our Place 

Torbay offers an unrivalled quality of life for individuals and families – its natural environment, clean air, climate, 
location, good schools, growing arts and cultural sector and wide range of outdoor activities means that Torbay 
provides everyone with the opportunity to live a healthy and fulfilled life. 

Torbay comprises the three coastal towns of Torquay, Paignton and Brixham with a population in excess of 
133,000, of which 62,000 are between the ages of 18 and 64. In addition, Torbay attracts around 1.6m visitor 
trips each year. 

Torbay has established areas of economic success in many industries including fishing, a large social care sector 
and growing pharmaceutical and tech industries. Our residents have high levels of satisfaction with Torbay as a 
place to live. However, like many coastal areas, Torbay suffers from high levels of poverty and deprivation with 
an ageing population, increasing demand for children’s social care and not enough opportunities for young 
people. 

Our Council 

As a unitary authority, Torbay Council is responsible for a wide range of services including social care, transport, 
culture, housing, parks, beaches and waste.  

Local elections are held every four years. A referendum on the governance arrangements for Torbay Council was 
held in May 2016. As a result of the referendum, from May 2019 Torbay Council changed from being made up of 
the Elected Mayor and 36 Councillors to a Leader and Cabinet model of governance. 

The results of the May 2019 elections were 16 Conservative councillors, 12 Liberal Democrat councillors and 8 
independent councillors. A total of 36 Councillors represent Torbay’s 16 wards. At a Council meeting on 28 May 
2019 a Liberal Democrat and independent “partnership” was agreed with a Liberal Democrat Leader of the 
Council supported by 6 cabinet members including an Independent Deputy Leader of the Council. 

Further detail of the Council’s governance and its risk management arrangements are set out in the Annual 
Governance Statement, which is included in addition to the Statement of Accounts. 

Supporting the work of the Leader of the Council and Councillors is the officer structure of the Council headed 
by the Senior Leadership Team (SLT). This is made up of the Council’s most senior officers and ensures that the 
key Statutory Officers are represented at the most senior level of the Council.  

Torbay Council employs a total of 952 people (958 18/19), this does not include schools based employees.  

Our Corporate Plan 

The Council’s new Community and Corporate Plan – One Torbay: Working for all Torbay, was adopted in 
February 2020. 

Our ambition is: we want Torbay and its residents to thrive. 

To deliver our ambition we have identified four visions, each with a number of priority areas: 

 Thriving people 

 Thriving economy 

 Tackling climate change 

 A Council fit for the future 

Page 52



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 4 

Thriving people 
 
We will ensure that all activities of the Council are focused on turning the tide on poverty and that 
Torbay’s residents, young and old have high aspirations and the opportunity to reach their full potential. 
 
Our aim is to ensure that all our residents are active, healthy, safe, resilient and self-sufficient with good quality 
homes, which are affordable and meet their needs. They will have access to high quality employment 
opportunities whilst living in a community which is vibrant and attractive. 
 
For those in need of extra support, there will be access to good quality children’s and adult social care. 
 
We will create a whole community response to make Torbay a child-friendly and age-friendly place. One Torbay: 
Working for all of Torbay so that the people in our communities thrive. 
 
Thriving economy 
 
We will achieve our economic potential and play our distinctive role in the national and international economy. 
We will be well-connected with skilled individuals, a diverse economy and higher quality, better paid jobs. 
 
We will work to ensure that the local economy is sustainable so as to deliver long term future prosperity and an 
improved quality of life for all of our residents, especially those living in our most deprived areas. We want to 
achieve clean, green and inclusive growth. 
 
Through our people, our businesses and our infrastructure, we will create a whole community response to drive 
forward clean, inclusive growth. One Torbay: Working with all of Torbay so that our economy thrives. 
 
Tackling climate change 
 
We will work to reduce consumption and increase recycling. We will promote low carbon energy and work to 
improve poor air quality and reduce noise and emissions. 
 
We will create a whole community response to protect our environment. One Torbay: Working for all of Torbay 
to tackle climate change. 
 
A Council fit for the future 

We will fundamentally change the way in which the Council communicates and engages with all residents, 
including our young people. We will strengthen our relationships within the community and across our 
partnerships, including ensuring that our plans align. 
 
We will be an organisation that our communities can trust. One Council: Working for all of Torbay to enable our 
communities and create a Council is fit for the future. 
 
 
Our Achievements  

 Thriving people 
o During Mental Health Awareness Week, the Council highlighted that it has signed up to the 

Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health from Public Health England, to help tackle poor 
mental health. Agencies across the community and care sectors have come together to make 
prevention a priority for mental health.  

Page 53



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 5 

o The Torbay Lottery is a Council initiative, empowering local groups to generate vital funds in a 
fun and effective way, while enabling players to support the causes they care about the most. 
Grants have been awarded to 16 good causes. 

o We joined forces with Crowdfund Devon to become part of the Crowdfunder.co.uk platform 
and pledged funds towards local community projects. This way of fundraising lets us support 
our residents by pledging funds for them to develop and deliver projects that will benefit those 
who live in the Bay. 

o The Geopark signed up 14 local businesses and coastal initiatives to become Official Associate 
Partners. They will raise awareness of the Geopark designation and the importance of Torbay’s 
geological heritage. They work to give local people a sense of pride in the area and give 
opportunities for all to learn about, experience and understand other cultures and 
environments. 

o The annual Geopark Festival provided the ideal opportunity for locals and visitors to discover 
what makes the Bay’s geological and cultural history unique and special. 

o In partnership with Teignbridge Council, funding was secured to provide free training to 
Landlords to gain a better understanding of the legislation that is linked to managing a 
property. The one day course will mean landlords also receive accreditation status and one 
year’s membership to the South West Landlords Association. 

o Brixham Library, underwent refurbishment funded by the Council and a donation from the 
Friends of Brixham Library. The renovation will meet the needs of the local community and 
offer them an even more enjoyable and welcoming space to visit. 

o We have continued to implement our Children’s Services Improvement Plan which was 
approved by Ofsted and the Children’s Improvement Board. After their monitoring visit in 
January 2020, Ofsted’s letter acknowledged the progress being made and recognised that social 
workers in Torbay are highly committed and supported by accessible and visible managers, 
and that morale is good. 

o We have secured an agreement with Paignton Academy for the school to take an extra 30 
pupils per year starting from September 2019. The school will admit a further 30 pupils per year 
from September 2020. This will increase their numbers from 300 to 360 per year group, which 
creates 300 new secondary places over a five year period. We are funding five new classrooms 
and the remodelling of existing space to accommodate this increase. 

o The Medical Tuition Service (MTS), for pupils unable to attend mainstream schools, moved to 
My Place at Parkfield. This means the service is now able to offer subjects and activities that 
were not possible at their previous location. 

o A new partnership agreement changed the way that two key services for children and young 
people are run. The Torbay Youth Service and the Young Carers Service are now delivered by 
Torbay Youth Trust. This arrangement will result in more opportunities to creatively support 
young people in Torbay to be happy, healthy, safe and to achieve, than would be available if 
the services were delivered solely by the local authority. 

o Our supporting families’ programme made remarkable progress in the last year, the children’s 
partnership has worked effectively with 807 families who have achieved significant and 
sustained improvement. They are currently on target to achieve this for 1180 families in Torbay 
by the end of March 2020. 

o Funding to continue support work for those who find themselves street homeless in Torbay 
was secured for a further year. Over the past year a team of six workers have worked with 140 
people. This funding means they can continue to work with the 90 people who are on their 
active case load. The team will also be able to continue to support 23 people who are in stable 
accommodation in case they need any help in keeping their tenancy. 

Page 54



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 6 

o Our Public Health work on prevention has been included in a Local Government Publication as 
an example of good practice. Also £2m was secured from the NHS to spend on prevention 
activities across Devon. This funding will allow us to roll out a number of new services in the 
Bay associated with falls, frailty and emotional health.  

o A group of prominent scientific advisers to the government visited Torbay, to better 
understand the health challenges faced by local residents and to see how research can help. It 
was an opportunity to showcase how all stakeholders in the integrated care system of our 
region are uniquely placed to work together to co-produce relevant knowledge not only for 
local but also for national impact. 

 

 Thriving economy 
 

o The Council continues to deliver its Investment and Regeneration Strategy which is generating 
revenue income and stimulating regeneration within Torbay.  

o Using its Economic Growth Fund, Torbay Council purchased Fleet Walk Shopping Centre in 
Torquay as part of plans to regenerate Torbay’s town centres and help boost the local 
economy.  

o The Council has agreed to purchase the land at Crossways shopping centre in Paignton, if 
necessary by the use of a compulsory purchase order to facilitate regeneration of the site. The 
aspiration is to develop the land as an attractive retail, residential and employment space. 

o Paignton was one of the few towns across the UK to receive revenue funding of £150,000 from 
the Future High Streets Fund. Torbay Council and TDA will use the funding to produce business 
cases to attract capital funding to deliver projects in Paignton town centre. 

o Torquay is one of 100 places invited by the Government to develop innovative regeneration 
plans that will help to build a prosperous future for the town. The Council will work with 
partners to develop ambitious plans to transform Torquay’s economic growth prospects. 

o TDA ran two free Apprenticeship Fairs in July 2019 and February 2020, for anyone considering 
an apprenticeship or looking to develop their skills. Torbay is one of just four areas working 
with the Department for Education (DfE) / Education and Skills Funding Agency on the 
Government’s ‘Opportunities through Apprenticeships Pilot’, to increase the value of 
apprenticeships and enable social mobility. Torbay’s pilot is now being nationally recognised for 
best practice by the DfE and the Local Government Association (LGA). 

o Torbay’s £8m Electronics and Photonics Innovation Centre (EPIC) has now been officially 
handed over by contractors Interserve to Torbay Council. EPIC will be a centre of excellence, 
supporting technological innovation and promoting collaborative activity between businesses 
and research institutions. It has passed to the TDA to manage under a long lease to 
accommodate and support start up and spin-off companies and encourage foreign direct 
investment to Torbay and its microelectronics and photonics sector. 

o A £2.5m project funded by us and the European Maritime Fisheries Fund (EMFF) concluded at 
Oxen Cove Jetty in Brixham. This will provide additional landing capacity to support the fishing 
industry by easing crowding at peak times and streamlining the logistics of distribution. 

o A new bar and dining venue overlooking Paignton Harbour opened in 2019 after St Austell 
Brewery’s investment into the Harbour Light Restaurant. This project was a product of Torbay 
Council’s Port Masterplan and has been promoted by the Tor Bay Harbour Committee. The 
Council worked alongside the TDA to take this project forward. It is another example of a 
successful private operator bringing investment, development and regeneration into Torbay, 
which in turn will create jobs.  

Page 55



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 7 

 Tackling climate change  

o On 24 June 2019, Torbay Council declared a ‘Climate Emergency’ in recognition of the scale and 
urgency of the global challenge from climate change. We have joined the Devon Climate 
Emergency Response Group (DCERG). As a member of the DCERG, which is made up of Devon’s 
councils, emergency services and business groups, Torbay has endorsed the principles of 
the Devon Climate Declaration and a Net-Zero Task Force has been appointed by the DCERG to 
deliver the Devon Carbon Plan. The Carbon Plan, will lay out in stark terms what every resident, 
organisation and business has to do to reduce emissions and safeguard the planet for the next 
generation. Residents were asked to submit their thoughts and ideas to tackle climate change 
to feed into the Carbon Plan for Devon. 

o £1.64m was invested in 11 new recycling vehicles, with a further 11 to be purchased in 2020, to 
update the current fleet which are coming to the end of their life. The new vehicles will collect 
more recycling and have been designed to reduce the noise of glass being collected. 

o Torre Station is one of only nine community projects in Devon to receive funding from Great 
Western Railway (GWR). The contribution was matched by Section 106 funding from Torbay 
Council, which aims to improve sustainable transport facilities in the area. The funding was 
used at the station entrance, to improve the pedestrian walkway and replace signage. 

 

 A Council fit for the future 

o A new Community and Corporate Plan One Torbay: Working for all Torbay has been agreed by 
the Council. It sets out the ambitions and visions of the Council over the next four years and the 
principles within which the Council will operate. 

o As part of the Partnership’s commitment to improve engagement with members of the 
community, the Leader of the Council and his Cabinet held a drop-in event for residents to talk 
to councillors about the draft Housing Strategy and our new Community and Corporate Plan or 
about any other issues which mattered to them. Another “Cabinet Conversation” event is 
planned later in the year. 

o Torbay Council held its first Community Conference on 11 September 2019 to help develop a 
new and more engaged relationship between the Council, individuals and communities in 
Torbay. Community stakeholders and members of the public were invited to attend. Following 
the conference, the Cabinet agreed a detailed action plan and committed to embracing a spirit 
of co-operation and partnership, being open about the challenges we face, working to 
empower and enable our communities and operating with openness and transparency. 

o A new Housing Strategy for 2020-2025 was approved by Council. The Housing Strategy and four 
other associated strategies set out the Cabinet’s plans toward meeting its priority of improving 
the delivery, affordability and quality of housing in Torbay. 

o The fourth Torbay Air Show attracted more than 165,000 visitors across the Bay over two days. 
It brings a much needed boost to Torbay’s economy, placing the area on the national map as a 
destination of choice and a great place to bring all the family.  

o Torbay was awarded the prestigious Blue Flag Awards for six of its beaches in 2019. Princess 
Gardens, including Royal Terrace Gardens, and Babbacombe Downs were awarded a Green Flag 
for their green spaces. This means Torquay Harbour and seafront area is the only place in 
Devon, Cornwall and Somerset to be awarded a Blue Flag for its beaches, a Purple Flag for the 
evening and night-time economy around the Harbour and a Green Flag for its green spaces. 

o The Oldway Trust was formed to help raise funds for its restoration. We agreed a 
Memorandum of Understanding that shows support for the trust and the future direction of 
the Oldway Estate. A volunteer group has been established to help maintain the grounds and 

Page 56

https://www.devonclimateemergency.org.uk/devon-climate-declaration/


Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 8 

the trust is working together with the Council’s Oldway Working Party to identify funding 
opportunities. 

o Council leaders from Torbay have joined others from all over the UK in signing an open letter 
committing them to working towards tackling ageism and building Age-friendly communities. 
The letter has been co-ordinated by the UK Network of Age-friendly Communities, part of the 
World Health Organisation’s Global network of over 900 places committed to fostering healthy 
and active ageing. 

o Torbay Libraries staff made an impact in The Libraries Unlimited Making a Difference Staff 
Awards - winning three out of the five awards. Members of staff across Devon made the 
nominations to recognise significant contributions made by employees and teams, and to 
celebrate the difference made to library customers. Torbay libraries are managed by Libraries 
Unlimited. 

o Devon, Somerset and Torbay Trading Standards Service has been shortlisted for the 2020 LGC 
Awards in the ‘Best Service Delivery Model’ category. The award recognises local authorities 
which have pioneered innovative ways of service delivery. 

o For the first time ever, six of the public toilets in Torbay area have won platinum in the national 
Loo of the Year Awards. A total of £1.8m is planned to be invested in Torbay’s toilets with 
Cabinet proposing an extra £600,000 over the next financial year, £1.1m of this investment had 
been made by the 31st March 2021.  The toilets in Torbay are managed by Healthmatic on our 
behalf. 

o Resurfacing work was carried out on the hill section of Kings Ash Road in Paignton. Major 
roadworks were carried out on Goodrington Road in Paignton to reconstruct the road.  

o Every year the Public Health Training programme is subjected to a vigorous review of quality 
from the Deanery and despite being the smallest team in the South West, we have earned an 
‘Excellent’ rating for the third year in a row. This is a fantastic result and will help us attract 
trainees in the future. 

o The Council’s Fraud and Error Team have been nominated in the Public Finance awards in the 
category for Outstanding Proactive Fraud Detection and Recovery. 

o Torbay Council introduced a new visual identity for the digital age and to meet current legibility 
guidelines. To ensure it is as accessible as possible we used guidelines from the RNIB, Dyslexia 
Association and the UK association for Accessible Formats to determine both layout, text and 
colour combinations. A unified approach to the use of icons, illustration, photography, layouts 
and data visualisation has been developed and is being rolled out. 

 

Our Performance 

 Thriving people 
 

o The number of looked after children fell slightly to 357 at the end of March 2020 from 359 in 
March 2019.  

o 94.5% of children looked after cases were reviewed within timescales during the month of 
March 2020. This is a 1.3% increase from the March 2019 figure. 

o The percentage of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 working days of strategy 
discussions was 63.1% at the end of 2019/20, 4.1% less than at the end of 2018/19. 

o The successful treatment of opiate users decreased to 5.0% in 2018 from 7.5% in 2017 and 
from 8.4% in 2016. This figure is below the target of 5.8% which is the England average. 

Page 57



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 9 

o The percentage of physically active adults rose from 67.1% in 2016/17 to 70.7% in 2017/18 and 
again to 69.8% in 2018/19. This is above the target of 67.2% (England average). 

o The percentage of physically inactive adults, has fallen from 20.8% in 2016/17 and again in 
2017/18 to 20.0% but rose again to 20.9% in 2018/19. It is still below the England Average of 
21.4%. 

o The average number of people sleeping rough for January and February 2020 was 14. Due to 
the Covid 19 outbreak, people who were sleeping rough were housed in temporary 
accommodation in March. The average number at the end of quarter 4 2018/19 was 21. 

o Year to date figures for number of permanent care home placements in Torbay has fluctuated 
between 602 and 648 throughout the last year. At the end of March 2020 it was 605, just above 
the target of 600 for that month. 

o The percentage of carers receiving a needs assessment or review, and a specific carer's service 
or advice and information rose from 29% at the end of March 2018/19 to 40% at the end of 
2019/20. This was above the target of 36%. 

o Adult Social Care’s percentage of repeat safeguarding referrals at the end of 2019/20 was 7.8%, 
0.2% below target and 0.5% less than at the same time last year. 

 

 Thriving economy 

o Average earnings for Torbay are a way below the target figures (the Great Britain average). For 
2019 earnings by residence for full time workers was £505.10 against the target of £587.00 but 
has risen by £33.20 on Torbay’s figure in 2018. 

o Earnings by workplace was £483.80 against a target of £586.50 in 2019. Torbay has increased 
on the previous year’ average of £440.50 by £43.30. Great Britain’s average has increased by 
£16.30 this year. 

o The percentage of those claiming out of work benefits at the end of 2019/20 was 3.5% against 
the target of 3.1% (Great Britain’s monthly average). The lowest figure this performance 
indicator fell to over the year, was 3.0%.  

 

 Tackling climate change  

o Residual household waste for quarter 3 2019/20 was at 126kg per household, a 1kg increase on 
the same period the previous year.  

o Household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting was at 41.68% for quarter 3 of 
2019/20. This is a slight increase when compared to the same period the previous year 41.17%, 
and below the target of 50.00%. 

 

 A Council fit for the future 

o The number of corporate stage one complaints logged by the Information Compliance Team in 
2019/20 was 456. This equates to complaints from 3.4 people per 1000 residents in Torbay. It is 
much less than the previous year when 779 stage one complaints were logged. 

o Of the stage one complaints, the percentage that were dealt with on time more than doubled 
to 83% in 2019/20 from 40% the previous year.  

o The number of data breaches increased from 66 in 2018/19, to 72 in 2019/20.  

 

Page 58



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 10 

Coronavirus (COVID19) 

The 2019/20 Accounts with a balance sheet date of 31 March 2020 are produced with the ongoing 
significant financial and performance uncertainty arising from the coronavirus 2019 pandemic. As the 
future economic and societal impact of the pandemic are all unknown, this uncertainty will highly influence 
any future look at Council’s financial position. In particular the exact financial impact as at 31 March 2020 
cannot be estimated with any accuracy as there is an absence of any evidence. Therefore  these Accounts 
and Narrative Statement can only refer to potential impact. 

The MHCLG have already allocated £10.4m of funding to Torbay to support the financial impact of the 
pandemic (as at July 2020). In a letter to all Councils in relation to this funding the Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government stated “I hope you agree that this package of financial 
support demonstrates our strong commitment to local government. At the outset of the emergency I said I 
would give councils the resources they need to respond and I meant it”. 
 
The key areas of impact are as follows: 
 
Provision of Services: 
 
The Council has reacted to the pandemic in a number of ways. This has included the establishment of an 
excess death facility and support to the community included the supply of PPE,  support to food banks and 
grants to voluntary organisations. 
 
The key service impacted is adult social care in supporting providers and in particular care homes and joint 
working with health partners in relation to support and care for vulnerable adults. 
 
The majority of schools in Torbay were closed apart from a low level provision for children of key workers.  
 
A number of other services are impacted that are closely linked to travel restrictions and social isolation 
requirments. As examples Torre Abbey has been closed, along with some car parks, a number of events 
cancelled and weddings not supported by the Registrars service.  
 
The Council has already established a recovery group to ensure that services and the community  can 
return to previous service provision levels as the pandemic permits. 
 
The Council has received funding from MHCLG for a hardship fund £1.6m in 2020/21 to process support to 
council tax support scheme claimants. In addition the council has experienced increased level of requests 
for financial support. 
 
The Council has been allocated £47m by BEIS (The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy)  
to provide business grants to support smaller businesses during the pandemic. The payments of these 
grants are subject to specifc criteria. The Council is acting as “agent “ here on behalf of the BEIS. 
 
Council Workforce 
 
The primary impact of the pandemic is that the majority of staff are working from home. However as the 
Council has invested in IT that supports flexible working this change has not had a fundmental impact on 
the work of the Council.  
 
A number of staff in services that are now closed have been redeployed to help with support for the 
community and increased volume of contact with the Council.  

Page 59



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 11 

 
The Council has, to date, a very low level of staff absence due to Coronavirus.  
 
Supply Chains 
 
In addition to the issues for adult social care providers there have only been a few suppliers who have 
reported financial difficulty, however the Council has complied with the Cabinet office guidance. In 
particular Clennon Valley leisure centre and the Riviera Centre were closed. 
 
Reserves, financial performance and financial position 
 
The full financial impact of the pandemic of the council is uncertain. The Council has already received 
£10.4m additional funding from MHCLG (as at July 2020) and will also receive a 75% contribution to its 
service income losses over a 5% threshold. Conversely the Council is incurring costs to support the 
community and providers and is expecting lower levels of income from council tax, NNDR, rents, car parks, 
interest receipt and other service income.  
 
Given the uncertainty over the level of government support, the full level of additional expenditure and the 
full impact on income the impact on the council’s reserves and financial position is not known. However 
the Council will continue to monitor and report on the financial impact and will include the consideration 
of any impact in future years in its medium term financial planning. 
 

 

Our Financial Performance 

Financial Context 

Torbay Council is responsible for managing cash flows and assets of over £1 billion. 

The Council: 

 Collects £86m of Council Tax (£81m 18/19) which is an in-year collection rate of 95.7% (96.3% 
18/19) and £32m (£33m 18/19) of National Non-Domestic Rates (Business Rates) which is an in-
year collection rate of 95.1% (96.6% 18/19) 

 Holds over £600m of non current assets including of £338m operational assets for delivering 
services, £34m of heritage assets and £209m of investment property which generates a gross rent 
of £11m annually. 

 In 2019/20 spent over £115m on capital projects and loans for a capital purpose funded from 
capital receipts, grants, contibitutions and borrowing. 

 In 2019/20 spent over £323m on its revenue budget (its day to day spend) on a wide range of 
services.  

 Generates over £50m of fees, charges, rental and other income used to fund the delivery of its 
services 

On a national level changes in funding, services and legislation by the Government continue to impact on 
the Council, its partners and residents. 

Page 60



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 12 

The Council continued to plan for, and work with, reduced funding levels for both revenue and capital from 
Central Government for 2019/20 and future financial years as a result on the ongoing “austerity” 
reductions in public expenditure.   The Council has had certainty over the reductions as the Council 
accepted the MHCLG “offer” of a four year funding settlement with 2019/20 the final of the four years. In 
this period central government funding for local government reduced by 56% or £6.1 billion.  For Torbay 
Council, this was a reduction in its Revenue Support Grant (RSG) from £27m (restated) in 2015/16 to £6m 
by 2019/20. 

 

It is still very uncertain what the Council’s future funding will be in future years. For 2020/21 there was a 
one year “Spending Round” which did give an inflationary increase in funding to local government plus 
additional funding for social care.  The 2019 national Spending Review which would have allocated the total 
central government funding for local government for three years was delayed to 2020.  MHCLG intends to 
introduce a new funding formula to allocate the total funding between councils and have issued a number 
of consultation documents on the design of the formula which the Council has responded to. In addition 
MHCLG intends to introduce a 75% NNDR retention system in which local Councils bear 75% of the 
risks/reward of changes in local NNDR income and have, again, issued a number of consultation documents 
on the design of the scheme. However the implementation of both of these changes have again been 
delayed to 2022/23.  

Revenue Budget 2019/2020 
 
In February 2019, the Council set a budget for 2019/20 of £111m (compared to a budget of £112m in 
2018/19). £8m of net reductions were required to set a balanced budget for 2019/20 and there is also an 
estimated funding gap up to £16m for the following three years from 2021/22. The Council has already 
started the process of meeting the significant financial challenges through identifying and implementing 
service changes and income generation opportunities, and, in some case, service reductions. 

The Council raised its level of Council Tax by 2.99%.  This resulted in the Council setting its share of the 
Council Tax for a Band D property at £1,503.04, (£1,459.40 18/19). 

 

 

 £-

 £5

 £10

 £15

 £20

 £25

 £30

2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020

£m

Torbay Council Revenue Support Grant

Page 61



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 13 

The table below shows how the Council’s revenue budget was funded in 2019/2020.  

 

 
2018/19 2019/20 

 

 £ m £ m % change 

Net Budget Requirement 112 111 (1) 
New Homes Bonus and other general grants (1) (1) 0 
NNDR Rate Retention (43) (33) (23) 
Revenue Support Grant 0 (6) 100 
Council Tax (66) (69) 5 
Collection Fund (surplus)/deficit (2) (2) 0 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council Tax
62%

RSG
5%

NNDR
30%

Other
3%

Torbay Funding 2019/20 (%)

Page 62



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 14 

Council Spending in 2019/2020 
 
The table below provides a summary of the budget and expenditure by service in 2019/2020, together with 
the variances against each budget at the end of the year.  The charts below show the net expenditure by 
service and the budget variance at 31 March 2020. 

Torbay Council Revenue Budget Outturn Variance 
  

Q4 2019/20  £000s    £000's £000's   

 1. Adult Social Care  38,103 37,680 (423)   

 2. Public Health 9,689 9,633 (56)   

 3. Children's Services 36,039 43,080 7,041   

 4. Community Services 1,824 1,826 2   

 5. Corporate Services 5,227 5,962 735   

 6. Customer Services  2,798 2,537 (261)   

 7. Investment Portfolio (4,135) (4,135) 0   

Sub Total – Corporate Services 5,714 6,190 476  

 8. Finance  1,019 (1,829) (2,848)   

 9. Business Services   13,523 12,978 (545)   

 10. Planning and Transport  7,282 6,718 (564)   

Sub Total - Place 20,805 19,696 (1,109)  

Revenue total 111,369 114,450 3,081   

          

Mitigating Actions                                                                                                                  £’000   

11. Use of Reserves      (3,081)   

Net Overspend / (underspend)     0   

 

Page 63



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 15 

 

 

 

The main financial pressure was for Looked After Children (LAC).  The overall LAC numbers were up to 360.  
Within this totals there was an increasing number of residential placements which have a significant 
financial impact as the current average placement cost per week is £4,700 which equates to an average 
annual cost of £245k per placement. 

Additional corporate resources and support were made available to support the senior leadership team of 
Children’s Social Care.  This included weekly meetings chaired by the Chief Financial Officer with the Chief 
Executive, Director for Children’s Services and Director of Corporate Services and Deputy Head of Finance.  
These meetings were focused on the financial recovery plan of the service.  This recovery will be 
underpinned by the implementation of best practice across all aspects of operational service delivery.  

The schools’ higher needs block in the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) continues to be under financial 
pressure as a result of an increasing level of referrals from schools for higher needs support for children.  

Adult Social Care

Childrens' Services

Place

Corporate Services & 
Finance

Public Health

Net Expenditure 2019/20 

(56)

(564)

0

(2,848)

(261)

735

2

7,041

(545)

(423)

(4,000) (2,000) 0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000

Public Health

Planning and Transport

Investment Portfolio

Finance

Customer Services

Corporate Services

Community Services

Children's Services

Business Services

Adult Social Care

REVENUE VARIANCE
(£'000)

Page 64



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 16 

For 2019/20 there was an overspend of £1.1m, after the one off £1.4m “disapplication” transfer of funds 
between the funding blocks in the DSG.  The Council does not receive any funding for schools therefore the 
over spend will remain in the DSG to be funded in future years and is not a cost that the Council will fund. 
As a result the DSG reserve is a £3.8m deficit by the end of 2019/20.  

The Spending Round announced in September allocated £700m nationally to support Special Education 
needs. Torbay’s allocation for 2020/21 was £1.5m which, although welcomed is not sufficient to meet the 
level of demand faced by the Higher Needs Block. 

Overall, the Council’s financial performance in 2019/20 was an overspend of £3.1m that was funded from 
earmarked reserves to enable a break even position.   

Capital Plan 

The Council spent £115m on capital expenditure in 2019/20 (£66.5m 18/19) of which £67m (£35m 18/19) 
was Investment Properties and £10m loans (for a capital purpose). This spend was funded as shown in the 
table below.   

 Revised 
Budget 

Outturn Variation 

 £ m £ m £ m 

Unsupported (Prudential) Borrowing 106 99 (7) 

Grants 14 12 (2) 
Other Contributions 2 1 (1) 
Revenue and Reserves 2 2 0 

Capital Receipts 1 1 0 
Total Funding 125 115 (10) 

 
Of the £115m, £100m was added to the value of the Council’s non current assets (before any in-year 
revaluation) – these are primarily land, buildings and investment properties.  The balance of £15m was 
capital expenditure on assets the Council does not recognise as its own (such as academy schools), capital 
grants and loans for a capital purpose.  A summary of capital expenditure in 2019/20 is shown below. 
 

Page 65



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 17 

 
Torbay “Group” Companies – Overview of Financial Performance 
The Council has interests in a number of companies as shown in the table below which also includes an 
overview of these companies’ financial performance in the year, based on draft 2019/20 accounts. On 1st 
April 2019 the TDA acquired the 100% shareholding of a company, C&A Consultancy Limited and during the 
year set up both Torvista Homes and TEDC Developments to construct and rent affordable housing. Oldway 
Mansion  Management Company Ltd ceased trading during 2019/20 and the transactions are now included 
in Torbay’s accounts.   

Entity 
Assessed 

Relationship 

Council 
Shareholding

/Control 

Turnover 
£m 

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 
for year 

£m 

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipm’t 
£m 

 
Net Equity 

£m 

Torbay Economic 
Development Company 
Ltd, trading as TDA. 
Includes: 
TDA, Kings Ash Holdings 
Complete Facilities 
Management Services, C & 
A Consultancy, Business 
Centres South West, TEDC 
Developements and 
Torvista 

Subsidiary 
(Consolidated 
for the TEDC 

Group) 

100% 8.6 6.5 17.9 7.0 

TOR2 Ltd - estimated 
position.  

Associate 19.99% 13.7 (0.7) 0.2 (2.1) 

CSW Group Ltd - surplus  
excludes IAS19 pension 
entries 

Associate 25% 7.9 0.2 0 (18.9) 

Corporate Plan Theme Examples of 2019/20 Schemes 
Spend 

£m 

Protecting all children and given 
them the best start in life 

Includes early year expansion at Paignton Community 
College and the relocation of the Medical Tuition service 

to Parkfield. 
3 

Working towards a more 
prosperous Torbay 

Completion of the EPIC centre in Paignton, capital loan 
to TDA to build business units, Oxen Cove Jetty and 

Western Corridor transport scheme. 
10 

Regeneration projects 
 

Purchase of Fleet Walk shopping centre in Torquay 17 

Investment Fund 
Purchase of Investment Properties in Taunton, Exeter 

and Didcot and loans for a capital purpose 
77 

Ensuring Torbay remains an 
attractive and safe place to live 

and visit 

Includes spend on Harbour Lights in Paignton, structural 
repair at Brixham Breakwater and toilet refurbishment. 

3 

Protecting and supporting 
vulnerable adults 

Includes spend on Disabled facilities Grants and grants 
to adapt care homes 

1 

Corporate Support 
 

IT purchases and purchase of waste collection vehicles 4 

Total 
 

115 

Page 66



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 18 

The Council has also produced group accounts.  For the year 2019/20 the values of the Council’s 
subsidiaries assets and liabilities in relation to the Council’s own balance sheet are small (under 3% of 
Council’s non current assets).   

SWISCO 

The Council has established SWISCO (South West Integrated Services Company) as a 100% owned company 
to provide services that are currently provided by TOR2 when the current 10 year contract expires at the 
end of July 2020. The staff employed by TOR2 will transfer to the new company and will provide services 
from July 2020. 

Schools 

The Council, as at 31 March 2020, has nine schools (same as 2018/19) that are reflected in the Council’s 
accounts, both within its Income and Expenditure Statement and its Balance Sheet.  These are six primary 
schools, two secondary schools and one special school.  The nine schools by “ownership” are five 
community schools, one voluntary controlled, one voluntary aided and two foundation.  These schools are 
funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant which for 2019/20 is £40m compared with £37m in 2018/19.  The 
level of earmarked school reserves as at 31 March 2020 is £0.1m compared with £0.9m in 2018/19.  
Further detail on school asset recognition and the use of Dedicated School Grant in 2019/20 are included in 
the notes to the accounts. 

Economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources  

The Council reports on its financial performance and economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources over the financial year in a number of reports. In particular reports presented to the Council’s 
Audit Committee. Including: 

- Internal Audit’s Annual Report and mid-year review 
- Annual Governance Statement 
- External Audit’s Audit Findings Report including a value for money conclusion 
- Review of risk management 
- Review of Council performance based on a basket of indicators. 

Audit Committee agenda and minutes are available on the Council’s website 

The Council publishes extensive information on its expenditure including details of payments in excess of 
£500 and details of the Council’s pay policy can be found on the council’s web site. 

Overview of Financial Performance in 2019/2020 

This was again a very challenging financial year for the Council with the requirement to make reductions of 
£8m as well as facing increasing demand for children’s social care services.  Children’s safeguarding and 
wellbeing, due primarily to rising numbers and costs, was significantly over its budget allocation by £7m. 

The Council is a partner in a three way Risk Share Agreement with the Torbay and South Devon NHS 
Foundation Trust (which operates as an Integrated Care Organisation providing adult social care services 
for Torbay Council as well as community and adult health services) and the Devon Clinical and 
Commissioning Group.  During 2017/18 a revised Risk Share Agreement was agreed where Torbay was 
excluded from its share of financial risk, but contributed a higher fixed contribution to the ICO. In 2019/20 
a new three year risk share agreement has been agreed for the three years from 2020/21 where the 
Council pays a fixed amount to the ICO which provided all partners with financial certainty. 

Page 67



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 19 

The Council has continued to implement its Transformation Programme.  The Council established an  
Investment Fund which has subsequently increased to £300m in July 2019 with £231m allocated as at 
March 2020. During the year the Council also spent £67m on five other properties, a distribution depot in 
Didcot, Odeon Cinema in Taunton, a records office in Exeter and two other projects were completed; a 
distribution centre in Exeter and a travelodge in Chippenham.  In addition £10m of loans for a hotel 
development was fully drawdown in 2019/20 and a new loan to a local business was advanced. The net 
surplus on these properties will be used to support the Council’s services. The budgeted net surplus in 
2019/20 was £4.1m. 

The Council has had a long held aspiration to support affordable housing. In 2017/18 the Council advanced 
a proposal for the creation of two housing companies, one to build/sell houses and one to buy/rent houses 
with all Council-owned companies to be owned by a (Council owned) Holding Company. Subsequently in 
July 2019 Council agreed to use its existing subsidiary TDA to develop and then rent affordable housing. 
TDA have now set up Torvista Homes and TEDC Developments as subsidiary companies to deliver these 
houses. As at end of March 2020 these were established but not fully trading. The Council has agreed to 
borrow £25m to support these companies subject to a viable business case being approved. 

In previous years, Council schools converted to Academy status and are now fully independent of the 
Council.  In Torbay, by 31st March 2020, a total of 31 schools had converted with no further conversions in 
2019/20. 

The Council’s gross expenditure in the year was over £320m for revenue (day to day) spend and  £115m for 
capital (spend on long term assets such as roads and schools) of which over £76m was the use of the 
Investment Fund for both purchases and loans for a capital purpose. 

In 2018/19  the Council agreed a “pass through” arrangement for the LGPS pension liability for the 
Council’s subsidiary, TDA. This has now been actioned as at 31st March 2020. The impact is to increase the 
Council’s pension liability by £4.9m, with a corresponding statutory override to have a net nil impact on the 
Council’s balance sheet. TDA will continue to recognise a pension liability but will now also recognise an 
asset to the value of the liability. On group account consolidation these assets and liabilities will “net off”. 

The Council’s employees can be members of the Devon County Council Local Government Pension Scheme. 
As a defined benefit scheme the Council is liable for any surplus or deficit on the fund. The Council’s liability 
is calculated on an annual basis by the fund’s actuary. This value estimates the liability of the Council if all 
liabilities were to be realised at a point in time. In reality the impact on the Council is spread over a long 
period of time (i.e. over current and future pensioners lives) with the Council reducing the deficit by its 
employers’ contributions to the fund over the long term (over 14 years from April 2020).  A triennial review 
of the fund took place as at 31st March 2019 with changes to the Council’s employer contribution rate 
from April 2020 resulting in an increased “primary rate” more than offset by a lower “secondary” rate. 

The Council’s liability as at 31st March 2020 is assessed at £168m which is a £11m decrease over the 
previous year (compared to a £7m decrease in 18/19).  This is primarily due to a reduction in the liablity of 
£40m primarily due to actuarial changes in financial assumptions offset, in part, by a reduction of the value 
of the assets of £29m primarily due to decreased returns on those assets as at 31st March 2020. 

There were no significant changes in Torbay’s economy compared to recent years until the last month 
when the impact of COVID started and the “lockdown” from late March which has been referred to earlier.  
Collection rates on NNDR and Council Tax were both lower throughout the year but were also impacted by 
collection issues in March. As economc conditions around year end were in “flux” due to COVID there is 
material uncertainty over the Councils’ property values to such a level that the Council’s valuer has not 
attempted to change any valuations  of the Council’s property assets as at year end.  

Page 68



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 20 

The “Brexit” national changes did not appear to have an impact on the Council’s financial position, 
although the Council will continue to monitor any impact.  

For 2019/20 there not any changes  in IFRS that impacted on the accounting policies relevant to Torbay’s 
accounts. The introduction of a new standard for leases (IFRS16) has again been deferred, this time to 
2021/22.  

The Council’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) is the Councils income and 
expenditure presented on an IFRS basis. This includes earlier recognition of grants, based on conditions 
attached to the grant rather than matching the grant to expenditure and a number of “non cash” items 
such as depreciation and pension assumptions, which should then allow the Council’s accounts to be 
comparable to other sector accounts. The total for the Provision of Services for 2019/20 is a deficit of £12m 
(£6m 18/19). The key reason for this deficit are depreciation and impairment charges of £20m. 

The total from the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement is reflected in the Movement of 
Reserves statement which then adds the impact of any reserve movements to usable reserves and 
unusable reserves to get to the “bottom line” Council position for 2019/20. Within this is the reversal of a 
number of accounting entries made under IFRS that appear in the Council’s Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure statement such as depreciation and pension assumptions, which are allowed, under statute, to 
be reversed to ensure that these entries do not have a “cash” impact on the Council Tax payer. After these 
adjustments the Council’s net outturn for the year was a break even position, which matches the Council’s 
management financial reporting position. This statement shows that the Council’s usable reserves had a 
net increase of £5.6m. This was primarily a net increase of £3.4m from capital grants, capital receipts 
(including deferred capital receipts) to fund capital expenditure in year and a net increase in earmarked 
revenue reserves of £2.2m linked in part to an increase in unused ring fenced grants as at year end. 

On the balance sheet there were some significant changes in year. There was a net increase of £16m in the 
carrying value of the Council's property, plant and equipment, heritage assets and investment properties. 
In particular there was a £60m net increase from investment property purchases. In addition the Councils 
long term debtors increased by £11m. As a result the Council’s long term borrowing increased by £92m to 
fund capital expenditure. There was a £11m decrease in the Council’s pension liability primarily arising 
from changes in actuarial assumptions used to calculate the liability.  The Council’s General Fund reserve 
remained at £4.6 m, which is equivalent to 4% of the Council’s 2020/21 net revenue budget. 

Overall the Council’s net assets were higher than the previous year by £9m resulting in a net worth of 
£37m compared to £28m in 2018/19. Of the increase £11m related to the net reduction in the Council’s 
pension liability. 

Torbay, like a number of other councils, has a low, (or as in a previous year a negative), net worth position 
primarily as a result of the pension liability. This doesn't mean Torbay is not a going concern. Councils are 
required to operate within the framework set out in the Local Government Acts and Torbay will continue to 
budget for a positive General Fund balance, but is not required to maintain a positive net worth.  (When a 
Council has a negative net worth, this indicates that future taxpayers (whether through Council Tax or 
indirectly through government grants) will be funding some of the cost of providing services in the past.) 
 
Although it may appear that a low net worth is a concern, it is not as the Pension Liability of £168m does 
not represent an immediate call on the Authority's reserves and is a snap-shot valuation in time based on 
assumptions. The true value of the deficit is assessed on a triennial basis with contribution rates set to 
recover the balance over the longer-term. This 'snapshot' approach to valuing the pension deficit is very 
volatile as the changes in the value of liability over the past few years in the Council’s accounts has 
illustrated.  

Page 69



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 21 

In terms of the Council as a going concern, it is expected that future cash flows, aligned with authority’s 
budget processes, will provide sufficient resources to finance future liabilities as they fall due. 
 

Forward Financial look 

The Council has a rolling three year Medium Term Resource Plan which supports service planning for future 
years.  In the absence of a three year Spending Review, the Government has provided details of the 
Revenue Support Grant to the Council for just 2020/21.  The 2020 Spending Review will be for three years, 
which should help the Council’s ability to effectively plan ahead. In addition MHCLG have also delayed the 
introduction of a new funding formula to allocate the total funding between councils to 2022/23 at the 
ealiest. The proposed new 75% NNDR retention system in which local Councils bear 75% of the 
risks/reward of changes in local NNDR income has also been delayed to 2022/23 at the earliest. 

Inevitably the central government expenditure on the COVID pandemic along with the expected significant 
economic downturn will have an impact on the national fiscal position which could impact on future year 
local government funding settlmements. 

The Medium Term Resource Plan (August 2020 update) provides details of the number of significant issues 
and risks that are impacting on the Council, its finances and its service delivery: 

In addition to the significant funding uncertainties listed in the overview section of this plan in particular 
the Spending Review 2020, new funding formula and impact of 75% NNDR retention, other significant 
financial planning risks that may affect the projections are likely to be: 

 Inflation runs at a much higher rate than the rates that have been assumed,  

 Borrowing costs are higher than anticipated in any Business case for capital expenditure. 

 Income projections built into the budget may not be achievable due to factors outside of the council’s 

control e.g. a worsening economic outlook, further reduction in investment yields. 

 Ongoing demand and cost of social care both Children’s and Adults. 

 Impact of major changes in Adult Social Care such as the future “Green Paper” and the future of the 

Better Care Fund. 

 Achievement of the Council’s transformation projects in both their timing and income target 

 Potential revenue costs of major capital schemes and the risk of overspends on major capital projects. 

 Risk of achievement of income targets on major capital investment projects, in particular those funded 

from prudential borrowing where there is a known additional MRP and interest cost. 

 Achievement of 2020/21 and future year budget savings 

 2022 Pension actuarial Review 

 Future year increase to the Living Wage 

Page 70



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 22 

 Collection fund balances – collection of NNDR and Council Tax 

 Risk of exposure of any major legal claims against the Council 

 Impact of the Devon-wide NHS Sustainability and Transformation Plan on Torbay 

 Impact from the TDA and its related companies expansion into new trading areas including housing 

 Impact of major schemes linked to Regeneration 

 Impact of Council ownership of SWISCO 

 Impact of Ofsed judgement of “inadequate” for children’s social care 

 Reserve levels “resilience” to future financial pressures 

The combination of uncertainty of funding and rising demand is a major challenge for the Council as, to 
achieve the savings required, there will be an impact on the quantity and quality of services the Council will 
be able to provide in the future.  The forecast level of savings required to achieve a balanced budget for 
2021/22 to 2023/24 is over £16 m. This is in addition to the £7m of savings and income required to balance 
the 2020/21 revenue budget. 

The reductions required under the ongoing “Austerity” agenda will inevitably impact on the range of 
services provided and how these services are provided in the future.  The Medium Term Resource Plan 
provides a summary of projected revenue income and expenditure for the next three financial years. 

 2020/21 
£m 

2021/22 
£m 

2022/23 
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

Revenue Support Grant, NNDR & Council Tax  (116) (113) (114) (115) 

Estimated Expenditure  116 122 127 131 

Total Estimated Cumulative Funding Gap 0 9 13 16 

In- year Funding Gap 0 9 4 3 

 
To meet this ongoing challenge the Council had previously established a Transformation Board to bring 
forward and implement a range of transformation projects aimed at meeting the required budget 
reductions but also, where possible, improve service performance.  The Transformation Board considers a 
wide range of projects which could result in alternative service delivery, alternative levels of service 
provided and/or service providers.  

The Council has an approved Capital Plan that is updated throughout the year with any new funding or 
schemes.  A summary of capital spend (as approved by Council in February 2020) over the next three years, 
is summarised below. 

 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

 £m £m £m 

Total Capital Expenditure 144 74 51 

 
In March 2020 HM Treasury issued a consultation on changes to PWLB borrowing terms with the purpose 

Page 71



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 23 

of stopping councils borrowing to invest in commercial property (“debt for yield”) and CIPFA subsequently 
issued a statement that requested that the “spirit” of the consultation is adhered to with immediate effect. 
As a result the Council will cease to purchase commercial property itself. The Capital plan will as a result be 
reduced by £65m from the totals shown in the table above. 

Borrowing and Investments 

The Council undertakes borrowing to support its capital expenditure.  As at 31 March 2020 the Council had 
£395m of borrowing, primarily from the Public Works Loans Board, a net increase of £92m in year.  In 
addition, it had a long term liability of £6m to the PFI contractor for The Spires (formerly Westlands) and 
Homelands schools and a liability of £12m in relation to the Council’s share of the Energy from Waste 
Facility in Plymouth. The Council had £66m (£58m in 2018/19) of cash investments at year end with a net 
debt position of £347m (compared with £263m in 2018/19).  

The key factor in the significant increase in net debt is a direct result of the Council purchasing Investment 
Properties, funded by borrowing at historically low levels, to generate an income stream to support the 
Council’s budget. In 2019/20 the Council spent over £67m on such properties. 

The control over the level of Council borrowing is supported by the Prudential Code where the Council has 
to set limits in relation to its treasury management including limits for long term borrowing and liabilities to 
ensure that this is prudent and affordable.  One of these indicators is a calculation called the Capital 
Financing Requirement which shows the Council’s underlying need to borrow based on previous decisions 
on capital expenditure and borrowing offset by any repayment of principal made or other capital funding 
used.  The key figures, in relation to borrowing and capital financing, are as follows: 

 31 March 2019 
£m 

2014 £m 

31 March 2020 
£m 

Balance Sheet Values: (principal)   

External Borrowing * 303 395 

Long Term Liabilities (PFI) 18 18 

External Investments * (58) (66) 

Net Debt 263 347 

Treasury Management Limits:   

Capital Financing Requirement 321 413 

Authorised Limit 520 520 

Operational Limit 470 470 

   

Revenue Income & Expenditure: 2018/19 2019/20 

Interest Receivable  (0.8) (1.3) 

Interest Payable  9.5 10.8 

MRP Repayment (including PFI) 4.8 5.3 

Ratio of net financing costs to net revenue (excluding 
revenue contributions to capital). 

12% 13% 

* note: these costs are per Treasury Management outturn report which excludes the accounting adjustments required for statutory reporting such 

as fair value adjustments. 

The level of Council borrowing reflects the Council’s capital financing requirement plus the borrowing 
required by the approved four year Capital Plan. The Council’s investments and other cash holdings are 
sufficient to meet the Council’s short term cash requirements for revenue expenditure and any “cash 
backed” balance sheet items such as reserves and working capital. Additional borrowing to finance the 

Page 72



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Head of Finance’s Narrative 
Statement 

 

 24 

Council’s approved capital plan will be required as schemes, financed from borrowing, progress. These 
include further investment fund purchases, regeneration schemes and potential finance required for the 
Council’s housing strategy.  

Significant Provisions, contingencies or insurance contracts 

The Council has provisions at year end of £5.1m (£4.2m in 18/19).  These are primarily in relation to 
insurance claims (submitted to the Council but are currently being investigated) and in relation to the 
Council’s share of NNDR appeals.  

The Council has given a number of pension guarantees as Council staff transferred to other bodies. These 
are a type of insurance contract and are unlikely to result in a cash payment as long as the other body is 
solvent. As outlined earlier the Council’s pension guarantee to TDA is now a “pass through” whereby the 
Council has taken on a higher level of risk and has recognised a liability to the value of the TDA’s IAS19 
pension valuation. As owner or part owner of several limited companies the Council has some exposure to 
risk but this is limited by share or guarantee.  

 

 

 

Signed by:             Dated: 11 August 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

Martin  Phillips 
Head of Finance 
Torbay Council

Page 73



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 

  

25 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/20

Page 74



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 - Index 

26 
 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/20  

 

    

Financial Certificates 27 Note 18  Investments 68 

  Note 19 Debtors 69 

Independent Auditor’s Report  29 Note 20 Cash and Cash Equivalents 70 

  Note 21 Creditors 71 

Core Financial Statements:-  Note 22 Provisions 71 

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

33 Note 23 Borrowing 72 

Movement in Reserves Statement 34 Note 24 Liabilities 73 

Balance Sheet 36 Note 25 Usable Reserves 77 

Cash Flow Statement 
 Including: Adjustments on Provision of 
Services for non cash movements 

38 Note 26 Unusable Reserves 78 

  Note 27 Pooled Budgets 79 

Notes to the Core Financial Statements:-  Note 28 Members’ Allowances 79 

General Notes:  Note 29 Officers’ Remuneration 80 

Note 1  Change in Accounting Policy 40 Note 30 External Audit Costs 81 

Note 2 Accounting Standards Issued, Not 
Adopted 

40 Note 31 Dedicated Schools Grant 82 

Note 3 Critical Judgements in Applying 
Accounting Policies 

40 Note 32 Grant Income 82 

Note 4 Assumptions made about the future 
and other major sources of estimation 
uncertainty 

41 Note 33 Related Parties 83 

Note 5 Events After the Reporting Period 43 Note 34 Impairment Losses 92 

Note 6 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 44 Note 35 Contingent Liabilities 93 

Note 7 Note to the Expenditure and Income 
Analysis  

45 Note 36 Termination Benefits & Exit 
Packages 

93 

Note 8 Expenditure and Income Analysed 
by Nature and Income analysed by 
Segment 

46 Note 37 Capital Expenditure and Capital 
Financing 

94 

Notes re Movement in Reserves 
Statement: 

 Note 38 Leases 94 

Note 9 Adjustments between Accounting 
Basis and Funding Basis under 
Regulations 

46 Note 39 Pension Schemes Accounted 
for as Defined Contribution Schemes 

95 

Note 10 Transfers to/from Earmarked 
Reserves 

53 Note 40 Defined Benefit Pension 
Schemes 

96 

Notes re Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Statement: 

 Note 41 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies 

103 

Note 11 Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure 

54   

Note 12 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income 

54 Supplementary Financial Statement:-  

Notes re Balance Sheet:  Collection Fund Summary Account 117 

Note 13 Property, Plant and Equipment 54 Notes to the Collection Fund Summary 
Account 

118 

Note 14 Heritage Assets 58 Group Accounts 120 

Note 15 Investment Properties 60 Note to the Group Accounts   128 

Note 16 Financial Instruments 60 Annual Governance Statement 129 

Note 17 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising 
from Financial Instruments 

64 Glossary of Terms 152 

Page 75



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Financial Certificates  
 

27 
 

FINANCIAL CERTIFICATES 

The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

 
The Council’s Responsibilities 
 
The Council is required:- 
 

 to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of 

its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this Council, that officer 

is the Council’s Chief Finance Officer 
 

 to manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 

assets 
 

 approve the Statement of Accounts 
 
 
Audit Committee Approval of the Statement of Accounts 2019/20 
 
 
I confirm that the Council completed its approval process of the Statement of Accounts 2019/2020 on 
the 25 November 2020 at a meeting of the Council’s Audit Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Robert Loxton 
Chair of Audit Committee  
25 November 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Financial Certificates 
 

 28 

The Chief Finance Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s statement of accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (Code of Practice). 
 
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Chief Finance Officer has:- 

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 

 made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 

 complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has also:- 

 kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 

 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 

 
 
The Chief Finance Officer’s Statement 
 
The Statement of Accounts as required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations is set out on pages 26 
to page 128 and has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies which are set out, if 
significant, on pages 103 to 116. In my opinion it is a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Council at 31st March 2020 and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2020. 
 
The accounts are audited by the Council’s External Auditor, Grant Thornton LLP.  
 
The Statement of Accounts 2019/20 were authorised for issue on the 11 August 2020. This is also the 
date up to which events after the balance sheet date have been considered. 
 
 
 
 
Martin Phillips  
Chief Finance Officer 
11 August 2020 
 

 

The Statement of Accounts 2019/20 were authorised for approval by Members on the xx November 

2020 and for publication once the audit opinion has been received. This is also the date up to which 

events after the balance sheet date will be considered. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Martin Phillips  
Chief Finance Officer 
xx November 2020 
 

Page 77



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Independent Auditors 

29 
 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Torbay Council 
 

TO FOLLOW 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Independent Auditors 
Report 
 

 30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Independent Auditors 
Report 
 

 31 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Independent Auditors 
Report 
 

 32 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Core Financial Statements 

33 
 

Core Financial Statements 
 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. Authorities 

raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the 

“accounting” cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  

2018/19    2019/20  

Gross 
Exp  

Gross 
Income 

 

Net 
Exp  

Services Note Gross 
Exp 

Gross 
Income 

Net 
Exp 

£m £m £m   £m £m   £m 

50.9 (12.8) 38.1 Adults’ Services  46.9 (14.2) 32.7 

92.3 (48.9) 43.4 Childrens’ Services  101.8 (54.6) 47.2 

76.2 (66.5) 9.7 Corporate Services   68.8 (57.8) 11.0 

4.8 (10.4) (5.6) Finance  8.2 (16.6) (8.4) 

48.1 (23.7) 24.4 Place   55.7 (21.6) 34.1 

9.4 (0.3) 9.1 Public Health  9.0 (0.2) 8.8 

281.7 (162.6) 119.1 Cost Of Services  290.4 (165.0) 125.4 

1.2 (1.2) 0 Other Operating Income & 
Expenditure  

See ** 
below 

3.5 (3.5) 0 

20.2 (13.2) 7.0 Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure  

11 29.2 (18.4) 10.8 

2.8 (122.9) (120.1) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income and expenditure 

12 0.1 (124.3) (124.2) 

305.9 (299.9) 6.0  (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision 
of Services 

 323.2 (311.2) 12.0 

  (20.2) (Surplus)/Deficit on revaluation 
on Non Current Assets  (PPE) 

26   (7.6) 

  4.1 Impairment losses on non 
current assets charged to the 
revaluation reserve 

26   2.2 

  (14.2) Remeasurement of net defined 
pension liabilities 

40   (15.4) 

  (30.3) 
 

Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

   (20.8) 

  (24.3) Total (Surplus)/Deficit in 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

   (8.8) 

 

 
Note ** - includes Brixham Town Council precept of £317,372 
 

Page 82



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Core Financial Statements 

34 
 

Movement in Reserves Statement 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to 

fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable’ reserves. The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic 

cost of providing the Council’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are different from 

the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting. The Net Increase /Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked 

Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the council.  

 

2018/19 General 
Fund 

Balance 

Earmarked 
General Fund 

Reserves 

Sub Total 
Revenue 
Reserves 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital Grants 
Unapplied 
Account 

 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 

Unusable 
Reserves 

 

Total 
Council 

Reserves 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

  Note 10  Note 9 Note 9 Note 25 Note 26  

Balance at 31st March 2018 brought forward 4.6 25.1 29.7 2.8 9.1 41.6 (38.1) 3.5 

Movement in Reserves during 2018/19         

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 

(6.0) 0 (6.0) 0 0 (6.0) 0 (6.0) 

Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 
(see C I&E Statement) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 30.3 30.3 

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and 
Income 

(6.0) 0 (6.0) 0 0 (6.0) 30.3 24.3 

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding 
basis under regulations (Note 9) 

9.0 0.2 9.2 (2.0) (0.4) 6.8 (6.8) 0 

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

3.0 0.2 3.2 (2.0) (0.4) 0.8 23.5 24.3 

Transfers (to)from Earmarked Reserves (Note 10) (3.0) 3.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Increase/(Decrease) in Year 0 3.2 3.2 
 

(2.0) (0.4) 0.8 23.5 24.3 

Balance at 31st March 2019 carried forward 4.6 28.3 32.9 0.8 8.7 42.4 (14.6) 27.8 

 

 

P
age 83



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Core Financial Statements 
 

 35 

Movement in Reserves Statement 

 

2019/20 General 
Fund 

Balance 

Earmarked 
General 

Fund 
Reserves 

Sub Total 
Revenue 
Reserves 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Deferred 
Capital 

Receipts 

Capital Grants 
Unapplied 
Account 

 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 

Unusable 
Reserves 

 

Total 
Council 

Reserves 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

  Note10  Note 9  Note 9 Note 25 Note 26  

Balance at 31st March 2019 brought 
forward 

4.6 28.3 32.9 0.8 0 8.7 42.4 (14.6) 27.8 

Movement in Reserves during 2019/20          

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 

(12.0) 0 (12.0) 0 0 0 (12.0) 0 (12.0) 

Other Comprehensive Expenditure and 
Income 
(see C I&E Statement) 

0 0 0 0 
 

0 0 0 20.8 20.8 

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and 
Income 

(12.0) 0 (12.0) 0 
 

0 0 (12.0) 20.8 8.8 

Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations (Note 9) 

14.2 0 14.2 (0.4) 2.7 1.1 17.6 (17.6) 0 

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

2.2 0 2.2 (0.4) 2.7 1.1 5.6 3.2 8.8 

Transfers (to)from Earmarked Reserves (Note 

10) 
(2.2) 2.2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Increase/(Decrease) in Year 0 2.2 2.2 (0.4) 2.7 1.1 5.6 3.2 8.8 

Balance at 31st March 2020 carried forward 4.6 30.5 35.1 0.4 2.7 9.8 48.0 (11.4) 36.6 

P
age 84



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Core Financial Statements 

36 
 

Balance Sheet 

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 

recognised by the Council. The Net Assets of the Council, (assets less liabilities), are matched by the 

reserves held by the Council.  

Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those 

reserves that the  Council may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level 

of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that 

may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). The second category of reserves is those 

that the Council is not able to use to provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that 

hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only 

become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences 

shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and 

funding basis under regulations’. 

31st March 

2019  
  31st March 2020 

 
£m   Note £m 

321.8 Property, Plant & Equipment  13 337.9 

32.6 Heritage Assets 14 33.5 

148.7 Investment Property 15 208.7 

0.4 Intangible Assets  0.6 

 4.9 Long Term Investments 

 

18 9.7 

11.7 Long Term Debtors  19 23.1 

520.1 Long Term (Non Current) Assets  613.5 

51.9 Short Term Investments 18 49.3 

0.3 

 

Assets Held for Sale  0.1 

0.1 Inventories  0.1 

21.4 

 

Short Term Debtors 19 22.9 

2.6 Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 8.2 

76.3 Current Assets  80.6 

(4.0) Short Term Borrowing 23 (5.4)  

(2.2) Other Short Term Liabilities 24 (2.3) 

(26.0) Short Term Creditors (inc Receipts in 

Advance) 

21 (33.8) 

(4.0) Capital Grants/Contributions: Receipts in 

Advance 

 (0.5) 

(4.1) Provisions  22 (5.0) 

(0.5) Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 (1.6) 

(40.8) Current Liabilities 

 

 (48.6) 

    

Page 85



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Core Financial Statements 
 

 37 

 31st March 

2019 

 

 Notes 31st March 2020 

£m   £m 

(4.5) Long Term Creditors  (4.3) 

(0.1) Provisions 22 (0.1) 

(302.2) Long Term Borrowing 23 (391.5) 

(41.8) Other Long Term Liabilities 24 (44.4) 

(178.6) Pension Liability 40 (168.1) 

(0.6) 

 

Capital Grants/Contributions: Receipts in 

Advance 

 (0.5) 

(527.8) Long Term Liabilities  (608.9) 

    

27.8 Net Assets/Liabilities  36.6 

    

42.4 Usable reserves 25 48.0 

(14.6) Unusable Reserves 26 (11.4) 

    

27.8 Total Reserves  36.6 

 
 
 
 
M Phillips   
Chief Finance Officer 
11 August 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
M Phillips   
Chief Finance Officer 
25 November 2020 
 
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 86



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Core Financial Statements 
 

 38 

Cash Flow Statement 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council during the 

reporting period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash and cash 

equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of 

net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations 

of the Council are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services 

provided by the Council. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been 

made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Council’s future service delivery. Cash 

flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers 

of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council.  

 

2018/19      2019/20    

£m £m  note £m £m 

 (6.0) Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services, 

including £9.5m interest paid and (£0.8m) interest 

received. 

  (12.0) 

33.5  Adjustments to  net surplus or deficit on the provision 

of services for non cash movements  
See 

note 

below 

28.5  

(10.3)  Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or 

deficit on the provision of services that are investing 

and financing activities including proceeds of 

investments and disposal of assets 

 (11.3)  

 17.2 Net cash inflows/(Outflow)  from Operating 

Activities  

  17.2 

  Investing Activities:    

(62.1)  Purchase of property, plant and equipment, 

investment property, heritage and intangible assets 

37 (100.0)  

1.1  Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and 

equipment, investment property and intangible assets 

 0.7  

11.5 (49.5) Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments   18 8.5 (90.8) 

  Financing Activities     

(0.7)  Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding 

liabilities relating to transferred debt and on-balance 

sheet PFI contracts 

24 (0.7)  

(1.8)  Council Tax and NNDR adjustments  (1.6)  

30.5 28.0 Net new borrowing in year    23 92.4 90.1 

 (4.3) Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 

  4.5 

Page 87



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Core Financial Statements 
 

 39 

2018/19   2019/20 

£m Cash and Cash Equivalents  Notes £m 

6.4 Cash and cash equivalents * at the beginning of the 

reporting period 

20 2.1 

2.1 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 

period 

20 6.6 

(4.3) Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 

 4.5 

*Cash equivalents are short term cash investments that are held for the purpose of meeting short   term 

cash commitments rather than for investment purposes. 

Note:  Adjustments to  net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non cash movements  

The table below lists the adjustments required in the cash flow statement to reverse non cash items 

accounted for in the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account 

14.7 Depreciation, Impairment & downward valuations  20.1 

3.2 Change in value of Investment Properties  6.8 

0.1 Amortisation of Intangible Assets  0.1 

0.9 Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors  1.5 

3.4 (Increase)/Decrease in Debtors including 

impairment for bad debts 

 (14.5) 

6.2 Movement in pension liability  9.8 

1.0 Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-

current assets held for sale, sold or derecognised 

 3.1 

4.0 Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or 

deficit on the provision of services 

 1.6 

33.5 Total  28.5 

Page 88



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

40 
 

Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

1. Changes in Accounting Policy 

For 2019/20 there are no changes in IFRS that impacted on the accounting policies relevant to 

Torbay’s accounts. 

The only new accounting policy is in relation to the recognition of a liability to the value of the 

TDA IAS19 liability offset by a statutory override to hold the balance in the Pension Reserve. 

Any movement in value will be included in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure as 

an unrealised movement in value. 

2. Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted 

There are no changes in accounting requirements for 2020/21 that are anticipated to have a 

material impact on the Council’s financial performance or financial position. 

 

A new leasing standard (IFRS 16), which changes the current definition and accouting for 

operating and finance leases, is now due to be introduced from 2021/22 with a restatement 

required for 2020/21. The impact of this standard is not expected to be material as the Council 

does not lease in many assets. 

  

3.       Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

In applying the accounting policies set out in the accounting policy note, the Council has had to 

make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about 

future events. The critical judgements, where others may have made a different judgement, 

made in the statement of accounts are: 

 

 The assets (vehicle & plant) that are leased to TOR2 as part of the contract have been 

treated as Council assets, while any assets purchased by TOR2 are not recognised as 

Council assets as these are not classified as infrastructure assets or specified in the 

contract and are not for the exclusive use of the Council. The Council has considered 

that there are not any embedded leases within the contract. In addition the Council is 

not majority shareholder of TOR2. 

 

 In assessing its existing leases under IFRS guidance the Council has only considered 

leases where either the value of rent or the value of the asset was material. In addition 

a ratio of 75% of lease term to asset life has been used as a guide to recognising 

leases as finance leases. 

 

 In assessing the recognition of grants the Council has determined that if grant 

conditions have not been met then the grant is not recognised as income, but held as a 

receipt in advance. If a grant could be used to support capital or revenue spend it has 

been treated as revenue.  

 

In assessing the fair value of its Heritage Assets the Council has used insurance 

valuations where available or historic cost. The asset lives of heritage assets, by their 

nature, have been deemed to be infinite.   

 

 The accounting for the recognition of school assets based on the Council’s assessment 

of its control including its residual interest in asset and its control over school 

admissions and staff employment over these assets is as follows: 

o Community Schools (5 schools) – assets recognised on balance sheet 

Page 89



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 41 

o Voluntary Controlled schools (1 schools) – building, but not land, recognised on 
balance sheet 

o Voluntary Aided Schools (1 schools) – building, but not land, recognised on 
balance sheet 

o Foundation Schools (2 schools) - assets recognised on balance sheet 

o Academy Schools - assets not recognised on balance sheet 

 

 Schools assets converting to Academy status are written out from the Council’s 

balance sheet in year of transfer. The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

statement does not include any income or expenditure associated with Academy 

schools after date of transfer. There are no significant restrictions or material risks in 

relation to the schools assets or liabilities. 

 

 The Council has recognised a long term liability for the annual local government 

reorganisation discretionary pension payment to Devon County Council. This payment 

is invoiced for in the year that the County Council makes payments to its pensioners. 

 

 The Council has recognised its (£33m/17%) share of the Energy from Waste facility in 

Plymouth based on estimated tonnages per the business case for the facility and the 

financial allocation model agreed between Torbay, Plymouth and Devon County 

Councils. All three Councils have assessed the facility to be "on balance sheet" under 

IFRIC12 as a service concession arrangement. The Council has recognised a liability 

to the value of the asset recognised. This liability is apportioned between the Council's 

own liability to fund the asset based on forecast unitary payments over the life of the 

facility from the three councils (£12m/37%) and the expected third party income 

(£21m/63%) based on the business case. The third party income liability has been 

accounted for as deferred income with the balance allocated to the Council's CI&E 

statement over the life of the 25 year contract.  As a "non cash" transaction this credit 

will be reversed in the MIRS to the Capital Adjustment Account the asset life of the 

facility has been assessed at 30 years based on the contract life and the optional 5 

year extension period. The Council has assumed all lifecycle costs to be revenue 

unless evidence that they are capital. 

 

 There is a high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local 

government. However the Council has determined that this uncertainty is not yet 

sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the Council might be impaired as a 

result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision. The Council 

can only be dissolved by a statutory prescription. 

 

 The Council has a number of pension guarantees to related bodies where the Council 
could incur a liability if the body becomes insolvent. These are classified as insurance 
contracts. As at 31 March 2020 there are no issues in relation to the going concern of 
these bodies. In arriving at this conclusion the Council considered data from the 
actuary of the pension fund together with the Council’s knowledge of the bodies, and 
made the judgement that the values and risk exposure were not material. 

 

4. Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by 
the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into 
account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because 
balances can’t be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the 
assumptions and estimates. There were no changes in accounting estimates in 2019/20 or 

Page 90



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 42 

expected in future years.  

The only items in the Council’s balance sheet at 31st March 2020 for which there is a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 

 

Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from 

Assumptions 

Pension Liability  Value 31/3/20 £168m (£179m 18/19) 

The Council’s liability as at 31st March is based on a 

number of complex judgements relating to  

 the discount rate used  

 the rate at which salaries may change 

 changes in retirement dates  

 mortality rates  

 and expected return on pension fund assets. 

A firm of pension actuaries are used to provide this 

information and every three years there is a detailed 

actuarial review of the fund. 

The value of pension assets is estimated (by the actuary) 

based upon information available at the Balance Sheet 

date, but these valuations may be earlier than the Balance 

Sheet date.  The actual valuations at the Balance Sheet 

date, which may not be available until sometime later, may 

give a different value of pension assets, but this difference 

is not considered to be material. 

The effects on the net pension liability of 

changes in individual assumptions can be 

measured.  For instance, a future 0.1% 

increase in the discount rate assumption 

would result in a change in the (gross) 

pension liability of £8m. Similarly a change 

in the mortality assumption of 1 year would 

result in a change of £16m. However, the 

assumptions interact in complex ways.  The 

actuary advised that, during 2019/20, the 

net pensions’ liability had decreased by 

£11m. In part this was a result of estimates 

being corrected as a result of “experience” 

updating of actuarial assumptions offset, in 

part, by a 10% decrease in asset values 

linked to the COVID19 impact on asset 

values. It is clear that as economic 

uncertainty continues these asset values 

could significantly change in the future. 

A table on sensitivity of assumptions is 

included in the Pensions Note. 

 

 

 

COVID19 Pandemic  

The impact of the global pandemic which only started to 

impact on the Torbay area in March 2020 has resulted in 

material uncertainty in the relation some balance sheet 

values primarily on non current assets. In other cases the 

Council has obtained a reasonable value such as a quoted 

value of an asset or liability as at 31 March 2020.  

 

 

 

Fair Value of Property, Plant and 

Equipment. 

 

The Valuation Certificate has been 

produced on the same basis as it would 

have been pre COVID 19 but a ‘material 

valuation uncertainty’ has been attached to 

the opinion of the Council’s appointed valuer 

to highlight the uncertainty around the 

valuations.It is beyond question real estate 

will be disrupted significantly by COVID19 

over the next few months and it is 

Page 91



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 43 

 

5.       Events after the Reporting Period 

Events taking place after the 11 August 2020 are not reflected in the financial statements.  

The COVID19 pandemic started to have an impact in the Torbay area from March 2020, 

however the impact of the pandemic on both the community and the Council will continue in the 

longer term and that longer term impact is currently unknown. Where the Council has a market 

price such as in its property fund holding and its share of pension fund assets values as at 31 

March 2020 have been used. However for property valuations there was “material valuation 

uncertainty” as at 31 March 2020. 

From the 1 August 2020 the Council appointed an Interim Chief Executive, Anne-Marie Bond. 

unfortunate the valuation date coincides 

with year-end.  Because of the reduced 

level of certainty that can be attached to any 

valuation, due to inconsistent or absence of, 

comparable data as a direct result of 

COVID19, it is impossible at this time to 

reduce valuations either on individual or 

portfolio basis. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

The Council has values as at year end for 

all its financial assets used for treasury 

management purposes such as deposits 

and its holding in a property fund.The 

Pension Fund IAS19 valuation used pension 

fund asset values at year end. 

The collectability of the Council’s debt 

including council tax and NNDR as at year 

end is likely to have reduced. The exact 

impact is unknown as there is no historic 

experience, however the Council has 

increased its impairment for its outstanding 

debt including Council tax and NNDR.  

 

Page 92



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

44 
 

6.      Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

 
This statement shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants, council tax and business rates) by local authorities in 

comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.  It also shows how this 

expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the council’s services. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted 

accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

2018/19   2019/20  

Net Expend 
Chargeable 

To the 
General Fund 

 

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 
Accounting  

 

Net Expenditure 
in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

 

Services Net Expend 
Chargeable 

to the General 
Fund 

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis  
 

Net Expenditure in 
the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

£m £m £m  £m £m £m 

40.0 (1.9) 38.1 Adult’s Services 37.7 (5.0) 32.7 

36.9 6.5 43.4 Children’s Services 43.1 4.1 47.2 

7.2 2.5 9.7 Corporate Services 6.2 4.8 11.0 

(2.9) (2.7) (5.6) Finance (4.9) (3.5) (8.4) 

21.5 2.9 24.4 Place 19.7 14.4 34.1 

9.3 (0.2) 9.1 Public Health 9.6 (0.8) 8.8 

112.0 7.1 119.1 Cost Of Services 111.4 14.0 125.4 

0 0 0 Other Operating Income & Expenditure  0 0 0 

0 7.0 7.0 Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure  

0 10.8 10.8 

(112.0) (8.1) (120.1) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and 
expenditure 

(111.4) (12.8) (124.2) 

0 6.0 6.0 (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 0 12.0 12.0 

 

Note:  General Fund Opening Balance as at 31 March 2019 £4.6m and Closing Balance as at 31 March 2020 £4.6m 

 

P
age 93



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 45 

7.      Expenditure and Income Analysis  

 

Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis from General Fund to arrive at the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement amounts. 

2018/19  2019/20 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes  

Net change for 
the Pensions 
Adjustments 

Other 
Differences 

 

Total 
adjustments 

 

 Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments 

Other 
Differences 

 

Total 
adjustments 

£m £m £m £m  £m £m £m £m 

(0.2) 0 (1.7) (1.9) Adult Social Care (0.2) 0 (4.8) (5.0) 

4.9 0 1.6 6.5 Children’s Services 2.0 0 2.1 4.1 

(0.5) 0 3.0 2.5 Corporate Services (0.6) 0 5.4 4.8 

(3.9) 1.5 (0.3) (2.7) Finance (5.5) 4.9 (2.9) (3.5) 

7.8 0 (4.9) 2.9 Place 16.3 0 (1.9) 14.4 

0 0 (0.2) (0.2) Public Health 0 0 (0.8) (0.8) 

8.1 1.5 (2.5) 7.1 Net Cost Of Services 12.0 4.9 (2.9) 14.0 

(4.5) 4.6 (1.2) (1.1) Other income and expenditure from 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

(6.5) 4.2 0.3 
 

(2.0) 

3.6  6.1 (3.7) 6.0 Difference between General Fund 
(surplus)/deficit and Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement 
(surplus)/deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

5.5 9.1 (2.6) 12.0 

P
age 94



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

46 
 

8. Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 

The authority’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows:- 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Segmental Income of Fees, charges and other service income 

Income received on a segmental basis, primarily from external customers, is analysed below: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income 
and expenditure recognised by the Council in the year in accordance with proper accounting 

practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the 

Council to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. Other includes: Accumulated 

Absences Adjustment Account, Collection Fund Adjustment Account and Pooled Investment 

Fund Adjustment Account.

2018/19 

£m 

restated 

 2019/20 

£m 

 Expenditure  

60.4 Employee benefits expenses         67.1 

210.0 Other services expenses 203.6 

19.0 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment and change in Fair Value 32.5 

15.6 Interest payments 16.5 

0.4 Precepts and levies 0.4 

0.5 Written out of accounts  on the disposal of assets 3.1 

305.9 Total Expenditure 323.2 

 Income  

(35.5) Fees, charges and other service income    (34.3) 

(15.1) Financing & Investment Income and Other Operating Income (21.9) 

(97.4) Council tax and non domestic rates (84.7) 

(151.9) Government grants and contributions (170.3) 

(299.9) Total Income (311.2) 

6.0 (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Service 12.0 

2018/19 

£m 

 2019/20 

£m 

(4.5) Adult’s Services (5.0) 

(4.3) Children’s Services (4.4) 

(6.8) Corporate Services    (4.8) 

0 Finance (0.1) 

(19.7) Place (19.8) 

(0.2) Public Health (0.2) 

(35.5) Total income analysed on a segmental basis (34.3) 

Page 95



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

47 
 

2018/19    2019/20 

Usable Reserves Unusable Reserves  Usable Reserves  Unusable Reserves 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lie

d
 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
  

O
th

e
r 

 G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lli

e
d

 

D
e
fe

rr
e
d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

O
th

e
r 

£m £m £m £m £m £m  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

      Adjustments involving the Capital Adjustment 

Account: 

       

      Reversal of items debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement: 

       

      Items relating to capital expenditure        

(14.7) 0 0 14.7 0 0 Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current 

assets 

(20.1) 0 0 0 20.1 0 0 

(0.1) 0 0 0.1 0 0 Amortisation of intangible assets (0.1) 0 0 0 0.1 0 0 

(3.8) 0.3 0 3.5 0 0 Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (3.2) 0.1 0 0 3.1 0 0 

(0.5) 0 0 0.5 0 0 Amounts of non current assets written off on disposal/sale 

as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CI&E statement. 

*Revaluation Reserve 

(3.1) 0 0 0 2.4 0 0.7* 

0.1 0 0 (0.1) 0 0 Notional Rent Credit 0.1 0 0 0 (0.1) 0 0 

(19.0) 0.3 0 18.7 0 0 c/f (26.4) 0.1 0 0 25.6 0 0.7 

P
age 96



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 48 

Usable Reserves Unusable Reserves  Usable Reserves  Unusable Reserves 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lie

d
 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
  

O
th

e
r 

 G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lie

d
 

D
e
fe

rr
e
d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 

R
e
c
e
ip

ts
 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

O
th

e
r 

£m £m £m £m £m £m  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

(19.0) 0.3 0 18.7 0 0 b/f (26.4) 0.1 0 0 25.6 0 0.7 

0.8 0 0 (0.8) 0 0 Deferred Credit re Energy From Waste 0.8 0 0 0 (0.8) 0 0 

      Other        

(3.8) 0 0 3.8 0 0 Movement in the fair value of Investment Properties and 

AHFS 

(6.8) 0 0 0 6.8 0 0 

      Items relating to capital financing applied in the year        

5.7 0 0 (5.7) 0 0 Capital Grants and Contributions Applied 10.3 0 0 0 (10.3) 0 0 

      Insertion of items not debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

       

      Items relating to capital financing applied in the year        

4.8 0 0 (4.8) 0 0 Provision for the financing of capital investment 5.3 0 0 0 (5.3) 0 0 

2.7 0 0 (2.7) 0 0 Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 1.7 0 0 0 (1.7) 0 0 

(8.8) 0.3 0 8.5 0 0 c/f (15.1) 0.1 0 0 14.3 0 0.7 

P
age 97



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 49 

Usable Reserves Unusable Reserves  Usable Reserves  Unusable Reserves 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lie

d
 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
  

O
th

e
r 

 G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lie

d
  

G
ra

n
td

s
R

e
c
e

ip
t

s
 U

n
a
p
p

l’d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

D
e
fe

rr
e
d

 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

O
th

e
r 

£m £m £m £m £m £m  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

(8.8) 0.3 0 8.5 0 0 b/f (15.1) 0.1 0 0 14.3 0 0.7 

      Adjustments involving Capital Grant Unapplied 

Account 

       

5.0 0 (5.0) 0 0 0 Capital Grants & Contributions unapplied credited to the CI&E 

Statement 

7.1 0 (7.1) 0 0 0 0 

0 0 5.4 (5.4) 0 0 Application of (prior year) Grants to capital financing applied in 

the year transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account 

0 0 6.0 0 (6.0) 0 0 

      Adjustments involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:        

1.2 (1.2) 0 0 0 0 Transfer of sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on 

disposal to the CI&E Statement   

3.4 (0.7) 0 (2.7) 0 0 0 

0 2.9 0 (2.7) 0 0 Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital 

expenditure applied in the year 

0 1.0 0 0 (1.0) 0 0 

      Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve:        

(2.6) 2.0 0.4 0.4 0 0 c/f (4.6) 0.4 (1.1) (2.7) 7.3 0 0.7 

P
age 98



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 50 

Usable Reserves Unusable Reserves  Usable Reserves  Unusable Reserves 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lie

d
 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
  

O
th

e
r 

 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lli

e
d

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
re

c
e
ip

ts
 

D
e
fe

rr
e
d
  

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

O
th

e
r 

£m £m £m £m £m £m  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

(2.6) 2.0 0.4 0.4 0 0 b/f (4.6) 0.4 (1.1) (2.7) 

 

7.3 0 0.7 

 

(13.7) 0 0 0 13.7 0 Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 

credited to the CI&E Statement (see Note 38) 

(16.8) 0 0 0 0 16.8          0 

7.5 0 0 0 (7.5) 0 Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to 

pensioners payable in the year 

7.7 0 0 0 0 (7.7) 0 

      Adjustments involving the Collection Fund 

Adjustment Account: 

       

(0.5) 0 0 0 0 0.5 Amount by which council tax income credited to the CI&E 

Statement is different from council tax income calculated for 

the year in accordance with statutory requirements 

(0.2) 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 

      Adjustment involving the Accumulated Absences 

Account 

       

(9.3)  2.0 0.4 0.4 6.2 0.5 c/f 

 

(13.9) 0.4 (1.1) (2.7) 7.3 9.1 0.9 

P
age 99



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 51 

Usable Reserves Unusable Reserves  Usable Reserves  Unusable Reserves 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lie

d
 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
  

O
th

e
r 

 G
e
n
e
ra

l 
F

u
n

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G

ra
n
ts

 

U
n
a
p

p
lie

d
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
R

e
c
e

ip
ts

 

D
e
fe

rr
e
d

 

C
A

A
 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 

O
th

e
r 

£m £m £m £m £m £m  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

(9.3) 2.0 0.4 0.4 6.2 0.5 b/f 

 

(13.9) 0.4 (1.1) (2.7) 7.3 9.1 0.9 

0.1 0 0 0 0 (0.1) Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the CI&E 

Statement on an accruals basis is different from 

remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with 

statutory requirements 

(0.1) 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 

      Adjustment involving the Pooled Fund Adjustments 

Account (Previously Financial Insturments Adjustment Account) 

       

0.2 0 0 0 0 (0.2) Amount by which financial instruments charged to the CI&E 

Statement are different from amounts chargeable in the year 

in accordance with statutory requirements 

(0.2) 0 0 0 0 0 0.2 

(9.0) 2.0 0.4 0.4 6.2 0.2 Total Adjustments per MIRS (14.2) 0.4 (1.1) (2.7) 7.3 9.1 1.2   

      Memo items:-        

(6.0) 0 0 0 0 0 Surplus/(Deficit) on Provision of Services 12.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

(3.0) (0.2) 0 0 0 0 Movement in earmarked reserves 2.2 0 0 0 0 0 0 

P
age 100



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 52 

0 0 0 0 (14.2) 0 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure: Remeasurement of 

net defined pension liability 

0 0 0 0 0 (15.4) 0 

0 0 0 (1.2) 0 0 Other movement on the Capital Adjustment Account - Adjusting 

amounts written out of the revaluation reserve to the Capital 

Adjustment Account 

0 0 0 0 (1.4) 0 0 

0 0 0 (0.8) (8.0) 0 Total Movement in year  (0) 0.4 1.1 (2.7) 5.9 (6.3) 1.2 

 
  

P
age 101



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

53 
 

10. Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to 

provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked 

reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2019/20. 

 

 Balance at 
31 March 

2018 
£m 

Transfer 
Out 

2018/19 
£m 

Transfer 
In 2018/19 

£m 

Balance at 
31 March 

2019 
£m 

Transfer 
Out 

2019/20 
£m 

Transfer 
In 

2019/20 
£m 

Balance at 
31 March 

2020 
£m 

Reserves:- 

earmarked for 

General 

Expenditure 
3.6 (1.1) 2.4 4.9 (3.1) 0.4 2.2 

earmarked for 

specific issues 9.2 (1.0) 2.3 10.5 (9.7) 7.3 8.1 

to reflect timing 

of expenditure 

including grants 

recieved but not 

spent. 

4.6 0 2.2 6.8 (3.8) 11.1 14.1 

to support 

Capital 

expenditure 
2.9 (1.3) 0.0 1.6 (1.0) 1.6 2.2 

School Related 

Reserves 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 0 0 0.2 

Dedicated 

Schools Grant 

(see note) 
(1.0) (1.7) 0 (2.7) (1.1) 0 (3.8) 

Schools’ 
Balances (held 
under a 
delegation 
scheme) 

0.8 (0.8) 0.9 0.9 (1.0) 0.2 0.1 

Ring Fenced  4.8 (5.2) 6.5 6.1 (4.8) 6.1 7.4 

Total 
25.1 (11.1) 14.3 28.3 (24.5) 26.7 30.5 

 

Note: Under The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2020 as part of the 

ring fenced dedicated schools grant (DSG), this defict can not be funded from Council general 

fund but will need to be funded from future year DSG. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 54 

11. Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12. Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income 

2018/19  

restated 

£m 

 2019/20 

 £m 

(65.8) Council tax Income  (69.0) 

(43.7) *Retained income from rate retention scheme  (33.1) 

(1.7) Collection Fund – NNDR & Council Tax (1.5) 

0.5 Collection Fund Adjustment Account 0.1 

(1.7) Non-ring fenced government grants (7.7) 

(7.7) Capital grants and contributions (13.0) 

(120.1) Total (124.2)  

 *For 2018/19 the Council was part of a Devon wide 

100% pilot Rate Retention Scheme  

 

 

13. Property, Plant and Equipment  

Measurement Basis 

Non Current assets are valued at fair value for their particular asset type (category).  Fair Value 
will therefore reflect: 

 Existing Use Value for most categories of Property Plant and Equipment (P,P&E) 

 Depreciated Replacement Cost for assets of a specialised nature with no readily 
identifiable market 

2018/19 

£m 

 2019/20  

£m 

11.0 Interest payable and similar charges 12.3 

4.6 Net interest on net defined pension liability 4.2 

(1.5) Interest receivable and similar income (1.1) 

(5.5) Income and expenditure in relation to investment properties and 
changes in their fair value 

(3.6) 

(1.6) Gain from Devon wide NNDR Pool (NNDR Pilot in 2018/19)  (1.0) 

7.0 Total 10.8 

Page 103



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 55 

 Depreciated Historical Cost for Community, Infrastructure and Vehicles, Plant and 
Equipment 

 Historical Cost for Assets under Construction 

Depreciation method 

Assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the useful life of each asset to reflect the 
pattern in which the asset’s service potential is expected to be used. 

Depreciation is applied to all asset types with the exception of land which is not depreciated 
due to its nature. 

Useful lives used 

The useful life of an asset represents the period over which an asset is expected to be of use in 
providing services for the Council. 

 
Movements on Balances 

 
Reconciliation of movements in 2019/20, and the prior year 2018/19, in Property, Plant and 
Equipment by category of assets is shown in the tables below:

Page 104



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

56 
 

2018/19  O
th

e
r L

a
n
d

 &
 

B
u

ild
in

g
s
 

V
e

h
ic

le
s
, P

la
n

t 

&
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n
t 

In
fra

s
tru

c
tu

re
 

A
s
s
e

ts
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ity
 

A
s
s
e

ts
 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 A

s
s
e

ts
 

A
s
s
e

ts
 U

n
d
e

r 
C

o
n

s
tru

c
tio

n
 

T
o

ta
l      

P
ro

p
e

rty
, P

la
n

t 

&
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 

P
F

I A
s
s
e

ts
 in

  
P

, P
 &

 E
 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Cost or Valuation         

As at 1st April 2018 193.9 17.2 133.6 9.1 1.1 3.0 357.9 46.9 

Additions 8.1 0.5 8.2 0.1 0 9.3 26.2 0.2 

Revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 11.5 0 0 0 (0.2) 0 11.3 1.4 

Revaluation Increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

(6.0) 0 0 0 (0.1) 0 (6.1) 0 

Derecognition – Disposals (0.6) (0.9) 0 0 0 0 (1.5) 0 

Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for Sale 0 0 0 0 0 (0.1) (0.1) 0 

Other movements in Cost or Valuation 0.1 0 0 0 0.1 (1.4) (1.2) 0 

As at 31st March 2019 207.0 16.8 141.8 9.2 0.9 10.8 386.5 48.5 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment         

As at 1st April 2018 (8.3) (15.4) (36.8) (0.7) 0 0 (61.2) (0.4) 

Depreciation charge (4.5) (0.5) (5.0) (0.1) 0 0 (10.1) (1.5) 

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 3.7 0 0 0 0 0 3.7 1.2 

Revaluation Increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

2.0 0 0 0 0 0 2.0 0 

Derecognition – Disposals 0 0.9 0 0 0 0 0.9 0 

Other movements in Depreciation and Impairment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

As at 31st March 2019 (7.1) (15.0) (41.8) (0.8) 0 0 (64.7) (0.7) 

Net Book Value:-         

As at 31st March 2019 199.9 1.8 100.0 8.4 0.9 10.8 321.8 47.8 

As at 31st March 2018 
 

185.6 1.8 96.8 8.4 1.1 3.0 296.7 46.5 

P
age 105



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 57 

2019/20 

 
 

O
th

e
r L

a
n
d

 
a

n
d

 B
u
ild

in
g
s
 

V
e

h
ic

le
s
, 

P
la

n
t &

 

E
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

In
fra

s
tru

c
tu

re
 

A
s
s
e

ts
 

C
o
m

m
u
n

ity
 

A
s
s
e

ts
 

S
u

rp
lu

s
 

A
s
s
e

ts
 

A
s
s
e

ts
 U

n
d
e

r 
C

o
n

s
tru

c
tio

n
 

T
o

ta
l      

P
ro

p
e

rty
, 

P
la

n
t &

 

E
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

P
F

I A
s
s
e

ts
 

  in
  

P
,P

 &
 E

 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Cost or Valuation         

As at 1st April 2019 207.0 16.8 141.8 9.2 0.9 10.8 386.5 48.5 

Additions 19.1 4.1 7.5 0 0.4 1.9 33.0 0 

Revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 2.1 0 0 0 0.2 0.1 2.4 (0.3) 

Revaluation Increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

(9.3) 0 0 0 (0.5) 0 (9.8) 0 

Derecognition – Disposals (3.0) 0 0 0 0 0 (3.0) 0 

Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for Sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other movements in Cost or Valuation 8.1 0 0.8 0 0.2 (7.4) 1.7 0 

As at 31st March 2020 224.0 20.9 150.1 9.2 1.2 5.4 410.8 48.2 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment         

As at 1st April 2019 (7.1) (15.0) (41.8) (0.8) 0 0 (64.7) (0.7) 

Depreciation charge (4.7) (0.5) (5.5) (0.2) 0 0 (10.9) (1.6) 

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 2.0 0 0 0 0 0 2.0 1.3 

Revaluation Increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

0.6 0 0 0 0 0 0.6 0 

Derecognition – Disposals 0.1 0 0 0 0 0 0.1 0 

Other movements in Depreciation and Impairment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

As at 31st March 2020 (9.1) (15.5) (47.3) (1.0) 0 0 (72.9) (1.0) 

Net Book Value:-         

As at 31st March 2020 214.9 5.4 102.8 8.2 1.2 5.4 337.9 47.2 

As at 31st March 2019 199.9 1.8 100.0 8.4 0.9 10.8 321.8 47.8 

P
age 106



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

58 
 

Contractual Commitments for the acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment as at 31st 

March 2020 

 

The significant commitments on capital schemes with a value greater than £0.5m together with 

the likely year of spend are shown in the table below. Similar commitments for the previous 

financial year were £26.4m. 

 

Contract Purpose Total 

Commit-

ments 

2020/21 2021/22 

 

  £m £m £m 

 Expenditure on Council Assets:    

Education     

New Paignton 

Primary School 

Contribution to site acquisition for  new 

Free School 
0.6 0.6 0 

     

Transport     

South Devon 

Highway 

Major investment to provide new road to 

alleviate congestion and ease traffic flow 

to and from Torbay. 

1.6 1.6 

 

0 

 

     

Regeneration     

Harbour View Hotel Town Centre regeneration / employment 

scheme 
0.7 0.7  0 

Vehicle Fleet 

Purchases 

Replacement recycling vehicles to 

improve waste collection efficiencies 
1.9 1.9 0 

     

 Total Significant Commitments 4.8 4.8 0 

 

Revaluations 

 

The Council’s assets are regularly revalued, (at least once during a five year period), by the 

Council’s appointed external qualified valuer - see accounting policies. The effective date of 

revaluation is usually the 1st April of the year of the revaluation. The only class of asset that has 

significant revaluations is “Other Land and Buildings” which is valued at existing use.   

 

 

 

14. Heritage Assets 

The value of the Council’s heritage assets are reported in the balance sheet at an insurance 

valuation. Where it is not practical to obtain an insurance valuation the asset is measured at 

historical cost (usually nil). Heritage Assets, by their nature have a long life, so have not been 

depreciated.  

Valued at fair value as at         Other Land and Buildings 

 £m 

31 March 2020 68.1 

31 March 2019 54.0 

31 March 2018 54.9 

31 March 2017 21.8 

31 March 2016 25.2 

Total Cost or Valuation of Other Land & Buildings 224.0 

Page 107



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 59 

The insurance valuations for heritage assets classified as property are updated every year by 

an inflationary factor as recommended by the Council’s insurers, then revalued every 5 years 

as part of a rolling programme by an external valuer.  The Fine Art Collection and Mayoral 

Regalia are revalued periodically by external valuers to ensure the adequacy of the valuation. 

The value of these assets is held on the Council’s Asset Register. 

The following table shows the reconciliation of the carrying value of Heritage Assets held by the 

Council.  

 

 

F
in

e
 A

rt
 

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

 

M
a
y
o
ra

l 
 R

e
g
a
lia

 

H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

T
o
ta

l 
A

s
s
e
ts

 

Valuation £m £m £m £m 

31st March 2018 8.1 0.2 24.0 32.3 

Additions 0 0 0.1 0.1 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 

recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 

(0.3) 0 0.5 0.2 

31st March 2019 7.8 0.2 24.6 32.6 

Additions 0 0 0 0 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 

recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 

0.2 0 0.7 0.9 

31st March 2020 8.0 0.2 25.3 33.5 

 

Fine Arts Collection 

Includes exhibits held at Torre Abbey. The valuation was undertaken by external valuers, 

Bearnes, in 2010 but the exhibits held at Torre Abbey were valued by Bearnes in 2016. The 

collection includes William Holman Hunt’s “The Children’s Holiday”. There are a large number 

of exhibits at Torre Abbey that are not included in the valuation due to their low item value. 

Further details of the exhibits included in this collection and visiting information are available 

on the council’s website. 

Mayoral Regalia 

Included in this collection are Chains of Office, Badges, Maces and other silver items. The 

collection was last valued by external valuers, Fattorini, in 2005. Some items were revalued in 

2010. 

Heritage Property 

Most of these assets are not insured so are held at historic cost, for example the D Day 

Embarkation Ramps.  Of the property assets with an insurance valuation, Torre Abbey is the 

most significant being valued at £21m. The Council also has properties that although 

Page 108



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 60 

culturally and historically important, are being used for operational purposes. As this purpose 

is more relevant to users of the financial statements these assets have been classified under 

the heading ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ on the balance sheet. For example these assets 

include Torquay Town Hall and Electric House which are used as office accommodation. The 

Council uses an external RICS qualified valuer to provide property reinstatement valuations 

for insurance purposes.  

 

15. Investment Properties 

Properties that are held by the Council primarily for investment returns and capital 

appreciation. During the year the Council also spent £67m on five other properties, a 

distribution depot in Didcot, Odeon Cinema in Taunton, a records office in Exeter and two 

other projects were completed; a distribution centre in Exeter and a Travelodge in 

Chippenham. 

Gross rent income relating to these properties in 2019/20 was £11m, (£9m 18/19) with 

operating costs of £0.3m (£0.3m 18/19).   

 

31st March 2019  31st March 2020 

£m  £m 

115.4 Opening Balance 148.7 

36.5 Purchases in year 66.8 

(3.2) Movements in value in year (6.8) 

148.7 Total 208.7 

 

 

16. Financial Instruments  

The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet: 

 

31st  March 2019  31st March 2020 

Non 

Current 

Current 
 

Non 

Current 

Current 

£m £m  £m £m 

  Investments   

0 40.5 Loans and receivables (at amortised cost) 5.0 44.8 

4.9 11.4 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 4.7 4.5 

4.9 51.9 Total investments 9.7 49.3 

  Cash & Cash Equivalents   

0 0.4 Cash in hand and Bank (net) 0 (1.0) 

0 1.7 Loans and receivables (at amortised cost) 0 7.6 

0 2.1 Total Cash & Cash Equivalents 0 6.6 

  Debtors    

11.8 19.1 Financial assets carried (at amortised cost) 23.1 20.6 

Page 109



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 61 

11.8 19.1 Total Debtors 23.1 20.6 

  Borrowings/Liabilities   

(302.2) (4.0) Financial liabilities (at amortised cost) (391.5) (5.4) 

(302.2) (4.0) Total borrowings (391.5) (5.4) 

  Other Long Term Liabilities   

(17.5) (0.7) PFI liability (at amortised cost) (16.7) (0.8) 

0 0 Financial Guarantee (4.9) 0 

(17.5) (0.7) Total other long term liabilities (21.6) (0.8) 

  Creditors    

(1.8) (18.2) Financial liabilities (at amortised cost) (1.4) (21.3) 

(1.8) (18.2) Total Creditors (1.4) (21.3) 

(304.8) 50.2 Total All Financial Instruments (381.7) 49.0 

  

 The Council has not pledged any financial assets as collateral for liabilities or contingent 

liabilities or has any loans payable including interest due in default. The main measurement 

bases used by the Council in preparing the treatment of Financial Instruments within its financial 

statement are as follows: 

 

Financial Instrument Basis of measurement Note 

Investments – fixed rate Carrying value adjusted for 

interest owed at year end 

Investments have both fixed 

term and fixed interest rates 

Investments – Money 

Market Funds 

 

Increase in carrying value 

recognised in Income & 

Expenditure Account  

Interest rate determinable on 

1st April. 

Investments – Enhanced 

Money Market Fund  

Treated as a Financial 

Instrument at Fair Value through 

Profit and Loss as the fund is 

part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that are 

managed together and for which 

there is evidence of a recent 

actual pattern of short-term profit 

taking. 

Carrying value of the fund at 

31st March is the fair value of 

the Fund. 

Investments – CCLA 

Property Fund 

Treated as a Financial 

Instrument at Fair Value through 

Profit and Loss.  

Carrying value of the fund at 

31st March is the fair value of 

the Fund. Dividends due in 

year are recognised in CIES. 

In addition changes to the 

fair value of the fund are 

accounted for in the Income 

and Expenditure Account 

with a statutory override 

reversing the impact of these 

movements in the MIRS. 

Investments – Other Held at carrying value on basis 

of materiality 

 

Page 110



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 62 

Financial Instrument Basis of measurement Note 

Contractual Debt/payables Held at invoiced or billed amount 

less an estimate of impairment 

for the uncollectability of that 

debt. 

Excludes non contractual 

debt such as Council tax and 

NNDR 

PWLB and fixed rate 

Market Debt 

Carrying value adjusted for 

interest due at year end 

Borrowing is both fixed term 

and fixed interest rates 

LOBO Debt 

 

Balance measured using the 

effective interest rate within the 

contract for the maximum life of 

the deal 

Rate calculated over full term 

assuming the options within 

the contract are not 

exercised. 

Financial Instruments under 

adverse economic 

conditions 

 

 

All financial instruments 

assessed for impairment from  

economic conditions 

As appropriate the 

impairment for contractual 

debt will be reviewed. The 

Council does not hold any 

investments which it has 

assessed to be subject to 

any impairment. 

Financial Guarantee IAS19 valaution of pension 

liability 

 

Council Companies Held at initial investment (i.e. 

value of shares) 

 

 

The Council in compiling its accounts assessed all its financial instruments and there were a 

number that were not considered material to make adjustment to the carrying value of the asset 

or liability.  

The Council under IFRS9 has designated its holding in one of its subsidiaries, TDA as an 

“investment in an equity instrument designated at fair value through other comprehensive 

income”. Where the purpose of the subsidiary is primarily to provide services on behalf of the 

council including strategic economic development purposes, the initial and subsequent 

recognition of the Council's investment in its subsidiaries is at the nominal value of the shares 

held. Where a subsidiary company has its own subsidiary companies the investment will 

continue to be at the nominal value of the shares held. 

Page 111



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

63 
 

Income, Expense, Gains and Losses 
 

 

 
 2018/19 2019/20 

 
Financial 

Liabilities 

Financial Assets  Financial 

Liabilities 

Financial Assets  

 
Liabilities 

measured 

at amortised 

cost 

Loans and 

receivables  

 

Assets at 

Fair Value 

through 

Profit and 

Loss 

 

Total 

 

Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised 

cost 

 

Loans and 

receivables  

 

Assets at Fair 

Value through 

Profit and Loss 

Total 

 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Interest expense 6.2 0 0 6.2 9.1 0 0 9.1 

Reductions in fair  value re 

interest due 
3.3 0 0 3.3 1.7 0 0 1.7 

Total expense in Surplus 

or Deficit on the Provision 

of Services 

9.5 0 0 9.5 10.8 0 0 10.8 

Interest income 0 (0.3) (0.2) (0.5) 0 (0.2) (0.2) (0.4) 

(Gain) /Loss in fair  value 0 (0.1) (0.2) (0.3) 0 (0.3) 0.1 (0.2) 

Total income in Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of 

Services 

0 (0.4) (0.4) (0.8) 0 (0.5) (0.1) (0.6) 

Net gain/(loss) for the year 9.5 (0.4) (0.4) 8.7 10.8 (0.5) (0.1) 10.2 

 

P
age 112



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

64 
 

Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and receivables and long-term 

debtors and creditors are carried in the balance sheet at amortised cost.  Their fair value can 

be assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows that will take place over the 

remaining term of the instruments. For financial assets that are short term, “cash accounts” or 

are held at their carrying value as at 31st March the carrying amount is a reasonable 

approximation of fair value. The fair value of debtors and creditors is taken to be the invoiced or 

billed amount 

For PWLB debt, with a carrying value of £385.2m (£296.1m 18/19),  the fair value of £414.5m 

(£346.4m 18/19) has been assessed by using PWLB discount rates (certainty rate) for new 

loans as at 31st March 2020, and then matched, as appropriate, to the duration on an existing 

maturity. No early repayment or impairment is recognised.  For non PWLB loans, with a 

carrying value of £10.1m (£10.1m 17/18), the fair value of £17.2m (£17.5m 18/19) has been 

assessed by using discount rates of similar length and structure with a comparable lender as at 

31st March 2020. For both fair values, under the requirements of IFRS13, these values are 

based on Level Two inputs, i.e. inputs other than quoted prices that are observable. 

The fair value of the liabilities (borrowing) is higher than the carrying amount because the 

Council’s portfolio of loans includes a number of fixed rates where the interest rate payable is 

higher than the rates available for similar loans at the balance sheet date for the term 

remaining. The commitment to pay interest above current market rates increases the amount 

the Council would have to pay if the lender requested or agreed to early repayment of the 

loans.  

It should be noted that the PWLB also provided a fair value of the Council’s PWLB debt as at 

31st March 2020 of £613.5m (£413.0m 18/19). This is higher than the fair value PWLB amount 

of £414.5m (£346.4m 18/19) as the PWLB has used their “premature redemption rate of 

interest” to calculate fair value. This rate is a more punitive rate than current rates that only 

applies if a Council repays debt early. 

The Council has a liability for the remaining 7.5 years on its 25 year School PFI contract for the 

construction element. The fair value of the liability as at 31 March 2020 of £6.6m (18/19: £7.6m)  

has been assessed using Level Two inputs using a PWLB annuity discount rate, i.e. an input 

other than quoted prices that are observable. 

The Council has a liability for the remaining 19.5 years on its 25 year Energy from Waste PFI 

contract for the construction element. The fair value of the liability as at 31st March 2020 of 

£24.0m (£25.1m 18/19) has been assessed using Level Two inputs using a PWLB annuity 

discount rate, i.e. an input other than quoted prices that are observable. 

 

17. Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments 

The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

 credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Council 

 

 liquidity risk – the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its 

commitments to make payments 

 

 market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of 

changes in such measures as interest rates and stock movements 

 

The Council’s overall risk management programme (as outlined in its Treasury Management 

Strategy) focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 

adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk management is carried out by 

the Council’s treasury team, under policies and practices approved by full Council in March 

2010 and updated in February 2019. The Council provides written principles for overall risk 

Page 113



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 65 

management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk, 

credit risk and the investment of surplus cash. The Council’s treasury team also, as required, 

make in year adjustments in the event of changing circumstances such as economic pressures 

impacting on rates or changes to investment counterparty lists. 

Credit and Counterparty Risk 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure 

to the Council’s customers. Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless 

they have a sufficiently high credit rating, as designated by independent credit rating agencies, 

or other strong measure of security such as a central government guarantee with a minimum 

sovereign rating of “AAA”/”AA+”. The system of counterparty selection includes a sophisticated 

modelling approach which combines credit ratings, credit watches, credit outlooks and credit 

default swaps (CDS) spreads in a weighted scoring system for which the end product is a 

series of colour code bands which indicate the value and durational limits for each 

counterparty.  

Asset Type Credit Risk Management Estimation of Impairment 

Loss 

Loans to other authorities Guaranteed by statute No allowance required 

Banks and financial 

institutions 

Deposits are restricted in line 

with Council’s approved 

Treasury Strategy.  

No historic or forecast 

losses. 

Loans  All loans subject to internal 

risk appraisal, where 

appropriate guarantees 

and/or security is obtained in 

event of default. 

No historic or forecast losses 

 

Other Debtors Debtors are not subject to 

internal credit ratings and 

have been grouped for the 

purposes of calculating 

expected losses 

Expected credit losses 

(impairment) estimated 

based on age and type of 

debt. 

 

The following analysis summarises the Council’s potential maximum exposure to credit risk, 
based on experience of default and uncollectability, adjusted to reflect current market 
conditions.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 66 

2019/20 Value as 

at 31st 

March 

2020 

Fitch 

rating 

A 

Fitch 

rating  

AA 

Fitch 

rating  

AAA 

 

Historical 

experience 

of default 

Historical 

experience 

adjusted for 

market 

conditions 

as at 31st 

March 2020 

Estimated 

maximum 

exposure to 

default and 

uncollectability 

at 31st March 

2020 

 £m    % % £m 

Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 
49.5 30.5 0.3 18.7 0 0 0 

Deposits held in Enhanced 

Money Market Fund  
4.5 0 0 4.5 0 0 0 

Deposits held with other public 

sector bodies 
8.0 n/a as public sector 0 0 0 

Units purchased in CCLA 

Property Fund 
4.7 0 0 4.7 0 0 0 

Trade and other Receivables, 

excluding loans  (Sundry, Beach 

Huts & Harbour Debt)  

5.0 Not applicable 2% 10% 0.6 

 

The Council does not generally allow credit to customers. Within the Council’s sundry debt total 

of £5.0m (£4.0m 18/19), £1.1m (£0.5m 18/19) is over three months due for payment. The past 

due amount can be analysed by age as follows: 

 

31st March 2019  31st March 

2020 

£m  £m 

3.5 Less than 3 months 3.9 

0.3 Three months to one year 0.9 

0.2 More than one year 0.2 

4.0 Total 5.0 

 

At year end the level of impairment for all Council debt is assessed and reflected in the value of 

the impairment disclosed in the debtors note. 

Liquidity Risk 

As the Council has ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loans Board and short 

term funding facilities with its Bankers, there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise 

finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments. Instead there is a risk that the 

Council will be bound to replenish a proportion of its borrowings at a time of unfavourable 

interest rates. The Council’s treasury team aim to ensure that the Council’s borrowing portfolio 

is spread over a range of maturities by a combination of careful planning of new loans taken out 

and, where it is economic to do so, rescheduling debt. 

The maturity analysis of fixed rate borrowing at fair value is as follows: 

 

 

Page 115



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 67 

31st March 2019  31st March 2020 

£m  £m 

4.0 Less than one year 5.4 

3.6 Between one and two years 2.6 

13.9 Between two and five years 14.9 

29.4 Between five and ten years 25.8 

53.9 Between ten and twenty years 68.9 

50.4 Between twenty and thirty years 67.2 

151.0 Above thirty years 212.1 

306.2 Total 396.9 

 

The Council monitors and manages its cash flow on a daily basis to ensure it has, at all times, 

short term liquidity to meet payables and other liabilities. 

Market Risk 

There are three market related risks the Council is aware of: Interest Rate Risk, Price Risk and 

Foreign Exchange Risk. Further detail of each risk is outlined below: 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Council is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its 

borrowing and investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council. 

For example a rise in interest rates would have the following effects: 

 borrowings at variable rates – the interest expenses charged to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure will rise 

 

 borrowings at fixed rates  - the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will rise 

 

 investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure will rise 

 

 investments at fixed rates - the fair value of the assets will fall  

  

Where the Council has borrowed on a fixed rate basis there will be no variation between the 

carrying value and fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not 

impact on the Income and Expenditure account or Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS). 

However any changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and 

investments will be posted to the Income and Expenditure and effect the General Fund 

Balance.  

The Council has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk. Its policy is to limit its 

exposure to variable rate loans. As at 31st March 2020 the Council didn’t have any PWLB 

borrowing at variable interest rates however the Council does have £5m in a market loan 

(LOBO) where in future years the rate could vary.  

The Council’s treasury management team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate 

exposure that supports the setting of the annual budget and which is used to proactively 

manage the Council’s investments and borrowings during a year.  

If on the 31st March 2020 the interest rates are 1% higher than the actual interest rates the 

financial impact would be: 

a) Borrowing: 

Page 116



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 68 

The Council had no variable rate borrowing as at 31st March 2020 so there would be no 

impact.  

b) Investments: 

It is reasonable to assume that the Council’s investments in “cash” accounts, money market 

funds and the fund manager should increase by the change in interest rates. If the Council’s 

investment in these instruments were maintained at the level as at 31st March 2020 for a full 

financial year, this would generate an additional £0.6m over a year if rates increase by 1%. It 

should be noted that if the interest rate increase was forecast it is likely the profile of fixed rate 

deposits would have been invested on that basis.  

The impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with the movements being 

reversed.  

Price Risk 

The Council does not generally invest in equity shares. The Council does have an equity 

interest in a number of companies as part of service delivery. Of these, only the Council’s 

minority shareholding in TOR2 could lead to a realised share of profits. The Council’s holding in 

the CCLA property fund will vary in price depending on the Fund’s performance. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Council has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies (except for 

an occasional non sterling creditor payment) and thus have no exposure to loss arising from 

movements in exchange rates. 

 

18. Investments 

Long Term Investments 

Long term investments comprise any cash investments the Council has made with a maturity in 

excess of one year including an investment in a Property Fund managed by the CCLA. 

 

Short Term Investments 

Temporary investments are short term investments with a maturity less than one year that are 

held for investment purposes not short term cash flow liquidity.  

 

2018/19 

Property 

Fund  

  

Cash 

Investment 

2019/20 

Property 

Fund 

 

Total 

         £m  £m £m £m 

5.0 Balance at start of year: 0 5.0 5.0 

(0.1) Change in Investment 5.0 (0.3) 4.7 

4.9 Fair Value as at 31st 

March 

 

5.0 4.7 9.7 

Page 117



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 69 

Total Invested   

31st March 2019 

£ m 

 Total Invested 

31st March 2020 

£ m 

 Short Term Investments (less than 1 year)  

28.0 Deposits: fixed term & structured 19.0 

12.4 Notice\Call Accounts 25.5 

11.0 Enhanced Money Market Fund * 4.0 

51.4 Total Short Term Investments 48.5 

51.9 
Fair Value as at 31st March - including 

interest due 
49.3 

 

Note * - The Council has designated its holding with an Enhanced Money Market Fund at Fair 

Value through Profit and Loss as, in substance, the Council’s holding is part of a portfolio of 

identified financial instruments that are managed together and there is evidence of short term 

profit making. 

 

19. Debtors 

Debtors represent monies owed to the Council and include deposits and payments in advance. 

Long Term Debtors (due over one year)  

31 March 2019 

£m 

 31 March 2020 

£m 

7.6 Loans  16.1 

1.2 Social Services – Client Debt  1.3 

(0.1) Impairment re Client Debt (0.1) 

3.0 Asset Related (capital accounting) 5.8 

11.7 Total 23.1 

 

Current Debtors (Due within one year including payments in advance) 

31st March 2019  31st March 2020 

£m  £m 

5.0 Central government bodies (WGA) 4.3 

5.0 Other local authorities and public bodies 4.2 

0.4 NHS bodies 0.4 

6.0 Council Tax (inc. liability orders)  7.2 

1.3 NNDR (inc liability orders) 

 

1.5 

4.2 Housing Benefit Overpayments 4.1 

9.8 

3 

Other entities and individuals 13.1 

Page 118



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 70 

31st March 2019  31st March 2020 

31.7 Sub Total 34.8 

(10.3) Impairment (uncollectibility of debt) (11.9) 

21.4 Total 22.9 

 

Local Taxation 

The total net debt for Council Tax and NNDR is analysed by age of debt.  Impairment is not 

included. These amounts are included in the debtor note above and prepayments (creditors) 

below. 

 

 Council Tax 

 

£m 

NNDR 

 

£m 

Total 

2019/20 

£m 

Up to 1 year 2.2          0.9 3.1 

1 to 3 years  2.5 0.7 3.2 

Over 3 years 1.6 0.3 1.9 

Total 6.3 1.9 8.2 

 

Loans 

The Council has provided the following loan or loan facility to the following organisations. These 

loans are included in the Council’s long and short term debtor balances on (and notes to) the 

balance sheet as at 31 March 2020.  

 

Value of loan 

-31st March 

2019 

 £m 

Organisation Value of 

loan -31st 

March 2020 

£m 

Due within 

one year 

£m 

Due in 

excess of 

one year 

£m 

1.4 TDA 2.8 0 2.8 

0 Tor Vista Homes 0.1 0 0.1 

1.1 Care Home Provider 0 0 0 

3.7 South Devon College 3.6 0.2 3.4 

1.7 Parkwood Leisure 0 0 0 

0 THAT Group 9.3 0 9.3 

0 Effect Photonics Ltd 0.5 0 0.5 

7.9  16.3 0.2 16.1 

 

20. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents, including use of bank overdrafts, is made up of the 

following elements: 

Page 119



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 71 

 

31 March 2019  31 March 2020 

£m 
 

£m 

0.4 
Bank current accounts 

(1.0) 

1.7 

Short-term deposits with Money Market 
Funds and Liquidity Accounts 7.6 

2.1 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 

6.6 

2.6 
Current Assets 

8.2 

(0.5) 
Current Liabilities 

(1.6) 

2.1 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 

6.6 

 

21. Creditors 

Represents monies owed by the Council 

 
Long Term Creditors (due over one year)  

31 March 2019 

£m 

 31 March 2020 

£m 

2.7 Section 106 agreements 3.0 

0.4 Salix Finance 0.3 

1.3 PFI Sinking Fund - Contractor 0.8 

0.1 Other 0.2 

4.5 Total 4.3 

 
Current Creditors (due within one year including revenue receipts in advance)  

31 March 2019 

£m 

 31 March 2020 

£m 

3.2 Central government bodies (WGA) 9.6  

2.8 Other local authorities and public bodies 4.6 

1.2 NHS bodies 1.0 

18.8 Other entities and individuals 18.6 

26.0 Total 33.8 

 

22. Provisions 

Represents monies potentially owed by the Council but the timing and value of the payment is 

uncertain.  

Page 120



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 72 

 

  Insurance NNDR 
Appeals * 

Total 

  £m £m £m 

Balance at 31 March 2019 0.2 4.0 4.2 

Provisions made in year 0.1 0.9 1.0 

Provisions reversed in year 0 - 0 

Amounts used in year (0.1) - (0.1) 

Balance at 31 March 2020 0.2 4.9 5.1 

Short term 0.1 4.9 5.0 

Long term 0.1 0 0.1 

Balance at 31 March 2020 0.2 4.9 5.1 

*An analysis of NNDR movements in year not separately identifiable as appeals are reflected within a premises’ overall 

NNDR liability in Collection Fund 

Name of Provision   Description of Provision 

Insurance  Reflects a reliable estimate of Council liability on all 

known claims outstanding as at 31st March, which 

have yet to be settled. The timing of spend will be up 

to three years depending on claim type.  

NNDR Appeals  Reflects the Council’s 49% share of the estimated 

value of outstanding NNDR appeals submitted to the 

Valuation Office by 31st March. 

23.  Borrowing  

This heading reflects the borrowing undertaken by the Council to fund its approved capital 

programme. Any costs of borrowing are reflected in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement for interest charges and the Minimum Revenue Provision for the 

repayment of debt. Any “unsupported” borrowing undertaken using the Prudential Code will 

have to be funded from within Council resources, savings or additional income.  

 

31st March 2019 

Principal 

£ m 

 

Borrowing Repayable 

31st March 2020 

Principal 

£ m 

- Amounts falling due within one year  

0.7 Public Works Loans Board loans 3.7 

- Amounts falling due in excess of one year  

10.0 Money Market loans 10.0 

292.2 Public Works Loans Board loans 381.5 

302.9 Total 395.2 

306.2 Carrying Amount as at 31st March  - including interest due 396.9 

 

The table below shows an analysis of the maturity of (all) loans repayable (by principal 

outstanding):-         

Page 121



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 73 

Total Principal  

Outstanding 

31st March 2019 

£ m 

Analysis of Loans by Maturity 

 

 

Average 
Interest 

Rate 

 

 

Total Principal  

Outstanding 

31st March 
2020 

£ m 

0.7 Within 1 year - (short term) 3.46% 3.7 

3.6 1 up to 2 years 3.81% 2.6 

2.6 2 up to 3 years 3.69% 3.6 

3.6 3 up to 4 years 3.81% 2.6 

7.6 4 up to 5 years 2.59% 8.7 

29.3 5 up to 10 years 3.39% 25.8 

27.2 10 up to 15 years 2.82% 42.0 

26.6 15 up to 20 years 3.93% 26.8 

21.0 20 up to 25 years 3.18% 36.8 

180.7 Over 25 years 2.83% 242.6 

302.9 Total 3.00% 395.2 

306.2 

 

363.9 

Carrying amount as at 31st March - including 

interest due. 

Fair value (as IFRS 13 see Note 16 Fair Value of 

Assets and Liabilities) 

 396.9 

 

431.7 

 

Lenders Option Borrowers Option (LOBO) 

The Council has one LOBO loan (Lenders Option Borrowers Option) with Dexia that has, at 

inception, a constant rate of interest for the length of the loan. On the loan the lender (Dexia) 

has the option to increase the rate beyond the agreed rates after an initial period and at agreed 

intervals thereafter. The borrower then has the option to continue at the higher rate or repay the 

loan incurring no penalty.  The loan will continue for the full term at the agreed rate unless the 

lender exercises the option to increase the rate of interest. The Council’s loan with Barclays 

PLC is no longer classified as a LOBO as Barclays PLC have confirmed that they will not enact 

their option for the life of the loan.  

 

24. Liabilities 

The Council has entered into a contract or agreement that guarantees future payments to a third 

party. 

31st March 2019 

£m 

 31st March 2020 

£m 

 Liabilities due within 1 year  

0.6 PFI Liability - Schools 0.7  

0.1 PFI Liability – EFW  0.1 

0.8 PFI Liability – EFW – Deferred Income 0.8 

0.7 DCC Pre LGR Liability 0.7 

2.2 Total due within 1 year 2.3 

 Liabilities due over 1 year  

Page 122



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 74 

 

The Spires and Homelands Schools PFI Scheme 

A Project Agreement was signed on 31st March 2000 with Torbay School Services Ltd (TSS) 

for the provision of serviced facilities at The Spires (formerly Westlands) Secondary and 

Homelands Primary Schools in Torquay.  The period of the contract is 26 years from the actual 

completion of the redevelopment of The Spires School buildings, which occurred on 24th 

October 2001 (i.e. expires in 2027).  Payments under the contract commenced on 1st April 2001 

when Phase 1 of The Spires was completed.  The contract specifies minimum standards for the 

services to be provided by the contractor, with deductions from the fee payable being made if 

facilities are unavailable or performance is below the minimum standards. The contractor took 

on the obligation to construct the schools and maintain them in a minimum acceptable condition 

and to procure and maintain the plant and equipment needed to operate the schools.  The 

buildings and any plant and equipment installed in them at the end of the contract will be 

transferred to the Council for nil consideration.  There were no changes to the contract 

arrangements during the year. 

Schools - PFI Property Plant and Equipment 

The assets used to provide services at both schools are recognised on the Council’s Balance 

Sheet. Since the PFI contract started The Spires school became a Foundation School. The 

Council has retained the liability to the PFI contractor.  

 

School - PFI Payments 

The Council makes an agreed payment each year which is increased each year by inflation and 

can be reduced if the contractor fails to meet availability and performance standards in any 

year but which is otherwise fixed.  In relation to this contract the Council recognises as a liability 

on its balance sheet the element of this annual payment that relates to the construction and 

purchase of the two schools. The other elements of the contract, finance costs and service 

charges are recognised on an annual basis in the Council’s Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. Payments remaining to be made under the PFI contract at 31 March 

2019 (excluding any estimation of inflation and availability/performance deductions) are as 

follows:   

 Payment 

for 

Services * 

 

Reimburse-

ment of 

Capital 

Expenditure 

Interest 

 

Total 

 

 £m £m £m £m 

Payable in 2020/21 2.1 0.6 0.3 3.0 

Payable within 2 to 5 years 8.4 2.9 0.8 12.1 

Payable within 6 to 10 years 5.3 2.2 0.1 7.6 

Total 15.8 5.7 1.2 22.7 

5.7 PFI Liability – Schools 5.0 

11.8 PFI Liability – EFW  11.7 

16.7 PFI Liability – EFW – Deferred Income 15.9 

7.6 DCC Pre LGR Liability 6.9 

0 TDA – LGPS Pension liability 4.9 

41.8 Total due over 1 year 44.4 

44.0 Total Liabilities 46.7 

Page 123



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 75 

  * Assumption that the total annual payment for all three elements to the contractor will remain 

constant (ignoring inflation) until 2027/28 when the contract finishes. 

Although the payments made to the contractor are described as unitary payments, they have 

been calculated to compensate the contractor for the fair value of the services they provide, the 

capital expenditure incurred and interest payable. The liability outstanding to pay to the 

contractor for capital expenditure incurred is as follows: 

 

2018/19 

£m 

 2018/19 

£m 

6.9 Balance outstanding at start of year 6.3 

(0.6) Payments during the year (0.6) 

6.3 Balance outstanding at year-end 5.7 

  

Energy from Waste Plant – Private Finance Initiative  

Torbay, in partnership with Plymouth and Devon County Councils has entered into a 25 year 

PFI contract with MVV Umwelt for the construction and operation of an Energy from Waste 

Plant for the disposal of domestic waste. The Plant became operational in April 2015, the 

Councils deliver waste to the facility paying a unitary charge linked to waste tonnages. The 

period of the contract operation is to a fixed contract end date in November 2039 

The three Councils appointed MVV Umwelt under a fixed price contract to finance, construct 

and design the 245,000 tonne capacity facility, maintain it to a minimum acceptable condition 

over a 24 year term, with an option to extend operations for another 5 years. The Councils have 

the right to terminate the contract but must compensates MVVU in full for costs incurred and for 

future profits that would have been generated over the remaining term of the contract. At the 

end of the contract term buildings, plant and equipment will be transferred back to the Councils 

for nil consideration should the partnership elect to exercise this option. 

The EFW facility is located on Ministry of Defence land at Camel's Head, North Yard in 

Devonport Dockyard in Plymouth. The contract specifies the activities offered by the facility, the 

opening hours and the expected minimum standard of service to be provided by the operator. 

MVV Umwelt is required to receive all the residual waste from the defined area of the local 

authority partnership for which the councils are obliged to pay a fixed but index linked gate fee 

based on a guaranteed waste tonnage, with an additional charge for any extra waste delivered 

by the councils over and above the contractual waste. 

EFW - PFI Property Plant and Equipment 

Income and expenditure, assets and liabilities are recorded in each of Plymouth City Council, 

Torbay Council and Devon County Council's  Statements of Accounts respectively in the ratio 

48:17:35 based on estimated tonnages for 2015/16: The total construction costs were 

£195m,Torbay Council's initial recognition of its share was £33m. The plant was revalued as at 

31st March 2020 and its value is carried in its balance sheet together with a corresponding 

liabilities for both the Council’s share of the liability and a deferred income sum to reflect the 

value of the third party income due to be received by the operator over the life of the contract. 

EFW - PFI Payments 

The three Councils each make a payment each year to the operator based on actual tonnages 

where the cost can vary depending on whether the tonnage is within set bands as specified by 

the contract. The costs are allocated between the three Councils based on agreed Financial 

Allocation Mechanism which is closely linked to actual tonnages delivered from the three 

councils compared the forecast tonnages in the business case. In relation to this contract the 

Page 124



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 76 

Council recognises as a liability on its balance sheet its share of the element of the annual 

payment that relates to the construction and purchase of the facility. The other elements of the 

contract, finance costs and service charges, are recognised on an annual basis in the Council’s 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Torbay's share of payments remaining to 

be made under the PFI contract at 31 March 2020 (excluding any estimation of inflation) is as 

follows: 

 

 Payment for 

Services * 

 

Reimburse-

ment of 

Capital 

Expenditure 

Interest 

 

Total 

 

 £m £m £m £m 

Payable in 2020/21 

 

1.9 0.1 1.1 3.1 

Payable within 2 to 5 years 

 

8.0 0.8 4.1 12.9 

Payable within 6 to 10 

years 

11.3 1.7 4.0 17.0 

Payable within 11 to 15  

years 

11.8 3.7 2.3 17.8 

Payable within 16 to 20 

years 

12.4 5.5 (0.7) 17.2 

Total 

 

45.4 11.8 10.8 68.0 

 

 * Assumption that the total annual payment for all three elements to the contractor will remain 

constant (ignoring inflation) until 2039 when the contract finishes. 

Although the payments made to the contractor are described as unitary payments, they have 

been calculated to compensate the contractor for the fair value of the services they provide, the 

capital expenditure incurred and interest payable. The liability outstanding to pay to the 

contractor for capital expenditure incurred split between Torbay and the third party income 

deferred income liability is as follows: 

 

 

2018/19 

£m 

Torbay 

Share 

2018/19 

£m 

Deferred 

Income 

 2019/20 

£m 

Torbay 

Share 

2019/20 

£m 

Deferred 

Income 

12.0 18.3 Liability outstanding at start of 

year 

11.9 17.5 

(0.1) (0.8) Payments during the year (0.1) (0.8) 

11.9 17.5 Liability outstanding at year-

end 

11.8 16.7 

 

 

Page 125



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 77 

Local Government Reorganisation 1998 

Torbay Council became a unitary Council in 1998 taking over some of the services previously 

provided by Devon County Council. The Council agreed to fund a tax base share (11.73%) of 

any future costs that Devon incurred in relation to discretionary pension enhancements that 

Devon County Council had agreed to pay to its staff prior to 1998. The payment to Devon 

County Council in 2019/20 was £0.7m (£0.7m 2018/19). The estimate of the remaining liability 

of £7.6m (£8.3m 18/19) is based on Devon County’s IAS19 disclosures.  

  

2018/19 

£m 

 2019/20 

£m 

9.0 Liability outstanding at start of year 8.3 

0 IAS19 Actuarial remeasurements 0 

(0.7) Payments during the year to Devon County (0.7) 

8.3 Liability outstanding at year-end 7.6 

 

TDA Pension Liability Pass Through  

 In 2019/20 the Council recognised, under a pass through arrangement, a financial guarantee 

for the pension liability for the TDA (a subsidiary company) that would require the Council to 

pay the TDA employer pension payments to the Devon County Pension Fund if the TDA 
defaulted on the payments. The TDA remains an admitted body to the pension scheme and will 

make higher employer contibutions to mitigate any financial risk to the Council. The TDA will 

continue to recognise a pension liability under IAS19 and also recognises an asset to the value 

of that IAS19 Liability. The Council’s liability is therefore the value of the TDA IAS19 pension 

liability. 

25. Usable Reserves 

Movements in the Council’s usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves 

Statement and each reserve is shown in the table below: 

31st March 

2019 

£m 

 For in year 

movements 

see Note:- 

2019/20 

movement 

31st March 

2020 

£m 

4.6 General Fund Reserve 9 0 4.6 

28.3 Earmarked Reserves 10 2.2 30.5 

0 Deferred Capital receipts 9 2.7 2.7 

0.8 Usable Capital Receipts  Reserve 9 (0.4) 0.4 

8.7 Capital Grants & Contributions 

Unapplied 

9 1.1 9.8 

42.4 Total Usable Reserves  5.6 48.0 

   

 

Page 126



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 78 

26. Unusable Reserves 

Movements in the Council’s unusable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves 

Statement and each reserve is shown in the table below. A full description of each reserve is 

available in the glossary: 

31st March 

2019 

 

 For in year 

movements 

see Note:- 

2019/20 

movement 

31st  

March 

2020 

£m   £m £m 

86.6 Revaluation Reserve 26.1 3.2 89.8 

85.9 Capital Adjustment Account 9 (5.9) 80.0 

(0.1) Financial Instruments Reserve 9 0.1 0 

0 Pooled Investment Fund Adjustment 

Account* 

9 (0.2) (0.2) 

(186.9) Pensions Reserve (Funded and Unfunded) 9 6.3 (180.6) 

1.0 Collection Fund Adjustment Account 9 (0.2) 0.8 

(1.1) Accumulating Compensated Absences 

Adjustment Account 

9 (0.1) (1.2) 

(14.6) Total Unusable Reserves  3.2 (11.4) 

* Note: The Pooled Investment Fund Adjustment Account was previously the Financial Instrument 

Reserve 

 

26.1 Revaluation Reserve 

 

2018/19 

£m 

  2019/20 

£m 

71.7 Balance at 1 April  Note  86.6 

20.2 Revaluation of assets  7.6  

(4.1) Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-

current assets not posted to the Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services 

 (2.2)  5.4 

(1.2) Difference between fair value depreciation 

and historical cost depreciation 

 (1.4)  

Page 127



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 79 

0 Accumulated gains on assets sold or 

scrapped 

 (0.8)  

(1.2) Total amount written off to the Capital 

Adjustment Account 

9  (2.2) 

86.6 Balance at 31 March   89.8 

 

 

27. Pooled Budgets 

Joint Equipment Store 

 

Under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, the Council has a pooled budget arrangement with NHS 

South Devon and Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the joint provision of an 

equipment store for the purchase and distribution of items to meet the social care and health 

needs of people living in the Torbay area. The pooled budget is hosted by the Council as the 

lead body on behalf of the two partners to the agreement. The Council and the CCG have an 

agreement in place for funding these with each contributing funds to the agreed budget equal to 

a 50% split. However, any overspend on the agreed budget is split equally between the two 

partners and Torbay and South Devon Foundation Trust (ICO). The total expenditure on the 

pooled budget for 2019/20 was £1.5m (£1.4m 18/19), of which £0.7m (£0.6m 18/19) was borne 

by the Council. 

 

Better Care Fund 

 

Under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, the Council has a pooled budget arrangement with NHS 

South Devon and Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the revenue elements of the 

Better Care Fund for the integrated supply of social care and health needs of people living in 

the Torbay area. The pooled budget is hosted by the CCG as the lead body on behalf of the 

two partners to the agreement. The total expenditure on the pooled budget for 2019/20 was 

£11.2m (£10.7m 18/19), of which £3.1m (£3.0m 18/19) was paid to the Council to commission 

adult social care services and £7.7m (£7.7m 18/19) was used by the CCG to commission 

health related services.  

 

Improved Better Care Fund 

 

The Council received £7.7m of Improved Better Care Fund in 2019/20 (£6.1m 18/19) which is 

reported as part of the Better Care Fund, but is managed by the Council separate from the 

pooled budget. 

 

 

28. Members’ Allowances  

Under the Council’s Members Allowances scheme £437,000 (£487,000 2018/19) were paid to 

members of the Council during the year. In addition £3,000  of approved expenses was paid 

(£4,000 2018/19). The current Allowances’ scheme can be found on the Council’s website.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 80 

 

29. Officers’ Remuneration  

The remuneration paid to the Council’s senior employees is as follows: 

 

 

  Salary 

 

 

Expenses   

 

Compen-
sation for 
Loss of 
Office 

Pension 
Contribution 
at “common 

rate” 

Total 

 

  £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s 

Chief Executive (4 
days per week) 

2019/20 112 0 0 17 129 

2018/19 110 0 0 16 126 

Director of Adult 
Services (note 1) 

2019/20 25 0 0 3 28 

2018/19 119 0 0 18 137 

Director of Children’s 

Services (Note 2) 

2019/20 0 0 0 0 0 

2018/19 42 0 0 5 47 

Director of Place (from 
January 2019) 

2019/20 100 1 0 15 116 

2018/19 25 0 0 4 29 

Head of Finance (s151 
officer) 

2019/20 95 0 0 14 109 

2018/19 116 0 0 17 133 

Director of Public 
Health  

2019/20 108 0 0 16 124 

2018/19 111 0 0 16 127 

Director of Corporate 
Services & Monitoring 
Officer  

2019/20 109 0 0 16 125 

2018/19 111 0 0 16 127 

 

 

Note 1: The Director of Adult Services (from May 2019) was an employee of the Torbay and 

South Devon NHS Foundation Trust and seconded to the Council. Torbay Council contributed 

100% to the cost of this post (£126,000), which includes salary and other costs. 

 

Note 2: The Director of Children’s Services (to January 2020) was an employee of Plymouth 

City Council and Torbay Council contributed 50% to the cost of this post (£82,000) (£106,000 

2018/19), which includes salary and other costs incurred by Plymouth City Council.  From 

January 2020 the (new) Director of Childrens Services was employed from an agency who 

were paid (£49,000) for that period.  

 

The number of employees, including the senior officers disclosed above, receiving more than 

£50,000 remuneration, excluding employer’s pension contributions, while employed by Torbay 

Council is set out in the table below in bands of £5,000. Remuneration for these purposes 

includes all sums paid or receivable by an employee and sums due by way of and the money 

value of any other benefits received other than in cash.   School employees are reducing linked 

to conversion to Academy status. Employees had a pay award in 2019/20 which would impact 

on the lower band as the banding has not been inflated.  

 

 

 

 

Page 129



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 81 

Number of Employees by Employer 

2018/19 

Remuneration Band Number of Employees by Employer 

2019/20 

Council Schools - 

Council 

 

Schools - 

Governing 

Body 

 Council Schools - 

Council  

Schools - 

Governing 

Body  

18 3 5 £50,000 to £54,999 20 4 2 

10 1 1 £55,000 to £59,999 7 2 4 

1 3 4 £60,000 to £64,999 0 1 1 

1 1 2 £65,000 to £69,999 1 4 4 

2 1 0 £70,000 to £74,999 1 1 1 

0 0 1 £75,000 to £79,999 2 0 0 

4 0 0 £80,000 to £84,999 0 0 2 

0 1 1 £85,000 to £89,999  1 1 0 

0 0 0 £90,000 to £94,999 4 0 0 

1 0 0 £95,000 to £99,999 0 0 0 

0 0 0 £100,000 to £104,999 1 0 0 

1 0 0 £105,000 to £109,999 3 0 0 

2 0 1 £110,000 to £114,999 1 0 1 

2 0 0 £115,000 to £119,999 0 0 0 

42 10 15 Total 41 13 15 

 

 

30. External Audit Costs 

The Council will incur the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, 

certification of grant claims and statutory inspections and to non-audit services provided by the 

Council’s appointed external auditors who are Grant Thornton. 

 

 

2018/19 
£000 

 

 2019/20 
£000 

79 
Fees payable to Grant Thornton with regard to external audit 
services carried out by the appointed auditor for the year 

103 

21 
Fees payable to Grant Thornton for the certification of grant claims 
and returns for the year  

19 

0 
Fees payable in respect of other services provided by Grant 
Thornton during the year in respect of 2018/19 & 2016/17 

18 

0 
Fees payable to Grant Thornton for the certification of grant claims 
and returns for prior years 

5 

100 Total 145 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 130



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 82 

31.     Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

The Council’s expenditure on schools is funded primarily by grant monies provided by the 

Education and Skills Funding Agency, the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). DSG is ring fenced 

and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools’ budget, as 

defined in the School Finance and Early Years (England) Regulations 2020. The Schools’ 

Budget includes elements for a range of educational services provided on a Council wide basis 

and for the individual Schools’ Budget, which is divided into a budget share for each maintained 

school. 

 

Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2019/20 are as follows: 

 

Schools Budget Funded by Dedicated Schools Grant 2019/20 

 Central 

Expenditure 

Individual 

Schools 

Budget 

Total 

 £m £m £m 

Final DSG for year before Academy Recoupment   104.5 

Less Academy figure and direct funding of Higher Needs 
recouped 

  (65.0) 

Total DSG after Academy Recoupment * 
  39.5 

Brought Forward from 2018/19 – surplus/(deficit)  
  (2.7) 

Agreed initial budgeted distribution in year 
18.5 18.3 36.8 

In year Adjustments 
(0.2) 0 (0.2) 

Final budgeted distribution for year 
18.3 18.3 36.6 

Less: Actual Central Expenditure 
(22.1) 0 (22.1) 

Less: Actual ISB deployed to schools 
0 (18.3) (18.3) 

Carry forward – surplus/(deficit) 
(3.8) 0 (3.8) 

*   Value of DSG reflected in Council’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) has been under financial pressure as a result of an 

increasing level of referrals from schools for higher needs support for children. This resulted in 

a 2019/20 in year over spend of £1.1m.  

The Council does not receive any funding for schools therefore the over spend will remain in 

the DSG to be funded in future years and is not a cost that the Council will fund a postion that 

was confirmed by the Schools and Early Years (England) Finance Regulations 2020.The 

cumulative deficit balance of £3.8m on the Dedicated Schools Grant is held as a defcit 

reserve. 

 

32. Grant Income 

The Council credited the following grants and contributions to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement.  

Page 131



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 83 

 

 

 

2018/19 

£m 

 2019/20 

£m 

 Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 

Income, Finance & Investment 

 

0 Revenue Support Grant 6.4 

0.7 Other General Grants  0.5 

1.5 New Homes Bonus Grant 1.0 

13.3 NNDR Top Up, S31 and transitional relief 18.7 

7.7 Capital Grants & Contributions 13.0 

23.2 Sub Total 39.6 

 Credited to Cost of Services  

37.3 Dedicated Schools Grant (Dept of Education) 39.5 

58.3 Benefit Subsidy & Admin Grant (DWP) 49.7 

1.9 Pupil Premium 2.1 

1.5 Post 16 Funding (Learning & Skills Council) 1.3 

9.3 Public Health Grant 9.1 

6.1 Improved Better Care Fund 7.7 

3.2 Land Release Fund 0.8 

0 Dept of Education Support Grant 1.3 

0 COVID 19 funding 5.4 

0 Social Care Grant 1.4 

8.1 Other Central Government Grants – Revenue 7.8 

3.0 Other Central Government Grants – Refcus * 4.6 

128.7 Sub Total 130.7 

151.9 Total 170.3 

 

 

In addition, the Council has received a number of grants and contributions that have yet to be 

recognised as income as conditions are attached that will require the monies or property to be 

returned if these conditions are not met.  

 

Note * Refcus Grants are Capital Grants that are used to fund “Revenue Expenditure Funded 

Under Statute” where the Council has to charge to revenue, capital expenditure where no asset 

is created, such as spend in relation to Foundation or Academy schools where the Council 

does not recognise the asset on its balance sheet. 

 

 

33. Related Parties 

The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or 

individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Council or to be controlled or 

influenced by the Council.  Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent 

Page 132



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 
 

 84 

to which the Council might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or 

might have secured the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Council. 

Any balances due to/from these related parties at the end of a financial year are included within 

the Council’s total debtor and creditor figures. 

 
Interest in Companies  

 

The Council maintains involvement with a number of subsidiary and associated companies.   
 

The Council has provided pension guarantees to the TDA, and CSW Group Ltd (formally 
Careers South West).   

All the companies within the group have a reporting period end date of the 31st March, with 

exception of TOR2 which has a 30 June date to align with other Kier May Gurney companies. 

(Kier May Gurney own 80.01% of TOR2).   

The TDA (Torbay Economic Development Company Ltd) is a private limited company by shares; 

however the intention is that any surplus is reinvested into the service. TOR2 is also a private 

limited company where the Council is due a share of any profits.  

TEDC limited has six 100% owned subsidiaries, Complete Facilities Management Services 

Limited, KAH Holdings Limited, Business Centres South West Limited, C&A Consultants 

(Torquay) Ltd, TEDC Developments Ltd and TorVista Homes Ltd.  

The Council’s interest in TOR2 Ltd is less than the accounting presumption that a 20% holding 

in a company is necessary for significant influence. The Council has considered its relationship 

with this company and concluded that it does have significant influence over it due to the 

dependence it has on the Council. Therefore the company has been treated as associate.  

As from 1 July 2020, a new company SWISCo, (South West Integrated Services Company) 
which is 100% owned by Torbay Council commenced trading. 

In 2019/20 Torbay Education Limited was established to operate the Council’s medical tuition 
school. The company is expected to become operational in September 2020. 

As at the 31st March 2020 the material balances outstanding between members of the group 
were:-  

 Torbay Council and the TDA, a net £0.2m owed by Torbay Council, £0.6m was been 
paid in advance and £2.9m of loans provided to the TDA. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

85 
 

Company Name and 

Reg’n No 

Type of Company Commenced 

Trading 

Principal Activities during the year Assessed 

Relationship 

Shareholding /Control and Company Directors as at 

31/3/20 

Torbay Economic 

Development 

Company Ltd 

07604855 

Trading as TDA 

 

Private Limited 

Company 

14th April 2011 To bring about Regeneration in Torbay  

In 19/20 Council paid £1.2m (£1.2m 

18/19) grant  

During 2019/20 the Council provided an 

additional loan to TEDC for £1.5m. 

 

Subsidiary  Shareholding /Control: 100% 

Members and Officers of Torbay Council that were 

Directors of this Company are as follows:- 

Cllr James O’Dwyer 
Cllr Cordelia Law 
Cllr Swithin Long 
Steve Parrock (Officer Torbay Council & Chief 
Executive TDA) 

A full list of directors is available on the TEDC 

website. 

 

Complete Facilities 

Management  

Services Limited 

10608599 

Private Limited 

Company – 100% 

owned by  Torbay 

Economic 

Development 

Company Ltd 

 

1 April 2017 To provide cleaning services to the 

Council, TDA and other clients 

In 19/20 Council funded a £0.2m (£0.2m 

18/19) payment 

Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100% (via Torbay Economic 

Development Company Ltd) 

Officers of Torbay Council that were Directors of 

this Company are as follows:- 
 
Steve Parrock (Officer Torbay Council & Chief 
Executive TDA) 

C & A Consultancy 

(Torbay) Limited 

02773632 

Private Limited 

Company – 100% 

owned by  Torbay 

Economic 

Development 

Company Ltd 

 

April 2019 

Not trading 

2019/20 

Construction of civil engineering projects 

and other engineering activites 

Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100% (via Torbay Economic 

Development Company Ltd) 

Officers of Torbay Council that were Directors of 

this Company are as follows:- 
 

Steve Parrock (Officer Torbay Council & Chief 

Executive TDA) 

KAH Holdings 

Limited 

Private Limited 

Company – 100% 

owned by  Torbay 

Economic 

Not trading in 

2018/19 

To manage property owned by Torbay 

Economic Development Company Ltd  

Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100% (via Torbay Economic 

Development Company Ltd) 

Officers of Torbay Council that were Directors of 

P
age 134



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 86 

11088019 Development 

Company Ltd 

 

 this Company are as follows:- 
 
Steve Parrock (Officer Torbay Council & Chief 
Executive TDA) 

Business Centres 

South West Limited 

10829733 

Private Limited 

Company – 100% 

owned by  Torbay 

Economic 

Development 

Company Ltd 

 

Not trading in 

2019/2020 

 

To manage innovation centres across the 

South West of England 

Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100% (via Torbay Economic 

Development Company Ltd) 

Officers of Torbay Council that were Directors of 

this Company are as follows:- 
 
Steve Parrock (Officer Torbay Council & Chief 
Executive TDA) 

TEDC 

Developments Ltd 

12015583 

Private Limited 

Company – 100% 

owned by Torbay 

Economic 

Development 

Company Ltd 

Incorporated 24 

May 2019 

 

Development of building projects Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100% (via Torbay Economic 

Development Company Ltd) 

Officers of Torbay Council that were Directors of is 

Company are as follows:- 
 

Steve Parrock (Officer Torbay Council & Chief 

Executive TDA) 

TorVista Homes 

Ltd 

12044007 

Private Limited 

Company – 100% 

owned by Torbay 

Economic 

Development 

Company Ltd 

Incorporated   

11 June 2019 

 

Buying and selling of own real estate and 

Renting and operating of Housing 

Association real estate. 

Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100% (via Torbay Economic 

Development Company Ltd) 

Officers of Torbay Council that were Directors of is 

Company are as follows:- 
 

Steve Parrock (Officer Torbay Council & Chief 

Executive TDA) 

Oldway Mansion 

Management 

Company Ltd 

Company limited by 

share 

Dominant during 

2019/2020 

To manage the Oldway Estate on behalf 

of Torbay Council and tenants 

 

Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100%  
 
Directors: 
K Mowat (Officer Torbay Council) 
N Coish (Officer Torbay Council) 

P
age 135



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 87 

08219420 M Irving (Officer Torbay Council) 

TOR2 Ltd 

07204696 

Company limited by 

share 

19th July 2010 Waste and recycling collections; 

maintenance of highways, grounds, parks, 

car parks, buildings and the Council’s 

vehicle fleet; street and beach cleansing; 

and out of hours call centre support in the 

Torbay area 

Council has 10 year contract with TOR2 

for a number of services. For 2019/20 

annual cyclical works were approx £10.7 

(£10.7m 18/19) and ordered works approx 

£1.0m (£1.8m 18/19) 

Associate Shareholding /Control: 19.99% 

Members of Torbay Council that were Directors of 

this Company are as follows:- 

Cllr Mike Morey 

  

CSW Group Ltd 

(formally Careers 

South West Ltd) 

3029947 

 

Local Authority 

Controlled 

Company Limited 

by Guarantee and 

not having a share 

capital 

1st April 2008 

formerly 

Connexions 

Cornwall & 

Devon Ltd 

To develop, co-ordinate, operate and 

ensure provision of support services for 

young people and provide careers advice, 

information and guidance to people of all 

ages. 

In 19/20 Council funded a £0.3m (£0.4m 

18/19) payment 

Associate Shareholding /Control: 25% 

A list of directors is available on the CSW group 

website. 

 

Torbay Housing 

Company Limited 

10960992 

Company limited by 

share 

Not trading in 

2019/20 

 

To support the implementation of the 
Council’s Housing Strategy 

 Shareholding /Control: 100%  
 
Directors: 
A-M Bond (Officer Torbay Council) 
M Phillips (Officer Torbay Council) 
Caroline Taylor (resigned 31/3/19) 

Torbay Housing 

Development 

Company 

11214978 

Company limited by 

share 100% owned 

by Torbay Housing 

Company Limited 

 

Not trading in 

2019/20 

 

To support the implementation of the 
Council’s Housing Strategy 

 Shareholding /Control: 100% (via Torbay Housing 
Company Limited) 
 
Directors: 
A-M Bond (Officer Torbay Council) 
M Phillips (Officer Torbay Council) 
Caroline Taylor (resigned 31/3/19) 

P
age 136



Torbay Council  
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 

 88 

 

          

Torbay Housing 

Rental Company 

11214868 

Company limited by 

share 100% owned 

by Torbay Housing 

Company Limited 

 

Not trading in 

2019/20 

 

To support the implementation of the 
Council’s Housing Strategy 

 Shareholding /Control: 100% (via Torbay Housing 
Company Limited) 
 
Directors: 
A-M Bond (Officer Torbay Council) 
M Phillips (Officer Torbay Council) 
Caroline Taylor (resigned 31/3/19) 

London Medway 

Commercial Park 

Management 

Company Ltd 

09487105 

Due to a purchase 

of a Unit at 

Medway, Torbay 

Council now has 

one Oridinary B 

Share 

March 2015 Management of London Medway 

Commercial Park 

 By virtue of the rights attached to A Oridinary 
shares, the company is controlled by Goodman 
Real Estate (UK) Limited 

Torbay Education 

Ltd 

12153652 

Company limited by 

share 

Incorporated 

13/08/2019 

Not trading in 

2019/20 

Primary, General secondary, Post-

secondary non-tertiary education and 

other education 

Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100%  
 
Directors: 
A-M Bond (Officer Torbay Council) 
M Phillips (Officer Torbay Council) 

SWISCo Limited 

12213029 

Company limited by 

share 

Incorporated 

18/09/2019 

Not trading in 

2019/20 

 

Waste and recycling collections; 

maintenance of highways, grounds, parks, 

car parks, buildings and the Council’s 

vehicle fleet; street and beach cleansing; 

and out of hours call centre support in the 

Torbay area 

 

Subsidiary Shareholding /Control: 100%  
 
Directors: 
K Mowat (Officer Torbay Council) 
A-M Bond (Officer Torbay Council) 
M Phillips (Officer Torbay Council) 

P
age 137



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 

89 
 

Summary financial information of Subsidiary Companies 

This table lists summary information about the Council’s interest in subsidiary companies and 

its relationship with them in terms of ownership and trading. Torbay share 100%.  

 

 Torbay Economic 

Development Co 

Ltd * 

Oldway Mansion 

Management Co Ltd 

 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 

 £m £m £m £m 

Income (7.8) (8.6) (0.1) 0 

Expenditure 7.6 9.1 0.1 0 

Operating (Profit) or loss (0.2) 0.5 0 0 

Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

0.2 (1.5) 0 0 

Actuarial (gains)/Losses recognised 
in the pension scheme 

(0.2) (5.5) 0 0 

Taxation (including deferred) 0.1 0 0 0 

Total (Profit) or loss (0.1) (6.5) 0 0 

Assets 9.2 19.9 0 0 

Liabilities (8.7) (12.9) 0 0 

Total Net Assets (0.5) 7.0 0 0 

Note *: Torbay Economic Development Company limited for 2019/2020 is the consolidated position 
including the company’s 100% owned subsidiary Complete Facilities Management Solutions Limited 

Summary financial information of Associate Companies 

This table lists summary information about the Council’s interest in associate companies and its 

relationship with them in terms of ownership and trading.  

 

 TOR2 Ltd * CSW Group Ltd 

(formally Careers South 

West Ltd) 

   

 Total Torbay 

Council’

s Share 

(19.99%) 

Total Torbay 

Council’s 

Share 

(25%) 

 £m £m £m £m 

2018/19      

Income (14.5) (2.9) (9.2) (2.3) 

Expenditure 15.4 3.1 8.7 2.2 

Operating (Profit) or Loss 0.9 0.2 (0.5) (0.1) 

Other comprehensive income and 

expenditure 

0.1 0.0 - - 

Actuarial (Gains)/Losses 

recognised in the pension scheme 

0 0 - - 

Page 138



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 90 

 TOR2 Ltd * CSW Group Ltd 

(formally Careers South 

West Ltd) 

   

Taxation (0.1) 0 - - 

Total (Profit) or loss 0.9 0.2 (0.5) (0.1) 

Fixed Assets & Net Current Assets (0.5) (0.1)       2.4 0.6 

Long Term Liabilities 0 0 (16.8) (4.2) 

Total Capital & Reserves (1.4) (0.3) (14.4) (3.6) 

2019/20     

Income (13.7) (2.7) (7.9) (2.0) 

Expenditure 14.5 2.9 7.7 1.9 

Operating (Profit) or Loss 0.8 0.2 (0.2) (0.1) 

Other comprehensive income and 

expenditure 

0 0 0 0 

Actuarial (Gains)/Losses 

recognised in the pension scheme 

0 0 0 0 

Taxation (0.1) 0 0 0 

Total (Profit) or loss 0.7 0.2 (0.2) (0.1) 

Fixed Assets & Net Current Assets 0.7 0.1 2.5 0.6 

Long Term Liabilities (2.8) (0.5) (21.4) (5.3) 

Total Capital & Reserves (2.1) (0.4) (18.9) (4.7) 

Note* -  TOR2 accounts 18/19 to June 2019 and 19/20 estimated as at March 2020.                                                                                                                                                     

 

Other interests in Companies 
 
The following companies are also linked to the Council. However they are not considered 
material in financial terms. 
 
South West Grid for Learning Trust is limited by guarantee and was incorporated on 9th 
October 2005 with the 15 South West Regional Authorities as members. The company 
objectives are the advancement of education as a solely charitable purpose by any means 
relating to the effective use of information and communication technologies for the benefit of 
the public. There are no transactions/liabilities associated with Torbay Council's membership 
other than the nominal initial one-off fee.  For financial reporting this relationship has been 
treated as an investment.  
 
English Riviera BID Company Limited was formed to manage the Tourism Business 
Improvement District (BID) and the Council collects the BID levy on an agency basis. Value of 
levy collected in 2019/20 was £0.3m, (£0.6m 18/19).  
    
Riviera International Conference Centre. The Council has a maximum voting right of 19.99% on 
the board of the Riviera International Conference Centre Ltd, in addition the Council provides a 
peppercorn lease for the centre and an annual revenue grant – 2019/2020 £0.350m (2018/19 
£0.350m). No capital funds were provided in 2019/20 (nil 2018/19). In July 2020 due to the 
proposed changes to the operator of the Centre the board of the company resigned and were 
replaced by a board comprising Torbay Council officers and members giving the Council 100% 
control of the company.  
 
Heart of the South West Local Enterprise partnership (LEP). This is a Community Interest 
Company limited by guarantee with four councils (Torbay, Devon, Somerset and Plymouth), in 
the LEP area acting as members of the company.  
 
 

Page 139



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 91 

Trust Funds 
 
The Council acts as a Trustee for a number of funds. These balances do not form part of the 
Council’s accounts. The value of these funds as at 31st March 2020 was £26,000 (£24,000 
2018/19). Of this balance £21,000 is held within the Council’s bank account with the balance of 
£5,000 (£5,000 18/19) relating to the (civic) Mayor of Torbay’s charity fund held in a separate 
bank account. 
 
Central Government 
 
Central government (Her Majesty’s Government for the United Kingdom of Britain and Northern 
Ireland) has effective control over the general operations of the Council – it is responsible for 
providing the statutory framework within which the Council operates, provides the majority of its 
funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the 
Council has with other parties (e.g. council tax bills, housing benefits).  Significant grants 
received from government departments are set out in the Grants note.   
 
Members 
 
Members of the council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating policies.  
The total of members’ allowances paid in 2019/20 is shown in the Members Allowances’ Note. 
Members have not disclosed any material transactions with the Council. The Members’ Record 
of Interests and Register of Gifts & Hospitality for each Member are available on the Council’s 
website. 
 
Officers 
 
Officers complete a register of interests and the Council maintains a Register of Gifts & 
Hospitality for officers 
 
Other Public Bodies  
 
Trading Standards South West – TSSW, formerly known as SWERCOTS, is a community 
interest company, who works with 15 councils to maximise the benefits of regional collaboration 
to protect the interest of consumers and reputable businesses in the South West of England.   
 
Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust (ICO). In October 2015 the ICO "acquired" the 
Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care NHS Trust with all its assets and liabilities 
transferring to the ICO including the partnership agreement for the provision of adult social care 
services. In 2019/20 the payment to the Trust in the year for funding adult social care was 
£42.5m (£43.2m 2018/19).  
 
The Council has pooled budget arrangements for the provision of a joint equipment store with 
the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and the Better Care Fund – see Pooled Budget Note. 

 
Joint Committees 
 
The Council is part of a number of joint committees or partnerships where local authorities have 
joined together to provide a service. These are listed below: 
 
Devon Audit Partnership 
 
From April 2009 Torbay set up a Joint Committee with Devon County Council and Plymouth 
City Council for the provision of a shared internal audit service. Since then a number of other 
Distrcit Councils in devon have joined. The service is also able to provide audit services to 
other organisations. 
 

Page 140



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 92 

Devon County is the ”host” Council for the Joint Committee with all staff now employed by 
Devon County Council.  Assets and Liabilities of the Joint Committee are split on an agreed 
basis. Torbay’s contribution to the partnership for 2019/20 was £0.2m (2018/19 £0.2m). 
 
PATROL – Parking and Traffic Regulations outside London. 
  
It is a statutory requirement for Councils undertaking civil parking enforcement to join this Joint 
Committee in order to access independent adjudication. The agreed primary objectives of the 
Joint Committee are the provision of:   
 
a) a fair adjudication service for Appellants  
b) consistency in access to adjudication;   
c) a cost effective and equitable adjudication service for all Parking Authorities  
d) to deal with a wide range of authorities with varying levels of demand for adjudication. 
  
South West Devon Waste Disposal Partnership 
 
Torbay Council, with Plymouth City Council and Devon County Council are working together 
and have jointly contracted a PFI project for an Energy from Waste Plant (based in Plymouth) 
to dispose of residual waste collected by the three Councils. As part of the Joint Working 
Agreement between the three Councils the South West Devon Waste Partnership Joint 
Committee has been established to facilitate the procurement and subsequent operation and 
management of the facilities (by the selected contractor).  The Plant became operational in 
April 2015. 
 
The expenditure associated with this project is being incurred by Plymouth City Council (as 
lead authority) and then allocated on an estimated tonnage share basis to Torbay and Devon 
County Councils. Expenditure in year was £1.4m (£1.4m 18/19) of which Torbay’s share was 
£0.2m (£0.2m 18/19). The expenditure in year was £0.1m of contract management costs and 
£1.3m of "pass through costs" relating to the Facility that the three Councils are liable for in 
addition to the unitary charge, such as NNDR and lease costs. Torbay’s share of the 
expenditure is reflected within the cost of services on the comprehensive income and 
expenditure statement.  

 

The Heart of the South West Joint Committee  

Torbay Council along with Devon County Council, Somerset County Council, Plymouth City 

Council, the district councils within Devon and Somerset, Dartmoor National Park Authority and 

Exmoor National Park Authority have come together to form the Heart of the South West Joint 

Committee.  Its purpose is to be the vehicle through which the Heart of the South West partners 

will ensure that the desired increase in productivity across the area is achieved. Each 

constituent authority appoints one member on an annual basis and each member has one 

vote.  An arrangements document and an inter-authority agreement have been adopted by 

each constituent authority which set out how the Joint Committee will operate and be managed.  

Adopt South West (a Regional Adoption Agency)  

The “Agency” commenced 1st October 2018.  It is a Local Authority partnership between 

Devon County Council (the Host Authority), Somerset County Council, Plymouth City Council 

and Torbay Council, tasked with performing adoption service functions for the region. By joining 

together the skills, resources and best working practice of each organisation Adopt South West 

aims to improve outcomes for children and families, deliver a value for money service and 

deliver it consistently. 

 

 

Page 141



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 93 

34. Impairment Losses   

Impairment losses and impairment reversals are charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the 

Provision of Services and to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  The impairment 

by asset class is shown within the note reconciling the movement over the year in Property, 

Plant and Equipment and Heritage Assets. During 2019/20, primarily as a result of the 

Council’s rolling programme the Council has recognised net impairment losses of £9.9 (£4.5m 

18/19) in total on its property, plant and equipment charged to the Income and Expenditure 

account. Impairment losses in 2019/20 related primarily to the revaluation of an innovation 

centre. In addition the Council’s investment properties are revalued each year. In 2019/20 this 

resulted in a net reduction in fair value of £6.8m (£3m 18/19). 

 

 

35. Contingent Liabilities 

 The board of Municipal Mutual Insurance limited in 2012/13 concluded that it couldn’t forecast a 

solvent “run off” of claims which has led to the scheme of arrangement being activated which 

exposes the Council to a share of the costs of any outstanding insurance claims. The 

company’s administrator has previously set levies for all Councils to be 25% of each Council’s 

claims, which was collected in prior years. This may increase again in the future but at present 

the administrator has not indicated that the levy will increase. 

  

 

36.  Termination Benefits and Exit Packages   

The authority terminated the contracts of a number of employees in 2019/20, incurring liabilities 

of £0.14m. The table below shows the number of exit packages and the total cost per band. This 

amount is payable to 4 officers from the Council and 15 from Schools. The costs disclosed are 

redundancy and strain payments and relate to staff employed by the Council including Council 

schools. 

Note: These are exit packages that were accounted for in the Council’s comprehensive income 

and expenditure account in the relevant year i.e. on a “demonstrably committed” basis not a cash 

basis. 

 

Number of Exit packages by band  

2018/19 

Value of Exit package £ Number of Exit packages by band  

2019/20 

Compulsory 

Redundancy 

Other 

Departures 

 Compulsory 

Redundancy 

Other Departures 

No. In 

Band 

Total 

Cost 

No. In 

Band 

Total 

Cost 

 No. In 

Band 

Total 

Cost 

No. In 

Band 

Total 

Cost 

 £000’s  £000’s     £000’s  £000’s 

12 56 3 30 0 to 

 

20,000 

 

17 90 0 0 

2 56 1 30 20,001 to 40,000 0 0 2 50 

14 112 4 60 

 

Total 

 

17 90 2 50 

 

 

Page 142



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 94 

 

37. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, 

together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital expenditure is to 

be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Council over their 

asset life, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). 

This is a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Council that has yet to 

be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the table below. 

 

 

 

38. Leases 

Council as Lessee 

 

Operating Leases - Equipment 

 

The Council, as lessee, does not have any material operating leases. 

 

Operating Leases - Property 

 

The Council has leases for a number of properties. Rent payments in 2019/20 totalled £0.1m 

(£0.1m 2018/19). The future minimum lease payments due under property leases in future 

years is £0.3m (£0.4m 2018/19). 

 

2018/19 

£m 

restated 

Capital Financing Requirement 2019/20 

£m 

279.3 Opening Capital Financing Requirement 320.7 

 Capital investment  

26.2 Property, Plant and Equipment 33.0  

0 Intangible Assets 0.3 

35.2 Investment Property  66.8 

3.5 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under 

Statute 
3.3 

1.2 Loans for a Capital Purpose 11.3 

 Sources of finance  

(3.0) Capital receipts including capital loan repayments (1.9) 

(14.2) Government grants and other contributions (13.1) 

 Sums set aside from revenue:  

(2.7)  Direct revenue contributions (1.7)  

(4.8)  MRP (5.3) 

320.7  Closing Capital Financing Requirement 413.4 

 Explanation of movements in year  

46.5 
Increase in underlying need to borrowing 

(unsupported by government financial assistance) 
98.9 

(4.8) Provision for repayment of borrowing (MRP) (5.3) 

(0.3) Loans for a Capital Purpose - repayments (0.9) 

41.4 
Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing 

Requirement 
92.7 

Page 143



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 95 

Finance Leases: 

 

The Council, as lessee, does not have any material finance leases. 

 

Council as Lessor 

 

Operating Leases – Property: 

 

The Council leases out property under operating leases for the provision of services, such as 

cafes and golf clubs, for regeneration purposes and as Investment properties. Payments 

received in 2019/20, including turnover rents, totalled £14.6m (£12.4m 2018/19). 

 

The future minimum property lease payments receivable in future years are: 

 

31 March 

2019  

£m 

Total payments due classified by year of 

expiry of lease term 

31 March 

2020 

£m 

12.4 Not later than one year 16.7  

35.0 
Later than one year and not later than five 

years 
45.8  

141.1 Later than five years 140.9  

188.5 Total 203.4 

 

 

Finance Leases: 

 

The Council, as lessor, does not have any material finance leases.  

 

 

39. Pension Schemes Accounted for as Defined Contribution Schemes 

Teachers’ Pension Scheme 

 

The Council takes part in the Teachers’ Pension Scheme. Teaching staff employed by the 

Council are rewarded for years of service with rights to retirement lump sums and pensions 

based on final salaries. The Council makes an annual contribution to the Scheme calculated as 

a percentage of pensionable pay. The contribution rate is specified by the Department for 

Education each year so that budgeted income is sufficient to cover the outgoings of the 

Scheme. This Scheme operates through a notional fund administered on a national basis. The 

Scheme does not record liabilities for each participating employer and raises contributions from 

all employers based on a common percentage of the pensionable pay of current employees, 

irrespective of any obligations created in previous years. Apart from this shared responsibility 

for shortfalls on the notional fund, the Council has no direct responsibility for the obligations of 

any other party to the Scheme.  

 

The Scheme is a defined benefit plan but is accounted for as it were a defined contribution 

plan. This is because the administrators of the Scheme do not keep separate records of the 

defined benefit obligations for individual authorities and no assets are attributable to the 

Scheme. 

 

The employers’ contribution rate was 16.48% up to August 2019 and then increased from 

September 2019 to 23.68% (16.48% 18/19). Contributions of £2.3m were paid in 2019/20 being 

Page 144



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 96 

an increase on 2018/19 (£1.7m 18/19). The payments for 2020/21 will increase as the 23.6% is 

applied over the full year. 

 

The 2018/19 accounts for the Scheme record liabilities of £360 billion (£362 bn 17/18). [Source: 

Teachers’ Pension Scheme Annual Accounts 2018/19). However, the employers’ contribution 

rate is not set with reference to outstanding liabilities but the payments projected to be made 

out of the notional fund each year.  The Council is one of 174 (174 17/18) local authorities 

participating in the Scheme, amongst a total of 11,128 employers (10,177 17/18).  

 

NHS Pension Scheme 

 

Public Health staff that transferred to the Council’s employment in April 2013 were entitled to 

remain in a NHS pension scheme along with new staff recruited to public health if they meet 

certain criteria.  
 
The Council takes part in the NHS Pension Scheme. Public Health staff employed by the 
Council are rewarded for years of service with rights to retirement lump sums and pensions 
based on final salaries. The Council makes an annual contribution to the Scheme calculated as 
a percentage of pensionable pay. The contribution rate is specified the Department for Health 
each year so that budgeted income is sufficient to cover the outgoings of the Scheme. This 
Scheme operates through a notional fund administered on a national basis. The Scheme does 
not record liabilities for each participating employer and raises contributions from all employers 
based on a common percentage of the pensionable pay of current employees, irrespective of 
any obligations created in previous years. Apart from this shared responsibility for shortfalls on 
the notional fund, the Council has no direct responsibility for the obligations of any other party 
to the Scheme.  

 
The Scheme is a defined benefit plan but is accounted for as it were a defined contribution 
plan. This is because the administrators of the Scheme do not keep separate records of the 
defined benefit obligations for individual authorities and no assets are attributable to the 
Scheme. 
 
The employers’ contribution rate was 14.38% in 2019/20 (14.38% 2018/19). Contributions of 
£0.012m were paid in 2019/20 (£0.04m 18/19). The contribution rate for participants in the 
Scheme has been set at 14.38% of pensionable pay for 2020/21. The payments for 2020/21 
are estimated to be at a similar level to 2019/20. 

  
The 2018/19 accounts for the Scheme record liabilities of £533 billion (£526 billion 17/18). 
[Source: NHS Pension Scheme Annual Accounts 2018/19). However, the employers’ 
contribution rate is not set with reference to outstanding liabilities but the payments projected to 
be made out of the notional fund each year.  The Council is one of 154 (155 17/18) local 
authorities participating in the Scheme, amongst a total of 8,486 employers (8,674 17/18).  
 

 

40. Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
 

40.1   Characteristics of Defined Benefit Plans and Associated Risks  

 
Employees of the Council are eligible to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
 
The LGPS is a defined benefit statutory scheme administered in accordance with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, is contracted out of the State Second Pension 
and currently provides benefits based on career average revalued salary and length of service 
on retirement, with various protections in place for those members in the scheme before the 
changes took effect.  

Page 145



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 97 

 
The Administering Authority for the Fund is Devon County Council. The Pension Fund 
Committee oversees the management of the Fund whilst the day to day fund administration is 
undertaken by a team within the Administering Authority. Where appropriate some functions 
are delegated to the Fund’s professional advisers. Details on the scheme are on the website for 
Peninsula Pensions.  
 
As administering Authority to the Fund, Devon County Council, after consultation with the Fund 
Actuary and other relevant parties, is responsible for the preparation and maintenance of the 
Funding Strategy Statement and the Investment Strategy Statement.  
 
The appointed actuary to the pension fund is Barnett Waddingham “the actuary”, who provides 
the pension calculations used in these accounts. 
   
The Local Government Pension Scheme is required to have an actuarial valuation every three 
years. This valuation will set a rate for employers contributions for the next three years so as to 
secure the pension fund’s solvency, together with any other amounts necessary to recover the 
deficit built up on the fund.  
 
Contributions are set every 3 years as a result of the actuarial valuation of the Fund required by 
the Regulations. The next actuarial valuation of the Fund will be carried out as at 31 March 
2022 and will set contributions for the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026. There are no 
minimum funding requirements in the LGPS but the contributions are generally set to target a 
funding level of 100% using the actuarial valuation assumptions.  
 

The latest actuarial valuation was prepared as at 31 March 2019. The objectives of the scheme 

are to keep employer’s contributions at as a constant  rate as possible. The agreed contribution 

rates should result in a 100% funding level over the medium term. This set a contribution rate 

for the Council of 16.7% of pensionable pay for 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23, budgeted to 

result in a payment of around £5m per annum to the Fund. Additional fixed cash payment of 

£0.5m per annum (equal to 2%) is also payable as a contribution towards the deficit on the 

Fund. 

 
On the Employer’s withdrawal from the plan, a cessation valuation will be carried out in 
accordance with Regulation 64 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 which will determine the 
termination contribution due by the Employer, on a set of assumptions deemed appropriate by 
the Fund Actuary.  
 
In general, participating in a defined benefit pension scheme means that the Employer is 
exposed to a number of risks:  

 

 Investment risk. The Fund holds investment in asset classes, such as equities, which 

have volatile market values and while these assets are expected to provide real returns 

over the long-term, the short-term volatility can cause additional funding to be required 

if a deficit emerges.  

 Interest rate risk. The Fund’s liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality 

corporate bonds to discount future the liability cashflows. As the Fund holds assets 

such as equities the value of the assets and liabilities may not move in the same way.  

 Inflation risk. All of the benefits under the Fund are linked to inflation and so deficits 

may emerge to the extent that the assets are not linked to inflation.  

 Longevity risk. In the event that the members live longer than assumed a deficit will 

emerge in the Fund. There are also other demographic risks.  
 

In addition, as many unrelated employers participate in the Devon County Council Pension 

Fund, there is an orphan liability risk where employers leave the Fund but with insufficient 

assets to cover their pension obligations so that the difference may fall on the remaining 

employers.  

 

Page 146



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 98 

All of the risks above may also benefit the Employer e.g. higher than expected investment 

returns or employers leaving the Fund with excess assets which eventually get inherited by the 

remaining employers. 
 

The maturity profile of Torbay members is an average age of 46 (46 18/19) years for active 

members and 47 (46 18/19) years for deferred pensioners, 71 (70 18/19) years for pensioners 

and 78 (76 18/19) years for unfunded pensioners. 

 

In 2019/20 there was a net settlement gain of £0.4m (£1.3m gain 18/19) within the fund as a 

result of staff transferring to the Youth Service from Torbay Council. 

 

To assess the value of the Employer's liabilities at 31 March 2020, the actuary has used a 

number of information sources including: 

 

- The results of the valuation as at 31 March 2019 which was carried out for funding 

purposes and the results of the 31st March 2019 IAS19 report which was prepared for 

accounting purposes. 

- Estimated whole fund income and expenditure items for the period to 31 March 2020 

- Estimated fund returns based on Fund asset statements (or estimates of) as at 31st March 

for 2019 and 2020. 

- Estimated fund income and expenditure in respect of the employer for the period to 31 

March 2020. 

- Details of any settlements for the period to 31 March 2020. 

 

The service cost for the year ending 31 March 2020 is calculated using an estimate of the total 

pensionable payroll in year of £28m. 

 
40.2   Financial statements  

The following tables show the impact of the Assets and liabilities in relation to post employment 

benefits on the Council’s accounts in 2019/20. The following tables are shown: 

 Net Pension Liability – this table shows the net pension liability in the balance sheet  

 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this table shows the IAS19 

entries as they appear in the Council’s Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 

Statement and the actual cash payments to the pension fund in year. 

 Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme (plan) assets - this table shows an analysis 

of the movements in the pension asset during the year 

 Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme (plan) liabilities - this table shows an 

analysis of the movements in the pension liability during the year 

Net Pension Liability 

 
31/3/18 

£m 

31/3/19 

£m 

31/3/20 

£m 

Present value of Funded Obligation (456.8) (459.4) (420.9) 

Fair Value of Fund Assets (Bid Value) 280.3 289.6 261.0 

Net Liability (176.5) (169.8) (159.9) 

Present value of Unfunded Obligation (9.4) (8.8) (8.2) 

Net Liability in Balance Sheet (185.9) (178.6) (168.1) 

 
 
 

Page 147



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 99 

 
 
 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

 

The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the 

year: 

 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

 Post Employment Benefits  

2018/19 Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement 2019/20 

£m  £m 

 Cost of Services:  

10.1 Current service cost 10.6  

0.1 Past service costs including curtailments 2.2 

(1.3) Settlements  (0.4) 

0.2 Administration Expenses 0.2 

 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure  

4.6 Net Interest on the defined benefit liability 4.2 

13.7 
Total Charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 16.8 

 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

 

0 Other Actuarial (gains)/losses on assets (1.3)  

21.4 Change in Financial Assumptions (41.2) 

(26.3) Change in Demographic Assumptions (5.7) 

0 Experience (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation (2.3) 

(9.3) Return on plan assets in excess of interest 30.3 

(14.2) 
Sub Total Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure 
(20.2) 

(0.5) 
Total Post Employment Benefit Charged/(Credited) 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

(3.4) 

 Movement in Reserves Statement  

(13.7) 

Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit  

for the Provision of Services for post employment 

benefits  in accordance with the Code 

(16.8) 

 
Actual amount charged against the General Fund 

Balance for pensions in the year: 
 

6.2 Employers’ contributions payable to scheme 7.0 

0.6 Unfunded pension payments 0.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 100 

 

 

 

Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme (plan) assets: 

 

 
  

Local Government Pension Scheme 
 

2018/19  2019/20 

£m  £m 

280.3 Opening balance at 1 April 289.6 

7.0 Interest on Assets 6.9 

9.3 Return on Assets less Interest (30.3) 

0 Other Actuarial gains/(losses) 1.3 

(0.2) Administration Expenses (0.2) 

1.7 Contributions by scheme participants 1.8 

6.8 Employer contributions 7.0 

(13.5) Benefits paid (14.7) 

(1.8) Settlement process received/(paid) (0.5) 

289.6 Closing balance at 31 March 260.9 

 

Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities (defined benefit obligation): 

 

 Liabilities: Local Government Pension Scheme  

2018/19  2019/20 

£m  £m 

(466.2) Opening balance at 1 April (468.2) 

(10.1) Current service cost (10.6) 

(1.7) Contributions by scheme participants (1.8) 

(11.7) Interest cost (11.1) 

(21.4) Change in Financial Assumptions 41.2 

26.3 Change in Demographic Assumptions 5.7 

0 Experience (loss)/gain on defined benefit obligation 2.3 

13.0 Benefits paid 14.1 

(0.1) Past service costs, including Curtailments (2.2) 

3.1 Liabilities (assumed)/extinguished on Settlements 0.9 

0.6 Unfunded Pension payments 0.6 

(468.2) Closing balance at 31 March (429.1) 

(8.8) 
Present Value of Unfunded Obligation included in 
above 

(8.2) 

 
 

40.3   Fund Assets 
 
The return on the fund (on a bid value to bid value basis) for the year to 31 March 2020 is 
estimated to be a decrease of 8% (6% increase in 18/19).  The actual return on Fund assets 
over the year may be different. 
 
The estimated asset allocation for Torbay Council as at 31 March 2020 (7% of total fund) is as 
follows: 
 
 

Page 149



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 101 

31st  March 2019 
 

31st March 2020 

£m %  £m % 

9.3 3 Gilts 11.1 4 

47.6 16 UK Equities 34.7 14 

123.6 43 Overseas Equities 112.2 43 

26.0 9 Property 24.6 10 

10.9 4 Infrastructure 11.2 4 

41.4 14 Target Return portfolio 34.3 13 

4.9 2 Cash 3.0 1 

5.6 2 Other Bonds 13.7 5 

15.5 5 Alternative Assets 16.1 6 

4.8 2 Private Equity 0 n/a 

289.6 100  260.9 100 

 

Of the total asset values as at 31 March 2020, 82.4% are assets that have a quoted market 

price. Further information on the investment activity is available on the Peninsula Pensions 

website. 
 
40.4 Actuarial Assumptions 
 

Valuation Approach 
 

To assess the value of the employer’s liabilities as at 31 March 2020, the actuary rolled forward 

the value of the employer’s liabilities calculated for the funding valuation as at 31st March 2019, 

using financial assumptions that comply with IAS19. The full actuarial valuation involved 

projecting future cash flows to be paid from the fund and placing a value on them.  

 

The actuary is satisfied that the approach to rolling forward the previous valuation data to 31st 

March 2020 should not introduce any material distortion in the results provided that the actual 

experience of the employer and the fund has been broadly in line with the underlying 

assumptions and the structure of the liabilities is substantially the same as the latest formal 

valuation. 

 

To calculate the asset the actuary has rolled forward the assets allocated to the employer as at 

31 March 2019 allowing for investment returns, contributions paid into, and estimated benefits 

paid from, the fund by and in respect of the employer and its employees. 

 

As a result of the High Court’s ruling on the equalisation of “Guaranteed Minimum Pension” 

between genders, a number of pension schemes have made adjustments to accounting 

disclosures to reflect the effect this ruling has on the impact of pension liabilities. However it is 

the actuary’s understanding that the judgement does not impact on the current method used or 

require any adjustments to the value of liabilities. 

 

An allowance has been made for the recent Court of Appeal judgement in relation to the 

McCloud & Sargeant cases which relate to age discrimination within the Judicial & Fire Pension 

schemes respectively. On 27 June 2019 the Supreme Court denied the Government’s request 

for an appeal and on 15 July 2019 the Government released a statement to confirm that it 

expects to have to amend all public service schemes, including the LGPS. 

 

The estimated impact on the total liabilities at 31 March 2020 is estimated to be £2m (0.5% of 

total liabilities) this has been allowed for as a past service cost. The projected service cost has 

also increased as a result of this additional allowance. The estimated impact as a percentage of 

the projected service cost is to be 3.1%. 
 

Demographic and Statistical Assumptions 

 

Page 150



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 102 

The post retirement mortality tables adopted are the S3PA tables with a multiplier 95% for 

males and 110% for females. These base tables are then projected using the Continuous 

Mortality Investigation (CMI) 2018 Model, allowing for a long term rate of improvement of 1.25% 

per annum.  
 

The assumed life expectations from age 65 are: 

 

Mortality assumptions: 
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Longevity from age 65: retiring today 
    

 Men  23.4 yrs 23.5 yrs 22.4 yrs 22.9 yrs 

 Women 25.5 yrs 25.6 yrs 24.4 yrs 24.1 yrs 

Longevity from age 65: retiring in 20 years     

 Men 25.6 yrs 25.7 yrs 24.1 yrs 24.3 yrs 

 Women 27.8 yrs 27.9 yrs 26.2 yrs 25.5 yrs 

 
The actuary has made the following assumptions:  
 

 Members will exchange half of their commutable pension for cash at retirement;  

 Members will retire at one retirement age for all tranches of benefit, which will be the 

pension weighted average tranche retirement age; 

 It is assumed members opted into the 50:50 section at the previous valuation will 

continue.  

 
Financial Assumptions 
 

 31st 
March 
2017 

31st 
March 
2018 

31st 
March 
2019 

31st 
March 
2020 

 % p.a % p.a % p.a % p.a 

RPI Increases 3.6 3.3 3.4 2.7 

CPI Increases 2.7 2.3 2.4 1.9 

Salary Increases 4.2 3.8 3.9 2.9 

Pension Increases 2.7 2.3 2.4 1.9 

Discount Rate 2.7 2.55 2.4 2.35 

 

These assumptions are set with reference to market conditions at 31 March 2020.  

 

The actuary’s estimate of the duration of the Employer’s liabilities is 20 years.  

 

The discount rate is the annualised yield at the on the Merrill Lynch AA rated corporate bond 

yield curve (where the spot curve is assumed to be flat beyond the 30 year point). This is 

consistent with the approach used at the last accounting date.  

 

The RPI increase assumption is set based on the annualised Merril Lynch AA rated corporate 

bond yield curve and the Bank of England implied inflation curve. As future pension increases 

are expected to be based on CPI rather than RPI, the actuary has made a further assumption 

about CPI which is that it will be 0.8% below RPI i.e. 1.9%. The actuary believes that this is a 

reasonable estimate for the future differences in the indices, based on the different calculation 

methods and recent independent forecasts.  

 

Salary increases are then assumed to increase at 1.0% per annum above CPI This differs from 

the salary increase assumption previously and has been updated in line with the most recent 

funding valuation. 

Page 151



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 103 

 
Sensitivity Analysis on Actuarial assumptions: 
 
The actuary has provided a sensitivity analysis of a 0.1% change in the key actuarial 
assumptions showing the impact on the net liability and the Service Cost. 

 

 

41.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 require the Council to prepare a 

Statement of Accounts for each financial year in accordance with proper accounting practices.  

The Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 (SI 2020 No 4040) have 

amended the 2015 Regulations for the 2019/20 financial year, deferring publication dates and 

making other consequential changes.   

 

For 2019/20, these proper accounting practices principally comprise: 

 

 the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

2019/20 (the Code)  

 the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)(England) Regulations 

2003 (SI 2003 No 3146, as amended) (the 2003 Regs)  

 

These accounts are prepared on a going concern basis, i.e the accounts are prepared on the 

assumption that the Council (as a legal entity created by statute) will continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future. This means in particular that the income and expenditure 

accounts and balance sheet assume no intention to curtail significantly the scale of operation. 

41.1    Accounting Policies 

Accounting policies are the principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an 

entity that specify how the effects of transactions and other events are reflected in the financial 

statements. These include estimation techniques that have been used in applying the policies.  

The accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Council’s 

accounts are listed below. Within these polices the abbreviation “CIES” has been used for 

“Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement”. 

 £m 
 

£m £m 

Adjustment to Discount Rate +0.1% 0% (0.1%) 

Present Value of obligation 420.9 429.1 437.4 

Projected Service Cost 9.6 9.8 10.1 

    

Adjustment to Long Term Salary 
increase 

+0.1% 0% (0.1%) 

Present Value of obligation 429.7 429.1 428.5 

Projected Service Cost 9.8 9.8 9.8 

    

Adjustment to Pension increases and 
deferred revaluation 

+0.1% 0% (0.1%) 

Present Value of obligation 436.9 429.1 421.4 

Projected Service Cost 10.1 9.8 9.6 

    

Adjustment to Life Expectancy Rating 
Assumption 

+1 year None (1 year) 

Present Value of obligation 446.2 429.1 412.6 

Projected Service Cost 10.1 9.8 9.6 

Page 152



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 104 

The Statement of Accounts has been adjusted to reflect events after 31 March 2020 and before 

the date the Statement was authorised for issue by the of 11 August 2020 only where the events 

provide evidence of conditions that existed at 31 March. 
 

 
 
41.2   Accruals of Income and Expenditure 

 

The Statement of Accounts has been prepared using the accruals basis. Activity is accounted for 

in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. Where the 

exact amount of the sum is unknown an estimate will be made based on historical knowledge of 

the type of transaction and the value of similar payments. An exception is where there are regular 

bills, such as utilities and staff travel payments where, if not material, no accruals have been 

made as over a period of time the number of payments per year will even out. In addition where 

the exact value of a transaction or a number of transactions is not yet known estimates of the 

amounts due/owed have been made. 

 In particular: 

 The Council recognises revenue from contracts with service recipients when it satisfies a 

performance obligation by transferring promised goods or services to a recipient, measured as 

the amount of the overall transaction price allocated to that obligation. 

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council transfers the significant risks 

and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or service 

potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council. 

 

 Revenue relating to council tax, NNDR etc shall be measured at the full amount receivable (net 

of any impairment losses) as they are non-contractual, non-exchange transactions and there can 

be no difference between the delivery and payment dates. 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Where appropriate there is a 

gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption they are carried as inventories 

on the Balance Sheet. 

 

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 

recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made. 

 

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings, where material is accounted for 

respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant 

financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

 
41.3    Measurement of Assets & Liabilities 

 
The historical cost convention has been applied, modified by the current valuation of the following 
material categories of non-current assets and financial instruments: 
 
 

Class of Assets Measurement Basis 

Property, Plant and 

Equipment: Other Land 

and Buildings 

Current Value, comprising existing use value  

 

Where prices for comparable properties are available in an active 
market, properties are valued at market value taking into account 
the existing use. Where no market exists or the property is 
specialised, current value is measured at depreciated replacement 
cost.  

Page 153



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 105 

Property, Plant and 

Equipment: Other Land 

and Buildings – Surplus 

Assets 

Fair value * 

Heritage Assets Heritage assets (other than operational heritage assets) are 

measured at valuation in accordance with FRS 30 i.e valuations 

may be made by any method that is appropriate and relevant such 

as insurance valuations. 

Investment Properties Fair value * 

Financial Instruments – 

Fair Value through 

Profit or Loss 

Fair value * 

 

Pensions Assets Fair values based on the following: 

 quoted securities – current bid price 

 unquoted securities – professional estimate 

 unitised securities – current bid price 

 property – market value. 

 
 

Fair value *. The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
For valuations at Fair Value the Council uses the IFRS13 “three levels” to assess the fair value. 
 

  

 
Level 1 

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets/liabilities that the authority can 

access at the measurement date 
 

 
Level 2 

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly (eg, quoted prices for similar assets, interest rates and yield 

curves) 
 

 
Level 3 

Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability (eg, projected cash flows) 
 

 
 

41.4 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis 
 

The resources available to the Council in any financial year and the expenses that are charged 

against those resources are specified by statute (the Local Government Act 2003 and the 2003 

Regulations).  Where the statutory provisions differ from the accruals basis used in the CIES, 

adjustments to the accounting treatment are made in the Movement in Reserves Statement so 

that usable reserves reflect the funding available at the year-end.  Unusable reserves are created 

to manage the timing differences between the accounting and funding bases.  The material 

adjustments are: 

Page 154



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 106 

Expense Accounting Basis in CIES Funding Basis in 

MiRS 

Adjustment 

Account 

Property, 

Plant and 

Equipment 

Depreciation and 

revaluation/impairment losses 

Revenue provision 

to cover historical 

cost determined in 

accordance with 

the 2003 Regs 

Capital 

Adjustment 

Account 

Intangible 

Assets 

Amortisation and impairment Revenue provision 

to cover historical 

cost determined in 

accordance with 

the 2003 Regs 

Capital 

Adjustment 

Account 

Heritage 

Assets 

Impairment Revenue provision 

to cover historical 

cost determined in 

accordance with 

the 2003 Regs 

Capital 

Adjustment 

Account 

Investment 

Properties 

Movements in fair value Revenue provision 

to cover historical 

cost determined in 

accordance with 

the 2003 Regs 

Capital 

Adjustment 

Account 

 

Revenue 

Expenditure 

Funded from 

Capital under 

Statute 

Expenditure incurred in year Revenue provision 

to cover historical 

cost determined in 

accordance with 

the 2003 Regs 

Capital 

Adjustment 

Account 

Deferred 

Income on 

PFI contract 

Third party Income in Energy 

From Waste Plant 

Non cash 

transaction 

Capital 

Adjustment 

Account 

Capital Grants 

and 

Contributions 

Grants that became 

unconditional in year or were 

received in year without 

conditions 

No credit Capital Grants 

Unapplied 

Reserve 

(amounts 

unapplied at 

31 March) 

Capital 

Adjustment 

Account 

(other 

amounts) 

Page 155



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 107 

Non-Current 

Asset 

Disposals 

Gain or loss based on sale 

proceeds less carrying amount 

of asset (net of costs of 

disposal) 

No charge or credit Capital 

Adjustment 

Account 

(carrying 

amount) 

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve (sale 

proceeds and 

costs of 

disposal) 

Deferred 

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve 

(where sale 

proceeds 

have yet to be 

received) 

Financial 

Instruments  

Movements in the fair value of 

CCLA investment. 

 

 

Gains/losses for 

CCLA Investment.  

Pooled 

Investment 

Fund 

Adjustment 

Account 

Pensions 

Costs 

Movements in pensions assets 

and liabilities. 

Employer’s 

pensions 

contributions 

payable and direct 

payments made by 

the Council to 

pension funds for 

year 

Pensions 

Reserve 

Council Tax Accrued income from in year  

bills 

Demand on the 

Collection Fund for 

the year plus  

recovery of 

estimated 

deficit/share for 

prior year 

Collection 

Fund 

Adjustment 

Account 

Business 

Rates 

Accrued income from in year  

bills 

Budgeted income 
receivable from the 
Collection Fund for 
the year plus 
recovery of 
estimated 
deficit/share for 
prior year  

 

Collection 

Fund 

Adjustment 

Account 

Untaken 

Leave 

entitlements 

Projected cost of untaken 

leave entitlements at 31 

March. 

No charge Accumulated 

Absences 

Adjustment 

Account 

 

Page 156



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 108 

41.5 Prior period Adjustments and Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates  

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 

material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e., in the 

current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or 

the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other 

events and conditions on the Council's financial position or financial performance. Where a 

change is material, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening 

balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been 

applied.  

41.6 Post-Employment Benefits 

 

Employees of the Council are members of three separate pension schemes:  

 

 The Teachers' Pension Scheme, administered by Capita Teachers' Pensions on behalf of the 

Department for Education (DfE). 

 

 The NHS Pension Scheme, administered by NHS Pensions. 

 

 The Local Government Pensions Scheme, administered by Devon County Council. 

 

All schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned 

as employees worked for the Council. 

The Teacher’s and NHS Scheme provides defined benefits to members, however, the 

arrangements for the teachers' scheme and NHS pensions mean that liabilities for these benefits 

cannot ordinarily be identified specifically to the Council. The scheme is therefore accounted for 

as if it was a defined contribution scheme and no liability for future payments of benefits is 

recognised in the Balance Sheet. The relevant lines in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure account are charged with the employer’s contributions in year. 

The Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 

 

 the liabilities of the Devon County Council Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included 

in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method- i.e. an assessment 

of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to-date by 

employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and 

projections of projected earnings for current employees.  

 

 liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the 

indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bond. 

 

 the assets of Devon County Council Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included in 

the Balance Sheet at their fair value 

 

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 
 

 Service cost comprising: 
 

Current service cost – allocated in the CIES to the services for which the employees worked 

 

Past service cost - the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect 

relates to years of service earned in earlier years. Includes gains or losses on settlements and 

Page 157



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 109 

curtailments - the result of actions to relieve the Council of liabilities or events that reduce the 

expected future service or accrual of benefits of employees such as the transfer of staff to an 

alternative supplier: Debited/Credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 

the CIES as part of Non Distributed Costs. 

 

Net Interest on the net pension liability - the expected net increase in the present value of 

liabilities during the year as they move one year closer to being paid offset by the expected 

return on assets - the annual investment return on the fund assets attributable to the Council, 

based on an average of the expected long-term return - debited to the Financing and Investment 

Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 

 

Administration Costs – debited to the Provision of Services in the CIES as part of Corporate 

Costs.  

 

 Remeasurements comprising: 
 

Return on Plan Assets – this excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit 

liability. Any movement in year is an adjustment to the Pensions Reserve as Other 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

 

Actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have 

not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries 

have updated their assumptions – any movement in year is an adjustment to the Pensions 

Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

 

Payments to Fund: 

 

Contributions paid to the Devon County Council Local Government Pension Scheme - cash paid 

as employer's contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities are not accounted for 

as an expense in the CIES. 
 

Termination Benefits 

Termination benefits are charged on an accruals basis or as a provision to the appropriate service 
(or to the Non Distributed Costs line in the CIES where they relate to pensions enhancements) 
at the earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the 
Council recognises costs for a restructuring. 
 

Local Government Reorganisation 

Torbay Council in 1998 agreed to fund a tax base share of Devon County’s enhanced pension 

payments (unfunded benefits). A liability, based on IAS19 actuarial information provided to Devon 

County Council has been recognised with the corresponding balance held in the Pension 

Reserve. The movement in the IAS19 liability each year is recognised in Cost of Services and 

reversed in the Movement in Reserves statement. The payments in year to Devon County 

Council are recognised in the Cost of Services. 

 

TDA – Pension Liaiblity Pass through 

In 2019/20 the Council recognised, under a pass through arrangement, a financial guarantee for 

the LGPS pension lialbity for the TDA (a subsidiary company) that would require the Council to 

pay the TDA employer pension payments to the Devon County Pension Fund if the TDA defaulted 

on the payments. The TDA remains an admitted body to the pension scheme and will make 

higher employer contibutions to mitigate any financial risk to the Council. The TDA will continue 

to recognise a pension liability under IAS19 and also recognises an asset to the value of that 

IAS19 Liability. The Council’s liability is therefore at the value of the TDA IAS19 pension liability. 

Page 158



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 110 

 

41.7 Financial Instruments  

Financial instruments are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party 
to their contractual provisions. They are initially measured at fair value. 

 

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. For the Council’s borrowing 

this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable 

(plus accrued interest). Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are based on the carrying amount 

of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  

Financial assets are subsequently measured in one of two ways:  
 
• amortised cost – assets whose contractual terms are basic lending arrangements (i.e., they 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal or interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, which the Council holds under a business model whose objective 
is to collect those cash flows)  
 
• fair value – all other financial assets  
 
Amortised cost assets are measured in the Balance Sheet at the outstanding principal repayable 
(plus accrued interest). Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) are based on the carrying 
amount of the asset, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. Any gains or 
losses in fair value that might arise are not accounted for until the instrument matures or is sold.  
 
Allowances for impairment losses have been calculated for amortised cost assets, applying the 
expected credit losses model. Changes in loss allowances (including balances outstanding at the 
date of derecognition of an asset) are debited/credited to the Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure line in the CIES. Changes in the value of assets carried at fair value (described 
as Fair Value through Profit or Loss) are debited/credited to the Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure line in the CIES as they arise.  
 
Where the Council provides a loan for a capital purpose it is treated as capital expenditure for 
capital financing with the balance of the loan held as a debtor with repayments of the loan treated 
as a capital receipt. 

Assets carried at Fair Value through Profit and Loss 

The Council’s holding with its sterling liquidity fund has been designated as a Financial Asset at 

Fair Value through Profit and Loss. The definition is met as the Council’s holding is part of a 

portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is 

evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit making as the fund’s manager is a set a 

benchmark target to achieve for each year. 

Any changes in the fair value of the asset are reflected in the carrying value of the asset and the 

changes in year credited or debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

line in the CIES.  

The Council has invested in a property fund (CCLA) where under regulation the investment does 

not need to be accounted as capital expenditure. The Council has classified this investment at 

Fair Value through profit or loss with any changes in value recognised in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement with the application of a statutory override (SI 2018/1207) to 

reverse any impact on the general fund through the MIRS to the Pooled Investment Fund 

Adjustment Account. Any dividends in year is recognised as part of its investment income.  

Page 159



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 111 

41.8   Government Grants and Contributions 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party 
contributions such as developers’ contributions under section 106 agreements or Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), and donations (if any) are recognised as due to the Council when there 
is reasonable assurance that: 

 
o the Council will comply with any conditions attached to the payments, and 
o the grants or contributions will be received 

 
Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the CIES until the Council has 
satisfied any conditions attached to the grant or contribution that would require repayment if not 
met.  
 
The grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and 
contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure (non-ringfenced 
revenue grants and all capital grants) in the CIES. The recognition of grants and contributions is 
on an accruals basis. Developer contributions under S106 or CIL agreements are presumed to 
have conditions unless clear evidence to the contrary that would require repayment if not met 
and are recognised as a receipt in advance. 
 

41.9   Heritage Assets 

Subject to a de minimis of £50,000, expenditure on, or the value of donated heritage asserts, are 
capitalised where the Council has information on the cost or value of the heritage asset. Within 
one location a number of articles have been grouped into a single collection which is accounted 
for as an individual Heritage asset. 

 

41.10 Interests in Companies and other Entities 

The Council has material interests in companies and other entities that have the nature of 

subsidiaries and associates. In the Council's own single-entity accounts, the interests in 

companies and other entities are recorded as financial assets at cost or fair value.   

The Council under IFRS9 has designated its holding in one of its subsidiaries, Torbay 

Development Agency as an “investment in an equity instrument designated at fair value through 

other comprehensive income”. Where the purpose of the subsidiary is primarily to provide 

services on behalf of the council including strategic economic development purposes, the initial 

and subsequent recognition of the Council's investment in its subsidiaries is at the nominal value 

of the shares held. Where a subsidiary company has its own subsidiary companies the 

investment will continue to be at the nominal value of the shares held. 

The Council recognises the value of its other interests in companies, such as associates, at cost.  

Other Entities 

Torbay and South Devon Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 

The Council has an agreement with the Trust and Devon Clinical Commissioning Group where 

the Council’s makes a fixed annual payment for the provision of Adult Social Care. The Trust are 

accounting for the partnership on the basis that the Council is funding the Trust to undertake 

delegated activities. The Trust will account for income and expenditure on the Adult Social Care 

functions in the appropriate service category and will account for the funding received for the 

Council as “providing” income. The Council will show the funding paid to the Trust for providing 

the delegated functions within its Income and Expenditure Account. 

Better Care Fund 

From April 2015 Torbay Council with the Torbay and South Devon Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) jointly received funding as part of the Better Care Fund initiative. The majority of the Better 

Page 160



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 112 

Care Fund is a managed by a s75 pooled budget with the CCG as host – capital funding is 

excluded. The control of the expenditure in the pooled budget is jointly controlled between the 

two bodies. Expenditure and income associated with the pooled budget are accounted for in line 

with contributions from the two partners in year which are assumed to be the relevant “share”.  

The Council receives the former “S256” fund allocation from the Better Care Fund to be used to 

support social care. This has been treated as income and expenditure in the Cost of Services. 

The Council receives funding for adult social care from the Improved Better Care Fund. Although 

the funding is reported and monitored as part of the Better Care Fund with the CCG, the IBCF 

funding is excluded from the s75 pooled budget. 

41.11 Investment Properties 

Investment properties are those that are held solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently on an annual at fair value.  

Investment properties are not depreciated. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. The same treatment is 

applied to gains and losses on disposal. Any net increase in value prior to the asset being 

classified as an investment property is held and ‘frozen’ in the Revaluation Reserve until the 

asset is disposed or reclassified. 

41.12  Leases  

 

The Council’s leases relate mainly to property where the Council both leases in and leases out 

property. The Council has considered all its leases for possible classification as finance or 

operating leases. The Council presumes a lease to be an operating lease unless there is 

evidence to the contrary and it is material to the accounts that a lease is classified as a finance 

lease. 

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 

risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to 

the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 

Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered 

separately for classification. The land element is now assessed by reference to the prevailing 

land value in the locality of the asset.  Over the five year rolling programme of valuations all land 

will be valued on this basis. Previously the land value was assumed to be 30% of the total value 

of the asset unless there was evidence to the contrary. 

As Lessee: Rentals paid by the Council under operating leases are charged to the CIES as an 

expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. Charges 

are made, if material, on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match 

the pattern of payments. 

 

Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 

relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal, with the gain/loss attributable to 

the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the Council’s net investment in the 

lease being credited/debited to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES. The net 

investment in the lease is recognised as a lease asset in the Balance Sheet, net of any premium 

paid.  Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

 

 a credit for the disposal of the interest in the property – applied to write down the lease asset 

 finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 

CIES). 

 

Page 161



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 113 

As Lessor: Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 

equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other 

Operating Expenditure line in the CIES. Credits are made, if material, on a straight-line basis 

over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments. 

 

41.13 Property, Plant and Equipment  

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 

capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 

service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be 

measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver 

future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an 

expense when it is incurred. 

 

A general de-minimis limit of £25,000 is applied to recognition of expenditure on Property, Plant 

and Equipment. Exceptions to the de-minimis limit are made for projects or individual purchases 

under £25,000 where there are specific service requirements to do so e.g. school minor 

improvement works which are funded under Special Government Initiatives and fleet vehicle 

purchases. 

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 

 

 the purchase price 

 any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 

capable of operating in the manner intended by management 

 

Capital expenditure is not recognised until 31st March therefore no depreciation is charged in 

year of acquisition or enhancement.  Where capital expenditure has occurred the expenditure in 

year is deemed to have increased the current value of the asset by a “pound for pound” amount.  

Where, if capital expenditure is assessed as not adding value to the asset, the corresponding 

value will be written off as impairment.   

Certain categories of Property, Plant and Equipment are measured subsequently at current value 

– see policy 1 for details.   

Where prices for comparable properties are available in an active market, properties are valued 

at market value taking into account the existing use. Where no market exists or the property is 

specialised, current value is measured at depreciated replacement cost.  

 

Certain categories of PPE are measured subsequently at current value (such as surplus assets). 

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure 

that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year-end, but 

as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation 

Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. 

In general within the rolling programme where an asset’s gross value is a value under £25,000 

this asset value will be recorded at nil. All asset valuations are carried out in accordance with the 

Statements of Asset Valuation Practices and Guidance notes published by RICS and CIPFA. 

The management of property valuations is undertaken by Johathan Veale M.R.I.C.S. who is an 

employee of TDA. All planned revaluations in a financial year will be as at 1st April of that year 

which results in depreciation for a year being calculated on the revalued amount. The only 

exception would be if the total depreciation charge for the year would be materially incorrect.  

Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise 

unrealised gains. 

Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the CIES where they arise from the reversal of a loss 

previously charged to a service. 

Page 162



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 114 

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by: 

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 

carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 

accumulated gains) 

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 

amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the CIES. 

 

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date 

of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the 

Capital Adjustment Account. 

 

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that items may be 

impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of 

the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.  Where impairment losses are 

identified, they are accounted for in the same way as revaluation losses. 

 

Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic 

allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives as estimated by the Council’s 

valuer, making an allowance for any residual value. Annual depreciation is calculated based upon 

the Balance Sheet value for each asset as at 1st April for that year which will include any 

revaluations in year. 

An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and 

certain Community Assets) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under 

construction). 

 

The valuation of land is determined by one of the following:- 

 where the asset being valued includes a building, the land value is assumed to be 30% of the 

value of the asset, or a percentage as adjusted by the Valuer if they feel a different percentage 

is appropriate. 

 

 where there is no building, the prevailing land value in the locality of the asset taking into 

account its use, is used 

 

Over the five year rolling programme of valuations all land will be valued on the above  basis. 

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally 

through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset 

Held for Sale.  

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the 

Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to 

the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES against any receipts arising from the disposal 

as a gain or loss on disposal. 

 

Where an asset is treated as a disposal due to the length of the lease and there is an ongoing 

annual rent, the asset is initially derecognised then the value of the future lease payments treated 

as long term debtor with the balance shown as a deferred capital receipt. Lease payments in 

future years therefore reduce both the value of the long term debtor and the deferred capital 

receipts reserve. 
 
 
 

Page 163



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 115 

Schools Recognition 

The Council’s recognition (or otherwise) of the different types of school assets are as follows: 

Schools Type Land Buildings Test 

Community On balance sheet On balance sheet Council Control 

Academy Off balance sheet Off balance sheet Academy freehold of 

long lease 

Foundation  On balance sheet On balance sheet IFRS10 – subsidiary 

Voluntary Aided Off balance sheet On balance sheet Substance of 

arrangement 

Voluntary Controlled Off balance sheet On balance sheet Substance of 

arrangement 

Playing Fields On balance sheet n/a Council Control 

 

Voluntary Aided Schools and Voluntary Controlled Schools: 

The land and buildings are owned by dioceses. Under IFRS10 maintained schools, including 

Voluntary Controlled and Voluntary Aided, meet the definition of entities controlled by the Council. 

Therefore all assets and liabilities of the school are recognised on the Council’s balance sheet. 

In the absence of any lease arrangements between the diocese and governing body and based 

on the substance of the arrangement the assets have been recognised on the Council’s balance 

sheet. The substance of the arrangement is that the asset has been used for school purposes for 

a number of years and at year end there is no expectation that the diocese will exercise its rights 

to take back the assets. In addition the Council is funding the school and the governing body are 

controlling the use of the asset as a school and are maintaining and insuring the assets. 

Land owned by a diocese and used for school purposes, in the absence of lease arrangement or 

statutory transfer, has not been recognised as a Council asset due to the infinite life of land. 

 

41.14  Private Finance Initiative (PFI)  

As the Council is deemed to control the services that are provided under its PFI contracts, and 
as ownership of the property, plant and equipment will pass to the Council at the end of the 
contracts for no additional charge; the assets used are recognised on the Balance Sheet as part 
of Property, Plant and Equipment. 

 
The original recognition of these assets at current value was balanced by the recognition of a 
liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for the capital investment. 

 
The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year are analysed into three elements: 

 

 fair value of the services received during the year - debited to the relevant service in the CIES. 

 finance cost - an interest charge on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability, debited to the 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.  

 payment towards liability - applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability towards the PFI 

operator. In addition the Council makes an annual revenue provision to the Capital Adjustment 

Account that is equal to the annual reduction in the liability to the contractor and correspondingly 

reduces the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement.  

 

Page 164



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements 

 
 

 116 

For the Energy From waste scheme there are two additional elements. 

 

 deferred credit from the write down of the long term liability for the expected third party income  

received during the year - credited to the relevant service in the CIES, with a reversal in the MIRS 

to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 contingent rent - a reduction to the finance costs in year due to the impact of third party income 

on the total costs to the Council. 

 

Any lifecycle costs incurred by the contractor are assumed to be revenue in nature in maintaining 

the existing value of the asset.  

Any variations of a capital nature requested and funded by the school are treated as capital 
expenditure and capital resources outside the PFI contract.  
 

41.15  Provisions 

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the CIES where an event 
has taken place that gives the Council a legal or constructive obligation that probably requires 
settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are charged as the best estimate at the balance 
sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks 
and uncertainties. 
 

The Council is required to provide for the cost of any backdated NNDR refunds arising from 

appeals submitted to the Valuation Office that are successful. The Council’s balance sheet only 

reflects the Council’s 49% share of the provision.  

The Council has estimated the impact of appeals submitted by 31st March 2017 using historic 

information; however for appeals that could be submitted after 31st March 2017 (after the national 

2017 Revaluation) there is currently not enough information from the Valuation Office to enable 

a reliable estimate to be made therefore an estimate has been made based on an appeals 

percentage provided by MHCLG on the NNDR returns.  

41.16 Overheads and Support Services 

The Council’s CIES is presented on a segmental basis in line with the Council’s internal reporting. 

On this basis the costs of cross Council overheads and support services are accounted for within 

the relevant management segment and are not allocated to services. The exceptions to this are 

where the service is accounted for on a “ring fenced” basis such as public health, schools and 

harbours where the costs of support services are allocated in line with the CIPFA Service 

Reporting Code of Practice. The costs of a service’s own management and administration are 

accounted for within the service segment. 

  

  

 

 

 

Page 165



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Supplementary Financial 
Statement (Collection Fund) 

 

117 
 

COLLECTION FUND SUMMARY ACCOUNT 2019/20 

This account reflects the statutory requirements for billing authorities to maintain a separate 

Collection Fund, which shows the transactions of the billing authority in relation to non-domestic 

rates and the council tax, and the way in which these have been distributed to preceptors. 

Council 
tax 
£m 

NNDR 
 

£m 

Total 
 

£m 

 
Council 

tax 
£m 

NNDR 
 

£m 

Total 
 

£m 

2018/19 
 

2019/20 

(104.5) - - Gross Council Tax Payable for Year (109.5) - - 

23.1 - - Reduced Assessments 23.1 - - 

(81.4) (33.1) (114.5) Council Tax & NNDR Receivable (86.4) (31.7) (118.1) 

   Expenditure:    

   Precepts and Demands    

8.4 - 8.4 Police and Crime Commissioner for Devon 
and Cornwall 

9.7 - 9.7 

3.8 0.3 4.1 Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority 
 

3.9 0.3 4.2 

- - - DCLG, (Central Government) 
 

0 14.6 14.6 

65.8 30.4 96.2 Torbay Council's Own Demand (Including 
Brixham Town Council) 

69.0 14.4 83.4 

78.0 30.7 108.7 Total Precepts and Demands 
 

82.6 29.3 111.9 

- 0.2 0.2 Cost of Collection Allowance - 0.2 0.2 

   Distribution of Previous Years 
Estimated Surplus/(Deficit); 

   

0.3 - 0.3 Police and Crime Commissioner for Devon 
and Cornwall 

0.2 - 0.2 

0.1 - 0.1 Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority 0.1 - 0.1 

- (0.4) (0.4) DCLG, (Central Government) - - - 

2.1 (0.4) 1.7 Torbay Council 1.7 (0.2) 1.5 

2.5 (0.8) 1.7 Total Distribution of previous year’s 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

2.0  (0.2) 1.8 

   Bad and Doubtful Debts/Appeals    

0.7 0.4 1.1 Write Offs 0.6 0.3 0.9 

0.5 0.2 0.7 Impairment for Uncollectable debt 1.5 0.3 1.8 

- 2.3 2.3 Provision for Appeals - 1.9 1.9 

1.2 2.9 4.1 Total Bad & Doubtful Debt and Appeals 2.1 2.5 4.6 

   Total Expenditure    

0.3 (0.1) 0.2 (Surplus)/Deficit for Year 0.3 0.1 0.4 

   Movement of Collection Fund Balance    

(2.3) 0.8 (1.5) Balance brought forward as at 1st April (2.0) 0.7 (1.3) 

0.3 (0.1) 0.2 (Surplus)/Deficit for Year 0.3 0.1 0.4 

(2.0) 0.7 (1.3) Balance carried forward as at 31st 
March 

(1.7) 0.8 (0.9) 

   Balance Attributable to major 
precepting bodies 

   

(0.2) - (0.2) Police and Crime Commissioner for Devon 
and Cornwall 

(0.2) - (0.2) 

(0.1) - (0.1) Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority (0.1) - (0.1) 

- - - Central Government - 0.1 0.1 

(1.7) 0.7 (1.0) Torbay Council (1.4) 0.7 (0.7) 

(2.0) 0.7 (1.3) Balance carried forward at 31st March (1.7) 0.8 (0.9) 
 

 

Page 166



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Supplementary Financial 
Statement (Collection Fund) 

 

 118 

NOTES TO THE COLLECTION FUND SUMMARY ACCOUNT 

These notes represent the statutory requirement for a billing Council to maintain a separate 

Collection Fund.  The accounts are consolidated with the Council’s main accounts. In its 

Balance Sheet the Council includes the disaggregated amounts for the Major Precepting 

Bodies within its current assets and liabilities. The surplus attributable to Torbay Council has 

been treated as a credit on the Collection Fund Adjustment Account.   

In addition to the statutory Collection Fund Statement, the Council in its Income & Expenditure 

account now reflects, as income in year, its share, based on precepting values, of the year end 

Collection Fund position.  The Council on its balance sheet reflects its share of year end assets 

(arrears and impairment) and liabilities (prepayments) attributable to the Collection Fund.  The 

balance is shown in the accounts of the individual precepting bodies. 

Brixham Town Council, a local precepting authority, ‘precepts’ on Torbay Council as a billing 

authority to fund its activities, the precept for 2019/20 was £0.317m (£0.281m in 2018/19) and 

is received from council taxpayers in the town council’s area.   This precept is included in 

Torbay Council’s demand on the collection fund. 

 

A) Council Tax Base 2019/20  

The number of dwellings Band D equivalent for 2019/20 is required for the setting of the 

Council Tax. It is calculated prior to the start of the financial year by using the number of 

dwellings on the valuation list adjusted to set the number of chargeable dwellings per band. 

This is then adjusted for an appropriate level of reduced assessments (discounts) prior to the 

number of dwellings in each band being put in a ratio compared to Band D.  For further details 

on this please see “Council Tax Base 2019/20” report from the Council meeting in December 

2018. 

 For Council tax purposes the number of domestic properties in each band converted to a Band 

D equivalent for 2019/20 was as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Supplementary Financial 
Statement (Collection Fund) 

 

 119 

Valuation 

Band 

Ratio to 

Band D 

Amount payable by all council tax 

payers 

Additional amount payable by council tax 

payers resident in the Brixham Town 

Council area 

No 

Dwellings 

in 

valuation 

list 

No of 

Dwellings 

Band D 

Equivalent 

Average 

Council Tax 

Per 

Dwelling £ 

No 

Dwellings 

in 

valuation 

list 

No of 

Dwellings 

Band D 

Equivalent 

Average 

Council Tax 

Per Dwelling 

£ 

A 6/9 13,664 5,436 1,201.23 1,409 575 34.19 

B 7/9 17,617 10,076 1,401.43 2,254 1,308 39.89 

C 8/9 16,745 12,037 1,601.64 2,473 1,796 45.59 

D 1 10,431 9,009 1,801.84 1,599 1,394 51.29 

E 11/9 5,211 5,769 2,202.25 692 766 62.69 

F 13/9 2,367 3,146 2,602.65 338 449 74.09 

G 15/9 1,246 1,923 3,003.07 95 152 85.48 

H 2 132 207 3,603.68 6 5 102.58 

TOTAL  67,413 47,603  8,866 6,445  

Less Allowance for Non Collection 

@ 4.0% (4.0% 2018/19) 

(1,903)   (257)  

TAX BASE  2019/20 45,699.55 (44,865.89 

18/19) 

 6,187.87 (6004.42 

18/19) 

      

Band D Council Tax (excluding Brixham Town 

Council precept) 

1,801.84 

(1,731.69 

18/19) 

Band D Council Tax 

(including Brixham 

Town Council precept) 

1,853.13 

(1,778.46 

18/19) 

 

 

B) Income from Business Rates 

Under the arrangements for uniform business rates, the Council collects non-domestic rates for 

its area, which are based on local rateable values multiplied by a uniform rate.  The total 

rateable value as at 31st March 2020 was £93.7m (2018/19: £93.5m).  

In line with the Local Government Act 2003, from 1st April 2005, there are two multipliers, the 

small business non-domestic rating multiplier, which is applicable to those that qualify for the 

small business relief; and the non-domestic rating multiplier, which includes the supplement to 

pay for small business relief. The small business non-domestic rating multiplier for 2019/20 was 

49.1 pence per pound of rateable value and the non-domestic rating multiplier was 50.4 pence 

per pound.  

In April 2013 the NNDR retention scheme was introduced with Councils now responsible for a 

percentage share of all transactions in relation to NNDR income in their area. This to include 

movement up and down in NNDR income, (up to a safety net), which includes the payment of 

any outstanding NNDR appeals as at 31st March 2020 that have not yet been determined by 

the valuation office. In 2019/20, Torbay Council as a unitary authority is responsible for 49% of 

the NNDR income, Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 50%, and Devon 

and Somerset Fire authority 1% .

Page 168



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 

 

120 
 

Group Accounts 

These group accounts which consist of four primary statements are provided in addition to the notes 

to the Accounting statements in the “single entity” Statement of Accounts 

Notes have been omitted as there are no material differences to the disclosures already made apart 

from a note for group property, plant and equipment. 

Generally, the accounting policies for the Group accounts are the same as those applied to the single 

entity financial statements, except for the following policies which are specific to the Group accounts: 

A subsidiary is an entity which the Council controls through the power to govern their financial and 
operating polices so as to obtain benefits from the entities’ activities. Control is usually presumed 
where the Council owns more than half the voting power of an entity (either directly or through other 
subsidiaries). However, this is not a defining criterion; the Council can have more than half the voting 
power but exceptionally not be in control and powers other than voting rights may grant control where 
the Council has less than half the voting power. 
 
An associate is an entity for which the Council is an investor that has significant influence.  

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 

investee (stopping short of control or joint control). It is presumed that holding 20% of the voting 

power of an investee (either directly or indirectly) brings significant influence but this presumption can 

be rebutted. It is possible for significant influence to be exerted where an investor has less than 20% 

of the voting power or where another party has majority ownership. 

In accordance with the above policy, group relationships have been determined as follows: 

Entity     Torbay Ownership Company Type 

TOR2       19.99%  Associate  

Careers SW (excludes IAS19)    25%  Joint Venture 

Oldway Mansion Management Company  100%  Subsidiary (not trading in 2019/20) 

Torbay Education Limited    100%  Subsidiary (not trading in 2019/20) 

SWISCo Limited    100%  Subsidiary (not trading in 2019/20) 

Torbay Housing Company Group of Companies: (not trading in 2019/20) 

Torbay Housing Company   100%  Subsidiary, Parent of Group 

Torbay Housing Development Company  100%   Subsidiary of Torbay Housing Co. 

Torbay Housing Rental Company  100%  Subsidiary of Torbay Housing Co. 

TDA Group of Companies:    

TEDC Ltd       100%  Subsidiary, Parent of Group 

TDA Subsidiary Companies:-    

Complete Facilities Management Services Ltd 100%  Subsidiary of TEDC Ltd 

KAH Holding Company    100%  Subsidiary of TEDC Ltd (not trading) 

Business Centres South West Ltd  100%  Subsidiary of TEDC Ltd (not trading) 

Page 169



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 

 

 121 

C&A Consulting Limited    100%   Subsidairy of TEDC Ltd 

TorVista Homes Ltd    100%  Subsidiary of TEDC Ltd 

TEDC Developments Limited   100%   Subsidiary of TEDC Ltd 

The grounds for exclusion from consolidation of certain entities (individually and in aggregate) are not 

material to the true and fair view of the financial statements or to the understanding of users. 

The Group accounts have been prepared using the Group accounts requirements of the 2019/20 
Code. Companies or other reporting entities that are under the ultimate control of the Council have 
been included in the Council’s Group accounts, to the extent that they are material to the users of the 
financial statements in relation to their ability to see the complete economic activities of the Council 
and its exposure to risk through interests in other entities and participation in their activities.  
 
Subsidiaries have been consolidated by adding like items of assets, liabilities, reserves, income and 
expenses together on a line by line basis eliminating intra-group balances and transactions in full  

 

Associates and Joint Ventures have been consolidated using the equity method. Where an Associate 

or Joint Ventures has negative net equity these are recorded as nil value in the Group Accounts. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 170



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 

 

122 
 

Group Movement in Reserves Statement  
This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Group, analysed into “usable reserves” and other reserves. 

2018/19 General 
Fund 

Balance 

Earmarkd 
General 

Fund 
Reserves 

Sub Total 
Revenue 
Reserves 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserves 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Account 

 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 

Unusable 
Reserves 

 

Total 
Council 

Reserves 

Council 
share of 
Group 

Total 
Group 

Reserves 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

  Note 10  Note 9 Note 9 Note 25 Note 26    

Balance at 31st March 2018 brought forward 4.6 25.1 29.7 2.8 9.1 41.6 (38.1) 3.5 0.4 3.9 

Movement in Reserves during 2018/19           

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 

(6.0) 0 (6.0) 0 0 (6.0) 0 (6.0) (0.1) (6.1) 

Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 
(see C I&E Statement) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 30.3 30.3 0.2 30.5 

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and 
Income 

(6.0) 0 (6.0) 0 0 (6.0) 0 24.3 0.1 24.4 

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding 
basis under regulations (Note 9) 

9.0 0.2 9.2 (2.0) (0.4) 6.8 (6.8) 0 0 0 

Adjustments between Group Accounts and 
Torbay accounts 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

3.0 0.2 3.2 (2.0) (0.4) 0.8 23.5 24.3 0.1 24.4 

Transfers (to)from Earmarked Reserves (Note 10) 

 
(3.0) 3.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Increase/(Decrease) in Year 0 3.2 3.2 (2.0) (0.4) 0.8 23.5 24.3 0.1 24.4 

Balance at 31st March 2019 carried forward 
 

4.6 28.3 32.9 0.8 8.7 42.4 (14.6) 27.8 0.5 28.3 

 

 

 

 

P
age 171



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

 123 

2019/20 General 
Fund 

Balance 

Earmarkd 
General 

Fund 
Reserves 

Sub Total 
Revenue 
Reserves 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserves 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Account 

 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 

Unusable 
Reserves 

 

Total 
Council 

Reserves 

Council 
share of 
Group 

Total 
Group 

Reserves 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

  Note10  Note 9 Note 9 Note 25 Note 26    

Balance at 31st March 2019 brought forward 4.6 28.3 32.9 0.8 8.7 42.4 (14.6) 27.8 0.5 28.3 

Movement in Reserves during 2019/20           

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services 
(accounting basis) 

(12.0) 0 (12.0) 0 0 (12.0) 0 (12.0) 0.9 (11.1) 

Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 
(see C I&E Statement) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 20.8 20.8 5.6 26.4 

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and 
Income 

(12.0) 0 (12.0) 0 0 (12.0) 20.8 8.8 6.5 15.3 

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding 
basis under regulations  

14.2 0 14.2 2.3 1.1 17.6 (17.6) 0 0 0 

Adjustments between Group Accounts and 
Torbay accounts 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

2.2 0 2.2 2.3 1.1 5.6 3.2 8.8 6.5 15.3 

Transfers (to)from Earmarked Reserves (2.2) 2.2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Increase/(Decrease) in Year 0 2.2 2.2 2.3 1.1 5.6 3.2 8.8 6.5 15.3 

Balance at 31st March 2020 carried forward 4.6 30.5 35.1 3.1 9.8 48.0 (11.4) 36.6 7.0 43.6 

 

 

P
age 172



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

124 
 

Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing the Group’s services in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. 

2018/19    2019/20  

Gross 
Exp 

Restated 

Gross 
Income 

Restated 

Net 
Exp 

Restated 

Services Note Gross 
Exp 

Gross 
Income 

Net 
Exp 

£m £m £m   £m £m £m 

50.9 (12.8) 38.1 Adult’s Services  46.9 (14.2) 32.7 

92.3 (48.9) 43.4 Children’s Services  101.8 (54.6) 47.2 

76.2 (66.5) 9.7 Corporate Services  68.8 (57.8) 11.0 

4.8 (10.4) (5.6) Finance  8.2 (16.6) (8.4) 

44.8 (23.7) 21.1 Place  52.4 (21.7) 30.7 

9.4 (0.3) 9.1 Public Health  9.0 (02) 8.8 

7.6 (4.5) 3.1 TEDC Ltd Group  9.0 (5.2) 3.8 

286.0 (167.1) 118.9 
 

Cost Of Services  296.1 (170.3) 125.8 

1.2 (1.2) 0 Other Operating Income & 
Expenditure  

 3.5 (3.5) 0 

0 0 0 Transfer of schools to 
academies  

 0 0 0 

20.4 (13.2) 7.2 Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure  

 29.4 (18.5) 10.9 

2.8 (122.9) (120.1) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income and expenditure 

 0.1 (124.3) (124.2) 

310.4 (304.4) 6.0 (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision 
of Services 

 329.1 (316.6) 12.5 

0 0 0 Share of surplus or deficit on the 
provision of serves by joint 
ventures and associates 

 0 0 0 

0.1 0 0.1 Tax Expenses of Group 
Companies 

 0 0 0 

310.5 (304.4) 6.1 Group (Surplus)/Deficit  329.1 (316.6) 12.5 

  (20.2) (Surplus)/Deficit on revaluation 
on Non Current Assets  (PPE) 

   (9.3) 

  4.1 Impairment losses on non 
current assets charged to the 
revaluation reserve 

   2.2 

  (14.4) Remeasurement of net defined 
pension liabilities 

   (21.0) 

  0 Council share of OCIE of Joint 
Venture and Associates  

   0 

  (30.5) Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

   (28.1) 

  (24.4) Total (Surplus)/Deficit in 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

   (15.6) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 173



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

125 
 

Group Balance Sheet  
The Balance Sheet shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Group 
at 31 March 2020. The net assets of the Group are matched by Group reserves. 
 
 

31st March 

2019  
  31st March 2020 

 
£m   Note £m 

329.3 Property, Plant & Equipment  G1 350.4 

32.6 Heritage Assets  33.5 

148.7 Investment Property  208.7 

0.5 Intangible Assets  0.7 

0 Goodwill (TDA)  0.4 

4.9 Long Term Investments 

 

 9.7 

10.3 Long Term Debtors   18.4 

526.3 Long Term (Non Current) Assets  621.8 

51.9 Short Term Investments  49.3 

0.3 

 

Assets Held for Sale  0.1 

0.1 Inventories  0.1 

22.1 

 

Short Term Debtors  23.2 

3.2 Cash and Cash Equivalents  8.8 

77.6 Current Assets  81.5 

(4.0) Short Term Borrowing  (5.4) 

(2.2) Other Short Term Liabilities  (2.3) 

(26.6) Short Term Creditors (inc Receipts in 

Advance) 

 (34.7) 

(4.0) Capital Grants/Contributions: Receipts in 

Advance 

 (0.5) 

(4.1) Provisions   (5.0) 

(0.5) Cash and Cash Equivalents  (1.6) 

(41.4) Current Liabilities 

 

 (49.5) 

    

 31st March 

2019 

 

  31st March 2020 

£m   £m 

(4.5) Long Term Creditors  (4.3) 

(0.1) Provisions  (0.1) 

(302.2) Long Term Borrowing  (391.7) 

Page 174



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

126 
 

(41.8) Other Long Term Liabilities  (39.5) 

(183.6) Pension Liability  (173.0) 

(2.0) Receipts in Advance  (1.6) 

(534.2) Long Term Liabilities  (610.2) 

    

28.3 Net Assets/Liabilities  43.6 

    

42.9 Usable reserves  59.9 

(14.6) Unusable Reserves  (16.3) 

    

28.3 Total Reserves  43.6 

 
 
 
 
M Phillips   
Chief Finance Officer 
11 August 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
M Phillips   
Chief Finance Officer 
25 November 2020 
 
 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 175



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

127 
 

Group Cash Flow Statement  
The cash flow statement shows the changes to cash and cash equivalents of the Group 
during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Group generates and uses 
cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing 
activities. 
 
 

2018/19      2019/20    

£m £m  note £m £m 

 (6.1) Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of 

services,  

  (5.5) 

34.1  Adjustments to  net surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services for non cash movements  

 22.5  

(10.4)  Adjustments for items included in the net surplus 

or deficit on the provision of services that are 

investing and financing activities including 

proceeds of investments and disposal of assets 

 (11.1)  

(0.1)  Taxation  (0.1)  

 17.5 Net cash inflows/(Outflow)  from Operating 

Activities  

  5.8 

 (49.6) Investing Activities:   (93.3) 

 27.9 Financing Activities    92.0 

 (4.2) Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 

  4.5 

2018/19   2019/20 

£m Cash and Cash Equivalents  Notes £m 

6.9 Cash and cash equivalents * at the beginning of 

the reporting period 

 2.7 

2.7 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

reporting period 

 7.2 

(4.2) Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 

 4.5 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

128 
 

Note to the Group Accounts Core Statements 

Note G1 – Property, Plant and Equipment 

TDA Group property consists mainly of property held for regeneration purposes including 
Cockington Court and Craft Studios. Lymington Road Innovation Centre, Bishop’s Place, 
Vaughan Parade, Kings Ash House, Rea Barn and a number of industrial units.  
 

 

2018/19  2019/20 

T
o

rb
a
y
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

T
D

A
 G

ro
u

p
 

T
o

ta
l G

ro
u

p
 

 T
o

rb
a

y
 C

o
u

n
c

il 

T
D

A
 G

ro
u

p
 

T
o

ta
l G

ro
u

p
 

£m £m £m  £m £m £m 

   
Cost or Valuation    

357.9 7.8 365.7 As at 1st April 386.5 7.8 394.3 

26.2 0.1 26.3 Additions 34.7 3.9 38.6 

11.3 0 11.3 
Revaluation increases/ (decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 

2.4 0 2.4 

(6.1) (0.1) (6.2) 
Revaluation Increases/ (decreases) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

(9.8) 1.4 (8.4) 

(1.5) 0 (1.5) Derecognition – Disposals (3.0) (0.2) (3.2) 

(0.1) 0 (0.1) Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for Sale 0 0 0 

(1.2) 0 (1.2) Other movements in Cost or Valuation 0 0 0 

386.5 7.8 394.3 As at 31st March  410.8 12.9 423.7 

   
Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment 

   

(61.2) (0.3) (61.5) As at 1st April (64.7) (0.3) (65.0) 

(10.1) 0 (10.1) Depreciation charge (10.9) 0 (10.9) 

3.7 0 3.7 
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation 
Reserve 

2.0 0 2.0 

2.0 0 2.0 
Revaluation Increases/ (decreases) 
recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

0.6 0 0.6 

0.9 0 0.9 Derecognition – Disposals 0.1 (0.1) 0 

0 0 0 
Other movements in Depreciation and 
Impairment 

0 0 0 

(64.7) (0.3) (65.0) As at 31st March  (72.9) (0.4) (73.3) 

   Net Book Value:-    

296.7 7.5 304.2 As as 31st March (prior year) 321.8 7.5 329.3 

321.8 7.5 329.3 As at 31st March (end of year) 337.9 12.5 350.4 

       

Page 177



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

129 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2019/20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 178



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

130 
 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2019/2020 
 

Explanatory Note 

This Annual Governance Statement covers the Financial Year 2019/2020 during 
which Torbay Council’s governance arrangements changed a number of times. 

For the first month covered by this report, the Council operated an Elected Mayor 
model of governance. On 2 May 2019 the new Council was elected and moved to a 
Leader and Cabinet model of governance, with the Cabinet having collective decision 
making powers. 

On 23 March 2020, as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak and in light of the 
Government’s guidance on social distancing, all public meetings were cancelled. In 
addition, the Leader of the Council changed the delegation arrangements to enable 
him as Leader to make executive decisions rather than collectively by the Cabinet. 
However with the use of technology permitting virtual meetings, decisions reverted 
to being made collectively by cabinet as of 7 May 2020. 

Whilst this Annual Governance Statement covers significant governance issues from 
1 April 2019 up to the date of approval of the Statement of Accounts, the 
governance system described throughout is, in the main, that which were was in 
place for the majority of the 2019/2020 municipal year (namely Leader and Cabinet, 
with collective decision making). 

Scope of responsibility  

Torbay Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. Torbay Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to 
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.  

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is also responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective 
exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk.  

Torbay Council has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which is 
consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government. The code is included in the Council’s Constitution 
which is available on the Council’s website at 
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=458&info=1  

This statement explains how Torbay Council has complied with the code and also 
meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 in 
relation to the publication of a statement on internal control.  

Page 179

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=458&info=1


Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

131 
 

The purpose of the governance framework  

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, culture and values, by 
which the authority is directed and controlled, and its activities through which it 
accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the authority to 
monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those 
objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services.  

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed 
to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can, therefore, only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on 
an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of 
Torbay Council’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically.  

 

The Governance Framework  

The Constitution 

The Constitution sets out the main elements of the governance framework of Torbay 
Council, in particular how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed 
to ensure that these are efficient and transparent and that decision makers are 
accountable to local people. It explains that (for the 2018/2019 financial and 
municipal years) and until 2 May 2019, the Council was made up of the Elected 
Mayor and 36 Councillors who, together, were responsible for approving the 
Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. The Elected Mayor was responsible for 
decisions which were consistent with the Budget and Policy Framework and was 
supported by Executive Lead Members who oversaw and advised on specific areas. 
Matters outside the Budget and Policy Framework were referred to the Council for 
decision. 

From May 2019 Torbay Council moved to a Leader and Cabinet model of 
governance. The Leader of the Council and the Cabinet are responsible for major 
decisions including key policy matters within the framework set by Full Council. 
These are referred to as “Executive Functions”. When major decisions are to be 
discussed or made, these are published in the Forward Plan in so far as they can be 
anticipated. The Cabinet collectively takes decisions at meetings of the Cabinet and 
these meetings will generally be open for the public to attend except where exempt 
or confidential matters are being discussed.  
 
The Constitution includes Standing Orders, Financial Regulations and the Scheme of 
Delegated Powers and is available on the Council’s website. It is underpinned by 
Codes of Conduct for Members and Employees and a range of local protocols. The 
Constitution includes the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance. 
 

Page 180



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

132 
 

As the local elections in May 2019 left no party with overall control of the Council, 
the Liberal Democrat Group and Independent Group have signed a partnership 
agreement and have joined together to form the administration of the Council. 

The Cabinet has to make decisions which are in line with the policies and budget set 
by Council. If they wish to make a decision which is outside the budget or policy 
framework, this must be referred to the Council as a whole to decide. The Council 
has an overview and scrutiny process which provides a ‘critical friend’ challenge to 
cabinet policy makers and decision making. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board is responsible for the overview and scrutiny 
function of the Council. It assists in the development of policy and holds decision 
makers to account. In addition, any five members of the Council can “call-in” 
executive decisions to the Overview and Scrutiny Board for further debate. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for all internal and external audit matters, 
treasury management as well as monitoring the effective development and 
operation of performance and risk management and corporate governance in the 
Council. It meets five times per municipal year. 

The Standards Committee’s remit includes the conduct of members and investigating 
complaints in respect of individual members. The Standards Committee promotes 
and embeds ethical standards for members. 

Some regulatory functions remain the responsibility of the Council rather than the 
Cabinet and most of these are delegated to a small number of committees appointed 
annually by the Council. 

All members are inducted into the importance and processes of good governance 
and have informal and, if required, formal ways of raising governance issues with the 
Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and the Senior Leadership 
Team.  

As a result of the Covid-19 outbreak, Group Leaders reviewed the approach to the 
council’s public meetings. In light of the Government’s guidance on social distancing, 
from Monday 23 March 2020 all public meetings were cancelled.  

For Cabinet decisions, the Leader of the Council changed the delegation 
arrangements to single decision making rather than collectively by Cabinet members. 
This enabled decisions to be taken remotely. The Leader of the Council consulted 
with the Cabinet and Group Leaders remotely, prior to making decisions. Associated 
officer reports for decisions were published in advance of decisions being made. 

Any urgent Council decisions required to be made during this time were made by the 
Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader and Group Leaders. 

For other decision-making Committees, in circumstances where decisions could not 
be delayed, officer delegations applied after consultation with relevant members. 
However with the use of technology permitting virtual meetings, from the beginning 

Page 181



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

133 
 

of May 2020 where required, meetings have been arranged virtually and collective 
responsibility for decisions by Cabinet and Full Council has been re-instated. 

The Corporate Plan and Decision-making 

Included within the Policy Framework is the Council’s Community and Corporate 
Plan, the main strategic document under which all other Policy Framework 
documents sit. Following the local elections in May 2019, a Community and 
Corporate Plan “One Torbay: Working for all Torbay” has been prepared by the 
Cabinet, and adopted by the Council, which sets out the ambitions and visions of the 
Council over the next four years and the principles within which the Council will 
operate.  

The Delivery Plan associated with the Council’s Community and Corporate Plan have 
been developed and are in the process of being agreed. Alongside this performance 
measures and risks are being identified. These will be monitored as part of the 
refreshed Corporate Performance and Risk Report. 

The Council also has a Medium Term Resource Plan which is reviewed on an on-
going basis to take into account new information and changed circumstances. Both 
of these documents provide a framework for planning and monitoring resource 
requirements. 

The Council’s Transformation Programme continued to be delivered during 
2019/2020. This aims to ensure that the ambitions within the Council’s Community 
and Corporate Plan are met whilst seeking to maximise efficiencies, income and 
savings (in accordance with the requirements of the Medium Term Resource Plan) 
and create service resilience. 

The Cabinet receive reports containing recommendations for decisions made at 
meetings of the Cabinet. All reports to members include sections on the financial and 
legal implications and the risks of the proposed decision. Prior to publication, these 
reports are cleared by the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring 
Officer or one of their senior staff. 

All meetings of the council and its committees are open to the public but a small 
number of matters are considered in private when the press and public are formally 
excluded from meetings. It is the Council’s objective to keep these private matters to 
a minimum with only those elements of reports that are considered exempt from 
publication being included within appendices. This aims to ensure open and 
transparent decision making is undertaken at all times. 

Between 23 March 2020 and 7 May 2020, reports which the Leader of the Council 
considered ahead of making decisions were published on the Council’s website and 
circulated to all members of the Council. Feedback was encouraged via electronic 
means before the Leader made his decision. Decisions were then published online 
(as would normally happen when meetings of the Cabinet were held). 

Page 182



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

134 
 

The Member Development Programme provides a structured approach to member 
development and support them in their roles. In addition to the Personal 
Development Plans, Members have the opportunity to have a one to one Councillor 
Development discussion with their Group Leader. The purpose of these reviews is to 
discuss each member’s progress and how they can contribute in meeting the 
Council’s priorities. 

Community and Service User Engagement 

There are a number of Community Partnerships across Torbay which provide an 
opportunity for people who live or work in those parts of Torbay to discuss issues of 
common concern, influence the way in which services are provided and improve 
their local area.  

The partnership administration has made clear its wish to strengthen community 
engagement and empowerment and work is continuing to ensure that the Council 
can build on the existing arrangements across Torbay. 

In developing proposals for service change, consultation with service users and the 
public is undertaken. In particular, the impact on vulnerable groups and those with 
characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2012 is assessed and documented in 
Equality Impact Assessments which are considered by decision-makers prior to 
decisions being made. 

Partnership Working 

The Council retains legal responsibilities for the provision of Adult Social Care in 
accordance with the Care Act 2014, the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the Mental 
Health Act 1983, but these are delegated to Torbay and South Devon NHS 
Foundation Trust, an integrated organisation responsible for providing acute health 
care services from Torbay Hospital, community health services and adult social care 
for the people of Torbay and South Devon. 

The Torbay Adult Social Care Risk Share 2020 to 2023 agreement under the powers 
outlined in S.75 NHS Act 2006 was agreed in March 2020 to continue integrated 
appropriate and well managed arrangements for Adult Social Care in Torbay. 

The Torbay Community Development Trust (TCDT) The TCDT supports Torbay 
Council in its overall approach to working with the community and voluntary sector 
by forging new partnerships; whilst finding creative and innovative ways for 
delivering services that will sustain a thriving voluntary and community sector in 
Torbay. The development of the community and voluntary sector in Torbay is key to 
the future strategic plans of Torbay Council, South Devon and Torbay Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and Torbay & South Devon NHS Foundation Trust. 

The Torbay Strategic Partnership (known as Torbay Together) has continued to meet 
regularly throughout the year and the partnership, which consists of public, private 
and voluntary sector organisations, has continued to seek ways to deliver ”Your 
Torbay, Your Future” which sets out the Partnership’s vision for Torbay in the future. 

Page 183



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

135 
 

The Health and Wellbeing Board and the Community Safety Partnership provide 
forums where multi-agency issues which impact on the Torbay population can be 
debated. Safeguarding Boards are also in place for both children and adults. 

The Council owns (either in its own right or with partners) a number of companies, 
namely the Torbay Economic Development Company (TDA Ltd), Careers South West 
and Tor Vista Housing Ltd. The Council has representatives on the Boards of these 
companies together with a number of reserved matters which are set out in the 
Articles of Association and Memorandum of Understanding. 

Our 10-year joint venture TOR2 Ltd contract with Kier Ltd ends in June 2020. 
Councillors voted in February 2019 to create a new wholly-owned company to 
continue the service and bring bin collections, recycling and other front line services 
back in house. From July 2020, the new company Swisco (South West Integrated 
Services Company) will deliver the services previously provided by TOR2 Ltd. 

Performance and monitoring arrangements are in place in respect of service specific 
partnerships such as the Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust and the 
Torbay Coast and Countryside Trust.  

The Council is a member of the Heart of the South West Joint Committee (a 
partnership across all of the local authorities in Devon and Somerset plus the 
national park authorities, the Local Enterprise Partnership and the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups) which will be delivering the Productivity Strategy for the 
region and maximising the opportunities for Government funding in Devon and 
Somerset. In addition, the Council is working with partners on the Wider Devon 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan and the Improved Better Care Fund. 

A review of a joint arrangement between Plymouth and Torbay councils to share a 
Director of Children’s Services concluded that each authority needs its own director 
to provide more strategic capacity and make the improvements that are necessary 
for our respective services. The arrangement of a Joint Director of Children’s Services 
came to an end in January 2020. An Interim Director of Children’s Services was 
agreed at council in January 2020 and was appointed Director permanently in mid- 
February 2020.  

Performance and Risk Management 

The Council records performance information using performance-reporting software 
called SPAR.net. 

The framework for Performance and Risk has been under review since the Local 
Elections in May 2019 and the subsequent adoption of the new Community and 
Corporate Plan “One Torbay: Working for all Torbay”. As a result, new Performance 
and Risk Dashboards are in development to reflect the priorities of the Plan, measure 
the specific actions within the ensuing delivery plans and ensure current strategic or 
operational risks are identified, mitigated and monitored. 

Page 184



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

136 
 

The Senior Leadership Team will monitor the Council’s performance and risks. They 
will receive formal updates on a quarterly basis. These updates will be shared with 
the Leader and Cabinet at Informal Cabinet meetings and with Audit Committee. Any 
areas of concern will be highlighted and appropriate corrective action will be 
considered, scrutinised and monitored. The Council uses a range of benchmarking 
information to measure performance against comparators and to identify authorities 
from whom the Council could learn. 

The Senior Leadership Team is responsible for the implementation and monitoring of 
the Performance and Risk Framework. A Strategic Risk Register is maintained which 
identifies strategic risks facing the Authority together with clearly identified 
measures for mitigation. Directors and Assistant Directors are responsible for 
managing risk within their Business Units. 

Senior Management 

The Head of the Paid Service is the Chief Executive who is responsible and 
accountable to the Council for all aspects of operational management. 

The Head of Finance is the Chief Financial Officer. He has direct access to all 
members, the Chief Executive and senior officers of the Council. He works with 
Directors and Assistant Directors to identify any financial issues which may require 
management action. Regular discussions were held with the Leader of the Council 
and the Deputy Leader of the Council who is the Cabinet Member with responsibility 
for finance. The Chief Financial Officer has responsibility for ensuring the Council 
operates secure and reliable financial and accounting systems. 

Members are briefed on key financial issues with revenue and capital budget 
monitoring reports being considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Board and the 
Cabinet on a regular basis. The Council agrees the Treasury Management Strategy on 
an annual basis on the recommendation of the Audit Committee. 

The Director of Corporate Services is the Monitoring Officer. She is responsible to 
the Council for ensuring that agreed procedures and protocols are followed and that 
all applicable Statutes and Regulations are complied with. 

The Head of the Paid Service, Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer meet 
regularly to ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are in place. 

Officers in politically restricted posts and those responsible for negotiating contracts 
are required to register their personal interests. 

Training and Information 

The Torbay Managers Forum meets at least on a quarterly basis enabling all 
managers to be briefed on current issues, reflect on achievements and engage in the 
development of action plans, ensuring that best practice across the Authority is 
shared and that plans for the future are collectively owned. Events known as 
“Connect” are routinely held which are open for all members of staff to attend to 

Page 185



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

137 
 

share their views with the Chief Executive and members of the Senior Leadership 
Team.  

A focussed forum for Managers called the Extended Leadership Team (ELT) has been 
established, so as to provide for even greater communication and opportunities for 
empowerment throughout the organisation.  

Internal communication approaches are in place to ensure all staff are aware of 
issues and new policies and practices. Newsletters and daily updates are sent to all 
staff to advise them of relevant information, HR policy and legislation changes. 
Learning and Development courses that are available and support for staff are also 
included within these. 

There is a positive working relationship with Trades Unions through quarterly formal 
meetings and informal meetings with the Director of Corporate Services, and 
consultation where appropriate. 

The Council’s intranet contains a range of policies, procedures and guidance for all 
staff including i-Learn training modules, Information Governance Policies, Code of 
Conduct, Freedom of Information guidance, Data Protection Policy and the 
Corporate Plan and Constitution. Human Resources (HR) Policies are available to all 
staff via the MyView web platform. 

The Council has a Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy which is reviewed regularly 
and has been communicated to all staff and is available on the Council’s Intranet.  

Corporate training needs are identified through the Senior Leadership Team. The 
Council has strongly supported staff development, particularly through programmes 
such as the Institute of Leadership and Management to develop Team Leaders and 
Managers. 

Change management training has been communicated to all staff, including senior 
management, to support their understanding and implementation of change. 
Coaching and counselling are also offered as an additional means of support to 
individuals.  

The Corporate Induction module on i-Learn signposts and informs new employees 
about the range of policies and procedures they need to be aware of, including the 
Code of Conduct, Information Governance, Acceptable Behaviour, Driver’s Policy and 
Handbook and Whistleblowing Policies. Managers are responsible for local induction 
arrangements with corporate induction courses being run on a regular basis. 

Customer Feedback, Whistleblowing and Prevention of Fraud 

The Council has a customer feedback recording, tracking and reporting system to 
which all staff have access via the Intranet. The system captures compliments, 
complaints, queries, enquiries and Local Government Ombudsman complaints. 
Letters from Members of Parliament as well as enquiries made through local 
councillors are also recorded through this system. 

Page 186



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

138 
 

The system enables all complaints to be recorded and tracked with root causes 
identified providing the Council with a useful analysis of why issues are being 
received. It also enables the tracking of the implementation of recommendations 
and actions. 

The Information Governance Team have now employed two complaint investigators 
whose job it is to investigate the majority of corporate complaints. The introduction 
of these posts has meant the Council has moved to a one stage complaints process. 
The aim of this new process was to improve timeliness of responses, consistency of 
responses and improved timescales for escalation to the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman. In the first six months of this process, the Council’s 
performance in complaint handling has increased from 40% of responses sent on 
time to 70%. Reports regarding complaints are provided to the Senior Leadership 
Team on a regular basis, these reports include the type of complaint, service area, 
outcomes and any learning points. This results in further actions being identified and 
implemented. 

The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy is available on the Council’s website and intranet 
site. The Council has an established phone line that any whistleblowing call can be 
made to and which goes directly to Internal Audit which has responsibility for dealing 
with these issues in the first instance. The Probity and Ethics Group; comprising of 
the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer, Internal Audit and the Head of 
Human Resources, continue to meet to consider and progress as appropriate all 
matters of concern. 

The Council has a Fraud and Counter Corruption Officer who is accountable to the 
Head of Finance. The Council’s website enables members of the public to report any 
suspicions of anyone committing fraud or corruption. 

Information Management 

The Council holds and processes a significant amount of information. It is critical that 
the information held is of good-quality, accurate and kept up-to-date to inform 
decision making. Equally important is the requirement to process personal and 
sensitive information in accordance with the data protection legislation. To support 
this, there is an Information Governance Steering Group, which consists of the Head 
of Information Governance (who is also the Council’s Data Protection Officer), the 
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and the Council’s Caldicott Guardian. This 
Group reviews the Council’s approach to information management and sharing. 
There is also an Information Security Group which is made up of operational staff to 
review and update policies and processes to ensure that the day to day handling of 
information is carried out in accordance with legislative requirements. Under this 
framework there are a number of operational policies and procedures including a 
suite of information security policies. These policies are subject to regular review and 
updates are communicated to all staff. 

The Council’s Information Governance Team are responsible for monitoring and 
reviewing compliance to data protection legislation across the Council. Part of this 

Page 187



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

139 
 

work is reviewing the Information Asset Register which specifies the information 
assets held across all Council departments and allows the Council to understand the 
risks associated with different information assets. 

Internal Audit 

The internal audit service is provided by Devon Audit Partnership (DAP). This is a 
shared service arrangement originally formed by Torbay, Devon County and 
Plymouth City Councils but has been subsequently expanded to include several 
district councils. It is constituted under section 20 of the Local Government Act 2000. 
Devon Audit Partnership undertakes the role of auditing the Council’s systems to 
give assurance to the organisation. 

The Council’s Internal Audit Plan, which is risk based, is agreed annually by the Head 
of Finance, Senior Leadership Team and the Council’s Audit Committee. This 
provides the basis for the review of internal control and governance within the 
Council and includes the following: -  

o Annual reviews of the Council’s key financial systems by Internal Audit 
against known and evolving risks.  

o Reviews of internal controls in operation within each service area against 
known and evolving risks based on a detailed risk assessment. These 
reviews consider the strategic and operational risks identified in the 
Corporate Risk Register, as well as materiality, sensitivity and previous 
audit and inspection findings. 

o Work in relation to the investigation of any potential irregularities 
identified either from audit work or through the Council’s whistle-blowing 
policy.  

o Advice and support to ensure future safeguards when implementing new 
systems. 

o Value for money work in relation to assessing the efficiency, economy 
and effectiveness of the Council’s operations and recommending 
improvements as necessary. 

The Council also receives assurance from the NHS Internal Audit Confederation 
(Audit South West) over the controls in operation at Torbay and Southern Devon 
NHS Foundation Trust which covers the provision of adult social care services. 

Achievement against the Audit Plan is reported to the Audit Committee on a twice 
yearly basis. This report also includes an opinion and assurance about the system of 
internal control throughout the Council. 

Regular meetings are held between the Chief Finance Officer and a representative of 
the Devon Audit Partnership to discuss specific issues that have arisen. 

Page 188



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

140 
 

Review of Effectiveness  

Torbay Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the 
effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control. 
The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of managers within the 
Authority who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment, the Head of the Devon Audit Partnership’s annual report, 
and also by comments made by the External Auditors and other review agencies and 
inspectorates. This review is demonstrated through the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

As in previous years, Devon Audit Partnership undertook certain assurance work on 
behalf of the Council and to give assurance to the external auditors as part their 
audit opinion. 

The effectiveness of the governance framework has been evaluated over the course 
of the year against the seven core principles within Torbay Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. Details of the evaluation is included in the sections which 
follow. Whilst some governance issues have been identified (and are detailed 
below), the Council believes that its arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for 
purpose in accordance with the governance framework. 

Focusing on the purpose of the authority and on outcomes for the local community 
and creating and implementing a vision for the local area 

The Council’s new Community and Corporate Plan “One Torbay: Working for all 
Torbay” was adopted in February 2020. The associated Delivery Plans which set out 
the challenges faced by the Council and the areas on which the Council would focus 
on were due to be considered in March, but with the outbreak of the pandemic, 
have been paused to ensure that they are focussed on how the Council will work in 
recovery. The subsequent Performance and Risk Dashboards which set out how the 
Council will measure its performance towards meeting the ambitions of the 
Corporate Plan and the actions in the Delivery Plans will be created as part of the 
current Performance and Risk Framework review. These will include progress against 
each action within the Delivery Plans and an identification of the priorities for the 
coming months. 

Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly 
defined functions and roles 

The Council’s Constitution was rewritten ahead of the change to the Leader and 
Cabinet model of governance in May 2019. It has also been continually reviewed 
throughout the year by the Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer and 
Governance Support Manager in consultation with the Leader of the Council and 
Group Leaders whereby improvements and changes to the constitution were made 
and agreed.  

Page 189



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

141 
 

A full Member Induction Programme was put in place immediately post the Local 
Elections in May 2019. Over the course of the year, the second phase of the Member 
Development Programme continued to build members’ focus on the strategic issues. 

Promoting values for the authority and demonstrating the values of good 
governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour 

The Standards Committee was re-appointed and met as required during 2019/2020. 
The Monitoring Officer continues to meet with the Independent Person (appointed 
to assist the Standards Committee in the Member Complaint Process) to hear their 
views and opinions on various matters relating to Members’ conduct. The 
Monitoring Officer had received complaints which were dealt with in accordance 
with the Assessment and Determination of Allegations of Breaches of the Member’s 
Code of Conduct and were not progressed to the Standards Committee. 

The Council’s Code of Conduct, Information Governance, Whistleblowing and 
Acceptable Behaviour policies are available for all staff on MyView. They are also 
referred to within employees’ terms and conditions of employment and are binding 
upon employees during the course of their employment with the Council. Reminders 
are sent out to staff via newsletters and internal communications, including the Chief 
Executive’s Letter. The Council’s induction programme also signposts to the above 
policies for new starters.  

The Head of the Paid Service, the Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer 
continue to meet regularly to ensure that there is a forum to ensure that the values 
of the authority are promoted and that good governance is demonstrated. 

Business ethics, values and culture are an important part of improving an 
organisation’s governance process and we continue to place great importance on 
this. 

Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny 
and managing risk 

Meetings of the Cabinet are well-established, enabling reports to be presented and 
considered ahead of decisions being made collectively in the public domain. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board has met throughout the year to hold the Leader 
and Cabinet to account, and the Audit Committee has also met regularly. This aims 
to provide assurance within the decision making process.  

The Overview and Scrutiny Board has undertaken a range of work from reviewing 
draft Policy Framework documents to matters arising from budget monitoring 
reports. There has been one decision called-in since the start of the new 
administration. 

The Audit Committee has received the Internal Audit Plan together with updates on 
the progress against the Plan. The Committee has received the Council’s Statement 
of Accounts and Treasury Management Strategy. 

Page 190



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

142 
 

The framework for Performance and Risk has been under review since the election 
of the new administration and the subsequent adoption of the new Community and 
Corporate Plan “One Torbay: Working for all Torbay”. As a result, new Performance 
and Risk Dashboards are in development to reflect the priorities of the Plan, measure 
the specific actions within the ensuing delivery plans and ensure current strategic or 
operational risks are identified, mitigated and monitored. 
 
The Council’s Information Asset Register has been compiled and is subject to regular 
review as part of the Council’s GDPR project plan, this allows the Council to 
understand the information being processed across all departments, the lawful basis 
for processing and the security measures associated with the information asset. 

Decisions taken by the Investment and Regeneration Committee, up to May 2019, 

and subsequently by the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s Investment and 

Regeneration Portfolio are taken in accordance with the Investment and 

Regeneration Fund Strategy. This Strategy sets out how the Council aims to improve 

its financial resilience through the purchase of a balance portfolio of investments 

which appropriately spreads the Council’s risk, as well as supporting the Economic 

Strategy by delivering economic growth, tackling inequality and creating change in 

the area that benefits everyone. The Strategy also sets the framework to ensure that 

appropriate due diligence is undertaken during the decision making process in 

relation to the Council’s investments. 

The Council has also established an Economic Growth Fund to help further deliver 
economic growth within Torbay. Applications for money from this Fund are 
determined in accordance with the Economic Growth Fund Criteria approved by the 
Cabinet, which is similar to the investment criteria but allows more flexibility in 
terms of income generated, as its main role it to enable growth and create jobs in 
Torbay. Such investments are also subject to appropriate due diligence. 

Developing the capacity and capability of members and officers to be effective 

The Senior Leadership Team has kept the operation of its meetings under review 
over the course of the year in order to increase their capacity to focus on those 
issues of strategic importance. 
 
The Members’ Development Programme continues to be delivered including training 
on Planning, Information Governance and the Data Protection Act and Corporate 
Parenting and communication with councillors was supplemented by Councillor 
Conversations which take place to provide an informal opportunity to discuss 
forthcoming issues. Councillors learning and development is also supported with 
external training opportunities available from The Local Government Association, 
The Devon Shared Service and Peers from other authorities. 

Key messages and information are communicated from the Senior Leadership Team 
directly to all managers at quarterly Managers Forums. This is then fed back in team 
meetings with an emphasis on the cascade of information to front line staff. 

Page 191



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

143 
 

A number of staff volunteers from different areas across the Council have been 
recruited to become Wellbeing Supporters. They are a confidential point of contact 
for employees experiencing emotional distress or a mental health issue. This 
interaction could range from having an initial conversation to supporting and 
signposting the person to get appropriate help. Volunteers attended ‘Connect 5’ 
training to provide them with the right tools and knowledge to carry out their roles. 

Induction events are periodically held for all new starters. These events form part of 
the formal induction programme and aim to; welcome new employees to the 
council, give new employees important information, enable a networking 
opportunity and enable new employees to meet the Executive Director and/or 
member of the Senior Leadership Team and ask questions. 

Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability 

Consultation and service user engagement has continued to take place in relation to 
service change. This work has included consultation on the proposals for budget 
savings and income generation. 

There continues to be good engagement from partners within Torbay Together 

Partnership and an independent Chairman continues to lead the partnership over 

the last year.  The Partnership took time to reflect in February as to their progress to 

date, and how they can improve going forward. This reflection session was 

independently facilitated, and attended by the LGA and local MPs to gain their 

advice and insight.  They have continued to meet virtually through the pandemic, 

and are more determined than ever to work together for the benefit of Torbay. 

Torbay Council held its first Community Conference on 11 September 2019 to help 

develop a new and more engaged relationship between the Council, individuals and 

communities in Torbay. Community stakeholders and members of the public were 

invited to attend. Following the conference the Cabinet agreed a detailed action plan 

and made the following commitments to the community of Torbay: 

 We will embrace the spirit of co-operation and partnership. 

 We will be open with our communities about the challenges that the Council 

faces. 

 We will work to empower and enable our communities. 

 We will operate with openness and transparency. 

 

The Annual Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Board has been published and 
considered by the Council. 

The Statement of Accounts provides a Narrative Report which explains the Council’s 
achievements against the Corporate Plan over the past year alongside the Council’s 
financial performance. 

Page 192



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

144 
 

The Council carried out the planned second phase of a Community Governance 
Review to determine whether changes should be made to the existing local 
governance arrangements, including whether or not to establish new town or parish 
councils for parts of Torbay where they do not currently exist.  
 
This phase of consultation featured a series of events including roadshows, Facebook 
live sessions, attendance at a range of community meetings and an open public 
event held at the Riviera Centre. A series of information videos was made available 
and a questionnaire hosted on the Council’s website that attracted over 1,700 
responses. The second stage of community engagement ended in October 2019.  
 
In light of the wishes of the significant majority of respondents, who did not support 
any of the proposals for change, Cabinet’s recommendation was that there be no 
change to existing community governance arrangements in Torbay. This 
recommendation was accepted by Council at its meeting on 9 January 2020. 
 
A public consultation on the Community and Corporate Plan “One Torbay: Working 
for all Torbay”, took place between November 2019 and January 2020. The aim of 
the consultation was to ensure that residents, business owners, stakeholders and 
groups were aware of the proposed new Community and Corporate Plan and to 
encourage them to provide feedback via an on-line questionnaire. 
 
This consultation and that of the Draft Housing Strategy and Draft 2020/21 Budget 
proposals were promoted in a press release, on our social media and using posters in 
public offices and libraries as well as in key community locations. A number of 
Facebook live question and answer sessions were held, in order to attempt to 
achieve a greater reach. Community Partnerships and key stakeholders were 
contacted directly to ensure they could get involved in the conversation and share 
awareness within their communities. Links to the on-line questionnaires were sent to 
just over 400 Viewpoint panel members and all Council staff. The draft plan was 
considered by members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board.  
 
A drop-in Cabinet Conversation was held on 14 January 2020 where members of the 
public could ask questions about the Budget, Draft Community and Corporate Plan 
and the Draft Housing Strategy. The consultation was rounded off by a public event 
organised by Torbay Community Development Trust (TCDT).  
 

The partnership have introduced drop-in Cabinet Conversation events to enable 
people to talk to members about issues that matter to them. These are held with the 
aim of involving communities more in the work carried out by the Council to improve 
Torbay. 

 

Page 193



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

145 
 

Securing continuous improvement in service delivery and ensuring that its agreed 
policies, priorities and decisions are implemented on time, in a manner consistent 
with the needs of its user and in the most effective way 

The approach to managing and reporting corporate performance and risk is being 
reviewed and updated as part of the framework of new policies stemming from the 
adoption of the new Community and Corporate Plan and its delivery plans. 
Corporate performance and risk reports will be reviewed regularly by the Senior 
Leadership Team, Leader of the Council and Cabinet, Group Leaders and the Audit 
Committee. This will enable any areas of concern to be highlighted and recovery 
plans to be prepared, scrutinised and monitored. The Audit Committee will refer 
matters by exception to the Overview and Scrutiny Board if it is felt that further 
investigation is required. 

A tracking system to ensure that actions to address areas identified by Internal Audit 
as requiring improvement are monitored by the Joint Operations Management 
Team, has been reviewed and is in development. 

Ofsted re-inspected our children’s social care services in June and July 2018 and 
concluded that overall they remained inadequate. Ofsted carried out monitoring 
visits to our children’s social care services in April and October of 2019 and January 
of 2020.  

Although the current Ofsted rating of inadequate has not changed since 2015, the 
January 2020 Ofsted letter acknowledges the progress that is being made, and that 
the DfE have appointed a commissioner to support Torbay going forward. They 
stated that leaders have a sound understanding of the key priorities for 
improvement and recognise the immense challenges they face. Leaders are highly 
visible and accessible, inspiring increased confidence with the workforce. It is vital 
that these early signs of progress are secured and sustained. 

The joint arrangement to share a Director of Children’s Services between Plymouth 
and Torbay councils was reviewed in 2019/20. The review concluded that each 
authority needs its own Director to increase strategic capacity and to respectively 
ensure necessary improvements to services. The arrangement came to an end in 
January 2020 when an Interim Director was appointed who was subsequently made 
Director permanently in mid-February 2020. 

The Draft Annual Audit Report for 2019/2020 set out that the Head of Internal 
Audit’s opinion was one of “Substantial Assurance” on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of much of the Council’s internal control framework. The exception to 
this is the Children’s Directorate where they were only able to provide “Limited 
Assurance” at this time however the Directorate is showing a positive direction of 
travel and is currently driving significant change through a service programme, 
including a complex migration to a new IT system. The Local Authority’s Children’s 
Services, is under a Government appointed Commissioner and Adult Social Care is 
delivered through the Integrated Care Organisation, which has its own scrutiny 
function. 

Page 194



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

146 
 

The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance 
requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government (2010). 

A new partnership agreement changed the way that two key services for children 
and young people are run. The Torbay Youth Service and the Young Carers Service 
are now delivered by Torbay Youth Trust. This arrangement will result in more 
opportunities to creatively support young people in Torbay to be happy, healthy, 
safe and to achieve, than would be available if the services were delivered solely by 
the local authority. 

As part of the work of developing the Community and Corporate Plan, a new Housing 
Strategy for 2020-2025 was approved by Council in February 2020. This strategy and 
four other associated strategies set out the Cabinet’s plans toward meeting its 
priority of improving the delivery, affordability and quality of housing in Torbay. 

 

Significant governance issues 

In their Draft Annual Report, Internal Audit identified Covid-19 measures have 
resulted in a significant level of challenge to the Council and put pressure on the 
expected control environment; the need for prompt and urgent action by officers 
has required changes to some procedures and control arrangements. The level of 
impact this had in 2019/20, and continues to have in 2020/21, is changing as the 
situation develops. In respect of this statement it has not been possible to fully 
quantify the additional risk that may have arisen from such emergency and short-
term measures or fully determine the overall impact on the framework of 
governance, risk management and control.  
 
In response to the outbreak Torbay Council has had to adapt significantly but is able 
to continue delivering a mostly normal service to our community. The vast majority 
of staff are able to work productively from home with agile working kits and via 
video meetings. Staff wellbeing is being supported through weekly wellbeing 
updates and dedicated web pages covering a range issues affecting staff in and 
outside of work. 

As mentioned earlier in this statement, alternative arrangements were made to 
accommodate social distancing and public meetings were cancelled. The Leader of 
the Council changed the delegation arrangements to enable him as Leader to make 
executive decisions rather than collectively by the Cabinet. All councillors were 
trained in the use and etiquette of video conferencing for formal meetings, in 
advance of the start of virtual committee meetings and collective responsibility for 
decisions by Cabinet and Full Council has been re-instated. 

Page 195



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

147 
 

The Council endeavoured to provide regular, timely and relevant communications of 
official Information and guidance as well as changes to our services to the Torbay 
community, through our website and social media channels.  

The Council worked to support the community by providing many more Covid-19 
related services, such as the Community Hub which is distributing PPE and food 
parcels and the Shielding Call Centre which is making thousands of calls to our most 
vulnerable residents. We are allocating business support grants and funding for 
community groups who are responding to the coronavirus outbreak. Financial 
support is also being offered to individuals experiencing financial hardship.  

At the moment there is uncertainty over how the outbreak will fully affect our 
finances. It is clear that the coronavirus will have an impact on our savings proposals 
and it will have a big impact on the amount of income we can generate this year. The 
government’s funding to support the extra costs we have incurred for the services 
put in place as part of our COVID response and to mitigate some of the impact it’s 
had on our financial position, is not expected to cover the loss in income that we are 
experiencing. We will continue to work with neighbouring authorities and our local 
MPs to seek an urgent response from the government on this matter. Our recovery 
from the economic and social impact will also continue long after the more obvious 
health response. 

As outlined in an earlier section, Ofsted re-inspected our children’s social care 
services in June and July 2018 and concluded that overall they remained inadequate. 
Ofsted carried out monitoring visits to our children’s social care services in April and 
October of 2019 and January of 2020 and concluded that overall they remained 
inadequate. 

Although the current Ofsted rating of inadequate has not changed since 2015, the 
January 2020 Ofsted letter acknowledges the progress that is being made, and that 
the DfE have appointed a commissioner to support Torbay going forward. They 
stated that leaders have a sound understanding of the key priorities for 
improvement and recognise the immense challenges they face. Leaders are highly 
visible and accessible, inspiring increased confidence with the workforce. The letter 
also recognises the considerable political support here at Torbay Council to improve 
our children’s services. It is vital that these early signs of progress are secured and 
sustained. 

Audit’s Draft report on Children’s Services Contracted / Commissioned Services in 
March 2020, identified a Lack of consistent compliance with Financial Regulations 
and Contract Standing Orders in relation to procurement practices. Although there 
are some properly procured suppliers and supplier framework arrangements in 
place, there is a notable proportion of engagement with suppliers and value of spend 
that is not compliant with statutory and regulatory requirements, including failure to 
update the Contracts Register appropriately. Greater strategic level oversight of 
procurement is needed with less devolvement to, and less spot purchasing by, 
service teams. 

Page 196



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

148 
 

Audit identified control issues in relation to authorisation of spend outside of the 
framework and have made recommendations that must also be reflected in Liquid 
Logic which will replace the PARIS system. Similarly, control weaknesses around 
payments were noted, suggesting either inaccuracies in recording in PARIS or errors 
in payments made. These issues could be addressed through properly recorded 
schedules of charges and intended payments in PARIS. Similarly, a lack of effective 
monitoring of supplier service and reporting to senior management for spend 
outside of the framework arrangements was noted. The Corporate Procurement 
Manager is currently temporarily overseeing procurement in Children’s Services and 
reviewing practices including driving a culture change in relation to procurement. 
Children’s Services has had oversight from the Deputy Head of Finance from August 
2019. A number of Sufficiency Strategy Workstreams were created to develop the 
services for children who may need care, or who are on the edge of care and as such, 
business cases have been developed which address some of the recommendations 
made by Audit. These were submitted to Cabinet and the recommendations in the 
accompanying report were agreed by the Leader of the Council on 21 April 2020. 
 
The internal audit report on Better Care Fund (BCF) (March 2018) found insufficient 
information available to undertake testing as to whether BCF, and Improved Better 
Care Fund iBCF, monies have been spent in line with approved Plans. A follow up 
review report (November 2019) was still unable to provide assurance that monies 
have been spent in line with approved plans. It found that monitoring systems were 
being set up and projects are ongoing but some individual programmes/projects had 
a number of issues resulting in a lack of transparency, accountability and 
governance. The audit opinion is that improvement is required. 
 
The internal audit report on the Brixham Express Ferry (March 2018) identified 
fundamental weaknesses as there was a lack of documentary evidence available to 
provide assurance that the all-year round ferry project, and the related contract with 
Brixham Express Ltd, were managed and monitored effectively. Audit were unable to 
revise this opinion in their follow up report in November 2019 as there has been 
little progress in establishing a methodology to ensure that documentation for future 
projects is retained appropriately. Officers are aware of the need for this and will be 
exploring options.  
 

In 2018, the internal audit report on the compliance of Tor Bay Harbour Authority 
with the Port Marine Safety Code found that improvements were required and 
reported that there was a lack of compliance against the requirements of the Code. 
However the internal audit report on the Port Marine Safety Code (November 2019) 
subsequently found that Tor Bay Harbour Authority is currently compliant but there 
remain concerns in relation to land-based Health and Safety (H&S), however these 
concerns are outside of the scope of the Code and are being investigated, managed 
and resolved through the Council’s Health and Safety Team in conjunction with the 
Tor Bay Harbour Authority. 
 

Devon Audit Partnership conducted a follow-up of its 2015-2016 audit of Sports Pitch 
Leases and the report was published in March 2018. The audit opinion remained as 

Page 197



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

149 
 

improvements required as it did in the second follow up report in November 2019. 
Progress has been limited. In some cases, this is due to changes in operational 
priorities, the inability to make changes to existing lease agreements, and general 
ongoing capacity issues. The risk therefore remains that income from sports pitch 
leasing is not maximised and remain, in some cases, detrimental to the Council. In 
relation to some outstanding rental income, recovery is now being progressed.  

A follow-up of the 2014-2015 audit of Section 106 Agreements was also undertaken 
and report published in November 2019. The initial audit opinion had been one of 
“Fundamental Weaknesses” this was revised to “Improvements Required” in the 
follow up of July 2018. A project to implement a s106 and CIL Monitoring system has 
made significant progress with live implementation planned for early 2020. This will 
provide means for effective monitoring, and minimise previously identified 
associated risks. A s106 and CIL Monitoring Officer has been appointed and regular 
meetings to monitor progress have been put in place. As the solution had yet to go 
live, Audit were unable to revise their opinion at the time of the November 2019 
follow up. 

The Audit review of Health and Safety found improvements were required as there 
had been a failure to a set clear H&S direction for the organisation to follow, and a 
fundamental weakness to identify and manage H&S risks. However the team have 
now made significant progress and are having a positive impact on corporate H&S 
with limited resources. SLT are promoting a cultural shift in relation to H&S, and this 
includes a clear strategy and robust action plan to address the issues raised by an 
external review. This included additional resources for training, a new Corporate 
H&S Officer, and the procurement of an electronic H&S management system, all of 
which have been delivered.  

In addition to the above, there were a number of reviews undertaken by internal 
audit during the course of the year which found that improvements were required. 
In most cases management actions plans have been put in place and these will be 
monitored on a regular basis via the Joint Operations Management Team. In those 
cases were management action plans have yet to be agreed, the Chief Executive will 
ensure that plans are developed as a matter of urgency.  

 
Conclusion 

Overall, during the course of the year we have ensured that we are delivering against 
our agreed action plans in order to maintain our robust corporate governance 
arrangements. Our decision making processes are understood by members and 
officers and the mechanisms which support those processes operate effectively. 

We have recognised where there are areas for further improvement as outlined 
within this Statement. We propose, over the coming year, to take the steps detailed 
in the action plan below to address these areas to further enhance our governance 
arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the issues identified and 
we will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual 
review. 

Page 198



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

150 
 

 

 

Anne Marie Bond    Councillor Steve Darling  
Interim Chief Executive   Leader of the Council   

Page 199



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Group Accounts 
 

151 
 

Action Responsible 
Officer 

Deadline 

Review of lessons to be learned from Torbay 
Council’s Covid19 response 

Senior 
Leadership Team 

31 March 
2021 

Continue to deliver the Children’s Services 
Ofsted Improvement Plan 

Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

31 March 
2021 

Deliver the Action Plan in response to the 
Internal Audit report on Children’s Services 
Contracted / Commissioned Services 

Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

31 March 
2021 

Deliver the Action Plan in response to the 
Internal Audit report on the Better Care Fund 

Director of Adult 
Services 

31 March 
2021 

Deliver the Action Plan in response to the 
Internal Audit report on the Brixham Express 
Ferry 

Director of Place 31 March 
2021 

Deliver the Action Plan in response to the 
Internal Audit report on the Port Marine Safety 
Code 

Director of Place 31 March 
2021 

Deliver the Action Plan in response to the 
Internal Audit report on Sports Pitch Leases 

Director of Place 31 March 
2021 

Deliver the Action Plan in response to the 
Internal Audit report on Section 106 
Agreements 

Director of Place 31 March 
2021 

Deliver the Action Plan in response to the 
Internal Audit report on Corporate Health and 
Safety  

Senior 
Leadership Team 

31 March 
2021 

Develop the Community and Corporate Plan 
Delivery Plans 

Senior 
Leadership Team 

31 March 
2021 

Implement and monitor the Performance and 
Risk Framework 

Senior 
Leadership Team 

31 March 
2021 

 

Page 200



Torbay Council 
2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 
 

152 
 

 

A 

 

Academy Schools – These are independent schools publically funded from the Department of 

Education. Community (i.e. Council controlled) schools can transfer to academy status where they will 

often become charitable trusts.   

Accumulating Compensated Absences Adjustment Account - The Accumulating Compensated 

Absences Adjustment Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General 

Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year e.g. annual 

leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the 

General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

 

Actuarial Remeasurements – For a defined pension scheme, the changes in actuarial deficits or 

surpluses that arise because events have not matched previous assumptions and/or actuarial 

assumptions have changed. 

 

Agency – Under an agency arrangement the Council acts on behalf of other bodies, so in effect any 

monies that flow through the Council’s accounts under that arrangement are not the Council’s asset or 

liability.  

 

Amortisation - a term used to refer to the charging of the value of a transaction or asset (usually related 

to intangible assets or deferred charges) to the Income and Expenditure Account over a period of time, 

reflecting the value to the Council (similar to the depreciation charge for tangible fixed assets). 

 

Amortised Cost – the fair value of a financial instrument valued using the effective interest rate inherent 

in the contract.  

 

Asset categories & their definitions: 

Property, Plant & Equipment category on the balance sheet is comprised of a number of sub 

categories: 

Vehicles, Plant & Equipment – Assets used for operational purposes 

Community Assets - assets which the Council intends to hold in perpetuity, which may have an 

indeterminate life and may have restrictions on disposal. 

Surplus Assets – assets which are surplus to service needs but do not meet the criteria to be 

classified as Assets Held for Sale. 

Infrastructure Assets – assets which form the underlying framework of the physical environment 

and by their nature cannot be sold.  They include coastal defence and drainage systems and 

transport infrastructure assets. Transport infrastructure assets form the underlying transport 

framework of the physical environment and by their nature cannot be sold.  They include 

highways, footways, and associated assets. 

Assets under construction (Work in Progress) - where capital projects are incomplete and the 

assets under construction are not yet operational at the year end. 

Other Land and Buildings – Assets used for operational purposes, including any operational 

heritage assets.

GLOSSARY 

Page 201



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 

153 
 

Assets Held For Sale – a category of property where the property is expected to be sold and is to be 

actively marketed so is classified as a current asset rather than a non current asset. 

 

Assets Under Construction – expenditure incurred to date on an asset that is being constructed and 

at balance sheet date is not operational. 
 

Authorised for Issue Date – The date up to which the Council will have included latest information of 

financial transactions that would have a significant impact on both the Accounts for the year or on the 

readers understanding of the Council’s financial position. 

 

Available-for-sale assets - (i.e. investments and cash equivalents) - assets that have a quoted 

market price and/or do not have fixed or determinable payments. 

   

B 

 

Borrowing - Councils borrow to fund Capital expenditure or for temporary cash flow requirements. The 

majority of Council borrowing will be from Central Government by means of the Public Works Loans 

Board. Councils are free to use other borrowing options provided they are within the Council’s treasury 

management arrangements. 

 

C 

 

Capital Expenditure - payments made for the acquisition, provision or improvement of assets, which 

will be of a long-term value to the Council, e.g., land and buildings.  

 

Capital Adjustment Account - The Capital Adjustment Account represents the capital funding used 

to finance capital investment immediately from capital receipts and directly from revenue. It also 

contains amounts which in the past were required by statute to be set aside from capital receipts for 

the repayment of external loans. The Account is also used to compensate the General Fund Revenue 

Account for any excess of charges paid in respect of depreciation of assets over the statutory 

Minimum Revenue Provision which Council Taxpayers are required to bear. The Capital Adjustment 

Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for the 

consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of 

those assets under statutory provisions.  The Account is debited with the cost of acquisition, 

construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the 

Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The Account is credited 

with the amounts set aside by the Council as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and 

enhancement. 

The Account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties and accumulated 

losses on Assets held for Sale that have yet to be consumed by the Council. The Account also 

contains revaluation gains accumulated on non current assets before 1 April 2007, the date that the 

Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains.  

 

 

Capital Financing Requirement - The Capital Financing Requirement shows the underlying need to 

borrow as a result of capital investment and resources set aside in the year. The CFR was introduced 

from 1 April 2004 by the Prudential Code for Capital Finance and reflects the movement in the 

Balance Sheet Accounts for Fixed Assets, Capital Financing Account, Government Grants Deferred 

and the Fixed Asset Restatement Account. 

Capital Grants and Contributions Unapplied Reserve - This reserve holds the balance of any 

capital grants and contributions at the end of each financial year that have been received and 

recognised as income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account but not yet applied to 

finance capital expenditure.  

Capital Receipts - money received from the sale of assets or the repayment of grants and loans which 

Page 202



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 
 

154 
 

is available for financing future capital expenditure.  

Capital Receipts Reserve -  This reserve holds the balance of any capital receipts at the end of each 

financial year that have been received and recognised as income in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Account but not yet applied to finance capital expenditure.  

 

Cash & Cash Equivalents – cash, bank balances and short term investments that are held for the 

primary purpose of short term cash flow purposes and not for investment purposes. 

 

CCG - The NHS Torbay and South Devon Clinical Commissioning Group. The NHS body responsible 

for the commissioning of health services in Torbay. 

 

CIPFA – The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy – the accounting institute that 

helps regulate and support accountants in the public sector. 

 

CCLA – Churches, Charities and Local Authorities. A property fund used for some of the Council’s cash 

investments  

 

Code – The CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice – the guidance for Council’s in producing their IFRS 

compliant accounts. 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account - The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the 

differences arising from the recognition of council tax and NNDR income in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from council tax payers compared with the statutory 

arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund. 

 

Contingent asset - arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible asset 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 

wholly within the control of the Council. 

Contingent liability - arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible obligation 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 

wholly within the control of the Council 

 

Corporate and Democratic Core – All activities which the Council engage in specifically because they 

are elected, multi-purpose authorities. 

 

Current – a term applied to different categories of assets and liabilities to reflect that the asset or liability 

will be used or incurred within twelve months. 

 

Current Service Costs (pension) – The increase in the present value of a defined benefit pension 

scheme’s costs due to the employee service in the current period. 

 

Current Value – The value that the majority of fixed assets are held at in the Council’s balance sheet. 

This value reflects the most recent valuation of that asset or pending a valuation the current value is 

increased by capital expenditure on that asset. 

 

Curtailment – For a defined benefit pension scheme, an event that reduces the expected years of 

future service of employees. 

 

Creditors - amounts owed by the Council for work done, goods received or services rendered but for 

which payment had not been made by the end of the year.  

 

 

D 

 

 

Page 203



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 
 

155 
 

DfE – the Department of Education, the central government department responsible for a number of 

service including schools.  

 

Debtors - sums of money due to the Council but unpaid at the end of the year.  

 

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve – reserve to reflect the value of future capital receipts for assets 

treated as disposal but with an ongoing rental stream from a long term lease. 

 

Defined contribution / defined benefit schemes (Pension costs) – There is an important distinction 

between defined contribution and defined benefit schemes in terms of pension accounting.  

 

Defined contribution:  

• employer pays fixed amounts into the scheme and has no obligation to pay further amounts if 

the scheme does not have sufficient assets to pay employee benefits  

• accounted for by charging employer contributions to revenue as they become payable  

 

Defined benefit:  

• retirement benefits are determined independently of the investments of the scheme and 

employers have obligations to make contributions where assets are insufficient to meet employee 

benefits  

• accounted for by recognising liabilities as benefits are earned (i.e. employees work qualifying 

years of service), matching them with the organisations attributable share of the scheme’s 

investments  

 

Depreciation - Amounts set aside from the revenue account which represents the wearing out, 

consumption of loss of value of a fixed asset spread over the useful life of the asset. 

 

Discount Rate – A high quality corporate bond rate (usually AA) that the pension actuary uses to 

estimate the value of the pension liability 

 

DWP – the Department of Work and Pensions – a central government department that deals primarily 

with welfare benefits. 

 

E 

 

EFA - Education Funding Authority – a central government body that is responsible for the majority of 

schools funding. 

 

EFW – Energy From Waste facility, opened in April 2015 in Plymouth that disposes of Torbay’s domestic 

waste  

 

EMMF – Enhanced Money Market Fund, a pooled fund used for Council cash investments where the 

net asset value can vary. 

 

Exceptional Items – Events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Council and 

need to be disclosed separately due to their size to give fair presentation of the accounts. 

 

Expected Losses – a model for assessing the value of the impairment of assets using a forward look 

rather than relying on evidence that impairment has taken place 

 

Expected Rate of Return on Pension Assets – The average rate of return, including income but net 

of scheme expenses, expected over the remaining life of the pension. 

 

Extraordinary Items – Abnormal material items are those which fall outside the ordinary activities of 

the Council and which are not expected to recur. 

 

F 

Page 204



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 
 

156 
 

 

Fair Value – the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date  

 

Fair Value through Profit and Loss – A classification of a type of financial asset. The Council’s fund 

manager holding has been designated into this category as this holding meets the definition of this type 

of financial instrument – I.e. the holding is part of a portfolio of investments managed as a whole. 

 

Financial Guarantee – a liability reconginsed to reflect any legal agreements with a third party that 

may incur a cost to the council if the future if that third party is unable to meet a specified future cost if 

it occurs.. 

 

Finance Lease – A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of an asset to the lessee. Accounting guidance requires that it should be presumed that such 

a transfer of risks and rewards occurs if at the inception of a lease the present value of the minimum 

lease payments including any initial payment, amounts to substantially all (normally ninety per cent or 

more) of the fair value of the leased asset. The present value is calculated by using the interest rate 

implicit in the lease.  

 

Financial Instrument – a general term relating to a number of contractual arrangements, such as 

investments, borrowing, debtors and creditors, that a Council may incur. Based on this classification 

there are a number of additional accounting requirements relating to the fair value of an arrangement 

which may be different to the contractual amount due to an assessment of risk or value. 

 

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account - The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for income and 
expenses relating to certain financial instruments such as the CCLA Property Fund per statutory 
provisions.  Also known as the pooled investment fund adjustment reserve. 

 

Funded Pension Liabilities – These are liabilities relating to pensions due in the future to members of 

a pension fund based on the “standard” entitlements within the scheme. 

 

G 

 

Grants – Receipts in Advance – a grant from central government or other body that has conditions 

that will require repayment of the grant if not complied with. These grants are not recognised as income 

until the conditions are met.  

 

H 

 

Heritage Assets -  Heritage assets are those assets that are intended to be preserved in trust for 
future generations because of their cultural, environmental or historical associations. Heritage assets 
include historical buildings, archaeological sites, civic regalia, museum and gallery collections and 
works of art.  

 

Historical Cost – the historical or original cost of a fixed asset can be increased by further capital 

expenditure on that asset.  

 

I 

 

ICO - Integrated Care organisation - The "descriptive" name for the Torbay and South Devon NHS 

Foundation Trust as the provider of health and adult social care service to both Torbay Council and the 

Clinical Commissioning Group. 

 

Impairment – A reduction in the value of a fixed asset, below its balance sheet value. 

 

Page 205



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 
 

157 
 

Insurance Contracts – a contract under which one party (the insurer) accepts significant insurance 

risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified 

uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder. The Council’s pension 

guarantees are within this classification.   

 

Intangible Assets – (notably software) are recognised on the Balance Sheet at their cost of acquisition 

or development but only revalued in restricted circumstances. 

 

Interest Costs for Pensions (net) – The expected increase in value for a defined benefit scheme, as 

it draws closer to settlement. 

 

Investment Properties – land and buildings held only for the income stream or for capital appreciation. 

 

IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standards. These are the financial “rules” that Council 

accounts will have to comply with. These rules should be consistently applied throughout all bodies 

throughout the world. 

 

J 

 

Joint Committee – a formal committee of local authorities established under the provisions of Local 

Government Act 1972 usually for the management of a shared service. 

 

Joint Operation - An arrangement under which participants engage in joint activities with joint control 

but do not create a legal entity  

 

Joint Venture - An arrangement under which the participants engage in joint activities with joint control 

by means of a separate vehicle/entity. 

 

L 

 

LEP – Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership. A regional body covering the geographical 

area of Devon and Cornwall focussing on business and transport activity.  

 

Liquid Resources – Current asset investments that are readily disposable by the Council without 

disrupting its business. 

 

Loans and receivables (i.e. investments and loans) - assets that have fixed or determinable 

payments but are not quoted in an active market 

 

LOBO – A “Lender Option, Borrowing Option” loan. Such a loan has a set rate for a defined period, 

after which point, the lender has the option of changing the rate. If that option is actioned the borrower 

then has the option to either accept the new rate or repay the loan. 

 

M 

 

MHCLG – the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, the central government 

department responsible for local government. 

 

MRP - Minimum Revenue Provision - The minimum amount which must be charged to a Council’s 

revenue account each year and set aside as provision for repayment of debt, as required by the Local 

Government Act 2003. For assets funded form unsupported borrowing this must be a “prudent” amount. 

  

N 

 

Net Book Value – The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet. 

 

Net Debt – The Council’s borrowings less cash investments. 

Page 206



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 
 

158 
 

 

New Homes Bonus Grant – A general grant that is linked to the growth in the number of properties 

available for occupation either from a new home or an empty home brought back into use. 

 

NNDR – National Non Domestic Rates, a national tax collected on a local level formally known as 

business rates. 

 

NNDR Retention Scheme - This method of funding Council’s moves Councils away from central 

government funding based on a service “needs” basis to one linked more to economic growth 

 

Non Current Assets – assets, primarily land and buildings that have an asset life of over one year and 

are not used for trading purposes. 

  

Non Distributed Cost –a category within the Council’s cost of services that represents past service 

costs (see below) and other costs that have not been attributed to specific services. 

 

O 

 

Operating Lease – An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease (please see above). The 

future obligations relating to operating leases are disclosed to provide the reader with an estimate of 

the outstanding un discharged obligations in relation to such leases.  

 

P 

 

Past Service Cost – The increase in the present value of a defined benefit pension scheme, as a result 

of improvements to, retirement benefits. 

 

Pensions Reserve - (Funded and Unfunded Liabilities) - The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing 

differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and 

for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The Council accounts for post-

employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are 

earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, 

changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.  

However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Council makes 

employer’s contributions to pension funds or pay any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  The 

debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned 

by past and current employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet them.  The 

statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside, (usually by means of 

adjusting contribution rates); by the time the benefits come to be paid. 

 

 

PFI - Private Finance Initiative – A method of using private investment to fund public sector schemes 

often supported by central government. The private sector typically builds an asset such as a school 

and then charges the Council over a period of typically 25 years to use and pay for the asset. 

 

Pooled Investment Fund Adjustment Account - absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for income and expenses relating to certain financial 
instruments such as the CCLA Property Fund per statutory provisions.  Also known as the Financial 
Instrument Adjustment Account. 

 

 

Post Balance Sheet Events – Those events, both favourable and unfavourable, which occur between 

the balance sheet date and the date on which the Statement of Accounts is signed. 

 

Page 207



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 
 

159 
 

Prior Period Adjustments – Those material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes 

in accounting policies or from the correction of fundamental errors. A fundamental error is one that is of 

such significance as to destroy the validity of the financial statements. 

 

Precept - A levy made by one statutory body on another to meet the net cost of its services. 

 

Precepting Body – the statutory body that makes a “precept” on a Council that is responsible for 

collecting Council Tax in an area. Town and parish Councils are classified as a Minor Precepting body 

which means they precept their tax requirement on the Council who then include that amount in their 

precept. 

 

Projected unit method (Pensions costs) – an accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme 

liabilities make allowance for projected earnings. An accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation 

method in which the scheme liabilities at the valuation date relate to:  

 

• the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased to be 

active members but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their dependants, 

allowing where appropriate for future increases, and  

• the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. The accrued benefits are 

the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether vested rights or not. 

 

Property, Plant & Equipment – a category of non current assets that show the carrying value of the 

Council’s operational assets. 

 

Provisions - amounts set aside for the purposes of providing for any liability or loss which is likely or 

certain to be incurred but is uncertain as to the amount or the date on which it will arise, e.g. bad debts.  

 

Prudential Code – The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities which is the 

guidance applicable from April 2004 for the greater freedom for Councils to borrow to fund capital 

investment (under the Local Government Act 2003). This Code requires the Council to set and 

monitor a suite of Prudential Indicators, including its Affordable Borrowing Limit, and establish its 

policy for using the new freedoms. 

Prudential Borrowing – see Unsupported Borrowing 

 

PWLB – see Borrowing 

 

R 

 

Related Party Transaction – Is the transfer of assets or liabilities, or the provision of services to or for 

a related party, irrespective of whether a charge is made. 

 

REFCUS – Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute. This represents expenditure 

that qualifies as capital for the purposes of government controls, but does not result in the acquisition, 

creation or enhancement of a tangible fixed asset. As a result the expenditure in this category and 

related grants or contributions are reported as revenue income and expenditure. 

 

Retirement Benefits – All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services 

rendered by employees that are payable after the completion of employment. 

 

Reserves – are available for meeting general and future expenditure, for example, capital expenditure 

on new projects or unforeseen occurrences. Reserves may also be used to smooth the cost of certain 

activities over a number of years, e.g., crematoria replacement.  

Revaluation Reserve – The Revaluation Reserve contains the net gains made by the Council arising 

from increases in the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets and the “frozen” 

revaluation gains in assets now classified as Investment Properties or as Assets Held for Sale.  The 

Page 208



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 
 

160 
 

balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 

 revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 

 disposed of and the gains are realised. 

 

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 

Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date were consolidated into the balance 

on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 

Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay - the financing of capital expenditure, directly funded from 

revenue or reserves, rather than from borrowing or other sources.  

 

Revenue Expenditure - expenditure on day-to-day expenses consisting mainly of employee costs, the 

running expenses of buildings and equipment and capital financing costs.  

 

Revenue Support Grant – a General Government Grant funded from national taxation to support the 

Council’s net expenditure. 

 

S 

 

 

S31 Grant – a grant awarded by central government to councils where the legal basis for the grant is 

s31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 

Scheme Liabilities – Money due on a defined benefit scheme due after the valuation date. 

 

Supported Borrowing – the amount of historic Council borrowing towards which the Government 

provided financial support through the annual Revenue Support Grant although this now significantly 

reduced by the ongoing austerity funding reductions 

 

SWISCo – South West Integrated Services Company. A subsidiary of Torbay Council. 

 

T 

 

TDA – Torbay Economic Development Company Ltd. A subsidiary of Torbay Council that trades as 

TDA. 

 

Total Cost – the actual cost of services reflects all of the direct, indirect and overhead costs that have 

been incurred in providing the service, even where the expenditure is not under the control of the 

service’s chief officer.  

 

U 

 

Unfunded Pension Liabilities – these are pension costs arising from additional service awarded by 

a Council on a discretionary basis. 

 

Unsupported (or Prudential) Borrowing – any borrowing the Council undertakes that is above and 

beyond the level of Supported Borrowing which the Government helps to fund and which therefore the 

Council has to fund completely from its own resources. 

 

Usable Reserves – a heading that reflects the Council’s reserves that can be used for supporting 

service delivery, including capital expenditure, in the future.  
 

Unusable Reserves – a heading that reflects the Council’s reserves that can not be used for 

Page 209



Torbay Council 
 2019/20 Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020 – Glossary 

 
 

161 
 

supporting services. These tend to be the result of notional accounting entries such as those that 

reflect previous capital financing, asset revaluations and the pension reserve. 

V 

VRP – Voluntary Revenue Provision – An additional sum that a Council can make to be set aside as 

provision for the future repayment of debt. 

 

Page 210



Meeting:  Audit Committee  Date:  23 November 2020 
                 Cabinet            15 December 2020  
 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
Report Title:  Performance and Risk Strategy and Framework 
 
Is the decision a key decision? Yes 
 
When does the decision need to be implemented?  December 2020 onwards 
 
Cabinet Member Contact Details:  Councillor Carter, Cabinet Member for Corporate and 
Community Services, christine.carter@torbay.gov.uk 
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Mark Hammett, Strategic Support Manager, 
mark.hammett@torbay.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Proposal and Introduction 

 
1.1 Through the Council’s Council Re-Design Programme it had been identified that the 

council and its wholly owned companies (SWISCo and TDA) needed to review its 
approach to managing its performance and risks. Therefore, this report proposes a 
new performance and risk strategy and framework for Torbay Council that relies on 
robust business planning and reporting across the organisation. 

 
1.2  Torbay Council and its wholly owned companies is faced with a range of challenges 

and opportunities in continuing to provide frontline and statutory services and this 
strategy and framework ensures that all staff, elected members and partners are 
clear on how they contribute to the delivery of the outcomes in the council’s 
Community and Corporate Plan and other key priorities. 

 
1.3 Performance management is essential to the success of Torbay Council and its 

ambitions as set out in the Community and Corporate Plan and its other key council 
priorities. Performance Management is a vital element of forward planning and 
continuous improvement. The Community and Corporate Plan has four main themes 
and the strategy and framework will support in its delivery. The Plan themes are: 

 

 Thriving People 

 Thriving Economy 

 Tackling Climate Change 

 Council Fit for the Future. 
 
1.4 Each of these themes span across the portfolios and responsibilities held by elected 

Cabinet Leads and service areas and routine business planning and performance 
monitoring will help to drive and join up the activities so that the council can measure 
its success and progress and realise its ambitions in each area. 

 

 

Page 211

Agenda Item 9



1.5 The strategy and framework also has the flexibility to enable the council to monitor 
performance on priorities that are not explicitly part of the Community and Corporate 
Plan via the collection and monitoring of performance indicators/performance 
standards. 

 
1.6 This strategy also provides a framework for the council and its wholly owned 

companies to consistently manage the risks that it faces and establishes a whole 
organisation process for identifying and managing these risks. Also where 
appropriate the key risks are linked to the related performance indicator so that the 
connection between the two is highlighted and can be addressed as appropriate. 

 
2. Reason for Proposal and associated financial commitments 
 
2.1 Torbay Council has a Community and Corporate Plan that is based on ensuring our 

local community thrives. To support the council in delivering this ambition as well as 
other key council priorities it will be essential that the council is able to monitor and 
improve its performance and management of risks. The adoption of a new 
performance and risk management strategy will enable this to take place. 

 
2.2 The proposals contained in this report may commit the Council financially in respect 

to the potential purchase of a new software system to replace Spar.Net the council’s 
current performance and risk software. However, the cost of the new software (if 
purchased) will be offset at least in part by the saving in money from ending the 
financial arrangements that provide Spar.net and any other associated systems. 
Further work will be required to determine the business case for the procurement of 
new performance and risk software. 

 

 
3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 

 
(i) That Audit Committee recommend to Cabinet the adoption and implementation of 

the new Performance and Risk Management Strategy as set out in Appendix One of 
this Report 

 
(ii) That Cabinet agree the adoption and implementation of the new Performance and 

Risk Management Strategy as set out in Appendix One of this Report. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1:  Performance and Risk Management Strategy  
 
Background Documents  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 212



 
Section 1:  Background Information 

 

 
1. 
 

 
What is the proposal / issue? 
Torbay Council needs to improve the way it manages its performance so that 
it is better equipped to deliver the ambitions as articulated in the Community 
and Corporate Plan as well as other key council priorities. 
 
It is also needs to implement a consistent and robust approach to risk 
management across the council and its wholly owned companies. 
 

 
2.   

 
What is the current situation? 
Currently the council has an underdeveloped approach to business planning 
which requires revision and also has a patchy and inconsistent approach to 
the collection and reporting of performance and risk data  
 
The software system that underpins the current approach to performance 
and risk is aged and under-utilised and is showing signs of no longer meeting 
the needs of the council. 
 

 
3. 

 
What options have been considered? 
In developing the performance and risk management strategy a range of 
strategies and frameworks were reviewed from other councils and public 
sector bodies. 
 
The option to not design a new performance and risk strategy and framework 
was not considered and is not advised. 
 

 
4. 

 
What is the relationship with the priorities within the Partnership 
Memorandum and the Council’s Principles? 
 
Priorities: 

 Thriving People and Communities 

 A Thriving Economy 

 A Climate Fit for the Future 

 A Council Fit for the Future 
 
Principles:  

 Use reducing resources to best effect 

 Reduce demand through prevention and innovation 

 Integrated and joined up approach 
 

 
5. 

 
How does this proposal/issue contribute towards the Council’s 
responsibilities as corporate parents? 
The adoption of the new performance and risk strategy and framework will 
enable the council to monitor and evaluate those performance 
standards/indicators and risks pertaining to its role as corporate parents and 
act upon this information accordingly. 
 

Page 213



 
6. 

 
How does this proposal/issue tackle poverty, deprivation and 
vulnerability? 
The adoption of the new performance and risk strategy and framework will 
enable the council to monitor and evaluate those performance 
standards/indicators and risks pertaining to its role in relation to poverty, 
deprivation and vulnerability and act upon this information accordingly. 

7. How does the proposal/issue impact on people with learning 
disabilities? 
The adoption of the new performance and risk strategy and framework will 
enable the council to monitor and evaluate those performance 
standards/indicators and risks pertaining to its role in relation to learning 
disabilities and act upon this information accordingly. 
 

8. Who will be affected by this proposal and who do you need to consult 
with?  How will the Council engage with the community?  How can the 
Council empower the community? 
The proposal will affect the whole population of Torbay as the management 
of the performance and risks related to council services impacts on all of the 
community. The council will engage and empower the community by sharing 
its performance and risks with the community when it is considered by the 
council. 
 

 
  

Page 214



 
Section 2:  Implications and Impact Assessment 

 

 
9. 
 

 
What are the financial and legal implications? 
The proposals contained in this report may commit the Council financially in 
respect to the potential purchase of a new software system to replace 
Spar.Net the council’s current performance and risk software. However, the 
cost of the new software (if purchased) will be offset by the saving in money 
from ending the financial arrangements that provide Spar.net and any other 
associated performance systems. Further work will be required to determine 
the business case for the procurement of new performance and risk 
software. 
 
There are no anticipated legal implications. 
 

 
10.   

 
What are the risks? 

 That the business planning process will not identify all the relevant 
performance indicators and risks 

 That the strategy and framework is not adequately resourced 

 That officer assessment of risk impact and probability is not accurate 

 That officer assessment of acceptable performance and targets is not 
accurate 

 That the performance and risk software required for the strategy and 
framework is not sufficient  

 

 
11. 

 
Public Services Value  (Social Value) Act 2012  
 
The proposal may require the procurement of new performance and risk 
software by the council but the purchasing of this will enable the council to 
more closely monitor and react to its performance in relation to the social, 
economic and environmental well-being of its residents. 
 

 
12. 

 
What evidence / data / research have you gathered in relation to this 
proposal? 
In drafting the strategy and framework a range of performance and risk 
strategies were reviewed from other local authorities and public sector 
organisations. 
 

 
13. 

 
What are key findings from the consultation you have carried out? 
 
No formal consultation was undertake. 
 

 
14. 
 

 
Amendments to Proposal / Mitigating Actions 
 
Not applicable 
 

 

 

Page 215



  

 
 
Equality Impacts  
 

15. Identify the potential positive and negative impacts on specific groups 

 

 Positive Impact Negative Impact & Mitigating 
Actions 

Neutral Impact 

Older or younger people 
 

Adoption of the Performance and 
Risk Strategy and Framework will 
enable the council to manage the 
services it delivers more 
effectively and improve the 
services they offer to the 
community 

  

People with caring 
Responsibilities 
 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

People with a disability 
 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

Women or men 
 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

P
age 216



People who are black or 
from a minority ethnic 
background (BME) (Please 
note Gypsies / Roma are 
within this community) 

 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

Religion or belief (including 
lack of belief) 
 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

People who are lesbian, 
gay or bisexual 
 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

People who are 
transgendered 
 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

People who are in a 
marriage or civil partnership 
 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 

  

P
age 217



improve the services they offer 
to the community 

Women who are pregnant / 
on maternity leave 

 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

Socio-economic impacts 
(Including impact on child 
poverty issues and 
deprivation) 

 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

Public Health impacts (How 
will your proposal impact on 
the general health of the 
population of Torbay) 

 

Adoption of the Performance 
and Risk Strategy and 
Framework will enable the 
council to manage the services 
it delivers more effectively and 
improve the services they offer 
to the community 

  

16. Cumulative Impacts – 
Council wide 
(proposed changes 
elsewhere which might 
worsen the impacts 
identified above) 
 

No known cumulative impacts within the council at this point. 

17. Cumulative Impacts – 
Other public services 
(proposed changes 
elsewhere which might 

No known cumulative impacts with other public services at this point. 

P
age 218



worsen the impacts 
identified above) 

 
 
 

P
age 219



 

 

 

 

DRAFT 

PERFORMANCE AND RISK 

MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND 

FRAMEWORK 

 
Version 7.0 

Version Date 11.11.20 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 220

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



1.0 INTRODUCTION 

This strategy and framework has been designed to support and assist the council and its 

wholly owned companies (SWISCo and TDA) in undertaking the following: 

 Planning the actions and activities to deliver the outcomes in the Community and 

Corporate Plan 2019-23 and other key council priorities. 

 Measuring the impact of those actions/activities via performance 

indicators/performance standards. 

 Enabling service areas to monitor the internal performance of their service. 

 Reporting on the progress of actions/activities and performance. 

 Providing a mechanism to review, analyse and if required re-focus performance; and  

 Provide a consistent approach to risk management in the council. 

Torbay Council and its wholly owned companies are faced with a range of challenges and 

opportunities in continuing to provide frontline and statutory services and this strategy and 

framework ensures that all staff, elected members and partners are clear on how they 

contribute to the delivery of the outcomes detailed in the Community and Corporate Plan and 

other key council priorities. 

Performance management is essential to the success of Torbay Council and its ambitions as 

set out in the Community and Corporate Plan and its other key council priorities. Performance 

Management is a vital element of forward planning and continuous improvement. The 

Community and Corporate Plan has four main themes and the strategy and framework will 

support in its delivery. The Plan themes are: 

 Thriving People 

 Thriving Economy 

 Tackling Climate Change 

 Council Fit for the Future. 

Each of these themes span across the portfolios and responsibilities held by elected Cabinet 

Leads and service areas and routine performance monitoring will help to drive and join up the 

activities so that the council can measure its success and progress and realise its ambitions in 

each area. 

This strategy and framework also has the flexibility to enable the council to monitor 

performance on priorities that are not explicitly part of the Community and Corporate Plan 

via the collection and monitoring of performance indicators/performance standards. 

This strategy also provides a framework for the council and its wholly owned companies to 

consistently manage the risks that it faces and establishes a whole organisation process for 

identifying and managing these risks. Also where appropriate the key risks are linked to the 

related performance indicator so that the connection between the two is highlighted and can 

be addressed as appropriate. 

 

Page 221



2.0 WHY IS PERFORMANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT IMPORTANT? 

Performance and risk management should be managed at an organisational, service, team 

and individual level, with each informing the other. To know when and what action to take, 

performance and risk has to be measured, monitored and analysed. To know how to judge 

performance and risk, criteria must be agreed with aims, objectives and targets. 

If the council and its wholly owned companies are going to deliver the outcomes that the 

people of Torbay want there has to be a performance and risk management strategy and 

framework that: 

 Is based on the key priorities and outcomes and helps to measure the right things at 

the right time; 

 Is based on a few key performance metrics and risks which measure the right things 

at the right time and frequency; 

 Is used to continually improve how we work together and the way services delivered 

are performance managed; 

 Is based on quality and accuracy of current and forecasted information which 

produces meaningful measures of how services are performing; 

 Enables learning from our own experiences and mistakes and avoids a ‘blame’ culture; 

 Meets the needs of all the people involved in delivering outcomes in Torbay inside and 

outside the council; and 

 Enables all staff and teams to understand how they contribute to the council and how 

they are performing. 

Effective performance and risk management will help to: 

 Clearly articulate our priorities and desired outcomes; 

 Prioritise what actions/activities get done with the resources available; 

 Highlight where more resources and skills may be required; 

 Provide and demonstrates value for money; 

 Provide good services and satisfaction for users and the local community; 

 Motivate and manage our staff; and 

 Respond effectively to existing and new challenges. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 222



3.0  HOW DOES THE PERFORMANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK OPERATE? 

The key to managing performance and risk is to be able to measure performance and risk, as 

only by devising appropriate measures can we properly monitor how the council is 

progressing towards achieving its strategic outcomes, identifying threats or risks and 

prioritising resources to what matters most. 

Torbay’s performance and risk management framework is designed to allow us to take action 

in response to actual performance and risk and to deliver the best outcomes and services in 

relation to our priorities and statutory responsibilities within available resources. 

Our performance and risk management framework enables us to: 

 Prioritise and set clear outcomes and detail how we intend to deliver services; 

 Track and communicate whether or not these priorities and outcomes are being 

achieved; and 

 Take effective, well informed and timely decisions to ensure that we are continuously 

improving and that our outcomes are being met in line with expectations. 

The framework is based on the Plan, Measure, Report and Review cycle. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Plan

Community and Corporate Plan

Statutory Obligations

Annual Business Plan

Service Business Plans

Measure

Actions/Activities

Performance Standards/KPIs

Risks

Report

Quarterly Reporting

Real Time Reporting

Review

Analysing Performance

Benchmarking

Continous Improvement

Re-focusing Interventions 

Page 223



PLAN 

4.0 HOW DO WE PLAN THE ACTION WE ARE GOING TO TAKE? 

The council, its wholly owned companies and each service area has a set of outcomes and 

actions/activities that it wants to deliver and implement. These range from the overarching 

Community and Corporate Plan 2019-23 and its associated Annual Business Plan to service 

specific plans and strategies. This performance and risk management strategy and framework 

is dependent on the council undertaking regular business planning activity and producing an 

Annual Business Plan for the whole council as well as individual service or wholly owned 

company business plans that detail those outcomes, actions/activities, performance 

indicators and risks. 

The Annual Business Plan will be a high level view of all the key strategic council and wholly 

owned council company outcomes, actions/activities, performance indicators and risks and 

will be produced at the same time that the annual budget for the council is determined and 

agreed. 

The service or wholly owned company business plans (known as a Service Business Plan) will 

be developed after the development of the Annual Service Plan but will reflect the priorities 

of the Annual Business Plan and other key council priorities and will detail how each service 

or wholly owned company will seek to achieve its outcomes (activities/actions), how it will 

measure if its actions and activities are making a difference (performance 

standards/performance indicators) and how it will manage threats to delivering these (risks). 

Each Service Business Plan will be created in consultation with staff and the relevant Cabinet 

Lead and will be agreed and signed off by the appropriate director or assistant director. 

However, it must be consistent with the outcomes, actions/activities, performance indicators 

and risks detailed in the Annual Business Plan. 

Each service or wholly owned company team will be responsible for monitoring its 

achievement against their Service Business Plan and also in ensuring that the Service Business 

Plan is widely understood by all staff in their service area so that there is a clear line of sight 

between individual objectives in appraisals and one to ones and the themes of the Community 

and Corporate Plan and other key council priorities. 

Business Plans should only contain: 

 Outcomes , actions and activities that contribute to the achievement of the council’s 

priorities; 

 Outcomes, actions and activities that are driven by the need to improve efficiency and 

effectiveness; and 

 Outcomes, actions and activities that have agreed performance metrics against them 

which are a mix of qualitative and quantitative. 

The business planning cycle will be annual but the Annual Business Plan and Service Business 

Plans will be ‘living documents’ which will flex and change throughout their life as the 

Page 224



organisation responds to performance information and changing circumstances. All Business 

Plans will be agreed by the start of each financial year. 

See Appendix One for Service Business Plan template. 

SERVICE BUSINESS PLAN GUIDANCE 

Each manager of a service or wholly owned company will need to complete a Service Business 

Plan each year. They will then become known as the Business Plan Owner.  

The Service Business Plan will detail the outcomes and priorities of the service or wholly 

owned company and how their work will support the delivery of the key themes of the 

Community and Corporate Plan and other key council priorities. The plan will focus on 

delivering medium to long term priorities and cover a minimum of a one year period (although 

a longer 17-18 month period will be more appropriate for school related services to match 

the school calendar of September to August). Service Business Plans will only focus on 

actions/activities that will support the delivery of the Community and Corporate Plan 

objectives, other key council priorities and statutory Local Authority obligations. 

The Service Business Plans will be overseen on a day to day basis by the Business Plan Owner 

but each Service Business Plan will be signed off and regularly reviewed by the appropriate 

director or assistant director.  

The information relating to actions/activities, performance standards/performance indicators 

and risks in the Service Business Plans when completed will be used to populate an 

Operational Dashboard in SPAR.NET or in a successor software package. It will then be the 

responsibility of each Business Plan Owner to ensure that their data in the Operational 

Dashboard is regularly updated and at a minimum of just prior to the quarterly reporting 

deadline. It is also the responsibility of each Service Business Plan Owner, Assistant Director 

and Director to ensure that the staff in their service area have access to view the Operational 

Dashboard for their area of work so that they are aware of the service’s performance and that 

this information is then used to inform team meetings, the appraisal process and one to ones 

with staff. 

As the business planning process matures at Torbay Council work will need to be undertaken 

to align the council’s business planning process with key partners such as the Devon 

Sustainability and Transformation Partnership or STP and Devon and Cornwall Police. 

BUSINESS PLANNING ANNUAL TIMELINE 

Month Activity 

October- January  Annual Business Plan developed alongside annual budget 

February Annual Business Plan and annual budget finalised and agreed 

January/February Service Business Plan Owner commences drafting Service 
Business Plan 

March Service Business Plan finalised by Business Plan Owner 

March Service Business Plan signed off by Director/Assistant Director 

April Service Business Plan goes live and is implemented 

Page 225



April Service Business Plan communicated to all staff in service area 
via staff appraisal process 

Ongoing Service Business Plan amended due to performance 
information and changing circumstances 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 226



MEASURE 

5.0 HOW DO WE MEASURE PROGRESS ON THE BUSINESS PLAN? 

The information signed off in the Annual Business Plan and Service Business Plans will be used 

to create an Operational Dashboard. This will be created in SPAR.NET or in a successor 

software package. Essentially the Operational Dashboard will measure the key areas of each 

service and will be configurable to create bespoke performance and risk reports at differing 

levels within the organisation. 

The key areas are: 

 Progress on the performance standards/indicator associated to the service area’s 

outcomes and actions/activities and other service performance standards/indicators 

that will enable service areas to monitor the internal performance of their service; 

and 

 Risks. 

The categories of data in the Operational Dashboard could be: 

Performance Standards/Indicators (quantitative and qualitative): 

 Standard/Indicator ID and description; 

 Link to Community and Corporate Plan or other key council outcomes; 

 Previous quarterly performance – value; 

 Previous quarterly progress – RAG rating; 

 Current performance – value; 

 Current progress – RAG rating; 

 If red or amber what mitigating action is being taken to improve performance; 

 Current Direction of Travel; 

 Target Performance – value; 

 Target Performance – date; 

 Benchmark Data as appropriate – national, regional, statistical neighbours; 

 Previous Years performance where appropriate; 

 Accountable Officer; and 

 Potential in future to track performance and progress on activities/actions. 

Risk: 

Utilise risk matrix in Business Plan templates that measures impact vs probability: 

 Risk description; 

 Link to related performance indicator;  

 Previous quarterly Risk Rating – value and RAG; 

 Target Risk Rating – value and RAG; 

 Date to achieve Target Rating; 

 Current Risk Rating – value and RAG; 

Page 227



 Progress on managing risk – RAG; 

 Current Mitigating Actions; 

 Risk Rating after Current Mitigating Actions Completed – value and RAG; 

 Risk Commentary; and 

 Accountable Officer. 

It will be the responsibility of each Service Business Plan Owner to ensure that their service 

data is updated regularly in the Operational Dashboard, but at a minimum the data must be 

updated prior to the end of each quarter so that the Strategic Dashboard can be populated. 

At the end of each quarter the data in the Operational Dashboard will be used to produce the 

Strategic Dashboard which reports at a high level on: 

 Progress on delivering the Community and Corporate Plan themes and other key 

council outcomes; 

 Progress on delivering whole Council Performance Standards/Indicators; and 

 Strategic level Risks. 

The categories of data in the Strategic Dashboard could be: 

Performance Standards/Indicators (quantitative and qualitative): 

 RAG Rating on delivery of the 4 high level themes of the Community and Corporate 

Plan based on key sets of high level performance standards/indicators in each 

Community and Corporate Plan theme area with commentary of mitigating action 

being taken if red or amber; 

 Thriving people – RAG rating on 3 main themes and 10 sub themes with commentary 

of mitigating action being taken if red or amber; 

 Thriving Economy – RAG rating on 2 main themes and 8 sub themes with 

commentary of mitigating action being taken if red or amber; 

 Tackling Climate Change – RAG rating on main theme and 6 sub themes with 

commentary of mitigating action being taken if red or amber; 

 Council fit for the Future – RAG rating on main theme and 3 sub themes; 

 Other Key Council Priorities not in Community and Corporate Plan – RAG rating with 

commentary of mitigating action being taken if red or amber; and 

 Whole council Performance Standards/Indicators e.g. workforce, finance, customer 

service, income generation, health and safety etc  – RAG rating on performance with 

commentary of mitigating action being taken if red or amber. 

Risk: 

Utilise risk matrix in Business Plan template that measures impact vs probability but only 

include risks that score over 10 on matrix and are therefore amber or red and rank top 10 

highest risks to the organisation: 

 Risk description; 

 Link to related performance indicator; 

Page 228



 Previous quarterly Risk Rating – value and RAG; 

 Target Risk Rating – value and RAG; 

 Date to achieve Target Rating; 

 Current Risk Rating – value and RAG; 

 Progress on managing risk – RAG; 

 Current Mitigating Actions; 

 Risk Rating after Current Mitigating Actions Completed – value and RAG; 

 Risk Commentary; and 

 Accountable Officer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 229



 

REPORT 

6.0 HOW WILL PERFORMANCE AND RISK BE REPORTED?  

Performance and risk reporting is about providing accurate, balanced and timely information 

to the right people at the right time and enables the council to report in an open and 

accountable manner. At the end of each financial quarter, performance from that quarter will 

be collated, reported and reviewed to monitor whether targets are being met and to identify 

where improvements and/or re-focused actions could be undertaken. 

All data and information on actions/activities, performance standards/indicators and risks will 

be kept and maintained on SPAR.NET or successor software package and will be accessible to 

all staff to view but with only nominated staff having the right to edit. This level of data will 

be known as the Operational Dashboard. This dashboard will be used and regularly viewed by 

Service Business Plan Owners, Assistant Directors, Directors and staff and will provide a 

live/real time view of performance across the council which can be accessed to inform 

decision making, task allocation, team meetings, appraisal targets and one to one discussions 

with staff. However, it is important to note that the quality and timeliness of the data in the 

Operational Dashboard will be dictated by the effort placed by each service area to maintain 

this data. Nevertheless at the very least each service will be expected to update their data on 

the Operational Dashboard prior to the end of each financial quarter so that this information 

can be used to populate the Strategic Dashboard.  

The Strategic Dashboard will be produced for the Audit Committee, Leader, Chief Executive, 

Senior Leadership Team, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Board to review on a quarterly 

or ad-hoc basis. This dashboard is a high level view of the council’s progress and success in 

meeting the stated outcomes of the Community and Corporate Plan and other key council 

outcomes and priorities as well as an overview of the council’s overall performance on key 

internal standards/indicators such as workforce, financial and customer complaint 

performance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 230



 

The Annual Performance and Risk Reporting Cycle for Torbay Council will be as below: 

 

 

 

 

 

Links to the Budget Setting Process 

The Service Business Plans will be included as the ‘cover sheets’ for the Budget Digest, with 

each digest page per service being shown behind the Business Plan. When the final digest is 

published in March each year this will include each agreed Service Business Plan with the 

approved budget for each service. 

The key dates where the budget setting process align with the performance and risk cycle are 

as follows: 

March/April Annual Business Plan published – Budget Digest plus Service Business Plans 

September Budget Star Chambers – performance information used to challenge 
services 

October Draft budget proposals announced for consultation 

November Feedback from budget consultation – used to develop Annual Business Plan 

January Final Budget proposals and Annual Business Plan announced 

February Final Budget and Annual Business Plan agreed 
 

 

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Start/Finish Quarter 4 Strategic 

Dashboard 

Quarter 1 Strategic 

Dashboard 

Quarter 2 Strategic 

Dashboard 

Commence 

drafting 

Service 

Business Plans 

Service Business 

Plans 

completed/Signed 

off 

Quarter 3 Strategic 

Dashboard 

Commence drafting 

Annual Business Plan 

along with annual 

budget setting process 

Annual Business 

Plan and budget 

agreed 

Page 231



 

REVIEW 

7.0 WHERE AND HOW IS PERFORMANCE AND RISK REVIEWED AND MONITORED? 

The simple answer to this question is that everyone should be involved in reviewing 

performance and risks as all staff and elected members need to be aware and act upon the 

performance and risk data from their areas of responsibility. 

However, in practice performance and risk will be formally reviewed and monitored by the 

following; 

Group Review Method Frequency 

Audit Committee Quarterly Strategic 
Dashboard 

Quarterly 
 

Cabinet Quarterly Strategic 
Dashboard 

Quarterly 

Overview and Scrutiny As requested As requested 
 

Cabinet Leads Regularly review 
performance and risk with 
their Directors via 
Operational Dashboard 

At least every two months 

Chief Executive Regularly review 
performance and risk with 
Directors/Assistant 
Directors via Operational 
Dashboard 

Monthly 

Senior Leadership Team 
(SLT) 

Quarterly Strategic 
Dashboard 

Quarterly 

Directors/Assistant 
Directors 

Regularly review 
performance and risk with 
Business Plan Owners in 
their area via Operational 
Dashboard 

Monthly 

Directorate Management 
Teams 

Operational Dashboards Quarterly 

Business Plan 
Owners/Managers 

Regularly review service 
performance and risk data 
via Operational Dashboard 
and incorporate into team 
meetings, staff appraisals 
and one to ones 

At least monthly 

All staff Right and responsibility to 
know how they are 
contributing to the 
performance and risk data 

At least monthly 
 

Page 232



and Community and 
Corporate Plan and other 
key council priorities via 
Operational Dashboard 

Wider community Access to Quarterly Strategic 
Scorecard  via public Audit 
Committee meetings 

Quarterly 

 

Monitoring of Performance and Risk in relation to External Inspections 

Although not part of the quarterly performance and risk management cycle it is critical that 

the council also monitors its performance and risk in relation to external inspections. To 

facilitate this a position statement on external inspections will be produced and reported to 

SLT, Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny on a rolling sixth monthly basis. 

The position statement will cover the following: 

 An overview of the external inspections for the year ahead with confirmed or likely 

dates of inspection 

 A commentary from each service area with an external inspection on their current 

grade in relation to the external inspection regime, an overview of the progress in 

undertaking a self-evaluation assessment in readiness for the next inspection and an 

opportunity to raise any risks/issues emerging from the self-evaluation assessment  

After considering the six monthly position statement SLT, Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny and 

Audit Committee may decide to undertake a ‘deep dive’ on a particular service area and to 

review the self-evaluation assessment and other preparations for the external inspection. 

Role of Internal Audit in relation to performance and risk management 

The role of Internal Audit is to provide guidance and information on performance and risk 

management in addition to dealing with the provision of audit services. If data quality issues 

are identified through the course of an audit, whether linked to a performance/risk 

standard/indicator or not this will need to be raised in an audit report. Internal Audit also 

provide an independent review of the corporate approach to performance and risk 

management and data quality. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 233



REVIEW 

8.0 WHAT DO WE DO WHEN PERFORMANCE AND RISK PROGRESS IS NOT SATISFACTORY? 

It is important to regularly review and evaluate performance against targets and this should 

include benchmarking and forecasting to ensure performance, both current and future, is 

analysed fully to secure a continuous improvement trajectory. 

Where it is identified that performance is of concern there is an opportunity to explore the 

performance issues in detail and identify any appropriate actions. Torbay has two approaches 

to rectifying unsatisfactory performance: 

 Performance Recovery Plans; and 

 Performance Clinics. 

Performance Recovery Plans 

Where insufficient progress is being made on a service action/activity, standard/indicator or 

risk a Director or manager can use the Recovery Plan template (included at Appendix Two) to 

plan a way to unblock poor performance. The use of this approach is at the discretion of the 

Chief Executive, SLT, Directors, Assistant Directors, Business Plan Owners and managers but 

would generally be for operational level actions/activities, indicators and risks. Any changes 

should be reflected in the relevant Business Plans. 

Performance Clinics 

This approach is more likely to be used for strategic level actions/activities, 

standards/indicators and risks that require urgent focus to seek ways to be improved. 

Essentially, the performance clinics are task and finish groups with specific terms of reference 

to manage the improvement of specific actions/activities, standards/indicators and risks that 

are off track. 

It is essential that the clinic consists of people who have ownership and overall responsibility 

for performance in the area of focus. A chair of the clinic will need to be nominated and then 

at each clinic meeting the relevant Directors, Assistant Directors and Business Plan 

Owner/Service Managers will update on the progress being made but will also receive support 

and advice from other members of the clinic. Essentially, the clinic is a forum to accelerate 

performance and any changes should be reflected in the relevant Business Plans.  

What do we do when performance is good or outstanding? 

This strategy also identifies the need to celebrate good or outstanding performance when it 

takes place and to promote this through our internal and external communications channels. 

 

 

 

 

Page 234



9.0 WHAT DO WE NEED TO DO NEXT TO IMPLEMENT AND EMBED THIS STRATEGY AND 

FRAMEWORK? 

In order to establish and then embed this new approach to performance and risk 

management at Torbay Council the following actions will need to be implemented: 

Current Gap Activity to address gap 

Current lack of an annual business planning 
process 
 

Design, agree and begin to embed annual 
business planning process for both an 
Annual Business Plan and Service Business 
Plans 

Align council business planning process with 
key partners business planning processes 

Patchy and inconsistent approach to 
collecting performance and risk data  

Collect appropriate performance 
information and risks from service areas via 
business planning process 
 

Patchy and inconsistent understanding of 
the value of performance and risk 
management in the wider organisation 
(what is known as a performance and risk 
culture) 
 

Training for councillors and senior officers 
on value of performance and risk 
management 

Staff resource gap to support delivery of 
performance and risk framework 
 

Review the staff resources required to 
support delivery of revised Performance and 
Risk Strategy and Framework 

Determine best staffing model to support 
performance and risk 

Spar.net the council’s performance and risk 
management software for the last 15 years 
plus is showing signs of no longer being fit 
for purpose and what the council requires 
moving forward to support the delivery of 
this strategy and framework 

Undertake ‘fit for purpose’ review of 
spar.net  
 

If review of spar.net demands procure 
replacement performance and risk 
management software  
 

Lack of a report on performance and risk at 
an operational level for managers and teams 
 

Design and begin to embed Torbay Council 
Operational Dashboard  

Need to revise and improve current strategic 
Performance and Risk Management 
Reporting  
 

Design and begin to embed Torbay Council 
Strategic Dashboard  

Need to re-establish performance and risk 
management reporting back into council 
governance 
 

Design and begin to embed Annual 
Performance and Risk Reporting cycle 

Page 235



Current lack of a consistent and whole 
council approach to addressing poor 
performance, seeking ways to improve 
performance and celebrating good or 
outstanding performance 
 

Design and begin to embed performance 
and risk recovery approach alongside 
mechanism to celebrate good or 
outstanding performance 
 

 

The above actions will be delivered via the Council Re-design Programme in the Our 

Organisation Project. There will be a discrete work package of Our Performance and the 

actions above will be implemented by the team supporting this work package. 

 

10.0 APPENDIX 

Appendix One – Business Plan Template 

 

Appendix Two – Performance Recovery Plan Template  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 236



 

1 
 

 

 

Service Business Plan 2021-22 

Service Area   

Directorate   

Head of Service   

Business Plan Owner   

Cabinet Lead  

 

1. About the Service 
This section should describe the service and the overall outcomes it seeks to deliver along with other key details. The service outcomes must 
be in line with the outcomes stated in the Community and Corporate Plan 2019-23 and other key service plans and strategies. 

Service Outcomes 

 XXX 

 XXX 

 XXX 
 

Staff – please provide details of your FTE Revenue Budget (summary of budget digest) 

  

P
age 237

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 2



 

2 

 

Who are your customers?  Who are your key partners & stakeholders?  

 
 
 

 

2. Key Achievements and successes 
What's gone well over the last 12 months - include here specific projects and 'business as usual' activity  
 

 

 XXX 

 XXX 

 XXX 
 
 

 

3.1 Service Activities and Actions for the next 12 months 
Provide a summary of the key activities, actions and projects for the service in the year ahead in line with the service’s outcomes, the 
Community and Corporate Plan 2019-23 and other key service plans and strategies. 

 
Key Activities, Actions and Projects 

 
Service Outcome, Community and Corporate Plan theme or other reason for 
undertaking 

 XXX 
 

 XXX 
 

 XXX 
 
 
 

 XXX 

P
age 238



 

3 

 

3.2 Planned changes in service over the next 12 months. 

 Please include any opportunities for services or processes that could be stopped or amended and opportunities to work with others 
(including other council services/partners/community) 

 Please include any planned consultation, engagement or influencing activity 

 Please include any external inspections that will take place on the service in te next 12 months 

 
 

3.3 Additional service resource requirements 
• Please include technical/people/financial resource requirements including staff development requirements 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

4. Service Performance Standards/Indicators (quantitative and qualitative) 
 
What performance standards/indicators (also known as outputs) are you measuring to ensure you are delivering your outcomes?  
 
Please Note: The below standards/indicators should be measuring both service delivery and internal service performance   
 

 

Standard/Indicator 
ID 

Standard/Indicator Link to 
Community & 

Current 
Standard/Indicator 

Target 
Performance for 

Target Date 
for Target 
Performance 

Accountable 
Officer 

P
age 239



 

4 

 

Corporate Plan or 
other Outcome 

Performance 
(Value) 

Standard/Indicator 
(Value) 

       

       

       

       

 

 5. Risk Management  
What are the key risks that the service will need to manage and mitigate in the year ahead?  
 
To determine the value and colour rating of the risk please refer to the below Risk Matrix: 

  
 
To aid in assessing impact and probability please see Appendix 1 of this template which has a guide on the definitions used in the risk 
matrix above. 
 

P
age 240



 

5 

 

 
 
 

 Risk 

Risk 
ID 

Risk Description Related 
Performance 
Indicator ID 

Current 
Risk 
Rating 
Value 
(Impact/Pr
obability) 

Current 
Risk 
Rating 
Colour 
(RAYG) 

Current Mitigating 
Actions 

Risk 
Rating 
after 
Current 
Mitigating 
Actions 
Completed
(Value/Col
our) 

Target 
Risk 
Rating 
(Value/
Colour) 

Date to 
Achieve 
Target 
Risk 
Rating 

Accountable 
Officer 

          

          

          

 

Appendix One – Risk Matrix Definitions 

A) Probability 

Almost Certain – Highly likely to occur or expected to occur in most situations 

Likely – Likely to occur or will probably occur 

Possible – Possible to occur or might occur at some time 

Unlikely – Will most likely not occur or could occur at some time 

Rare – Highly unlikely to occur or only occur in exceptional circumstances 

 

 

P
age 241



 

6 

 

B) Impact 

 

P
age 242



Recovery Plan Template: 

All fields must be completed:  

Performance Standard/Indicator/Risk/Action/Activity:  

 

Date of Recovery Plan:   

Why is this Standard/Indicator/Risk/Action/Activity underperforming?  

 

 

 

 

 

What actions are required to put this Standard/Indicator/Risk/Action/Activity back on 

track?  

 

Key Actions to be taken:  Milestones (Dates):  Officer Responsible:  

   

   

   

   

   

Approved by Director/Executive Head:   Yes/No  

Approved by  SLT  (if required) Yes/No  

   

 

Page 243

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3



Meeting: Audit Committee Date: 23 November 2020 
 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
Report Title:  Corporate Performance and Corporate Risk Report 
 
Is the decision a key decision? No 
 
When does the decision need to be implemented?  November 2020 
 
Cabinet Member Contact Details: All Cabinet Members 
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Mark Hammett, Strategic Support Manager, 01803 
208002 and mark.hammett@torbay.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Proposal and Introduction 
 
1.1 The Corporate Performance and Risk report is produced for the Senior Leadership 

Team (SLT) and Cabinet Members to review on a quarterly basis, and is also 
presented to the Audit Committee). This report gives a high level view of the council’s 
progress and success in meeting the priorities of the Community and Corporate Plan 
as well as an overview of the council’s overall performance on key internal indicators 
such as workforce, financial and customer complaint performance. 

 
The council is currently in the process of producing a new Performance and Risk 
Strategy and Framework and if agreed this will replace the current arrangements. 

 
2. Reason for Proposal and associated financial commitments 
 
2.1 To review the council’s progress and success in meeting the priorities of the 

Community and Corporate Plan and to monitor the performance of key internal 
performance indicators and risks. 

 
2.2 There are no financial commitments to the council beyond the officer time involved 

in collating this report. 

3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 
 
(i) That the Audit Committee are asked to note the contents of this report and take 

action where appropriate. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix One – Quarterly Performance Report – Quarter 2 2020/21 
 
Appendix Two – Quarterly Risk Register – Quarter 2 2020/21 

 

Page 244

Agenda Item 10

mailto:mark.hammett@torbay.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

 
Section 1:  Background Information 

 

 
1. 
 

 
What is the proposal / issue? 
 
A High level report has been designed and produced with a series of key 
performance indicators and high scoring risks which align to the visions of the 
Community and Corporate Plan, and outline how well the council is performing 
against these key priorities. These performance indicators and risks are 
monitored within a series of ‘dashboards’, one for each vision of the 
Community and Corporate Plan. 
This report enables SLT, Cabinet Members and the Audit Committee to review 
and challenge our performance on a regular basis and to identify any 
improvement actions required. The performance indicators and risks listed 
within these reports may be exchanged for others as priorities and demand 
changes. 

 
2.   

 
What is the current situation? 
 
The performance indicators and risks within the report have been recently 
updated to align to the visions of the Community and Corporate Plan 2020 – 
2023. 

 
3. 

 
What options have been considered? 
 
Not applicable. 

 
4. 

 
What is the relationship with the priorities within the Partnership 
Memorandum and the Council’s Principles? 
 
This report gives an opportunity to monitor progress towards achieving the 
visions of the Community and Corporate Plan. 

 
5. 

 
How does this proposal/issue contribute towards the Council’s 
responsibilities as corporate parents? 
 
The Report contains performance and risk information related to the council’s 
role as corporate parents. 

 
6. 

 
How does this proposal/issue tackle poverty, deprivation and 
vulnerability? 
The Report contains performance and risk information related to the council’s 
desire to tackle poverty, deprivation and vulnerability. 

7. How does the proposal/issue impact on people with learning 
disabilities? 

Page 245



The Report contains performance and risk information related to people with 
learning disabilities. 

8. Who will be affected by this proposal and who do you need to consult 
with?  How will the Council engage with the community?  How can the 
Council empower the community? 
 
Not applicable. 

 
Section 2:  Implications and Impact Assessment 

 

 
9. 
 

 
What are the financial and legal implications? 
 
There are no specific financial or legal implications associated with this 
report. 
 

 
10.   

 
What are the risks? 
 
There are no specific significant risks associated with this report. 
 

 
11. 

 
Public Services Value  (Social Value) Act 2012  
 
Not applicable. 
 

 
12. 

 
What evidence / data / research have you gathered in relation to this 
proposal? 
 
Key performance indicators and risks have been identified in consultation 
with Senior Leadership Team members.  

 
13. 

 
What are key findings from the consultation you have carried out? 
 
Not applicable. 
 

 
14. 
 

 
Amendments to Proposal / Mitigating Actions 
 
Not applicable. 
 

 

 

Page 246



Equality Impacts  
 

15. Identify the potential positive and negative impacts on specific groups 

 Positive Impact Negative Impact & Mitigating 
Actions 

Neutral Impact 

Older or younger people 
 

  There is no differential impact. 

People with caring 
Responsibilities 
 

  There is no differential impact. 

People with a disability 
 

  There is no differential impact. 

Women or men 
 

  There is no differential impact. 

People who are black or 
from a minority ethnic 
background (BME) (Please 
note Gypsies / Roma are 
within this community) 

 

  There is no differential impact. 

Religion or belief (including 
lack of belief) 
 

  There is no differential impact. 

People who are lesbian, 
gay or bisexual 
 

  There is no differential impact. 

People who are 
transgendered 
 

  There is no differential impact. 

People who are in a 
marriage or civil partnership 
 

  There is no differential impact. 

Women who are pregnant / 
on maternity leave 

 

  There is no differential impact. 

Socio-economic impacts 
(Including impact on child 

  There is no differential impact. 

P
age 247



poverty issues and 
deprivation) 

 
Public Health impacts (How 
will your proposal impact on 
the general health of the 
population of Torbay) 

 

  There is no differential impact. 

16. Cumulative Impacts – 
Council wide 
(proposed changes 
elsewhere which might 
worsen the impacts 
identified above) 
 

No cumulative impacts within the council. 

17. Cumulative Impacts – 
Other public services 
(proposed changes 
elsewhere which might 
worsen the impacts 
identified above) 

No cumulative impacts with other public services. 
 

 
 

P
age 248



Corporate Performance Report: 
Quarter 2 2020/21

1

P
age 249

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix 1



Thriving People

Thriving People: We will turn the tide on poverty

2. Ensure Tor Vista achieves Registered Provider status and commence its work programme.

3. Ensure continued delivery against the Children’s Services Improvement Plan.

4. Develop a forward investment programme for affordable and social housing in association 
with registered providers across Torbay.

5. Explore opportunities for joining the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network and, as 
part of the Network, consider the options available to support communities to access 
affordable finance.

6. Explore opportunities to bring forward a ‘Torbay Promise’ to identified areas in Torbay.

Contact re-established with Registered Providers.
Internal Officer Housing Delivery Group re-established.

The Council is now a member of the Co-operative Councils Innovation 
Network, with officers attending Network meetings and starting to share 
good practice with colleagues.  Councillors and officers took part in the Co-
operative Councils Annual Conference to learn best practice by others.

We have reviewed our Early Help provision and model. This has 
incorporated partners and stakeholders views and how we propose to 
integrate a collaborative model of Early Help.  

We are anticipating partnership feedback to finalise the plan and will 
continue to review this within the Children and Young Peoples Board. 

7. Agree the refreshed Children and Young People’s Plan and associated action plan. We have finalised the version and hopefully use delegated powers to amend 
and update avoiding the need to return to Cabinet for discussion on the 
minor updates.

We have re-established the Children and Young people’s Strategic Board 
and have presented the Children and Young Peoples plan to the board. 

Community and Corporate Plan Delivery Plan Action What have we done in the last quarter? What are the priorities for the next quarter?

Full report on status of strategy and delivery against timelines. 
Delivery of MHCLG funded TorVista properties to assist with 
homelessness. Funding opportunities being pursued.

Liase closely with TorVista and assist with TorVista-led housing 
schemes across the Bay. Ensure a fair approach consistent with other 
Registered Providers.

We continue to focus on the 6 workstreams linked to the sufficiency 
strategy. 
Embed the restorative practice training. 
Multi Agency Safeguarding arrangements have been agreed – we now 
need to appoint an independent scrutineer and work with the 
partnership to deliver the new safeguarding partnership board. 
Continued focus on recruitment and retention through a national 
campaign along with supporting newly qualified social workers through 
the Learning Academy. 
As part of the improvement plan we are considering our approach to 
16-17yo young people who are at risk of homelessness. 
Prioritise our cared for population and reduction of numbers. 
Finalise the way forward in providing the residential resource for 
Torbay children.
Next Housing Delivery Group scheduled, work on representation from 
the Registered Providers on the new Housing Board. Continue with 
liaison meetings with the Registered Providers & Homes England. 

The process of self-assessment ahead of a peer review will start, with 
the aim of developing an action plan to ensure we are an enabling 
council.  The peer review is planned to start in December 2020.

This is incorporated into the PeopleToo work and the Early Help 
Sufficiency Strategy. So will not be a “stand alone” piece of work.

1. Agree the Housing Strategy action plan. Strategy agreed. Development of new structure of delivery and governance 
being implemented to assist and ensure delivery. Refresh of action and 
Covid-19 recovery plan being implemented along with action tracker and 
performance dashboard. 

TorVista  - still not had confirmation of their Registered Provider status.

Continued to monitor the implementation of the Sufficiency Strategy
Launched the Early Help Strategy and commenced implementation.
Launched the Learning Academy.
Complete the first tranche of the Restorative Practice training.
Launched the new Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements through the 
Torbay Safeguarding Children Partnership.
Completed phased 1 of the Childrens Services Redesign. 
Completed a LGA peer review of the Youth Offending Service.

2

P
age 250



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Target
Last period 

value

Numbers Housed 
through Devon Home 
Choice

It's better to 
be low

(monitoring 
only)

256 No target set 59

Numbers in temporary 
accommodation 155

 - Of which are single 
persons

76

 - Of which are couples 4

 - Of which are families 30

Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Target Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Year to date

Contacts
TBC TBC TBC TBC 719 620 472 598 533 531 449 524 640 677 535 864 3689

Targetted Help Referrals
TBC TBC TBC TBC 95 95 131 72 72 73 54 17 39 117 86 126 439

Social Care Referrals
TBC TBC TBC TBC 131 200 184 219 135 78 88 244 222 198 160 172 1084

Initial Strategy 
Discussions TBC TBC TBC TBC 72 116 103 108 101 85 103 114 158 156 85 129 745

S47 Outcomes
TBC TBC TBC TBC 51 40 83 55 77 56 68 88 95 94 84 60 489

ICPCs
TBC TBC TBC TBC 18 10 29 31 22 39 20 39 23 30 21 11 144

5267

22

59

Quarter 1 2020/21

It's better to 
be low

Target in 
development

532TBC

(Children's PI data is derived from a live database that is continually updated. Previously reported numbers are subject to change)

48 6 13

37 54

95 242

30

25

203

ASPI02
50 127 184

155

76

Quarter 3 2019/20 Quarter 4 2019/20 Quarter 2 2020/21

3

P
age 251



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Monthly Target Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20
Last period 

value

SC-
007b

Number of overdue 
reviews for out of area 
placements (not 
reviewed within 15 
months) (Snap shot)

It's better to 
be low

On target 0 0 2 2 1 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

LI404

No. of permanent care 
home placements, 
(snapshot) (Adults)

It's better to 
be low

On target 632 600 641 640 645 627 624 632 628 623 623 605 611 627 627

NI135

Carers receiving needs 
assessment, review, 
information or advice etc.

It's better to 
be high

Above target 40% 18% 29% 28% 35% 37% 39% 40% 2% 4% 10% 13% 16% 19% 19%

ASC 1E

Percentage of adults with 
a learning disability in 
paid employment

It's better to 
be high

Well above 
target

8.8% 7.0% 8.6% 8.8% 9.0% 8.9% 8.8% 8.8% 8.9% 8.9% 8.9% 8.7% 8.6% 8.8% 8.8%

SC-011

Number of people 
discharged from hospital 
into permanent 
residential care (social 
care funded)

N/A
(monitoring 

only)
13 No target set 6 8 10 10 11 13 0 0 1 1 2 1 1

ASC 2C 
p2x

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital. Part 2 - 
attributable to social care N/A

(monitoring 
only)

N/A No target set 4.2 4.0 4.2 4.5 4.5 N/A

ASC 
1Hx

Proportion of adults in 
contact with secondary 
mental health services 
who live independently, 
with or without support 
(commissioned outside 
ICO) Year to month

It's better to 
be high

Well above 
target

49.2% 60.0% 52.9% 49.6% 51.6% 49.2% 48.8% 49.2% 47.9% 46.3% 54.1% 67.2% 65.6% 73.0% 73.0%

Return suspended due to COVID-19 - no further data available.

4

P
age 252



Suspended due to Covid-19 response.

13. Provide Healthy Lifestyles services to those that need it whilst reviewing best practice 
elsewhere to inform future models of delivery.

Redeployment of Lifestyles Service staff to Torbay Council’s Shielding Hub.
Capacity constraints due to Covid-19 response and commissioning priorities 
of Managed Clinical Network and Sexual Health have meant temporary 
suspension of this work.
Voluntary Ex-Ante Transparency Notice (VEAT notice) has been published 
stating Torbay Council intent to extend contract.

Dependent upon capacity.

9. Support the roll out of Torbay (self-harm) family intervention and mental health support 
teams.

The discussion which has begun within the Children & Young People's 
Partnership board will continue there are a number of actions that we 
will take forward as a partnership to develop and further enhance our 
family friendly approach. 
We will be working with others to broaden the reach of the 
development to impact upon all other areas that are represented at 
the Children & Young People's Partnership Board i.e. regeneration, 
planning and other portfolio areas.

Programme Manager is in place with the resultant structures, project plan, 
work packages and timelines agreed. 
Extension of timeline by 6 months required due to Covid-19. 
Progress is on track and within tolerance. 

The self-harm in schools pilot project was adapted as an online / virtual offer 
across all schools during lock down and over the school holidays.  

The Mental Health Support Teams (MHST) in schools also adapted their 
offer to schools, as part of the delivery of Wave 2 and 3.

Self-Harm: focus will be on establishing the pilot at Spires School. 
Additional work will focus on understanding the needs of those 
presenting to Emergency Departments, with a specific piece of 
research funded by NHS England to better understand female suicide 
/ self-harm rates across the Bay
MHST: continue to roll out MHST across additional 11 schools in 
Torbay (Wave 3).

10. Work in partnership to deliver the Torbay Multi-agency Suicide and Self-harm Prevention 
Plan.

Development of Torbay Mental Health Network: a whole system approach to 
addressing mental health needs and suicide prevention. 

The LGA Shaping Places Bid submitted. This aims to generate funding to 
support the network to deliver its desired systems change.

Devonwide suicide real time surveillance system set up.

Expansion of safer suicide communities - community development 
approach to promoting resilience and wellbeing and safe spaces at 
local level.  
Training:  assessment of training needs and delivery using NHS 
England suicide prevention funding.   
Primary care: primary care training and development programme 
(Devonwide) to support primary care teams in managing mental health 
problems in the community and signpost to appropriate services.
Contribute to community mental health review: ensure Torbay 
community and voluntary sector partners input into the review of 
community mental health to create a pathway of support through the 
continuum of mental health needs.

11. Improve the outcomes for those most vulnerable in our communities through the 
comprehensive re-procurement of substance misuse services, as part of a wider multiple 
complex needs alliance.

14. Implement the trauma-informed approach across services.

Community and Corporate Plan Delivery Plan Action

8. Learning from elsewhere, develop Torbay’s approach to Family Friendly Torbay. Since the decision was taken to enable Torbay to become a family friendly 
council area all of our strategic improvement plans and policies have been 
written with this goal firmly in mind.

Specification development for each of the service areas and the 
Alliance Contract.
Questions and panel agreed for the procurement.

12. Agree the refreshed Education Strategy, SEND Strategy and Disadvantaged Strategy and 
associated action plans.

Draft strategy documents are being prepared internally.  Consultation with 
Lead Member on priorities. Local Education Board being engaged.

Share draft document through SLT, Informal Cabinet, Cabinet ready 
for consultation.

What have we done in the last quarter? What are the priorities for the next quarter?

Will be dependent on Public Health capacity and responses to VEAT 
notice.

Thriving People: We will have aspirations for all of our residents

5

P
age 253



18. Play our part as a critical partner within the Devon-wide Sustainability and 
Transformation Programme.

Suspended due to Covid-19 response. Resumption of Prevention workstream.

Suspended due to Covid-19 response. Establish current Public Health England/Food Active offer and 
requirements post review of Local Authority Healthy Weight 
Declaration.
Establish opportunity for joint declaration and adoption across Devon.

Suspended due to Covid-19 response. Resume targeted Oral Health project delivery for adults and children: 
• Supervised Tooth Brushing
• Dental First Steps 
• Leonard Stocks Project 
Complete an Oral Health Needs Assessment.
Develop an Oral Health training plan for Care Homes, Domiciliary 
Care and Supported Living Providers.

We continue to work closely with the Trust to agree shared office 
accommodation for Adult Social Care teams.

The development stages of investment in hospital buildings is starting 
and our focus is on working closely with NHS partners to ensure that 
this benefits Torbay residents and our economy.

17. Work in partnership with the Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust in order to 
optimise the resulting benefits of investment in the hospital infrastructure and services and 
the resulting transformation of service delivery to ensure high quality new and responsive 
services for patients and service users.

16. Develop an oral health promotion service.

15. Deliver the healthy weight declaration.

6

P
age 254



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End England Value
Last period 

value

PHAP- 
14

Admission episodes for 
alcohol-related conditions 
(persons; narrow 
definition) 

It's better to 
be low

Well above 
target

788 664 808

PHOF- 
C06

Proportion of women 
known to smoke at the 
time of delivery

It's better to 
be low

Well above 
target

14.5% 10.6% 13.3%

PHOF- 
C09a

Proportion of children 
aged 4-5 years 
(reception age) classified 
as overweight or obese

It's better to 
be low

Well above 
target

Not published 
for data quality 

reasons
22.6% 25.1%

PHOF- 
C16

Percentage of adults 
classified as overweight 
or obese

It's better to 
be low

On target 59.8% 62.3% 59.8%

PHOF- 
C17a

Percentage of physically 
active adults

It's better to 
be high

On target 70.7% 67.2% 69.8%

PHOF- 
C19a

Successful completion of 
drug treatment – opiate 
users

It's better to 
be high

Well below 
target

7.5% 5.8% 5%

2018/19

A particular focus on the outcomes for opiate users has been made over the past 12 months with services and commissioners developing a specific action plan to address the concerns. Nationally rates have also been declining, however the outcome 
of the above action plan is that Torbay is now above national averages for Q1 2020/21 and has improved from 5.0% to 5.9% (national rates now 5.6%).

New alcohol treatment pathways commenced during covid lockdown. This is expected to ensure that more of those that require treatment are able to access it. However this is only one small component of the total number of people who are admitted 
to hospital for alcohol, as not all people need treatment.  The treatment service is also working with the hospital to improve the pathways into alcohol treatment services prior to hospital discharge in an attempt to reduce future/repeat admissions. They 
have also ensured that all discharges have access to Breaking Free Online to support people through a tailored programme of digital support for their alcohol use. Wider societal norm changes are required to bring about a change in the alcohol 
culture in Torbay and the UK which leads to excessive alcohol admissions locally.

Pregnant women are one of the target populations within their contract and maternity services maintained their referrals rates over lockdown so that those pregnant women wishing to quit continued to receive a service offer. Lifestyles services 
continue to work with maternity to encourage quitting during pregnancy, which a significant proportion do. Lifestyles have also launched a targeted campaign to tie in with Stoptober specifically targeting pregnant women. However the long term 
intergenerational attitudes to smoking in the most deprived communities makes changing the lifestyles behaviours in this group challenging.

Current Public Health priorities for families and young people include:
1. Re-launch Torbay Healthy Weight Partnership with a particular greater focus on the voluntary sector 
2. Partnership to own Healthy Weight Action Plan reflecting ‘areas for delivery’ including Increased access to and knowledge of healthy food combined with cooking skills and food awareness and support for holiday hunger schemes. Also fully utilise 
the physical activity and nutrition resources and guidance within the Torbay Healthy Learning website to ensure whole school staff are supported to improve pupil diet and foster healthy weight
3. Confirm requirements and adopt Phase 1 Local Authority Healthy Weight Declaration.
4. Complete a new healthy weight vision for Torbay Council.
5. Lifestyles services offer family based interventions through slimming world/weight watchers although the take up of this offer is poor. Improved connectivity between the National Child measurement Programme and the lifestyles offer is aspiring to 
improve knowledge around childhood weight and increase the take up of this offer.

2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

2018

2018/19

7

P
age 255



22. Co-locate police officers within Children's Services' teams to continue to improve 
outcomes for children and families.

Due to Covid-19 responses this cannot be progressed at this stage.

Discussions with the Integrated Care Organisation regarding this have 
determined that they have no active plans for a Health and Wellbeing  Hub 
in Paignton.

Discussions have started with TDA and NHS for the possibility of an 
NHS Cavell (mental health centre) as part of the Torquay Town Build.

25. Support the implementation of the Evening and Night Time Economy Strategy. No further work has been undertaken on the strategy due to COVID-19 
response. Work continues to support the sector and Licensing Policy 
produced and consulate upon including the principle of the Strategy where 
appropriate.

Strategy will be launch on the basis of it forms a building block for the 
sector as part of the Covid-19 recovery. This however will be 
dependent of the status of the pandemic.

21. Ensure a focus on the risk to and impact of exploitation of children and vulnerable adults, 
working in partnership with community groups.

Thriving People: We will build safer communities

Community and Corporate Plan Delivery Plan Action What have we done in the last quarter? What are the priorities for the next quarter?

19. Work with the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) on its next Strategic Assessment to 
identify priorities for building safer communities in Torbay, and ensure that Council activities 
align and support this approach.

Draft Strategic Assessment has been produced and has been to the CSP 
Board for initial review. Priorities identified which will underpin the focus of 
the partnership this year: 
• Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
• Exploitation 
• Drugs
Significant focus has been applied to Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
(DASV) during Q1&2 and funding through CSP allocated accordingly.

Report will finalised in line with peninsular assessment with Office of 
Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC).
All three themes are integrated into cross cutting work streams across 
the organisation. Work will continue to deliver this.

Due to Covid-19 responses this cannot be progressed at this stage.

Established a dedicated exploitation team manager and coordinator within 
children’s services that have oversight of the services provided to these 
children who are vulnerable to exploitation. 
We have reviewed all policies and procedures relating to exploitation and 
have implemented an exploitation screening tool. 
We have improved our performance data to identify children at risk of 
exploitation and ensure that services are delivered to support them. 

We will continue to embed and evaluate the policies and procedures 
in relation to Child Exploitation Missing Operational Group (CMOG) 
and Missing and Child Exploitation (MACE).
We will quality assure our response to children who are at risk of 
exploitation to learn and improve our effectiveness. 
Continue to work with partners and stakeholders to identify and disrupt 
activity within the Bay. 

23. Support Devon and Cornwall Police in securing a response location in Paignton.

MCN tender launch.
Prepare for implementation of Domestic Abuse Act 2020: 
Plan and start implementation of activities from OPCC perpetrator 
funding.
Referrals pathway work with Devon, Cornwall and Plymouth.
Work with Innovation Unit, OPCC, CCG, Devon and Cornwall to 
gather experiences of victims and survivors of sexual violence and 
people who work with them.
Seek long term funding for Standing Tall. Expression of Interest to 
Comic Relief.

20. Ensure an effective partnership approach to reducing domestic abuse and sexual 
violence (DASV) to ensure that all agencies are working together.

Successful MoJ bid perpetrator funding (£471K) across area. 
Communications campaign. Multiple Complex Needs tender completed.
STP work (CCG, Devon, Plymouth commissioners).
Recruited  DASV lead role in the CCG.
STP monies appointed the Innovation Unit - project to better understand the 
needs of victims of SV and system responses.
CVS - Standing Tall Partnership formed – successfully bid £52.8K to deliver 
support - a listening ear service, top up grants, essentials parcels, DA 
training, counselling. The service mobilised with impressive speed and to 
date has received 100 referrals for support (target 50).
Community Reinforcement and Family Training (CRAFT): CRAFT Co-
Ordinator recruited through Home Office Violence Against Women and Girls 
funds.
Programme converted for on line delivery.
Torbay Domestic Abuse Service – impact and recovery plan completed. 
Recruiting to Domestic Violence Protection Notice and BC Independent 
Domestic Violence Advisor roles. Sourced 3 additional safe houses.

No further work has been undertaken due to COVID-19 response. Conversations will be resurrected with new Basic Command Unit 
Commander and OPPC.

24. Work proactively with local NHS partners to deliver Health and Wellbeing Hubs in 
Paignton and Torquay and to maximise the impact of the Health Improvement Programme.

8

P
age 256



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Quarter Target
Last period 

value

1a

Torbay Domestic Abuse 
Service - New 
placements in the service 
-  Adults

N/A
(monitoring 

only)
1,455 No target set 360

2a

Torbay Domestic Abuse 
Service - New 
placements in the service 
-  Number of Children of 
clients

N/A
(monitoring 

only)
1,012 No target set 197

3a

Torbay Domestic Abuse 
Service - New 
placements in the service 
- 1c) Number of standard 
risk cases out of above 
(all others are either 
medium or high risk as 
determined by a DA risk 
assessment tool)

N/A
(monitoring 

only)
47 No target set 11

In terms of referrals Torbay Domestic Abuse Service (TDAS) is seeing slightly above average numbers every week, however the levels are variable, and there has been no surge and there do not appear to be any trends at present.
The number of Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) Independent Domestic Violence Advisor referrals has been steady at 74 (73 in Q1) with a 91.8% engagement rate, up from 86.5% in Q1 against a target of 75%.  The average 
engagement rate last year was 74.7%.   55.2% in Q2 were repeat clients (i.e. referred within 1 year of exiting the service) which is up 12% on last year’s average of 42.9%.
TDAS Children’ programme Helping Hands is back to being delivered in schools and the safe houses.  TDAS has a recovery plan in place and can revert back to home working as required.

11

Quarter 3 2019/20

10

289 264 187

342 343 300

Quarter 2 2020/21Quarter 4 2019/20 Quarter 1 2020/21

11

197

360

4

9

P
age 257



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Monthly Target Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20
Last period 

value

Child Protection Plans

TBC TBC TBC TBC 185 177 192 199 192 194 197 223 218 220 221 200 200

Children Looked After

TBC TBC TBC TBC 343 345 356 368 365 354 348 340 338 335 329 324 324

Starting CLA

TBC TBC TBC TBC 8 8 15 18 10 5 2 4 7 8 2 4 4

Ceasing CLA

TBC TBC TBC TBC 1 7 5 6 14 15 8 11 9 10 8 9 9

ASCPI0
0x

Number of adults 
safeguarding referrals 
(Section 42 Enquiries) 
Year to month

N/A
(monitoring 

only)
31 No target set 7 7 14 5 6 31 24 23 37 103 121 149 149

TCT14b

Safeguarding Adults - % 
repeat safeguarding 
referrals in last 12 
months

It's better to 
be low

Well above 
target

7.8% 8.0% 7.9% 8.1% 8.5% 7.6% 7.1% 7.8% 7.2% 9.0% 10.3% 11.4% 11.0% 14.6% 14.6%

There has been an audit of this work.
In our analysis we identified a clear theme in that the majority of repeat referrals (not all) were in relation to large scale safeguarding enquiries or Provider of concern processes; when our staff had an increased foot fall in the provider setting, and 
actively identifying issues of abuse resulting in harm to individuals, it is practice in Torbay that these incidents of abuse would be recorded as individual safeguarding processes; separate to the large scale enquiry, the rationale for this has been to 
avoid information overload/something being missed within the larger enquiry and most importantly to ensure that Making safeguarding personal is prioritised and central for the individual concerned.

In reviewing the remaining repeat referrals, we recognised the fact that some individuals choose not to accept they need a safeguarding plan or, a plan is in place which they later do not follow, equally there were individuals for who, their physical 
and/or Mental health or Mental Capacity deteriorate resulting in them being referred though to safeguarding for different but equally valid reasons. Equally there were a few individuals with highly complex needs and increased vulnerabilities such as 
autism, epilepsy, domestic abuse; self-neglect and an individual being targeted within the community as a victim, where despite risk management plans, and safeguarding plans being in place for them, they remain at high risk of further abuse. It must 
be recognised that for some of these individuals, the risks they pose or are subjected to e.g. PICA or total reliance on providers for all care needs, can result in high levels of anxiety for professionals, providers and family/advocates, and whilst these 
individuals may not need to be under a safeguarding process continually for years there will inevitably be times when they will be re-referred into the safeguarding adults process.

The practicalities of this is that the numbers will go up if we have several large scale enquiries, and action to address this would undermine the safeguarding process and not help the individuals concerned.

10

P
age 258



27. Explore the potential for the community wealth building approach to develop new ways 
of working with our public and private sector partners to maximise local economic benefits, 
including public sector procurement.

CWB board has been convened and met for inaugural meeting.

30. Explore funding opportunities to create greater capacity and enhanced capability for 
Brixham Fish Market.

Regular liaison with local MP, Brixham Trawler Agents, British Ports 
Association, HoSW LEP and TDA to keep abreast of funding options. EIA 
scoping work undertaken.

Continue the regular liaison with local MP, Brixham Trawler Agents, 
British Ports Association, HoSW LEP and TDA. Undertake further 
work towards the land reclamation project, including cost estimates 
and necessary consents i.e. Marine Management Organisation & 
planning

31. Promote opportunities for investment through the Torbay Economic Growth Fund with 
the aim of regenerating all of our town centres and diversifying the economy.

No specific actions. Bring forward business cases for Edgindwell & Lymington Road if 
appropriate.
Identify opportunities for the Fund including for the employment sites 
noted at #29.

Getting Building Fund allocated to Edginswell & Lymington Road. • Identification of additional potential employment sites.
• Review pipeline of demand.

A Thriving Economy: We will create an environment in which businesses and jobs can grow

Community and Corporate Plan Delivery Plan Action What have we done in the last quarter? What are the priorities for the next quarter?

26. Agree the COVID-19 Economic Recovery Plan.

28. Progress, using our relevant powers, the possession of the Crossways site in Paignton. Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) served and planning application 
submitted.

Responding to the CPO objections.

29. Protect and accelerate the development of employment space to accommodate business 
growth.

• Establish the Procurement and Employment Sub-groups

• Undertake local benchmarking/ spend analysis exercise

Deliver in line with actions below. Assess impact of further lockdown.

33. Support South Devon College's HE Vision including to secure Full Taught Degree 
Awarding Powers by 2022 and University College status by 2025.

No actions required. Review with SDC Principal what support is required.

32. Close the educational attainment gap and broaden the skills base within the workforce 
and further the growth of apprenticeships.

Economic Recovery Board established and work programme being created. 

Submitted in Town Investment Plan support for sector pathways work.

Secured investment from HotSW LEP for hi tech training.

Local Education Board meeting to agree the action plan.

11

P
age 259



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Quarter Target
Last period 

value

Gross rateable value of 
Business Rates (NNDR) It's better to 

be high
On target £93,858,989 £94,253,806 £94,802,114

Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End
Great Britain / 
Month Target

Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20
Last period 

value

3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.2% 3.5% 3.5% 7.1% 8.0% 7.6% 7.8% 7.9% 7.7%

     2,385       2,385       2,415       2,475       2,675       2,675       5,485       6,165       5,845       5,955       6,080       5,875 

Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End
Great Britain 

Value
Last period 

value

TEPI07

Percentage of workless 
households in Torbay It's better to 

be low
Well above 

target
17.1% 13.9% 16.3%

PTPI05

Earnings by Torbay 
Residence (Gross weekly 
pay)

It's better to 
be high

Well below 
target

£472.40 £587.00 £505.10

PTPI06

Earnings by Torbay 
Workplace (Gross 
weekly pay)

It's better to 
be high

Well below 
target

£444.10 £586.50 £483.80

Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End
Great Britain 

Value
Last period 

value

TEPI08 Percentage of people in 
Torbay who are 
economically active 
(aged 16 to 64)

It's better to 
be high

On target 78.1% 79.4% 77.6%

TEPI09 Percentage of people in 
Torbay in employment 
(aged 16 to 64)

It's better to 
be high

On target 74.2% 76.2% 73.1%

Quarter 4 2019/20

6.5%3.5%

74.1% 74.9% 73.1% 73.1%

78.2%

16.3%

2019

£505.10

£483.80

77.1% 77.6%

Oct 2018-Sep 2019 Jan 2019-Dec 2019

78.1%

£94,018,759

7.7%
It's better to 

be low

Out of Work Benefits 
Claimant  Count

TEPI03

£94,582,264£93,858,989 £94,802,114

Well above 
target

Quarter 3 2019/20 Quarter 1 2020/21 Quarter 2 2020/21

Apr 2019-Mar 2020 Jul 2019-Jun 2020

12

P
age 260



43. Maximise the use of investment from new businesses in Torbay through the use of 
Section 106 monies, Community Infrastructure Levy and sponsorship.

• Revise project allocation in line with offer.
• Affirm partnership approach for key town centre project.
• Respond to other Heads of Terms conditions.

38. Ensure that the Future High Streets Fund application for Paignton secures investment to 
accelerate the regeneration of Paignton.

No actions, decision not yet given. Awaiting decision.

36. Work to identify a third party provider to operate the public toilets at Corbyn Head from 
2021/2022 onwards.

Marketing of this site has commenced using a local agent with support from 
the TDA. Positive media coverage provided on this opportunity.

The next phase is to identify interested parties and look at the 
proposals. Due diligence will be necessary. The nature of the offer will 
determine the decision making process.

37. Work with partners to develop a Town Investment Plan for Torquay which secures the 
highest allocation of Town Deal investment.

Heads of terms offer for £21.9M secured October.

Business plans for accelerated projects developed.

34. Ensure the COVID-19 Economic Recovery Plan links with the sector specific recovery 
plan for the tourism industry.

Close liaison has continued between the Council, the English Riviera BID 
company, the TDA and regional/national tourism bodies i.e. Visit Devon & 
Visit England. 
Continued to work with HotSW & Great SW partners to ensure that regional 
recovery is also aligned.

35. Invest up to an additional £0.6 million in public toilet provision enabling investment at 
Goodrington South, Meadfoot, Broadsands, Goodrington North, Abbey Meadows and 
Preston Bus Shelter.

Several projects delayed by the Covid-19 lockdown and the need to avoid 
summer disruption.
Goodrington South - all works completed and unit operational.

Meadfoot Project start date 16th November completion estimated 
22nd January 2021.
Broadsands Modular unit under construction, drainage and foundation 
works scheduled for 14th September 30th October. Completion of unit 
detail awaited dependant on drainage plans. 
Goodrington North Project estimated start date 30th November 2020 
completion estimate 5th February 2021. 
Abbey Meadows Project start date 28th September completion 
estimated 6th November.
Preston Bus Shelter Project start date 12th October completion 
estimated 20th November. 

Community and Corporate Plan Delivery Plan Action What have we done in the last quarter? What are the priorities for the next quarter?

39. Submit our application to the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) for Phase 3 of the renovations 
at Torre Abbey.

The Heritage Lottery Fund has ceased normal funding applications due to 
Covid-19. Work has continued on preparing for public consultation. A bid 
has been submitted to the Arts Council/HLF Recovery Fund.

The next quarter is unlikely to see any resumption of the normal 
application process. Officers will monitor the situation and any other 
funding opportunities.

A Thriving Economy: We will become the premier tourist resort in the UK

Further liaison will continue along with collaborative and collective 
lobbying for sector specific support.

Scoping review of Destination Management Plan.

41. Develop plans for the long term future of the Pavilion in Torquay. Section 106 Task Force established and had several meetings.
CiL Neighbourhood Spend Panel agreed through Cabinet.

Looking to redistribute unspent s106 monies, where possible.
First Neighbourhood Spend Panel details to be developed, terms of 
reference, the scope for proposed projects and first panel in the New 
Year.

Section 106 Member Task Force established.
CiL Neighbourhood Share spend process agreed through Cabinet.

Run first CiL Neighbourhood Spend Board, distribute funds.

The next quarter is unlikely to see any resumption of the application 
process. Officers will monitor the situation and any other funding 
opportunities.

42. Support the community in their development and delivery of projects which will improve 
our beaches and seafront areas.

Work has continued with beach and seafront tenants to improve their areas 
and/or support their projects i.e. Fishcombe Cove Café, the Old Toll House 
& Pierpoint.

Further support and encouragement will be provided to the community 
in their development and delivery of projects which will improve our 
beaches and seafront areas.

40. Support the Heritage Lottery Resilience Fund bid for Oldway Mansion in order to support 
the submission of a Heritage Lottery Fund bid, the new Oldway Trust and volunteer 
activities.

The HLFhas ceased Resilience Fund applications due to Covid-19. Work 
has continued with the Oldway Trust, the Friends of Oldway and other 
volunteers. A key holder agreement has been signed and the old Tea 
Rooms are due to re-open.

13

P
age 261



46. Work with the Destination Management Group to ensure alignment with Destination 
Management Plan objectives and advocate that regional partners recognise the importance 
of the visitor economy for Torbay.

Great South West Tourism Survey review.
Launch of: Be the Business.

Review of Destination Management Plan.

Successful bid for Visit South West domestic marketing campaign. The Visit 
South West domestic marketing campaign is a Government Cabinet Office 
funded campaign awarded to the Great South West DMO partnership, 
(including ERBIDCo, Visit Devon, Destination Plymouth, Visit Cornwall, Visit 
Somerset, Visit Exmoor, Visit Dorset).
The campaign value in the end is £340,000. It went live on 1st September 
running for 3 weeks across digital display, social media, print and radio to an 
audience within 2 hour travel time of our region.

The Council will continue to work with the Destination Marketing 
Group, which is supported by the TDA.

Performance Indicators are in development for this section. Information below was provided by the English Riviera Bid Company Ltd with data from The 
South West Research Company Ltd.

47. Work with the community to empower them to manage flower beds and promote civic 
pride.

Before the Covid-19 lockdown, work was progressing which included the 
Torbay Community Development Trust undertaking engagement about the 
community looking after flower beds, extending the Council’s work with 
Groundwork South to co-ordinate the work of volunteers and developing 
Community Action Plans for the flowerbeds and greenspaces.  
Understandably, this work has slowed considerably but now needs to be 
progressed.

A new work stream has been establish entitled “Green Infrastructure – 
Increasing Community Empowerment”. The work stream Project 
Board will now start work to address the four overarching (and related) 
messages from the first Community Conference held in September 
2019:
• There needs to be a change of culture in the Council and also in 
communities.
• Trusted relationship with communities need to be built.
• Communication with communities and individuals needs to improve.
• Celebration of Torbay’s assets and civic pride need to be 
encouraged.

Holiday visits to the English Riviera in 2018* had increased by 4% for staying trips and 3% for spend compared to the ERBID baseline year of 2016. This growth is higher than the national average for domestic staying trips. Overseas study nights were 
also 4% higher.  A key objective is to extend the season and increase shoulder season occupancy. This has also been achieved. Shoulder season occupancy in both Q1 (Jan-Mar) and Q4 (Oct-Dec) both increased for every recorded year since the 
ERBID was launched in 2017.  Staying and day visitors combined spent £425 million on the Riviera in 2018, generating £566 million in local business turnover and supporting approximately 11,000 actual jobs. 2019 data is expected mid-October.

45. Support Torbay Culture in advocating for the culture sector to work with partners to 
ensure a good quality submission to Creative People and Places.

Delivered Create to Recover activity.

Secured Cultural Recovery Fund grant supporting Torbay Culture role.

Deliver Cultural Recovery Work.
With board of Torbay Culture: assess how the Board can increase its 
visibility with partners.

44. Work with destination management partners to maximise all available funding for Torbay.

14

P
age 262



58. Review and develop plans to address flooding risks within Torbay.

Tender is in the process of being concluded and is at the evaluation stage.

Contribute to the consultation response on the Devon Carbon Plan 
and the content of the Torbay Climate Change Strategy. Continue 
work on Local Transport Strategy.

The Trees for the Future document will need to be incorporated into 
the wider work on Green Infrastructure.

Provide clear, positive pre-application planning advice on the 
proposals and when submitted determine them in an efficient and 
timely manner.  Continue to explore opportunities for funding for 
electric charging points.

If the process is successful contract will be awarded with 
commencement beginning of 2021.

55. Bring forward Trees for the Future setting out how we will work as a community to 
protect and enhance our treescape and introduce appropriate re-wilding.

The Torbay Flood Steering Group held a meeting in July. Membership 
includes Councillors, Council Officers, TDA, the Environment Agency and 
South West Water.

The Torbay Flood Steering Group are due to meet again in December 
or January. A revised Torbay Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
will be presented to Cabinet for approval in early 2021. In the 
meantime several flood alleviation schemes continue to be 
progressed.

51. Introduce and maintain close oversight of the impacts of charging for household DIY 
waste at the Recycling Centre.

Capital works have been designed and the contractor instructed.
Household DIY waste charging is due to be introduced in early October.

54. Work as a member of the Peninsula Transport Body to tackle climate change through the 
transport agenda.

56. Explore opportunities to produce our own solar and other renewable electricity and 
introduce electric vehicle charging points and make best use of the planning system to drive 
this agenda across Torbay.

57. Implement the Environmental Enforcement Service.

Continued to be actively involved in the partnership.

A Trees for the Future document was agreed in principle in April.

Principal of two Torbay Council Solar farms approved by Cabinet.

SWISCo will maintain oversight of the impacts of charging for 
household DIY waste at the Recycling Centre once it is introduced.

A new Waste Strategy will be consulted on during this quarter for 
adoption in December 2020. There will be a clear focus on increasing 
recycling rates.

49. Review and develop plans to improve communications and transport connectivity and 
sustainability, including the submission of a bid for Edginswell Rail Station.

Bid was submitted on time for the Edginswell Rail Station proposal. Prepare for project implementation, if bid is successful.
Work with partners over Green Travel Plans, Review of the Local 
Transport Plan.

What are the priorities for the next quarter?

Progress has been delayed by other key actions, including the TUPE 
transfer of teams into SWISCo. A Project Board has been established.

The Project Board will continue to meet to properly plan the trial areas. 
It is intended that the trials will commence in early February 2021.

52. Develop plans for a trial and roll out of three-weekly refuse collections

Set out work programme, priorities and details of spend as early as 
possible and develop the Climate Change Strategy.  Work closely with 
the O/S Working Group.

48. Deliver a successful transition of services to SWISCo, in particular ensuring that there is 
a focus on increasing recycling rates.

A successful transition of services to SWISCo was achieved on 1st July. 

Tackling Climate Change

Tackling Climate Change: We will become a carbon neutral council and work with others to create a carbon neutral community

Community and Corporate Plan Delivery Plan Action

50. Appoint a dedicated Climate Change Officer, to co-ordinate Council activities as part of 
the Devon Climate Emergency Response Group and develop an action plan to address 
climate change in Torbay.

Successful, but somewhat delayed recruitment process secured our first 
choice from a just under a hundred applicants. Jacqueline Warren has been 
appointed to the role. Starts early December.

What have we done in the last quarter?

53. Introduce a mechanism to ensure all council decisions are informed by an analysis of 
whether they would help or hinder climate change.

The report template has been updated to reflect this requirement. The template has been introduced for meetings from October 2020.

59. Encourage a sustainably developed built environment through review of Local 
Development Scheme (Local Plan Review).

Local Plan review well underway, including the establishment and first 
meeting of the Local Plan Working Group.

Decision on the scope of update of the Local Plan. Report in 
December. Preparation of supporting documents and a revised Local 
Development Scheme with shorter timescales.

15

P
age 263



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Target
Last period 

value

NI191

Residual household 
waste per household It's better to 

be low
Well above 

target
143 120kg TBC

NI192

Percentage of household 
waste sent for reuse, 
recycling and composting

It's better to 
be high

Well below 
target

40.25% 50.00% TBC

00000

% of commercial waste 
recycled It's better to 

be high
Above target 21.09% 25.00% TBC

Reported 1 quarter in arrears

Reported 1 quarter in arrears

The lockdown due to COVID19 significantly affected waste performance during Quarter 1 of 2020-21. The increase in residual waste was seen in the waste collected at the kerbside and this was reflected by similar increases for all local authorities 
across the UK.  All other sources of residual household waste e.g. civic amenity and litter bin waste, were reduced in Q1 2020-21.  More people were at home instead of at work, so increases in the tonnage collected at the kerbside were seen as a 
result.  The Recycling Centre was also closed, which significantly reduced the amount of recycling delivered to the site especially garden waste.  It is expected that with the easing of lockdown measures and the re-opening of the Recycling Centre, 
levels of household waste will reduce and recycling rates should partially recover showing an improvement on this indicator.

Further performance indicators for this section are being explored in combination with the review of the Climate Change Strategy.

16.74% 26.36% Reported 1 quarter in arrears16.79%

126kg

The increase in household residual waste described above, increases the denominator which is used to calculate the recycling percentage.  Materials collected from the kerbside for recycling also increased in Quarter 1 2020-21 compared to Quarter 1 
2019-20, by approximately 300 tonnes, this will have increased due to more people being at home.  There was a significant increase in the amount of food waste collected for recycling (possibly wasted as a result of stockpiling).  However, as the 
Recycling Centre was closed during lockdown the amount of material collected for recycling at the site was significantly lower than previous years as mentioned above significantly garden waste.  In 2019-20 over 3170 tonnes of recycling were 
delivered to the site by householders, but in 2020-21 only 740 tonnes were delivered. Quarter 1 is traditionally a heavy quarter for garden waste, so the reduced tonnage has significantly affected the recycling rate. It is expected that with the easing of 
lockdown measures and the re-opening of the Recycling Centre, levels of recycling will increase.

Quarter 2 2020/21

41.68% 31.84%

135kg143kg

Quarter 3 2019/20 Quarter 4 2019/20 Quarter 1 2020/21

40.25%

16

P
age 264



The work of CAMG will continue with a focus on the potential for a 
reduction in the need for office space post Covid-19.

Start Office 365 project work to bring in new operating system by May 
21.
Commence tender process for new CRM system on business case 
and funding approval.
NB All work is aligned to the Council Re-Design to ensure offer and 
outcomes remain the focus of process improvements.

The draft Community Engagement and Empowerment Strategy was 
launched at the Community Conference in September 2020. The 
consultation will run through to 20 December 2020.

Engagement on the draft Community Engagement and Empowerment 
Strategy is underway with a long and short version questionnaire 
available.  Promotion will take place across the whole community and 
consideration will be given to whether in person events can be held 
(Covid restrictions permitting).

The Opportunity, Impact and Risk Assessment in relation to Covid-19 on the 
community and the wider Community and Voluntary Sector has been 
reviewed with specific impacts, risks and opportunities escalated to the 
overarching Assessment.

60. To build upon and embed the successful collaboration that saw residents, communities, 
partnerships and the Council working together differently in the response to the pandemic.

68. Ensure that Torbay Council collaborates effectively locally, regionally and nationally. The draft External Affairs Strategy has been considered by SLT.
We have ensured that the Council is represented at appropriate regional and 
national forums.

The Strategy will be considered by members of the Cabinet in the near 
future.
Attendance at appropriate local, regional and national forums will 
continue to be prioritised.

66. Simplify and standardise how the Council works through making the best use of 
technology.

67. Review the continued rationalisation of council assets.

Completed IT infrastructure refresh, which is the foundation for 
improvements. Ran tender process for Office 365, the new operating system 
for the Council’s Windows estate that will enable much greater electronic 
collaboration, improved resilience and ability to remotely manage teams 
whilst standardising and simplifying core working practices. Started business 
requirements and business case for new Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) system to improve customer services across the 
organisation and enable full exploitation of digitalisation to release efficiency 
savings and improve productivity, underpinned by standardisation, 
simplification and data sharing.

The Corporate Asset Management Group (CAMG) held a meeting in June. 
Part of CAMG’s role is to provide advice on assets that are surplus to 
service requirements.

65. Strengthen relationships with the community by undertaking town visits by Leader and 
Chief Executive.

A schedule of Town Visits has been prepared. Arrangements for the Town Visits need to be put in place.

The Assessment needs to be completed and the actions identified will 
be incorporated into the project plan for the Our Communities project 
of the Council Redesign Programme.

61. Roll out and embed Crowdfunding to support community projects and establish 
Community Grant Funding schemes.

The draft criteria for the Community Enablement Fund has been considered 
by members of the Cabinet.

Final agreement will be reached on the operation of the Enablement 
Fund and appropriate publicity undertaken. Work will also continue on 
ensuring that there is a cohesive approach to all available 
funds/schemes available for the community from the Council.

62. Re-energise take up of the Torbay Lottery as a means of funding for community projects. We allocated £9,480 to six local good causes from the Torbay Lottery Small 
Grants Fund for 2019/2020.

This action will be included within cohesive approach to 
funds/schemes available for the community from the Council (as per 
action 61 above).

63. Agree a Community Engagement and Empowerment Strategy, including an ‘Enabling 
Council’ action plan.

Community and Corporate Plan Delivery Plan Action What have we done in the last quarter? What are the priorities for the next quarter?

A Council Fit for the Future: We will become a Council fit for the future, working with our communities to create a culture of partnership

64. Strengthen relationships with the Community Partnerships through the appointment of 
Ward Ambassadors within the Council.

Ward Ambassadors have been renamed as Ward Facilitators.  Each 
Facilitator has been asked to meet with their ward councillors and, in the 
majority of cases, these meetings have taken place.

Promotion of the scheme needs to take place with the Community 
Partnerships and the wider community.  Mechanisms also need to be 
put in place to monitor the actions being taken, ensuring that the 
specific purpose of the Facilitators is kept in mind.

A Council Fit for the Future

17

P
age 265



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Monthly Target Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20
Cumulative 

to date 

£
349,363

£
363,340

£
587,165

£
519,888

£
411,082

£
806,694

£
213,420

£
394,102

£
323,976

£
342,002

£
258,797

£
312,870

Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Annual Target Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20
Last period 

value

RECPI0
2

Variance Against 
Revenue Budget 
(projected)

It's better to 
be low

Below target £3,081,000 £0
£

3,228,000
£

3,388,083
£

2,874,000
£

3,285,388
£

3,206,488
£

3,081,000
£

7,769,000
£

7,769,000
£

4,800,000
£

4,496,000
£

3,820,000
£

1,986,000

£
1,986,000

Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Target
Last period 

value

HR 00

Staff sickness – % 
working days lost as an 
overall organisation

It's better to 
be low

Well below 
target

4.9% 3.5% 2.2%

RECPI0
6

Number of Corporate 
Complaints received It's better to 

be low
Monitoring 

only
456 No target set 75

RECPI0
5

Number of Corporate 
Complaints - Dealt with 
within timescales

It's better to 
be high

Well below 
target

83% 90% 64%

Agency Staff Cost 
(excluding schools)

RECPI0
1

4.6% 2.9%

74% 83% 57% 64%

7586 69 60

Quarter 1 2020/21 Quarter 2 2020/21

Adults £0k, Children's £273.9k, Public Health £0k, Business Services £9k, Corporate Services £27.9k, Planning & Transport £2k

It's better to 
be low

4.4%

The new system had been implemented for complaints only and the impact of this can be seen at Q3 in 2019-20, which was just after the implementation of this project.  By recruiting complaint investigators our performance in respect of timeliness 
increased from 57% to 74%.  Unfortunately at Q1 in 2020-21 performance has dropped due to the impact of COVID and this is because our complaint investigators were taken off their normal duties for part of their working week to assist with the 
COVID call centre.  In addition to this our responses to complaints depend very much on colleagues, who are delivering front line services, on providing us with information. During this time, those officers were also dealing with other priorities in 
respect of the COVID response.  Q2 performance has improved from Q1 and 62% of complaints which were due in this time were responded to within agreed timescales.  It is possible performance will fluctuate throughout this year as the pandemic 
continues.  However, our performance remains higher than it was before we implemented this project which was around 40%.

£1,845,167

2.2%

Well above 
target

£470,950£4,865,773

Quarter 3 2019/20 Quarter 4 2019/20

18

P
age 266



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Target
Last period 

value

Number of Corporate 
Complaints upheld / 
partly upheld

N/A
Monitoring 

only
181 No target set 18

Number of Freedom of 
Information (FOI) 
requests / Environmental 
Information Requests 
(EIR) received

N/A
Monitoring 

only
1426 No target set 427

FSIT012

Number of FOIs / EIRs - 
Dealt with within statutory 
timescales

It's better to 
be high

Well below 
target

83% 95% 82%

IG001

Number of subject 
access requests (SARs) 
received

N/A
Monitoring 

only
55 No target set 33

FSIT011

Number of SARs - Dealt 
with within statutory 
timescales

It's better to 
be high

Well below 
target

29% 90% 11%

Quarter 2 2020/21

427

18

Quarter 3 2019/20 Quarter 4 2019/20 Quarter 1 2020/21

307 469 235

10 17 17

There has been no change in how the council processed these requests.  FOI performance has remained at similar levels across the year.  We continue to work with SLT to advise them of overdue cases and we have improved our processes around 
chasing responses which are due.  The target for the percentage of FOIs handled in time is high as this is what the Information Commissioner’s Office set as a good level of performance.

13 21 27 33

82%

33% 11%29% 27%

Subject Access Request performance is a known issue, which is being mitigated.  The number of requests has increased significantly over the last few years. The majority of requests are large in volume (often thousands of pages) and complex in 
their nature and can take a significant amount of time to process, sometimes months.   There is currently no dedicated resource within the team to handle these requests, however, this is currently being addressed through the approval of a 12 month 
fixed term post which is going out to advert imminently.  In addition to this, a neighbouring authority has been assisting us with some requests. Improvements may not be seen immediately as there is a backlog of requests to be dealt with, however, the 
additional resource will certainly improve the current situation.

85% 89% 84%

19

P
age 267



Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Target Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20
Last period 

value

REG001
B

Registration of births - 
Registered within 42 
days

It's better to 
be high

Well below 
target

98.4% 98% 98.6% 98.6% 98.4% 98.4% 98.5% 98.4%
No births 
registered 

No births 
registered 

67.7% 60.8% 60.6% 64.7% 64.7%

REG001
D

Registration of deaths - 
Registered within 5 days It's better to 

be high
Well below 

target
74.5% 90.0% 74.6% 75.4% 75.2% 74.1% 74.6% 74.5% 75.0% 79.0% 81.7% 80.5% 80.6% 79.7% 79.7%

Code Title Polarity Status Prev Year End Target
Last period 

value

SWISCO - Complaints 
per 100,000 population

It's better to 
be low

TBC
Data not 
available

TBC 6.6

SWISCO - Compliments 
per 100,000 population It's better to 

be high
TBC

Data not 
available

TBC 8.8

Number of Planning 
Applications determined 
in time  - with extensions

It's better to 
be high

Monitoring 
only

691 No target set 224

Number of Planning 
Applications determined 
in time - without 
extensions

It's better to 
be high

Monitoring 
only

TBC No target set 55

214 112

Quarter 3 2019/20 Quarter 4 2019/20 Quarter 1 2020/21

Data not available Data not available Data not available 8.8

123 98 23 55

224

Torbay Registration service has historically not been able to attain the statutory timescale of registering 90% deaths within five days. The service has worked very hard over the last few years to improve its timelines. Registrations are now being 
completed by telephone, rather than a face to face appointment, which was a change in legislation to respond to Corona Virus. This is also coupled with the doctors scanning medical certificates for the registrations, rather than waiting for physical 
documents to arrive in the office – again another change to death registrations in light of Corona Virus. 
To attain the 90% target is a very challenging task. Issues that impact on the service being able to achieve this target include:
o The service is unable to make a doctor complete a medical certificate in a timely manner after a death e.g. they may be on holiday or busy. 
o On occasion, it can be a challenge to find a next of kin to register a death.  
o In circumstances where solicitors deal with an estate and they are slow at registering due to being busy or accessing the deceased personal information to complete the registration.
The General Register Office monitor this target and are in regular contact to monitor our performance and assist with identifying actions to address this.  However, it needs to be recognised that some of the issues encountered to achieve this target 
are outside of our control. The Compliance officer from General Register Office has recently commended Torbay Registrars on their performance regarding this PI.

Data not available Data not available Data not available 6.6

Due to a national lockdown national restrictions were placed on life events, this meant that no birth registrations took place for twelve weeks from March to June 2020. When restrictions were lifted Registrars had a significant back log of births to 
register (550 in total).  As of the week ending 2 October there were only ten births outstanding that are over the statutory registration time scale of 42 days. The performance should return to normal which is usually around 90% by the end of October 
2020. However, this will be dependent on how cooperative the parents are and if they attend a registration appointment or continue to ignore late registration reminder letters. We have plenty of appointment availability however we are unable to force 
people to attend to register their babies. This is a great achievement for the Registrars Team and the recovery reflects the hard work they have put in to recover the back log. A service level agreement with Devon County Council for residents who live 
in the Teignbridge or South Hams areas but whose babies are born at Torbay Hospital is back in place after being ceased for a period of this year due to COVID 19. These babies can again be registered at Devon County register offices and therefore 
the number of births needing to be registered by Torbay will be fewer.

Quarter 2 2020/21

238

20

P
age 268



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Risk Register 

Quarter 2 2020/21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 269

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix 2



2 
 

KEY TO RISK REGISTER 

The below Risk Matrix has been used to score the risks and only those that register as High (16 and above) and Medium/High (10 to 15) are 

included. 

 

 

 

P
age 270



3 
 

Community and Corporate Plan Priority: Thriving People and Communities 

Score 
and 

RAYG 
Title Description 

Probability 
Score 

Impact 
Score 

Mitigation 

Score 
and 

RAYG 
After 

Mitigation 

Risk 
Owner 

12 Increased 
demand for 
Children's 
Services 

 

The number of children that are 
cared for by the local authority 
increases and puts pressure on 
sufficiency of placement and the 
budget.  

3 - Possible 4 - Major We have robust oversight of our cared 
for population and those children who 
enter care. A number of panels have 
been put in place to monitor and track 
children’s progression. These include 
a pre-birth tracker, permanence panel 
and the placement panel that reviews 
children in independent care settings. 
Cases are tracked on a weekly basis. 
There is now an Edge of Care offer 
which supports children who have the 
potential to become cared for. 
There is more effective use of the 
PARIS system with the use of daily 
alerts specifically related to COVID-19 
to support us in identifying the most 
vulnerable children in this challenging 
time. 

12 Nancy 
Meehan 

20 

 

 

 

 

 

Impact upon 
the council's 
ability to meet 
statutory 
timescales 

Increased demand could impact on 
our ability to meet statutory 
timescales for the completion of 
assessments and meetings such 
as child protection case 
conferences. 

5 – Almost 
certain 

4 - Major There is weekly monitoring of the 
numbers of contacts into the Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub that require 
a statutory response. This has risen 
significantly during the COVID period. 
Quality assurance activity is being 
undertaken to ensure that the 
thresholds remain robustly applied. 
Each service area has a performance 
meeting to ensure we are compliant 
with statutory requirements. There is 

16 Nancy 
Meehan 

P
age 271



4 
 

an exception report in relation to 
children’s services improvement 
which is reviewed at the Children’s 
Services Improvement Board, SLT 
and overview and scrutiny. 

15 Failure to 
deliver the 
Children’s 
Services 
Improvement 
Plan 
 

The last Ofsted Inspection 
judgement was that Children's 
Services are inadequate. If the next 
inspection judges us as inadequate 
it is highly likely that the delivery of 
Children’s Services will be 
removed from Council control. 

3 - Possible 5 - Critical A Children’s Commissioner is in place 
as part of a DfE statutory direction. 
The Commissioner chairs the 
improvement board and the board has 
been reviewed to further strengthen its 
function. There is also stronger quality 
assurance and a better understanding 
of performance. 

12 Nancy 
Meehan 

12 Delivery of 
Liquid Logic 

If timescales are not met for the 
delivery of Liquid Logic (February 
2021) this will have significant 
budget implications with Liquid 
Logic and will leave the Council 
with a data deficiency. 

3 - Possible 4 – Major There is a governance structure 
around the implementation of the 
system and progress is being reported 
to SLT. 
Due to data migration there is delay to 
the implementation of Liquid Logic 
which is now scheduled for May 2021 

8 Nancy 
Meehan 

16 Local Area 
SEND 
Inspection 
 

The Local Area Special 
Educational Needs and/or 
Disabilities (SEND) inspection 
conducted by Ofsted and the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) will 
take place before July 2020. The 
local area preparations and self- 
evaluation currently demonstrates 
an inability to be compliant with the 
legislative code, due to the 
capacity within the system. If 
inspectors confirm this self-
analysis, it is anticipated that the 
Local Area will receive a ‘statement 
of action’ and inspectors will 

4 - Likely 4 – Major The Ofsted Inspection Process is 
currently on hold due to COVID-19 
and there is no definitive information 
about when ‘normal’ inspection activity 
will commence. The preparation 
processes are continuing and the 
inspection self-evaluation document is 
being updated.   
 
The impact of COVID-19 on SEND 
delivery is being documented and the 
changes to SEND legislation are 
being addressed. However, there is a 
realistic risk that the authority and 
partners will not be able to meet the 

16 Rachael 
Williams 

P
age 272



5 
 

evaluate progress with programme 
of monitoring visits. 

expectations to review all plans as 
frequently as being requested. 
The SEND staff posts are being filled 
but delayed by Covid. 

12 Achievement 
of £6m of Adult 
Social Care 
savings by 
March 2023 

The Adult Social Care (ASC) 
Improvement Plan has been 
created to deliver the £6m saving 
through operational redesign and 
further strengthening the 
Community Led Support Approach 
and Strength Based Approach to 
social care. The projects within the 
plan have been designed in year 
one to realise savings from critical 
projects whilst allowing 
corresponding projects to be set up 
to realise savings in years two and 
three. 

3 - Possible 4 – Major Adult Social Care Improvement Board 
will review risks and mitigate using the 
integrated Project Management Office 
as a function of the plan. Project risks 
will be mitigated at project level and 
escalated where there is likely to be a 
broader ASC Improvement Plan 
negative strategic or operational 
impact.  

 
 
 

12 Jo Williams 

16 Domiciliary 
Care Capacity 

A deficit in the required capacity to 
meet all care requirements  

4 - Likely 4 – Major Triaging of care packages.  
Development of market – retention, 
recruitment including voluntary 
capacity. 
Increased independence through 
enablement and circles of support. 
Wellbeing and resilience support for 
care workers/staff.  
Development of esteem and value 
associated with care work. 

12 
 

Jo Williams 

10 Adult Social 
Care 
assessment of 
working age 
adults with 
poor mental 
health is not 

Responsibility for delivery of social 
care services for mental health 
working age adults is delegated 
under a Memorandum of 
Understanding to Devon 
Partnership Trust (DPT) by Torbay 
Council. 

5 – Almost 
certain 

2 - Minor Assessments are mainly undertaken 
by DPT. 
Care Act eligibility indicator questions 
have been introduced into DPT’s 
Mental Health Assessment Team’s 
assessment so in future it will be 

10 Jo Williams 

P
age 273



6 
 

wholly 
compliant with 
the Council’s 
duties under 
Care Act 2014. 

There are currently (July 2020) 500 
people on waiting list for a 
secondary mental health service, 
some of whom may also have an 
entitlement to social care support 
under the Care Act, but have not 
yet received a Care Act eligibility 
assessment. Therefore people 
eligible for social care support will 
have delayed access to it which 
could lead to unnecessary 
deterioration in wellbeing, risks to 
mental health and potential 
escalation of support needs. 
Also those people referred to the 
Mental Health Assessment Team 
but assessed as not entitled to 
secondary mental health service 
have not been assessed for 
eligibility for support under Care 
Act, or offered info about informal 
community support. 

known who has an entitlement under 
the Care Act 2014. 
Where remedial action for those 
currently on list is required, this is 
being undertaken through the 
improved Better Care Fund funded 
DPT/Step One waiting list project. 

 

16 Increased 
demand in 
homelessness  

The level of homelessness 
experienced as a result of COVID-
19 is expected to increase. 
Increased demand could impact on 
the Councils ability to meet 
statutory requirements and provide 
appropriate safeguarding. 

4 - Likely 4 – Major The economic consequences of 
COVID-19 and subsequent impact on 
homelessness are being addressed 
through a partnership work steam and 
recovery plan.  

16 Tara Harris  

12 
 
 

Ability to 
deliver Youth 
Homelessness 
Prevention 
Pathway 

Effective pathway needs to be 
implemented across services to 
ensure Torbay is legally compliant 
and that the service is at its full 
complement of staff to enable this 
to be delivered. 

3 - Possible 4 – Major Ofsted identified in both the last 
inspection (2018) and the previous 
one (2015) that the response to 16 to 
17 youth homelessness was not 
legally compliant. The children’s 
redesign considered how to respond 

12 Tara Harris 
/ Nancy 
Meehan 

P
age 274



7 
 

to the criticism and subsequent repeat 
recommendation from Ofsted. This is 
being progressed. 

16 Insufficient 
capacity to 
response to 
increase in 
COVID-19 
pandemic 
infection rates 
or community 
outbreak 
numbers 20/21 

Local outbreak Management Plans 
require all local authorities to 
oversee the response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic at local level 
and to work in partnership with 
Public Health England, NHS, Care, 
Education, voluntary and business 
partners to prevent and respond to 
outbreaks. Unexpected and 
unforeseen capacity issues and 
organisational system issues at 
national and regional level have in 
turn had an impact. 

4 - Likely 4 – Major Robust measures are needed and will 
include: 

 24/7 multi-disciplinary rota to 
coordinate response to cases & 
outbreaks 

 Dedicated intensive support team to 
provide proactive and reactive 
infection control guidance & 
swabbing 

 Comprehensive intelligence systems 
mapping cases, outbreaks and risk 
settings, identifying patterns of 
spread, & helping to guide the 
response.   

 Strong, effective communications & 
engagement plans with communities 
and partners promoting behaviours 
which will prevent the spread of 
infection and compliance with 
isolation guidance 

 Training of existing staff & 
introduction of standard operating 
procedures to enable 24/7 response 
over the long term  

 Recruitment of additional skilled 
staff to build resilience in delivering 
response & intensive support.   

 new risk hampering ability to 
respond as expected 

16  Caroline 
Dimond 

16 Insufficient 
capacity to 
prevent & 

Flu is anticipated to present a 
higher than usual risk in 20/21 due 

4 - Likely 4 - Major A combined COVID-19 and flu 
response will provide the highest 
chance of success. Measures include: 

12 
 
 

Caroline 
Dimond 

P
age 275



8 
 

respond to 
high flu levels 
Winter 
2020/21 

to the continuation of COVID-19 
infection in the population.   
Vaccines will be available for 
eligible groups and high uptake will 
be needed to reduce the incidence 
and the impact of disease.   

 Dedicated, flexible, mobile 
vaccination teams targeting all risk 
settings and high risk groups (care 
sector, education, hostels, carers, 
people with health risk conditions, 
shielded population, pregnant 
women, young children) in parallel 
with the primary care vaccine 
delivery programme to people 60 
and over.   

 Dedicated intensive support teams 
delivering swabbing and infection 
control support for settings with 
cases or outbreaks to prevent 
spread.   

 Some issues with supply currently 
(national issue). 

 Need to align this with possible 
COVID-19 vaccination programme. 

 

12 Inadequate 
measures to 
prevent suicide 
& self-harm, 
promote good 
mental health 
& wellbeing, 
and support 
bereavement 
& loss 

The impact of COVID-19 is 
modelled to produce an increase in 
mental distress, bereavement 
trauma and suicide risk. Torbay 
already has one of the high rates in 
the country for both suicide and 
self-harm.  Comprehensive & 
effective prevention and 
postvention pathways need to be in 
place across our three 
communities to identify people in 
need & to ensure they receive 
appropriate information, 
signposting, support and 
intervention.     

4 - Likely 3 - 
Moderate 

Put capacity in place to work with 
partners locally, across the 
Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP) & regionally to: 

 Put in place a new suicide 
surveillance & postvention system & 
expand this to include suicide 
attempts as well as completed 
suicides 

 Commission (NHS England funded) 
research with people with lived 
experience into high incidence of 
female suicides & self-harm 

 Work with three communities to 
implement new (NHS England 

8 Caroline 
Dimond 

P
age 276



9 
 

funded) community grant fund for 
‘safer suicide community’ initiatives 

 Carry out a training needs analysis 
to inform allocation of the (NHS 
England funded) training 
programmes  

 Develop new Torbay mental 
wellbeing alliance spanning 
community & statutory providers 
developing improved pathways for 
mental distress & matching needs 
with supply for mental health and 
wellbeing, suicide prevention, and 
bereavement support.   

12 Inability to 
deliver the 
Housing 
Strategy 

National policies have served to 
reduce affordable housing 
development, increase affordability 
pressure in the private rented 
sector and make it increasingly 
difficult to access decent housing, 
for people who are on low incomes 
or benefits increasing deprivation 
and related health concerns for 
residents. 

3 - Possible 4 - Major Officer resource has been increased. 
The new housing company, TorVista 
Homes, has established its own Board 
and will be regulated by Homes 
England. TorVista has submitted its 
application and are already working to 
bring forward a number of affordable 
housing schemes.  
The Housing Strategy Action Plan is in 
development.  
There has been increased partnership 
working with providers such as 
landlords and health services. 

8 David 
Edmondson 

 

 

 

 

P
age 277



10 
 

Community and Corporate Plan Priority: Thriving Economy 

Score 
and 

RAYG 
Title Description 

Probability 
Score 

Impact 
Score 

Mitigation 

Score 
and 

RAYG 
After 

Mitigation 

Risk Owner 

12 Ability to meet 
land supply 
requirements 
 

If we do not have a five year land 
supply then the National Planning 
Policy Framework cannot be 
considered up to date. Ability to 
meet land supply requirements 
could impact income generation 
from new homes bonus and 
Section 106 monies. Failure to 
have 5 year land supply risks 
development outside of the local 
plan. 

3 - Possible 4 - Major At this time we have achieved a three 
year housing land supply and with 
three neighbourhood plans, one for 
each town, formally adopted at Full 
Council last year, this means we can 
defend against inappropriately sited 
development. 

8 David 
Edmondson 

16 A weak local 
economy due 
to COVID-19 

As a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic the local economy is 
weakened resulting in an impact on 
our residents and visitors. 

4 - Likely 4 - Major There is an Incident Management 
Team work stream specifically set up 
to review this matter and support 
recovery of Torbay’s economy. 
Following consultation with 
stakeholders and the business 
community, the Economic Reposition 
Plan has been produced. The plan 
seeks commitment from stakeholders 
and businesses to support Torbay’s 
recovery and repositioning as a result 
of COVID-19, and focusses on 6 
themes: 

 Town centres 

 Visitor economy 

 Cultural development 

 Community wealth building 

16 Kevin Mowat 

P
age 278



11 
 

 Growth 

 Employment and skills 
An influencing and lobbying campaign 
is in development to raise the profile 
of Torbay Council, and Torbay as a 
whole. 

12 Riviera 
International 
Conference 
Centre could 
close 
permanently  

It is essential to ensure that Riviera 
International Conference Centre 
remains a viable entity to ensure its 
contribution to the local economy 
and Torbay as the Premier UK 
resort. 

4 – Likely 3 - 
Moderate 

 Work towards move to new operator 
– Parkwood Leisure in November 

 Complete essential backlog works 

8 Kevin Mowat 

16 Princess 
Theatre could 
close 
permanently  
 

Currently run by Ambassador 
Theatre Group (ATG) on behalf of 
Torbay Council. ATG have been 
significantly affected due to 
COVID-19 and the theatre still 
remains closed like all of ATGs 
other assets.  
The loss of the theatre would have 
a significant impact on the local 
economy both directly in terms of 
jobs and income and indirectly 
income around hospitality sector 
etc.  
As a Torbay Council asset the 
decline of ATG would mean the 
running of the theatre would revert 
back to the Council.  

4 – Likely 4 – Major  Applications for (govt) grant funding 
to support ATG through COVID-19 
crisis. 

 The site could be run by a different 
operator however this would be 
difficult in the current climate. 

 Investment in the theatre from 
Torbay Council to improve facilities 
to make it more commercially viable 
when it does it reopen.   

8 
 

Kevin Mowat 

16 Financially 
unsustainable 
future for Torre 
Abbey 

Torre Abbey is currently a loss 
making asset. The focus must be 
switched to a commercial approach 
to ensure income generated meets 
or exceeds spend. Income is also 
currently impacted by reduced 

4 – Likely 4 – Major  Operations are being reviewed to 
develop a more commercial model. 

 There is potential to develop the 
café as a quality “in-house” offer to 
drive up commercial income and 

8 Kevin Mowat 

P
age 279



12 
 

opening hours due to COVID-19. 
The building is subject to significant 
water ingress and has structural 
concerns. 

help support the long-term 
sustainability of Torre Abbey. 

 Grant applications e.g. to National 
Lottery Heritage Fund, are being 
made to secure funding to help 
resolve some of the issues and 
challenges. 

 

 

Community and Corporate Plan Priority: Tackling Climate Change 

Score 
and 

RAYG 
Title Description 

Probability 
Score 

Impact 
Score 

Mitigation 

Score 
and 

RAYG 
After 

Mitigation 

Risk Owner 

10 Inadequate 

response to 

the climate 

change 

emergency. 

If our response is inadequate it will 

have reputational repercussions for 

the organisation. 

2 - Unlikely 5 - Critical Work with local, regional and national 
partners to deliver a collaborative 
Climate Change Emergency 
Response Strategy. Projects are being 
progressed to deliver Solar Farm 
developments at Nightingale Park and 
adjacent to Brokenbury Quarry, with a 
25 year lifespan. Roll out of Electric 
Vehicle charging infrastructure. 

8 Kevin Mowat 

25 Climate 
change impact 
on Tor Bay 

Expectation of more frequent 
extreme rainfall events. Sea level 
forecast to rise by 70cm by 2050 
which will significantly increase the 
risk of coastal flooding of low-lying 
areas (particularly Paignton 
Green), increase in the frequency 
and power of storm events, 

5 – Almost 
certain 

5 - Critical There are a number of contingency 
measures being considered to 
respond to coastal and pluvial flooding 
e.g. enhanced coastal sea defences. 
The Port Master Plan also contains 
climate change countermeasures e.g. 
further rock armouring of Victoria 

20 Kevin Mowat 

P
age 280



13 
 

increase rate of coastal 
erosion/damage to quays, slipways 
and other hard infrastructure on the 
shoreline. Increased disruption to 
maritime activities e.g. commercial 
fishing and marine leisure 

Breakwater, but no funding routes 
have been identified yet. 
Work continues to address 
sustainable urban drainage systems 
(SUDS) and close collaboration with 
the Environment Agency is critical. 

20 Failing coastal 
infrastructure. 

A number of coastal assets are at 
a tipping point of deterioration and 
require significant investment to 
ensure longevity and fitness for 
purpose. 

5 – Almost 
certain 

4 - Major Periodic inspection regime to monitor 
degradation. Need to identify funding 
solutions or agree a process of 
managed retreat. 

16 Kevin Mowat 

 

 

Community and Corporate Plan Priority: Council Fit for the Future 

Score 
and 

RAYG 
Title Description 

Probability 
Score 

Impact 
Score 

Mitigation 

Score 
and 

RAYG 
After 

Mitigation 

Risk Owner 

12 Difficulties in 

social work 

recruitment to 

frontline 

safeguarding 

teams 

There have been recent difficulties 
in recruiting social work staff both 
on a permanent and agency basis. 
The situation in the last year has 
been compounded due to potential 
recruits not wishing to relocate 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

4 – Likely 3 - 

Moderate 

Changes are being made to the 
structure of the Children’s Service in 
line with our service redesign to make 
them fit for purpose, the new 
restorative social work model is 
currently being implemented (and all 
staff are being trained). There is now a 
social work offer in place for new staff 
which is having some positive impact 
on the recruitment process which is 
supported by a dedicated microsite 
and increased funding to expand the 
establishment. A learning academy 

12 
 

Nancy 

Meehan 

P
age 281



14 
 

went live on 07 September 2020 and 
this is already proving to be a positive 
attribute in our campaign to recruit and 
retain staff. 

16 School High 
Needs Block 
spending 
pressures 
 

The School Forum currently have a 
deficit budget position of circa 2.5 
million for 2020/21 and cumulative 
deficit from previous years of 3.8 
million. 
 
 
 
 

4 – Likely 4 – Major The School Forum is working with the 
Education Skills and Funding Agency 
(EFSA) to consider the actions that 
are needed to mitigate spend. The 
National system of funding pupils with 
higher need is under review. This 
could in part lead to additional funds 
being made available to the local area. 
The School Forum has established a 
Higher Needs Recovery Group to 
work through mitigating actions. These 
are being delivered and are 
anticipated to generate savings. 
 
Additional funds have been 
announced for 2021 – 2022 this will 
have an impact on the budget position 
but will not lead to a balanced in year 
budget. 

16 Rachael 
Williams 

15 SWISCo 

commissioning 

resource 

Insufficient commissioning 
resource for SWISCo. 

3 - Possible 4 – Major Delivery expectations have been 
reduced. TUPE transfer key service 
areas into SWISCo and operate a 
‘thin’ client model. 

15 Kevin Mowat 

15 Failure to 
comply with 
GDPR 

The General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) tightens 
existing data protection 
requirements on organisations. 
The Council needs to be able to 
demonstrate compliance to the 
regulation in all of its processing 
activities. Failure to do so could 

5 – Almost 
certain 

3 - 
Moderate 

A GDPR compliance project has been 
undertaken and regular staff 
awareness campaigns are also 
undertaken to ensure staff keep data 
protection at the forefront of their 
minds, with the aim of reducing 
breaches. 

12 Matt 
Fairclough-
Kay 

P
age 282



15 
 

result in enforcement action from 
the Information Commissioner’s 
Office, damage to reputation and 
potential increase in complaints 
and claims. 

12 Balancing 
2020/2021 
budget in light 
of COVID-19 
financial 
pressures 
 

The Council’s revenue budget 
remains under significant pressure. 
The total financial pressures faced 
are £18.7m before use of specific 
reserves. This takes account of the 
financial impact of COVID-19. The 
main pressures are due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the 
financial impact of the changes we 
have had to make to service 
delivery and the changes in 
behaviour of the general public. 

3 - Possible 4 – Major The moratorium on non-essential 
spend within the Council is 
maintained. 
Sources of funding that could be 
applied against in-year shortfalls are 
being reviewed, although such use 
would result in an “opportunity cost” in 
relation to the original intention for the 
funding. 
We are making our own case to the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG), as well 
as supporting national and regional 
lobbying, for further COVID-19 related 
funding from Government. 
The Chief Financial Officer used 
virements to revise the 2020/2021 
budget in order to re-establish a 
baseline budget. The revised budget 
is intended to be flexible as there are 
still a wide range of unknown factors. 
 
There is regular financial reporting to 
senior officers and members. 
 
MHCLG have now announced four 
tranches of funding in addition to an 
income compensation scheme. This 
funding combined with service 
underspends, in particular in CSC 

9 Martin 
Phillips 

P
age 283



16 
 

means that the council should be able 
to break even in the current year 
subject to the impact of COVID-19 in 
the last 5 months of the financial year. 
 

16 Balancing 
2021/2022 
budget in light 
of COVID-19 
financial 
pressures 
 

The financial impact of COVID-19 
in future years is still being 
assessed. A number of the 
spending pressures seen in 
2020/21 could reoccur in 2021/22. 
In addition, if the economy is 
impacted as predicted, a number of 
income sources will continue to be 
affected. 
In addition, the Government 
announced the deferral to 2021/22 
of the Fair Funding Formula and 
the changes to the National Non 
Domestic Rates (Business Rates) 
retention scheme. The timing and 
impact of any Spending Review 
and/or Emergency Budget are also 
unknown. 

4 - Likely 4 – Major Budget proposals for 2021/22 were 
issued on the 20th October for 
consultation which included the 
financial impact of the pandemic on 
expenditure and income. 
 
The current proposals show a “gap” of 
£2.6m with a number of options to 
achieve a balanced budget by 
February 2022. 
 
Caveat is that the impact of the 
pandemic from a higher number of 
cases or impact of “lock down or tier 
restrictions is still an uncertainty. 

12 Martin 
Phillips 

12 Achieving a 
balanced 
budget over 
the period of 
the medium 
term financial 
plan 
 

The projected budget gap over the 
life of the Medium Term Resource 
Plan (MRTP) is an estimated 
position and is subject to change 
and is based upon a series of 
assumptions and projections which 
will be regularly reviewed for future 
years to ensure they continue to be 
realistic. There is therefore a risk 
that the projections for the budget 
deficit may prove to be either under 
or over estimates.  

3 - Possible 4 – Major The MTRP will be updated as 
appropriate to take account of 
changing circumstances and new 
intelligence.  
An influencing and lobbying campaign 
is in development to raise the profile of 
Torbay Council, and Torbay as a 
whole. 

12 Martin 
Phillips 

P
age 284



17 
 

16 Proportionality 
of borrowing 
and 
commercial 
risk 
 

The risk that council will be unable 
to meet its fixed borrowing 
liabilities if income streams 
associated with that borrowing are 
not maintained or fluctuate. The 
more the council borrows and the 
more it relies on that commercial 
income to support services, the 
greater the risk. The Ministry of 
Housing Communities and Local 
Government refers to this as 
“proportionality”. This risk is 
compounded by the economic 
impact of COVID-19 and lockdown, 
impacting on investment property 
rental income. 

4 - Likely 4 – Major Regarding our investment properties; 
As part of the IMT recovery a sub 
group has been put in place for this 
key area and the TDA are in frequent 
contact with tenants. 
Investment management meetings 
have become more frequent. 
 
The risk had been maintained at 16 as 
despite the mitigation it is uncertain 
how long the financial impact of 
pandemic on council rental income will 
last. 

16 Martin 
Phillips / 
Kevin Mowat 

12 Corporate 
Health and 
Safety 
 

Non-compliance to health and 
safety requirements across the 
local authority increases the risk to 
public and staff safety, this 
includes gaining appropriate 
certifications for some of our 
assets. 

3 - Possible 4 – Major Significant progress has been made in 
delivering the work place 
implementing new processes and 
working practices. Risk remains 
possible due to temporary reduction in 
personal as a result of SWISCo 
transition and new associated risks 
associated with COVID-19. 

12 Tara Harris 

12 Capacity of 
legal services 
to deal with 
care 
proceedings 
before the 
court 
 

As the numbers of children looked 
after increases, as does the 
requirement for legal services to 
support care proceedings which 
will go before the court. This 
increase could lead to lack of 
capacity to deal with cases in a 
timely and effective manner. 

3 - Possible 4 – Major Required resources are kept under 
close review, and the teams are 
currently supplemented by agency 
workers, to give capacity and ensure 
that vacant posts are filled. This does 
however lead to a significant 
budgetary pressure.  

8 Matt 
Fairclough-
Kay 

12 Change 

management 

capability 

The Council is undertaking an 
ambitious programme of 
transformation, together with 

3 - Possible 4 – Major Council Redesign Programme Board 

is reviewing the prioritisation of 

projects, and workstreams therein so 

12 Anne-Marie 

Bond 

P
age 285



18 
 

across the 

Council  

delivering changes required as a 
result of budgetary decisions. The 
risk is the workforce in unable to 
deliver the amount of Council-wide 
and service change service 
needed, whilst ensuring the 
continued delivery of services, and 
achieving required budgetary 
savings.  

as to ensure that the workforce can 

deliver, or that additional resources 

are identified in order to deliver within 

required timeframes.  

20 Staff resilience  Staff resilience on an on-going 
basis has been incredibly 
challenged given the 40% 
reduction in staff numbers during 
austerity. With the pressures that 
Covid brings, there are some 
teams in the Council where the 
risks around resilience are now 
critical.  

5 – Almost 
certain 

4 – Major All Directors are keeping under 

constant review the pressures and 

resilience issues in their teams 

(especially those who are undertaking 

specific COVID-19 response/recovery 

activities), to identify those where 

additional resources are required,  

16 All Directors 

12 Reputation and 
engagement 

The risk is that the Council’s 
reputation deteriorates with its 
communities, when it needs to 
improve, and this has a detrimental 
impact on our ability to gain public 
support for the actions that will 
realise the Council’s priorities.  

3 - Possible 4 – Major The Council’s Community and 
Corporate Plan sets a clear ambition 
for the Council to become an enabling 
Council, and one which has a very 
different and improved relationship 
with residents.  
This is supported by the Council 
Redesign programme, which aims to 
put residents at the centre of 
everything we do and which seeks to 
engage and empower them.  

12 Anne-Marie 
Bond  

15 Response 
times in 
respect of 
Subject Access 
Requests, 
Complaints, 

The Information Compliance Team 
is managing year on year 
increases in the volume of 
requests, and delays and non-
compliance with timescales is 
common. There is a risk of a 

5 – Almost 
certain 

3 - 
Moderate 

In respect of complaints, a one stage 
process is now embedded, and the 
permanent appointment of two 
Complaints Officers who 
independently investigate/oversee 

15 Matt 
Fairclough-
Kay 

P
age 286



19 
 

Freedom of 
Information 
requests and 
Environmental 
Impact 
Assessments 

detrimental impact on the Council’s 
reputation, and of investigation by 
the Information Commissioners 
Office.  

complaints, has improved the 
Council’s performance significantly. 
Subject Access Requests are at a 
record level, and an individual request 
can take hundreds of hours to 
complete, and significant delays are 
common place. Whilst more members 
of the team are now processing these 
requests, given the increase in volume 
this is not improving the overall 
position. We have sought support from 
other Council’s to undertake a small 
number on our behalf, but that has 
cost implications. A dedicated 
resource is being recruited to deal with 
the back log for a period of 12 months. 

12 Government 
Devolution 
White Paper 

The UK Government have pledged 
to bring forward a White Paper to 
set out their proposals for English 
Devolution. This could include 
proposals for local government 
reorganisation where existing Local 
Authorities are combined into 
single Councils. 

3 - Possible 4 – Major The White Paper was anticipated to 
be published for responses in the 
autumn of 2020. However, the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government's press office now say it 
will come out "in due course". 

12 Anne-Marie 
Bond 

 

P
age 287


	Agenda
	4 Grant Thornton - The Audit Findings for Torbay Council
	5 Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 2019/20
	Statement of Accounts Appendix 2
	Statement of Accounts Appendix 3

	9 Performance and Risk Strategy and Framework
	Performance and Risk Strategy Report Appendix 1
	Performance and Risk Strategy Report Appendix 2
	Perforance and Risk Strategy Report Appendix 3

	10 Corporate Performance and Corporate Risk Report
	Corporate Performance and Risk Report Appendix 1
	Corporate Performance and Risk Report Appendix 2


